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A meeting of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees was duly convened by
Dr. Steve Furr, Chair pro tempore, on Friday, September 12, at 10:31 a.m. in the Board Room of
the Frederick P. Whiddon Administration Building.

Trustees Present: Chandra Brown Stewart, Scott Charlton (phone), Tom Corcoran,
Steve Furr, Ron Jenkins, Bettye Maye, Arlene Mitchell, Bryant Mixon,
John Peek, Jimmy Shumock, Ken Simon, Sandy Stimpson, Steve Stokes,
Mike Windom and Jim Yance.

Trustee Absent: Robert Bentley.
Administration Beth Anderson, Owen Bailey, Joe Busta, Arlen and Diane Chase (UCF),
and Others: Lynne Chronister, Sharon Davis, Kimberly Eblen, Joel Erdmann,

Julie Estis (Faculty Senate), Michael Finan, Ron Franks, Philip Friedlander,
Happy Fulford, Suzanne Goins, Ingrid Hagen, Johnson Haynes,

Jeffrey Hamilton, Joanne Hamilton, Julie Hamilton, Stan Hammack,
David Johnson, Sytske Kimball, Jordan Knight, Jan-Louw Kotze,

Eric Loomis, Arnold Luterman, Joanna McCoy, Todd McDonald,

Jason Mendel, Ross Metheny, Juliann Miller, Abe Mitchell, Carl Moore,
Coleman Moore, Ryan Onkka, Alex Page, Michael Pienaar, Ryan Pope,
Bill Richards, Tim Sherman, Mike Saxon (AL Power), Steve Simmons,
John Smith, John Steadman, Lars Tatom, Eleanor ter Horst, Beth Thomas
(AL Power), Jean Tucker, Tony Waldrop, Reginald Walker (AASA),
Danielle Watson (SGA), Kevin West (Faculty Senate), Erikka Williams,
Matt Wojciechowski, Bob Wood and Kelly Woodford (Faculty Senate).

Press: Letisha Bush (WALA), Sally Ericson (Press-Register/al.com), Josh Harlan
(WALA), Dale Liesch (Lagniappe), Chad Petri (WKRG) and
Jasmine Williams (WPMI).

Upon the call to order, Chairman Furr thanked Trustees and guests for joining and called for
adoption of the revised agenda. On motion by Mr. Peek, seconded by Mr. Windom, the revised
agenda was approved unanimously.  Chairman Furr called for approval of ITEM 1, the minutes
of the Board of Trustees meeting held on June 6, 2014, and of the Committee of the Whole meeting
held on June 5, 2014. On motion by Dr. Stokes, seconded by Mr. Peek, the minutes were
approved unanimously.

Chairman Furr recognized Judge Simon for his appointment by the Alabama Supreme Court to the
Alabama Pattern Jury Instructions Committee — Civil, and Dr. Franks for his role as President of
the Medical Association of the State of Alabama. He introduced Mr. Jeffrey Hamilton, USA
Board of Trustee Scholar — the first to be named since announcement of the scholarship at the
June 6 Board meeting. He discussed the scholarship criteria, as well as Mr. Hamilton’s academic
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credentials, and presented him with a plaque commemorating the award. Also introduced were
Mr. Hamilton’s mother and sister, Mss. Joanne and Julie Hamilton. Mr. Hamilton thanked the
Board for their support and expressed enthusiasm for his next four years as a USA student.

Chairman Furr called upon President Waldrop for delivery of ITEM 2, the President’s Report.
President Waldrop thanked the members of the President’s Administrative Council for welcoming
him to the University and for their roles in developing the Institution. He introduced nationally
respected archacologists and close personal friends from the University of Central Florida
Dr. Diane Chase, Executive Vice Provost and Professor of Archaeology, and Dr. Arlen Chase,
Associate Dean of the College of Sciences and Professor of Anthropology. Also introduced were
Drs. Julie Estis, Kevin West and Kelly Woodford, Faculty Senate President, Vice President and
Secretary, respectively. President Waldrop recognized Ms. Danielle Watson, SGA President,
who the Alabama Higher Education Partnership recently named as STARS Coordinator for her
leadership role in and promotion of Higher Education Day. He introduced Mr. Reginald Walker,
AASA Vice President.

President Waldrop shared details on two fundraising events to be held on campus — the Heart Walk
benefiting the American Heart Association set for Saturday, September 13, and the 4™ Annual GO
Run on Saturday, September 20, a benefit to raise money for gynecologic oncology research at the
Mitchell Cancer Institute (MCI).

President Waldrop called for a report from Dr. Erdmann. Dr. Erdmann was joined by 14 of 39
student athletes who earned a 4.0 grade point average in the 2014 spring semester. The athletes
were asked to introduce themselves and share their team affiliations, majors and hometowns.
Flyers listing all 39 student athletes were made available to Trustees and guests. Dr. Erdmann
talked about upcoming USA games and broadcasts, including the home football game against
Mississippi State on September 13.

President Waldrop acknowledged Mss. Suzanne Goins, Sharon Davis, Frances Henson and
Monica Curtis for the roles they serve in the President’s Office. He introduced a video montage
of various ALS ice-bucket-challenge participants, which featured Dr. Erdmann, President Tony
Waldrop and Dr. Julee Waldrop, senior administrators and deans.

Chairman Furr presented ITEM 3 as follows (for copies of policies and other authorized
documents, refer to APPENDIX A). On motion by Ms. Mitchell, seconded by Mr. Shumock, the
resolution was approved unanimously:

RESOLUTION
AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

WHEREAS, Article VIl of the Bylaws of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees provides
that “the bylaws may be amended or repealed at any meeting of the Board by eight members of the Board
voting in favor of same, but no such action shall be taken unless notice of the substance of such proposed
adoption, amendment or repeal shall have been given at a previous meeting or notice in writing of the
substance of the proposed change shall have been served upon each member of the Board &t least thirty (30)
days in advance of the final vote upon such change. However, by unanimous consent of the entire Board, the
requirements for such notice may be waived,” and
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WHEREAS, a copy of the proposed amended bylaws was mailed to each member of the Board on
August 13, 2014, and

WHEREAS, the proposed amended bylaws (a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated by
reference herein) are presented for the Board's consideration of approval, a vote of eight members being
necessary to adopt such amendments, and

WHEREAS, the foregoing actions comply with the notice requirements of Article VIii, pertaining to
amendment of the bylaws, and

WHEREAS, the Board, after due consideration and deliberation, has determined that the proposed
amendments are in the best interest of the efficient operation of the Board in carrying out its role and
responsibilities to the University,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees approves and adopts the Bylaws of the
Board of Trustees as amended.

Chairman Furr called for a report from the Health Affairs Committee. Dr. Stokes, Committee
Chair, said, at its meeting on September 11, the Committee recommended authorization of ITEM 4
as follows by the Board of Trustees. Chairman Furr called for a vote and the resolution was
approved unanimously:

RESOLUTION
USA HOSPITALS MEDICAL STAFF APPOINTMENTS AND REAPPQINTMENTS
FOR MAY, JUNE AND JULY 2014

WHEREAS, the Medical Staff appointments and reappointments for May, June and July 2014 for
the University of South Alabama Hospitals are recommended for Board approval by the Medical Executive
Committees and the Executive Committee of the University of South Alabama Hospitals,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
approves the appointments and reappointments as submitted.

Dr. Stokes called on Dr. Franks, who recognized USA’s four physicians who were named among
the nation’s top doctors by US. News and World Report. He introduced and provided
biographical highlights on the work of Dr. Michael Finan, Associate Director for Clinical Affairs
and Professor of Interdisciplinary Clinical Oncology at the MCI, who also serves as Chief of
Gynecologic Oncology; Dr. Johnson Haynes, Professor of Internal Medicine and Director of
USA’s Comprehensive Sickle Cell Center who also serves as Assistant Dean for the College of
Medicine’s Office of Diversity and Cultural Competence; Dr. Arnie Luterman, retired
Ripps-Meisler Professor of Surgery and Medical Director of USA’s Burn Center, which was
recently named in his honor; and Dr. William Richards, Professor and Chair of the Department
of Surgery who also serves on the MCI surgical team.

Chairman Furr called for a report from the Academic and Student Affairs Committee. Ms. Maye,
Committee Chair, said, at its meeting on September 11, the Committee recommended
authorization of ITEM 8 as follows. Chairman Furr called for a vote and the resolution was
approved unanimously:
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RESOLUTION
PROFESSORS EMERITUS

WHEREAS, the following faculty members have retired from the University of South Alabama:

ACADEMIC AFFAIRS:
Roy J. Daigle, Ph.D., Professor of Computer Science
Norris W. Hoffman, Ph.D., Associate Professor of Chemistry
David D. Langan, Ph.D., Professar of Computer Science
Leonard A. Macaluso, Ph.D., Associate Professor of History (Posthumous)
Carl C. Moore, Ph.D., Professor of Management
Joseph P. Mozur, Ph.D., Professor of Foreign Languages and Literatures
Joseph A. Nigota, Ph.D., Associate Professor of History (Posthumous)
Robert L. Shipp, Ph.D., Prefessor of Marine Sciences
Frank R. Urbancic, DBA, Professor of Accounting (Posthumous)

COLLEGE OF MEDICINE:
Thomas M. Lincoln, Ph.D., Professor of Physiology
Jack W. Olson, Ph.D., Professor of Pharmacology
Glenn L. Wilson, Ph.D., Professor of Cell Biology and Neuroscience

PAT CAPPS COVEY COLLEGE OF ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS:
Zarintaj Aliabadi, PA-C, Pharm. D., Ph.D., Professor of Physician Assistant Studies
and,

WHEREAS, in recognition of their contributions to the University through extraordinary
accomplishments in teaching and in the generation of new knowledge through research and scholarship, and
for serving as consistently inspiring influences to students, and

WHEREAS, in accordance with University policy, the respective faculty committees, Departmental
Chair, College Dean, and the Senior Vice President for Academic Affairs or Vice President for Health Sciences,
and the President have duly recommended the aforementioned faculty retirees,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama hereby
appoints these individuais to the rank of Professor Emeritus or Assaciate Professor Emeritus with the rights
and privileges thereunto appertaining, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama, in
recognition of their extraordinary accomplishments and dedicated service to the University of South Alabama,
conveys its deep appreciation to these individuals.

Ms. Maye reported that the Committee recommended approval of ITEM 9 as follows.
Chairman Furr called for a vote and the resolution was approved unanimously. Ms. Maye invited
Dr. Carl Moore, retired Dean of the Mitchell College of Business, to stand and Mr. Windom read
the resolution. As President Waldrop presented a commemorative resolution to Dr. Moore,
Trustees and guests honored him with a standing ovation. Dr. Moore made brief remarks about
his 43-year tenure at South Alabama, and he introduced his daughter and USA alumna,
Ms. Kimberly Eblen, and his son, Mr. Coleman Moore. Mr. Yance noted that Dr. Moore
continues to teach classes:
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RESOLUTION
COMMENDATION OF DR. CARL C. MOORE

WHEREAS, Dr. Carl C. Moore has served as Dean of the University of South Alabama Mitchell
College of Business for twenty-five years, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Moore has taught at the undergraduate, graduate and doctoral levels at the
University of South Alabama for 43 years, and

WHEREAS, during his tenure as Dean, he established the Melton Center for Entrepreneurship, the
Center for Real Estate Studies and Economic Development, and led the successful launch of the College’s
Dactorate in Business Administration, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Moore established and maintained excellent donor relationships that led to the
renovation of the Mitchell College of Business building, establishment of the Mitchell Scholars Program and
construction of the John Saint Financial Analysis Center and the Joseph and Rebecca Mitchell Learning
Resource Center, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Moore was instrumental in bringing the Alabama Banking School to USA, guiding
the College through successful re-accreditation by the Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business,
and the initial accreditation of the College's programs in accounting,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees
expresses its appreciation to Dr. Carl C. Moore for his many contributions to the University of South Alabama
and offers its best wishes upon his retirement.

Ms. Maye presented ITEM 10 as follows, noting that the Committee voted unanimously to
recommend approval. Upon the call for a vote by Chairman Furr, the resolution was approved
unanimously:

RESOLUTION
REVISION TO RESIDENT AND NON-RESIDENT TUITION POLICY

WHEREAS, the Alabama Legislature has enacted legislation through Act 2014-177 that amends
Sections 31-6-2, 31-6-4, 31-6-5, 31-6-6, 31-6-11, and 31-6-15 of the Code of Alabama 1975 relating to
post-secandary scholarship benefits for dependents of veterans through the Alabama G.I. Dependents’
Scholarship Program, and

WHEREAS, one such amendment requires Alabama institutions of higher learning to assess in-state
tuition and fees for recipients of this scholarship, and

WHEREAS, these changes require modifications to the Resident and Non-Resident Tuition Policy at
the University of South Alabama, and

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama supports these modifications
as part of the University's ongoing commitment to our service men and women, to our veterans, and to their
families,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
approves and adopts the amended Resident and Non-Resident Tuition Policy as set forth in the document
attached hereto.
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Ms. Maye called upon Dr. Johnson to report on the activities of the Division of Academic Affairs.
Dr. Johnson discussed recent faculty appointments and introduced Dr. Eric Loomis, Associate
Dean of the College of Arts and Sciences; Dr. Sytske Kimball, Chair of the Department of Earth
Sciences; Dr. Lars Tatom, Chair of the Department of Theatre and Dance; Dr. Eleanor ter Horst,
Chair of the Department of Foreign Languages and Literature; and Dr. Bob Wood, Dean of the
Mitchell College of Business (MCOB). Dr. Wood briefly shared his vision for the MCOB.

Dr. Johnson gave an overview on fall enrollment as Board members viewed corresponding data.
He reported a record enrollment of 16,035 students, an increase of 744 students over last year, or
4.9 percent. This enrollment constitutes a milestone in the University’s history for having
exceeded 16,000 students enrolled. Other enrollment records include 2,073 first-time freshmen,;
1,107 new graduate students; 4,023 total graduate students; and 3,285 African-American students.
Dr. Johnson said the average freshman ACT score is 22.9, compared to 20.6 in the state and 21.0 in
the nation. He broke down the ACT scores of new freshmen who earned scores of 28 and above.

Dr. Johnson identified student retention as an important institutional priority and he discussed a
comprehensive plan to increase retention rates, which concentrates on first-year programs and
enhancing support for students in academics and student life. He said these efforts are proving
effective, as shown by data on freshman students to their sophomore year that demonstrates a
six-percent improvement in retention from 65 percent in 2010 to 71 percent in 2013. Dr. Johnson
said this is a trajectory the University would continue to pursue. He addressed comments on
contributing factors, including college affordability and the ease of transition from high school.
He said Dr. Nicole Carr, Director of the Office of Student Academic Success/Retention, tracks
retention efforts and trends at other institutions. He talked about efforts to strengthen the advising
of first-year students and the use of degree analytic software to help identify students who need
help. Judge Simon shared positive impressions on one such retention program, the College of
Education’s Educating the African-American Male. Mr. Peek asked if non-traditional students
receive consideration and support, to which Dr. Johnson responded the University offers tailored
assistance programs for adult learners as well.

Ms. Maye called upon Ms. Chronister for introduction of a report on cyber security, an area
Ms. Chronister said the University’s School of Computing has tremendous strength. She
introduced Dr. Todd McDonald, Professor, who gave an overview on the Cyber Assurance
Program, considered widely as foremost in the state. As Board members viewed a visual
summary, Dr. McDonald discussed the faculty and their research backgrounds in forensics,
critical infrastructure protection, education and cyber assurance. He stated, for her work,
Ms. Becky Base, Chief Strategist for the School of Computing, has garnered national attention in
being ranked the #2 Female Cybersecurity Impact Player in the August edition of SC Magazine.
He reported that the program received a $2.1 million grant from the National Science Foundation,
which currently supports 11 scholarships, and said USA’s proposal for an Alabama Experimental
Program to Stimulate Competitive Research (EPSCoR) grant is under consideration for $20
million to be awarded. He advised that malware is the primary tool of miscreants to cause harm,
and he demonstrated how information systems can be hacked to carry out international acts of
terrorism. He detailed the program’s four-point research strategy focused on hardware-based
protections, side-channel vulnerability analysis, mitigating lifecycle/supply chain risks and zero
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day rootkit/malware detection. Judge Simon asked what individuals are involved in research
pursuits. Dr. McDonald said faculty, graduate students and some undergraduates participate in
research, as do other universities. He added that Research Experiences for Undergraduates
(REU) grants from the National Science Foundation are expected in the future.

Ms. Maye described ITEM 11.A as follows, noting that the Academic and Student Affairs
Committee voted unanimously to recommend approval by the Board of Trustees. Chairman Furr
called for a vote, and the resolution was approved unanimously:

RESOLUTION
AUTHORIZATION TO NEGOTIATE AND SIGN CONTRACT EXTENSION FOR FOOD SERVICE

WHEREAS, the current food service contract with Aramark expires on June 30, 2020, and Aramark
has expressed an interest in restructuring the contract if there is an extension of the termination date, and

WHEREAS, financial benefits will accrue to the University from a restructuring and extension of the
contract, and

WHEREAS, approval by the Board of Trustees is required to extend the contract,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, pursuant to Code of Alabama, Section 41-16-27 (g), the Board of
Trustees authorizes the President to negotiate and sign a contract extension with Aramark that is within the
limits and requirements allowed by law, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, any contract extension will not increase meal plan rates for the
current academic year.

Ms. Maye said that, during the September 11 Committee meeting, Dr. Smith reported on the record
number of students living on campus, and the engagement of an architect that would help the
Administration pinpoint options for building a new residence hall to be prepared for student
demand into the future. She called upon Dr. Smith for additional remarks. Dr. Smith discussed
Move In Day, the annual event to welcome students who live on campus and their families. This
year’s event was held on August 16, and over 700 administrators, deans, faculty, staff and
students, including coaches and student athletes, volunteered their time to help move belongings
into the residence halls. Photos were shown.  Dr. Smith mentioned that, at this year’s event, in
excess of 200 band members marched among the crowds and played their instruments. He
credited Ms. Barbara Shirvanian of the Division of Student Affairs and the President’s Office for a
job well done in coordinating the popular ambassadorial effort.

Chairman Furr called for a report from the Budget and Finance Committee. Mr. Corcoran,
Committee Chair, said, at its meeting on September 11, the Committee recommended approval of
ITEM 124 as follows. Chairman Furr called for a vote and the resolution was approved
unanimously:



USA Board of Trustees
September 12, 2014
Page 8

RESOLUTION
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS OF THE
USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Amended Bylaws of the USA Research and Technology Corporation
(“Corporation”), the Board of Trustees of the University of South Aiabama (“University"} shall elect directors of
the Corporation who are not officers, employees or trustees of the University, and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Corporation is authorized to nominate new directors
consistent with the aforesaid for consideration and confirmation by the Board of Trustees of the University, and

WHEREAS, Mr. Danny K. Patterson and Ms. Cheryl Coleman Williams were elected to serve as
directors for four-year terms which concluded in June 2014 but continue to serve pursuant to the Corporation’s
Amended Bylaws, which provide that directors hold office until their successors have been duly elected and
qualified; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Corporation has nominated for consideration and
confirmation by the Board of Trustees of the University Mr. Danny K. Patterson and Ms. Cheryl Coleman
Williams for additional four (4) year terms beginning September 2014, and these persons have agreed to
serve in this capacity if elected,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
does hereby elect as Directors of the USA Research and Technology Corporation  Mr, Danny K.
Patterson and Ms. Cheryl Coleman Williams, both for four (4) year terms beginning September 2014.

Mr. Corcoran presented ITEM 13 as follows, noting that the Committee unanimously
recommended approval by the Board of Trustees. He advised that the budget proposal is
balanced and provides for a two-percent raise for University general and health care employees.
He said the Health System component of the budget includes a contingency for Medicaid reform.
Chairman Furr called for a vote and the resolution was approved unanimously:

RESOLUTION
UNIVERSITY TOTAL BUDGET FOR 2014-2015

BE IT RESOLVED, the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees approves the 2014-2015
University of South Alabama Total Budget, which includes both the University General Budget and the
Hospitals and Clinics Budget, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees approves the
2014-2015 Total Budget as a continuation budget for 2015-2016 in order to be in compliance with bond trust
indenture requirements if the budget process cannot be completed prior to beginning the 2015-2016 fiscal
year.

Mr. Corcoran presented ITEM 14 as follows, which received the Committee’s unanimous
recommendation. Chairman Furr called for a vote and the resolution was approved unanimously:

RESOLUTION
SALARY INCREASE

WHEREAS, the University has continued to sustain positive momentum in achieving its
mission through careful management and the united efforts of its employees, and
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WHEREAS, the proposed 2014-2015 fiscal year budget is a balanced budget that includes a
proposed twa-percent continuing salary increase that is possible because of ongoing diligent management of
finances, enrollment growth and a modest tuition increase, and

WHEREAS, this two-percent increase would be across the board for eligible administrators and
faculty employed on or before August 15, 2014, and eligible staff employed on or before the effective date, and

WHEREAS, this salary increase would be effective approximately January 1, 2015, and subject to
the standard University personnel guidelines and procedures and other adjustments as approved by the
President, and

WHEREAS, this salary increase would apply to all eligible employees of the University of South
Alabama - those in the University General Division and at the Hospitals and Clinics,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama hereby
approves a two-percent increase as described herein, for eligible current salaried or hourly regular
administrators and faculty employed prior to August 15, 2014, and eligible current salaried or hourly reguiar
staff employed on or before the effective date.

Mr. Corcoran reported that the Quarterly Financial Statements for the nine months ended
June 2014, ITEM 12, were reviewed by the Committee on September 11. He said action on this
item was not required.

Chairman Furr called for a report from the Audit Committee. Mr. Peek, Committee Chair, gave a
synopsis of the presentations given on September 11 by Mr. Mark Peach, KPMG partner, on the
audit process under way for fiscal year September 2014, ITEM 15, and by Mr. Simmons on the
results of an independent audit of the USA Foundation’s consolidated financial statements and the
Disproportionate Share Hospital Funds combined financial statements for the fiscal year ended
June 2014, ITEM 15.A. He said action by the Board of Trustees was not required.

Chairman Furr called for a report from the Development, Endowment and Investments
Committee. Mr. Yance, Committee Chair, stated that an overview on endowment performance,
ITEM 16, was delivered on September 11. He said the endowment yielded a return of 10.43
percent for the period October 2013 to July 2014, an outperformance of 1.97 percent over a
benchmark profit of 8.46 percent. He advised that asset allocations are consistent with the
parameters of the University’s endowment investment policies. Since inception, the endowment
has outperformed with a 5.29 percent return versus the index return of 4.51 percent. Mr. Yance
said that, given market volatility, investments are rebalanced on a quarterly basis and gains are
pulled to safeguard against loss.

Mr. Yance recognized Dr. and Mrs. Stokes for their longstanding generosity and service to the
University, as evidenced by their most recent gift of $75,000, presented by Dr. Stokes during the
September 11 Committee meeting. The gift will fund an environmental sustainability symposium
that, while concentrated on the critical ecological concerns experienced locally and in the upper
Gulf Coast region, is expected to draw a national audience. Dr. Jim Connors, Special Assistant to
the Vice President for Research and Economic Development, will spearhead the project.
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President Waldrop called upon Dr. Busta who recognized guests from the Mobile Division of the
Alabama Power Company Mr. Mike Saxon, Vice President, and Ms. Beth Thomas, External
Affairs Manager. Dr. Busta described the relationship between Alabama Power and USA’s
College of Engineering, and he detailed the company’s giving history, which has included
$500,000 for scholarships for engineering students ranked a sophomore or higher and $400,000 for
engineering equipment in Shelby Hall. He announced that a $300,000 gift from Alabama Power
would make possible a comprehensive undergraduate scholarship program that includes
scholarship support for freshmen. This contribution, together with matching funds provided by
the Mitchell-Moulton Scholarship Initiative, raises Alabama Power’s total endowment for the
College of Engineering to $1.5 million. Dr. Steadman, Dean of the College of Engineering,
expressed gratitude for Alabama Power’s continuing commitment to education, and he thanked
USA’s Board of Trustees for their leadership. He reported a record 1,500 engineering students
enrolled for the fall semester, and he credited Mr. Abe Mitchell for the great difference the
Mitchell-Moulton Scholarship Initiative makes in the College’s ability to attract and retain
high-achieving students who, as graduates, will be the leaders in economic development for the
region. President Waldrop, Chairman Furr and Mr. Mitchell joined Mr. Saxon and Ms. Thomas
for the check presentation and handshakes were exchanged. Mr. Saxon conveyed delight that
Alabama Power’s gift would be doubled, and expressed enthusiasm at the prospect of today’s
scholarship recipients becoming the problem solvers of the future.

Judge Simon referenced a unique research project taking place in space. Ms. Chronister shared
details of a study by Drs. Richard Honkanen, Biochemistry Professor, and Andrzej Wierzbicki,
Chemistry Professor and Dean of the College of Arts and Sciences, on a protein that appears to
promote cancer cell growth. The protein, delivered to the International Space Station aboard a
SpaceX rocket, can grow larger crystals in a microgravity setting than is possible in a typical
laboratory, providing the researchers the ability to view the structure of the protein with a greater
degree of clarity, which could aid in the development of a cancer-inhibiting drug.

Chairman Furr reminded the group that the inauguration of President Waldrop would take place at
2:00 p.m. at the Mitchell Center.

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 11:42 a.m.

Attest to: Respectfully submitted:

James H. Shumock, Secretary Steven P. Furr, M.D., Chair pro tempore






UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

DEVELOPMENT, ENDOWMENT AND INVESTMENTS COMMITTEE

September 11, 2014
3:06 p.m.

A meeting of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees Audit Committee was duly
convened by Mr. Jim Yance, Chair, on Thursday, September 11, 2014, at 3:06 p.m. in the Board
Room of the Frederick P. Whiddon Administration Building.

Members Present: Tom Corcoran, Ron Jenkins; Ken Simon, Steve Stokes, Mike Windom
and Jim Yance.

Other Trustees: Chandra Brown Stewart, Steve Furr, Bettye Maye, Arlene Mitchell,
John Peek, Jimmy Shumock and Ken Simon.

Administration Terry Albano, Joe Busta, Lynne Chronister, Jim Connors, Joel Erdmann,
and Others: Julie Fstis, Ron Franks, Happy Fulford, Stan Hammack, David Johnson,
Doug Marshall (Faculty Senate), Norman Pitman, Steve Simmons,
John Smith, Jean Tucker, Tony Waldrop, Danielle Watson (SGA),
Kevin West (Faculty Senate) and Kelly Woodford (Faculty Senate).

Press: Sally Ericson (Press-Register/al.com).

The meeting came to order and the attendance roll was called. Mr. Yance, Committee Chair,
called upon Messrs. Albano and Pitman for a report on endowment and investment performance,
ITEM 16. Mr. Albano noted that the return outperformed the relative index by 1.97 percent.
The return from October 1, 2013, through July 31, 2014, was 10.43 percent versus a relative
index of 8.46 percent. Mr. Pitman discussed the specifics of each manager’s performance.
Mr. Albano reviewed the asset allocation for the 2014 fiscal year and stated that allocations were
in accord with the University’s investment policy. He discussed portfolio performance since
inception, noting a return of 5.29 percent versus the index of 4.51 percent, an outperformance of
.78 percent. Mr. Yance provided an update on quarterly rebalancing and noted that the
endowment continues to realize gains on overweighted asset classes. He called for discussion
relative to international stocks and recommended lowering exposure to this asset class.

Mr. Yance called upon Dr. Busta for presentation of ITEM 17, a report from the Division of
Development and Alumni Relations. Dr. Busta discussed the contributions of Dr. and
Mrs. Steve Stokes, calling them model USA donors whose latest pledge will fund a symposium
focused on the environmental resiliency of the Gulf Coast. The venture will be coordinated
through USA’s Office of Research and Economic Development, with Dr. Jim Connors, Special
Assistant to the Vice President for Research and Fconomic Development, leading the project.
Dr. Connors remarked on Dr. Stokes’ passion for the coastal environment. He said the
coastline, which lends to building economic growth, is vulnerable to disaster and ecological
challenges. He thanked the Stokeses for their gift that will enable the University to engage a
symposium speaker and present a program on the sustainability and resiliency of coastal
resources, projected to be in the summer of 2015, Dr. Stokes joined Dr. Furr, Mr. Yance,
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President Waldrop, Ms. Chronister and Dr. Connors, and he presented a check for $75,000. He
attributed as his inspiration the Deepwater Horizon oil spill disaster in the Gulf of Mexico April
2010, the long-term ecological effects of which are unknown to mankind. He said the
University needs to be on the forefront, work with industry and develop techniques that will
counteract environmental catastrophes. He added that the University is geographically poised
for this opportunity.

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 3:23 p.m.

Respectfully submitted:

James A. Yance, Chair
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ITEM 4
December 5, 2014

RESOLUTION
EVALUATION OF THE UNIVERSITY'S ENDOWMENT
AND NON-ENDOWMENT INVESTMENT POLICIES

WHEREAS, the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (SACS) requires that

investment policies must be evaluated regularly, and

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees has previously approved the University’s endowment

funds policies and guidelines and the University’s non-endowment cash pool investment policy,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Trustees of the University of
South Alabama hereby acknowledges the current year annual evaluation of both policies by the

Endowment and Investments Committee.



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
NON-ENDOWMENT CASH POOL INVESTMENT POLICIES

Purpose

The purpose of this Investment Policy is to provide a guideline by which the pooled funds (the
current, loan, agency and plant fund groups) not otherwise needed to meet the daily operational
cash flows for the University can be invested to eam a maximum return, yet still maintain
sufficient liquidity to meet fluctuations in the inflow of funds from revenues, tuition payments
and state appropriations.

The policies and practiced hereinafter set forth separate funds into three investment categories:
(1) Short-term funds (2) Intermediate-term funds (3) Long-term funds.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES

The investment objectives for Operational Funds Investments are: (1) to maximize current
investment returns consistent with the liquidity needs of the University. In keeping with the
investment objectives noted above, it is acknowledged that there are Operational Funds which
require short-term, intermediate-term and long-term investment strategies.

It is expected that the maturities of the investments in the Operational Funds will be matched
against the cash flow needs of each campus to maximize yields consistent with the liquidity
needs of the University.

Maintenance of Adequate Liquidity

The investment portfolio must be structured in such a manner that will provide sufficient
liquidity to pay obligations such as normal operating expenses and debt service payments as they
become due. A liquidity base will be maintained by the use of securities with active secondary
markets, certificates of deposit, or repurchase agreements. These investments could be converted
to cash prior to their maturities should the need for cash arise.

Return on Investments

The University seeks to optimize return on investments within the constraints of each investment
objective. The portfolio strives to provide a return consistent with each investment category. The
cash pool portfolio rate of return will be compared with the returns of broad indices representing
the investment and maturity structure of the Pool.



DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

The Board of Trustees is ultimately responsible for investment policy. By Board Resolution the
Board of Trustees is delegating investment authority to the President or Vice President for
Financial Affairs or other such persons as may be authorized to act on their behalf.

The Investment Policy is established to provide guidance in the management of the University’s
Non-Endowment Cash Pool to insure compliance with the laws of the State of Alabama and
investment objectives. The Vice President for Financial Affairs or his designee is accorded full
discretion, within policy limits, to select individual investments and to diversify the portfolio by
applying their own judgments concerning relative investment values.

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE INVESTMENT POLICY

The Vice President for Financial Affairs or his designee is authorized to execute security
transactions for the University investment portfolio. Reports of investments shall be presented to
the Endowment and Investment Committee of the Board of Trustees.

AUTHORIZED INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS

Short-Term Operational Funds
Safety of Capital

Preservation of capital is regarded as the highest priority in the handling of investments for the
University of South Alabama. All other investment objectives are secondary to the safety of
capital.

It is assumed that all investments will be suitable to be held to maturity. However, sale prior to
maturity is warranted in some cases. For example, investments may be sold if daily operational
funds are needed or if the need to change the maturity structure of the portfolio arises.

All investments will be restricted to fixed income securities with the maturity range to be
consistent with the liquidity needs of the pooled fund groups. It is essential that cyclical cash
flow be offset by liquid investments. Permissible investment instruments may include:

1. Checking and Money Market deposit accounts in banks. These funds are subject to full
collateralization for the amounts above the FDIC $250,000.00 coverage limit, or
participation by the Bank in the State of Alabama’s Security for Alabama Funds
Enforcement Program.

2. Certificates of Deposit issued by banks and fully collateralized for the amounts above the
FDIC $250,000.00 coverage limit or participation by the bank in the State of Alabama’s
Security for Alabama Funds Enforcement Program. Negotiable Certificates of Deposit or



Deposit Notes issued by credit worthy U.S. Banks in amounts not to exceed the FDIC
$250,000.00 coverage limit.

3. Direct obligations of the United States or obligations unconditionally guaranteed as to
principal and interest by the Unites States.

4. Obligations of a Federal Agency (including mortgage backed securities) or a sponsored
instrumentality of the United States including but not limited to the following:

Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB)

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC)
Federal Farm Credit Banks (FFCB)

Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA)
Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA)
Student Loan Marketing Association (SLMA)
Financing Corp (FICO)

Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA)

Government Trust Certificates (GTC)

5. Commercial paper of corporate issuers with a minimum quality rating of P-1 by
Moody’s, A-1 by Standard and Poor’s or F-1 rating by Fitch. Corporate bonds will
maintain a minimum “A” rating by both Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s at the time of
purchase. No more than ten percent (10%) of the Total Cash and Investments shall be
invested in a single corporation for Commercial Paper/Short-term Corporate Bonds and
thirty-five percent (35%) per Federal Agency Obligation as described above. There will
be no limit on U.S. Treasury Obligations. All such securities must have an active
secondary market.

The maturity range of Short-Term Operational Funds Investments shall be consistent with
liquidity requirements of the funds category. However, funds established under certain debt
instruments may be invested in accordance with the applicable criteria. Typical maturity will
range from 1 year and less.

Intermediate-Term Investment of Operational Funds

Investments for those Operational Funds designated by the Campus President as benefiting from
investment over a one- to three-year period.

AUTHORIZED INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS

Permissible investments are consistent with all investments approved under short-term
operational funds within a one and three year investment period. It is expected that the
maturities of the investments within the intermediate-term funds will match against the cash flow
needs of the University and to maximize yields consistent with the liquidity needs of the
University.

Long-Term Investment of Operational Funds



Investments for those Operational Funds designated by the Campus President as benefiting from
a longer-term investment strategy will use the same investment and management criteria as those
applicable under the University’s Endowment [nvestment Policy.

PASS THROUGH OR DESIGNATED FUNDS

This policy shall also cover pass through funds (endowment funds to be forwarded to external
endowment fund managers) and any funds managed by the University and designated for
specific purposes and not covered by individual investment restrictions (i.e. endowment funds
that may not be co-mingled, bond proceeds during construction, USA Health Plan, etc.)

PRUDENCE AND ETHICAL STANDARDS

The standard of prudence to be used by investment officials shall be the “prudent person”
standard and shall be applied in the context of managing the overall portfolio. Persons
performing the investment functions, acting in accordance with these written policies and
procedures, and exercising due diligence shall be relieved of personal responsibility for an
individual security’s credit risk or market price changes, provided deviations from expectations
and appropriate recommendations to control adverse developments are reported in a timely
fashion. The “prudent person” standard is understood to mean:

“Investments shall be made with judgement and care, under circumstances then prevailing,
which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own
affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of their capital as
well as the probable income to be derived.”

EFFECTIVE DATE

This policy shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the Board of Trustees.
Further, this policy shall be reviewed at least annually and updated whenever changing market
conditions or investment objectives warrant.



Endowment Funds
Investment Policies and Guidelines

The Endowment Committee of the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama shall
be responsible for recommending investment policies and guidelines for approval by the Board
of Trustees, implementation of such policies and guidelines and selection of qualified investment
professionals including Investment Consultant(s), Investment Manager(s), and Funds
Custodian(s). The Endowment Committee will oversee investment activities, monitor investment
performance and ensure the prudent control of the Endowment Funds of the University. The
Endowment Committee will make periodic reports to the Board of Trustees.

L Purpose of the Endowment Funds

The University of South Alabama Endowment Funds exist to provide revenue while
preserving principal to fund those projects which have been endowed for specific
purposes, i.e., scholarships, professorships, program enhancements, student loans, etc.

IL. Purpose of the Investment Policy

This investment policy is set forth by the board of Trustees of the University of South
Alabama in order to:

L.

2.

Define and assign the responsibilities of all involved parties.

Establish a clear understanding of all involved parties of the investment goals and
objectives of Endowment Funds assets.

. Offer guidance and limitations to Investment Manager(s) regarding the investment of

Endowment Funds assets.
Establish a basis of ¢valuating investment results.

Manage Endowment Funds assets according to prudent standards as established in the
laws of the State of Alabama.

Establish the relevant investment horizon for which the Endowment Funds assets will
be managed.

In general, the purpose of this policy is to outline a philosophy and attitude which will
guide the investment management of the assets toward the desired results. It is intended
to be sufficiently specific to be meaningful, yet flexible enough to be practical.



1.

IV.

Delegation of Authority

The Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama is responsible for directing
and monitoring the investment management of the University’s Endowment Funds assets.
As such, the Board of Trustees is authorized to delegate certain authority to professional

_experts in various fields. These include, but are not limited to:

1. Investment Management Consultant(s). The consultant may assist the Board of
Trustees in: establishing investment policy, objectives, and guidelines; selecting
investment managers; reviewing such managers over time; measuring and
evaluating investment performance; and other tasks as deemed appropriate.

2. Investment Manager(s). The investment manager has discretion to purchase or
sell, in the University’s name, the specific securities that will be used to meet the
Endowment Funds investment objectives.

3. Funds Custodian(s). The custodian will physically (or through securities owned
by the Fund) collect dividend and interest payments, redeem maturing securities,
and effect receipt and delivery following purchases and sales. The custodian may
also perform regular accounting of all assets, owned, purchased or sold as well as
movenent of assets into and out of the Endowment Funds accounts.

With the exception of specific limitations described in these statements, managers will be
held responsible and accountable to achieve the objectives hercin stated. While it is not
believed that the limitations will hamper investment managers, each manager should
request modifications which they deem appropriate. All expenses for such experts must
be customary and reasonable, and will be borne by the Endowment Funds as deemed
appropriate and necessary.

Assignment of Responsibility
Al Responsibility of the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama

The Board of Trustees is responsible for the management of the assets of the Endowment
Funds. The Board of Trustees shall discharge its duties in good faith like an ordinary
prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances and in a
manner the Trustees reasonably believe to be in the best interest of the University. The
Board of Trustees will supervise the Endowment Committee and assigns the following
authority and responsibilities to the Endowment Committee on behalf of the Board of
Trustees.

B. Responsibility of the Endowment Committee

The specific authority and responsibilities of the Endowment Committee relating to the



investment management of Endowment Funds assets include:

1.

Projecting the Endowment Funds financial needs, and communicating such needs
to the Investment Manger(s) on a timely basis.

Determining the Endowment Funds risk tolerance and investment horizon, and
communicating these to the appropriate parties.

Establishing reasonable and consistent investment objectives, policies, time
frames and guidelines which will direct the investment of the Endowment Funds
assets.

Prudently and diligently selecting qualified investment professionals, including
Investment Manager(s), Investment Consultant(s), and Custodian(s).

Regularly evaluating the performance of the Investment Manager(s) to assure
adherence to policy guidelines and monitor investment objectives progress.

Developing and enacting proper control procedures: For example, replacing
Investment Manager(s) due to fundamental changes in the investment
management process, or failure to comply with established guidelines.

Making direct investments in cases in which selection of an investment manager
is not appropriate. '

Recommending an endowment spending policy to the Board of Trustees for
approval.

Reporting periodically to the Board of Trustees Endowment Committee actions
and recommendations and investment performance of the Endowment Funds.

Responsibility of the Investment Manager(s)

The Endowment Funds will be managed primarily by external investment
advisory organizations; both commingled vehicles and separate accounts may be
used. The investment manager(s) have discretion, within the guidelines set forth
in this policy statement and any additional guidelines provided them, to manage
the assets in each portfolio to achieve the investment objectives. Managers will
normally manage only one type of investment in each fund. For example, equities
and fixed income will not be combined in a balanced fund with one manager.

Each Investment Manager must acknowledge, in writing, their acceptance of
responsibility as a fiduciary. Each Investment Manager will have full discretion to
make all investment decisions for the assets placed under their jurisdiction, while
observing and operating within all policies, guidelines, constraints, and
philosophies as outlined in this statement. Each Investment Manager will be
provided with a copy of this statement of investment objectives and policies. In
turh, as part of the investment management contract that will govern their

3



portfolio, the Investment Manager is expected to provide a written statement of
the firm’s expectations, stated in terms of the objectives and comparative
benchmarks that will be used to evaluate performance and the allowable securities
that can be used to achieve these objectives. These statements will be consistent
with the statement of investment objectives and policies and will be incorporated
as appendices. Specific responsibilities of the Investment Manager(s) include:

1.

10.

Discretionary investment management including decisions to buy or
sell individual securities, and to alter asset allocation with the annual
guidelines established by the Endowment Committee.

Reporting, on a timely basis, quarterly investment performance results.

Providing monthly valuation of the investment portfolio based on the
previous month’s closing prices.

Communicating any major changes in economic outlook, investment
strategy, or any other factors which affect implementation of
investment process, or the investment objectives progress of the
Endowment Funds investment management.

Informing the Endowment Committee regarding any qualitative
change in the investment management organization. Examples include
changes in portfolio management personnel, ownership structure,
investment philosophy, etc.

Providing the Endowment Committee with proof of liability and
fiduciary insurance coverage.

Acknowledging in writing an ability and agreement to invest within
the guidelines set forth in the investment policy.

Meeting with the Endowment Committee at least annually.

Voting proxies on behalf of the Endowment Funds and communicating
such voting records on a timely basis. In cases in which the University
desires to vote proxies related to specific topics, it will so notify
Managei(s).

The Board of Trusteces may from time to time request that the
Investment Manager(s) allocate commissions to those brokerage firms
providing other investment management setrvices to the University.
Good execution and commission prices are primary considerations in
routing business to the said brokerage firms. If at any time any
Investment Manager believes that any policy guideline inhibits
investment performance, it is their responsibility to communicate this
to the Endowment Committee.
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VIIL

General Investment Principles

1.

Investments shall be made solely in the interest of the purposes of the University
of South Alabama.

The Endowment Funds shall be invested with the care, skill, prudence, and
diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person in a like
position would exercise under similar circumstances in a manner the Board of
Trustees reasonably believe to be in the best interest of the University.

Investment of the Endowment Funds shall be so diversified as to minimize the
risk of large losses, unless under the circumstances it is clearly prudent not to do
SO.

The Board of Trustees may employ one or more investment managers of varying
styles and philosophies to attain the Endowment Funds objectives.

Cash is to be employed productively at all times, by investment in short term cash
equivalents to provide safety, liquidity, and return.

Investment Objectives

In order to meet its needs, the investment strategy of the University of South Alabama
Endowment Funds is to emphasize total return; that is, the aggregate return from capital
appreciation and dividend and interest income. The total Endowment Funds shall be
monitored for return relative to objectives, consistency of investment philosophy, and
investment risk. The Endowment Funds results shall be evaluated on a rolling five-year
basis against a market benchmark weighted 55 percent in favor of the MSCI World_(US
Dollar) Index, 25 percent toward the Barclay’s Capital US Aggregate Bond Index and 20
percent Treasury-bill rate plus 3 percent.

Portfolio Composition and Risk

A,

To achieve its investment objective, the Endowment Funds assets are considered
as divided into three parts a fixed income component, a fixed income alternative
component, and an equity component. The Endowment Funds long-term
commitment to these funds shall be as follows:

Range Long-term neutral
Fixed Income 15-35% 25%
Equity 35-75% 55%
Fixed Income Alternative 10-30% 20%
Cash 0-5% 0%

The purposc of dividing the Endowment Funds in this manner is to ensure that the
overall asset allocation among major asset classes remains under the regular
scrutiny of the Endowment Committee and is not allowed to become the residual



of separate manager decisions. Over the long run, the allocation among the major
asset classes may be the single most important determinant of the endowment
funds investment performance.

The purpose of the fixed income fund is to provide a hedge against deflation, to
reduce the overall volatility of returns of the Endowment Funds, in order to
produce current income in support of spending needs.

The percentage of total Endowment Funds assets allocated to the fixed-income
fund at any time should be sufficient to provide that neither the current income
not the capital value or the total Endowment Funds declines by an intolerable
amount during an extended period of deflation. The fixed-income fund should
normally represent approximately 15-35 percent of total Endowment Funds assets
at market value. Although the actual percentage will fluctuate with market
conditions, levels outside this range should be closely monitored by the
Endowment Committee.

The purpose of the equity fund is to provide appreciation of principal that more
than offsets inflation and to provide a growing stream of current income. It is
recognized that the pursuit of this objective could entail the assumption of greater
market variability and risk than investment in fixed-income securities. Equity and
equity-substitute investments are broadly defined as common stocks, high-yield
bonds, reorganization securities, venture capital, leveraged buyout investments,
equity real estate, reorganization securities, exchange traded index funds, etc.

The purpose of the fixed income alternative component is to provide the
Endowment a source of rcturns with low correlation to equity markets and
volatility of one third to one half that of the U.S. equity market, while still
achieving equity-like returns of Treasury Bills plus 2-8% over time. The Fixed
Income Alternative should normally represent approximately 10-30 percent of
total Endowment Funds.

Any assets not committed to the fixed-income fund or fixed income alternative
shall be allocated to the equity fund. The equity fund should normally represent
approximately 35-75 percent of total Endowment Funds assets at market value.
Although the actual percentage of equities will vary with market conditions,
levels outside this range should be closely monitored by the Investment
Committee.

The Endowment includes investments in several categories, and the Endowment
Committee targets allocations for the following:



Long-Term
Strategic
Asset Class Target (%) of Range
Endowed Funds
DOMESTIC EQUITY 47% 30-60%
Large/Mid-Cap 40% 25-55%
Small Cap 5% 3-8%
High Yield Debt 2% 0-5%
INTERNATIONAL STOCKS 10% 5-15%
Developed Markets 6% 3-10%
Emerging Markets 4% 0-6%
TOTAL EQUITY COMPONENT 57% 35-75%
ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS 20% 10-30%
Absolute Return 15% 12-20%
Long/Short Equity 5% 0-10%
TOTAL ALTERNATIVE COMPONENT 20% 10-30%
Fixed Income Component 23% 15-35%
U.S. Core Bonds 16% 12-20%
Global Bonds 4% 0-7%
TIPS 2% 0-5%
Emerging Markets Debt 1% 0-2%
TOTAL FIXED INCOME COMPONENT 23% 15-35%
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS 0% 0-5%
H. Within the equity fund, certain investments can be included, with Endowment

Committee approval, fo provide a hedge against unanticipated, rapidly
accelerating inflation. These include cash, real estate and oil and gas investments.
While the Endowment Committee recognizes the argument for having a separate
allocation to inflation-hedging assets, at this time, these investments are evaluated
primarily as equity-substitutes. The Endowment Committee will periodically
review the adoption of an inflation-hedging fund allocation separate from the
equity allocation.

Within the equity fund, in addition to cash reserves held by managers, there is
notmally an invesiment in cash or short-term instruments. Although the
Endowment Committee has not adopted a cash allocation, new gifts to the
endowment and endowment income in excess of budgetary distributions generate
cash inflow to the Fndowment Fund. The level of cash should be closely
monitored by the committee.



I The Endowment committee may change any of the above ratios; however, it is
anticipated that these changes will be infrequent.

K. The Endowment Funds investments shall be diversified both by asset class (e.g.,
equities and fixed-income securities) and within asset classes (e.g., within equities
by economic sector, geographic area, industry, quality, and size). The purpose of
diversification is to provide reasonable assurance that no single security or class
of securities shall have a disproportionate impact on the endowment funds
aggregate results. Equity securities in any single industry will not exceed 20
percent, nor will equity securitics in any single company exceed 10 percent of the
market value of the endowment’s allocation to equities.

VIII. Spending Policy

IX.

XI.

It shall be the policy of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees to preserve
and maintain the real purchasing power of the principal of the Endowment Funds. The
current spending policy of the University will be determined annually by the President
and the Endowment Committee and approved by the Board of Trustees. The spending
guideline is based on an expected total return over the long-term less expected inflation.

Volatility of Returns

The Board of Trustees understands that in order to achieve its objectives for Endowment
Funds assets, the Funds will experience volatility of returns and fluctuations of market
value. The Board will tolerate volatility as measured against the risk/retumn analysis of the
appropriate market indices. The indices used as a measure of an investment manger’s
performance will be used to measure the allowable volatility (risk).

Liquidity

To minimize the possibility of a loss occasioned by the sale of a security forced by the
need to meet a required payment, the Vice President for Financial Affairs will
periodically provide Investment Manager(s) with an estimate of expected net cash flow.
The Vice President will notify the Investment Consultant in a timely manner, to allow
sufficient time to build up necessary liquid reserves. Because of the infrequency of cash
outflows and overall marketability of Endowment Funds assets, the Board of Trustees
does not require the maintenance of a dedicated cash or cash equivalent reserve.

Marketability of Assets

The Board of Trustees requires that all Endowment Funds allocated to cash equivalents,
fixed income securities or equity securities be invested in liquid securities, defined as
securities that can be transacted quickly and efficiently for the Endowment Funds, with
minimal impact on market price. The Board of Trustees recognizes that opportunities
may exist in illiquid assets and will allow Investment Managers overseeing Fixed Income
Alternatives to invest in securities that may be less liquid and could present a risk of
illiquidity.



XII. Investment Guidelines

A. Allowable Assets

1.

Cash Equivalents

Treasury Bills

Money Market Funds

Common Fund Short Term Investment Fund
Commercial Paper

Banker’s Acceptance

Repurchase Agreements

Certificates of Deposits

Fixed Incotne Securities

U.S. Government and Agency Securities

Corporate Notes and Bonds

Mortgage Backed Bonds

Preferred Stock

Fixed Income Securitics of Foreign Governments and Coxporations
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations

Fixed Income Alternatives

Arbitrage (merger, event, convertible, equity and fixed income
arbitrage and pairs trading)

Event investing (restructurings, spin-offs, etc.)

Distressed securities

Long Short equities (U.S., global and sector funds)

Market neutral equities

Short-biased equities

Macro investing

Equity Securities

Common Stocks

Convertible Notes and Bonds

Convertible Preferred Stocks

American Depository Receipts (ADRs) of Non-U.S. Companies
Exchange traded index funds



5. Mutual Funds

e Mutual Funds which invest in securities as allowed in this statement.

Other Assets:

B.

Derivative Securities: options and future contracts

In general, the use of derivative securities by the Investment Manager shall be
discouraged, unless such an opportunity presents itself that the use of the
sophisticated securities would provide substantial opportunity to increase
investment returns at an appropriately equivalent level of risk to the remainder of
the total portfolio. Also, derivative securities may be used by the Investment
Manager in order to hedge certain tisks to the portfolio. The approval and use of
derivative securities will not be allowed unless the Endowment Committee is
confident that the Investment Manager(s) thoroughly understands the risks being
taken, has demonstrated expertise in their usage of such securities, and has
guidelines in place for the use and monitoring of derivatives.

Real Estate: Investments may also include equity real estate, held in the form of
professionally managed, income producing commercial and residential property.
Such investments may be made only through professionally managed, income
producing commercial and residential property. Such investments may not
exceed 10% of the total endowment fund. Such investment may be made only
through professionally managed pooled real estate investment funds, as offered by
leading real estate managers with proven track records of superior performance
over time.

The Endowment will avoid highly leveraged strategies and managers who provide
insufficient transparency of their actions for adequate monitoring of the risks they
are taking.

Guidelines for Fixed Income Investments and Cash Equivalents

1. Investment in fixed income securities shall be restricted to only investment
grade bonds rated BAA or higher.

2. Money Market Funds selected shall contain securities whose credit rating
at the absolute minimum would be rated investment grade by Standard and
Poor’s, and/or Moody’s.

3. Investrent in fixed income securities within the fixed income portfolio
shall be restricted to only investment grade bonds rated BAA or higher.
Any investment in below investment grade bonds shall be considered an
equity or fixed income alternative investment.

10



C.

Guidelines for Fixed Income Alternatives

L.

Fixed Income alternative investments will be defined as any strategy using a
partnership or offshore investment company structure that may or may not be
subject to SEC registration, investing primarily in marketable securities and/or
subject to a performance fee. These strategies would generally have absolute,
as opposed to relative, return objectives driven more by manager skill and
market inefficiency than market direction. Use of leverage, short selling
and/or derivatives may or may not be employed as part of the investment
approach, The endowment will employ a manager of manager’s approach to
investing in fixed income alternative investments.

D. Limitations on Manager Allocations

1.

No more than 5% of the Endowment Fund assets shall be allocated to an
individual Investment Manager.

No more than 25% of the Endowment Fund assets shall be allocated to a
“Fund of Funds” or multi-manager fund.

XITI. Investment Manager Performance Review and Evaluation

Performance reports generated by the Investment Consultant shall be compiled at least
quarterly and communicated to the Board of Trustees for review. The investment
performance of total portfolios, as well as asset class components, will be measured
against commonly accepted performance benchmarks. Consideration shall be given to the
extent to which the investment results are consistent with the investment objectives,
goals, and guidelines as set forth in this statement, The Board of Trustees intends to
evaluate the portfolio(s) over at least a three-year period, but reserves the right to
terminate a manager for any reason including the following:

1.

3.

Investment performance which is significantly less than anticipated, given the
discipline employed and risk parameters established, or unacceptable justification
of poor results.

Failure to adhere to any aspect of this statement of investment policy, including
communication and reporting requirements.

Significant qualitative changes to the investment management organization.

Investment managers shall be reviewed annually regarding performance, personnel,
strategy, research capabilities, organizational and business matters, and other qualitative
factors that may impact their ability to achieve the desired investment results.
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XIV. Investment Policy Review

To assure continued relevance of the guidelines, objectives, financial status and capital
markets expectations as established in this statement of investment policy, the Board of
Trustees will review investment policy at least annually.

Investment Manager Selection

1. The Endowment Committee will decide on guidelines for the desired investment
philosophy, asset mix, and performance objectives of the new manager.

2. The Endowment Committee will employ, if appropriate, Investment Consultant(s) to
identify potential managers.

3. Potential managers will be reviewed by the Endowment Committee in some or all of the
following areas with the importance of each category determined by the Endowment
Committee:

Organization
s Experience of firm

*  Assets under management

¢ Ownership

s Number of professionals

e Fees and minimum account size
Performance

¢ One, three and five-year comparisons
¢ Up/down market comparisons
» Risk/return graphs

Securities Summary — Equities

*  Yield

s Profit/earnings
®  Quality

e Growth

¢ DBeta

Securities Summary — Fixed Income
Quality

Maturity

Duration
Government/non-government
Investment decision-making process
Top down/bottom up
Quantitative/qualitative/traditional
Expected performance charactetistics
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Securities Summary — Fixed Income Alternative

e Arbitrage (merger, event, convertible, equity and fixed income arbitrage and
pairs trading)

Event investing (restructurings, spin-offs, etc.)

Distressed securities

Long Short equities (U.S., global and sector funds)

Market neutral equities

Short-biased equities

Macro investing

Skill Set Analysis

» Market timing

Sector diversification
Security selection
Security consideration

Final selection of a new manager resides with the Endowment Committee.
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ITEMS
December 5, 2014

RESOLUTION

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS OF THE JAGUAR ATHLETIC FUND, INC.

WHEREAS, pursuant to the amended bylaws of the Jaguar Athletic Fund, Inc.
(“USAJAF”), the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama (“University™) shall
approve the USAJAF slate of officers and directors, and

WHEREAS, the University and the USAJAF have a history of interaction and

cooperation that has served the interests of the University, and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the USAJAF, through its Nominating Committee,
is authorized to nominate directors and officers consistent with the aforesaid for consideration

and approval by the Board of Trustees of the University, and

WHEREAS, the Nominating Committee of the USAJAF Board of Directors has
nominated the following persons for consideration and approval by the Board of Trustees of the

University:

Officers (annual) — James H. Shumock, Corporation President; C.L. “Skipper” Walters,

Corporation Vice President; Jeffry M. Nichols, Corporation Secretary

Directors (3-vear term) — Katherine Alexis Atkins, football; William J. Cox, football;

Jeffry M. Nichols, tennis; R. Lee McKinney, II, cross country/track; William Scott McNair,
men’s golf; Anthony Paul Beard, softball

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Trustees of the University of
South Alabama does hereby approve the nominees listed as members of the Board of Directors
and officers of the USAJAF.






ITEM 7.4
December 5, 2614

RESOLUTION

COMMENDATION OF THE J.L. BEDSOLE FOUNDATION FOR GIFT

WHERFEAS, the University of South Alabama has for fifty-one years vigorously pursued
its mission of teaching, research and service to the Gulf Coast region, including preparing students
by building knowledge and expertise that will sustain them in leadership roles in society, and

WHEREAS, ensuring that qualified and deserving students can pursue higher education
regardless of their financial means is of vital importance to the health, welfare and success of our
region, state and nation, and

WHERFEAS, a scholarship focused on financially challenged students who display
potential for excellence in leadership and scholarship would offer generations of students
opportunities for developing the skills and habits necessary to be thoughtful, ethical leaders and
citizens free of the burden of financial hardship, and

WHEREAS, the J.L. Bedsole Foundation has pursued this objective with exceptional
generosity during the past twenty-two years by providing financial support to more than five
hundred scholarship recipients, thereby enabling talented students from the South Alabama region
studying at the University of South Alabama and at universities across the state to pursue their
dreams of higher education, and

WHEREAS, the J.L. Bedsole Foundation has not only invested in the formal education of
these students, but also provided them with structured guidance and mentorship, as well as
leadership training, and

WHEREAS, the J.L. Bedsole Foundation has generously committed to providing One
Million Dollars to establish an endowed fund to invest in the continued success of students at the
University of South Alabama and to expand and deepen the long-standing collaboration between
these institutions, and

WHERFEAS, this fund established by the J.L. Bedsole Foundation represents a profound
advancement of the academic and financial aid programs of the University of South Alabama that
will accrue to the benefit of countless citizens for generations to come,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South
Alabama expresses its deep gratitude to the J.L. Bedsole Foundation for its visionary and
extraordinary generosity in establishing this endowed fund and declares that this scholarship at the
University of South Alabama will hereafter be known as the J.L.. Bedsole Foundation Scholarship.









UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

AUDIT COMMITTEE

September 11, 2014
2:48 p.m.

A meeting of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees Audit Committee was duly
convened by Mr. John Peek, Chair, on Thursday, September 11, 2014, at 2:48 p.m. in the Board
Room of the Frederick P. Whiddon Administration Building.

Members Present: Ron Jenkins, John Peek and Sandy Stimpson.

Members Absent: Scott Charlton and Bryant Mixon.

Other Trustees: Chandra Brown Stewart, Tom Corcoran, Steve Furr, Bettye Maye,
Arlene Mitchell, Jimmy Shumock, Ken Simon, Steve Stokes, and
Mike Windom.
Administration Drs. Joe Busta, Lynne Chronister, Joel Erdmann, Julie Estis (Faculty
and Others: Senate), Ron Franks, Happy Fulford, Stan Hammack, David Johnson,

Doug Marshall (Faculty Senate), Mark Peach (KPMG), Steve Simmons,
John Smith, Jean Tucker, Danielle Watson (SGA), Kevin West (Faculty
Senate) and Kelly Woodford (Faculty Senate).

Press: Sally Ericson (Press-Register/al.com).

The meeting came to order and the attendance roll was called. Mr. Peek, Committee Chair,
moved for the approval of the revised agenda. Captain Jenkins seconded and the revised agenda
was approved unanimously.

Mr. Peek called upon Mr. Mark Peach, KPMG partner, to discuss the audit process, ITEM 15.
As Committee members viewed a printed summary, Mr. Peach discussed such elements as the
engagement timeline, client service team, approach to risk and access to records. He answered
questions about access of the University’s information systems and internal security. He said it
is important for KPMG and the University to understand the emerging trends and issues relating
to information technology. He gave information on GASB 68, a significant release detailing
changes in pension accounting and unfunded liability, that will take effect in 2015, and he
addressed questions and comments from Trustees. Mr. Peek asked that timely notifications be
provided to the Committee.

Mr. Peek called upon Mr. Simmons for delivery of ITEM 15.a, a report on the independent audit
of the USA Foundation’s (USAF) consolidated financial statements and the disproportionate
share hospital (DISH) funds combined financial statements for June 2014 and 2013.
Mr. Simmons advised that terms of a settlement agreement mandate the routine sharing of this
information with the University. He gave a history of the controversial transfer of University
assets to the USA Foundation some years prior, which necessitates routine requests by the



Audit Committee
September 11, 2014
Page 2

University for USAF funding support. He said the Administration is taking a fresh look at the
distribution process.
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 3:06 p.m.

Respectfully submitted:

John M. Peek, Chair
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Introduction

The following discussion presents an overview of the financial position and financial activities of the University
of South Alabama (the University), including the University of South Alabama Hospitals (the Hospitals), a
division of the University, at September 30, 2014 and 2013 and for the years then ended. This discussion was
prepared by University management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes
thereto, which follow.

The basic financial statements of the University consist of the University and its component units. The financial
position and results of operations of the component units are either blended with the University’s financial
position and results of operations or are discretely presented. The treatment of each component unit is governed
by pronouncements issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. As more fully described in note 1
to the basic financial statements, the University of South Alabama Professional Liability Trust Fund, University
of South Alabama General Liability Trust Fund and USA HealthCare Management, LLC are reported as blended
component units. The University of South Alabama Foundation, the University of South Alabama Health
Services Foundation, and the USA Research and Technology Corporation are discretely presented.

Financial Highlights

At September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the University had total assets of $1,055,286,000, $1,042,345,000, and
$983,800,000, respectively; total liabilities and deferred inflows of $555,736,000, $549,355,000, and
$530,289,000, respectively; and net position of $499,550,000, $492,990,000, and $453,511,000, respectively.
University net position increased by $6,560,000 during the year ended September 30, 2014 compared to an
increase of $39,479,000 for the year ended September 30, 2013 and an increase of $38,389,000 for the year
ended September 30, 2012.

An overview of cach statement is presented herein along with a financial analysis of the transactions impacting
each statement. Where appropriate, comparative financial information is presented to assist in the understanding
of this analysis.

Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations
Statement of Net Position

The statement of net position presents the assets, liabilities, deferred inflows and net position of the University at
September 30, 2014 and 2013. Net position is displayed in three parts: net investment in capital assets, restricted
and unrestricted. Restricted net position may either be expendable or nonexpendable and is that net position that
is restricted by law or external donor. Unrestricted net position is generally designated for specific purposes, and
is available for use by the University to meet current expenses for any purpose. The statement of net position,
along with all of the University’s basic financial statements, is prepared under the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, whereby revenues are recognized when earned and
expenses are recognized when incurred by the University, regardless of when cash is exchanged.

Assets included in the statement of net position are classified as current or noncurrent. Current assets consist
primarily of cash and cash equivalents, investments, and net patient accounts receivable. Of these amounts, cash
and cash equivalents, investments, and patient accounts receivable comprise approximately 29%, 50%, and 10%,

1 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

respectively, of current assets at September 30, 2014. Noncurrent assets at September 30, 2014 consist primarily

of capital assets, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and restricted investments.

The Condensed Schedules of Net Position at September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012 follow (in thousands):

Condensed Schedules of Net Position

Assets:
Current
Capital assets
Other noncurrent

Total assets
Liabilities:
Current
Noncurrent
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows

Total liabilities and deferred inflows

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted, nonexpendable
Restricted, expendable
Unrestricted

Total net position

$

2014 2013 2012
303,272 333,828 292,041
578,303 565,830 533,199
173,711 142,687 158,560

1,055,286 1,042,345 983,800
120,646 115,149 115,088
434913 434,206 415,201
555,559 549,355 530,289

177 — —
555,736 549,355 530,289
237,851 227,464 227,029
40,191 36,864 33,825
60,873 54,364 48,201
160,635 174,298 144,456
499,550 492,990 453,511

University cash, cash equivalents, and investments (current and noncurrent) increased between September 30,
2013 and 2014 by $8,497,000 to $403,965,000. This increase is consistent with the results of operations for the
year. This follows an increase of $47,820,000 in cash, cash equivalents, and investments between 2012 and 2013,
which was due primarily to the issuance of the 2013-A, 2013-B and 2013-C bonds, net of utilization of cash from

prior bond issues for various construction projects.

(Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Total assets of the University as of September 30 are as follows:

Total University Assets

$1,500
$1,000

$500

Millions of Dollars

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
September 30,

Net position represents the residual interest in the University’s assets after liabilities are deducted. Net position is
classified into one of four categories:

Net investment in capital assets represents the University’s capital assets less accumulated depreciation and
outstanding principal balances of the debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those

assets.

Restricted nonexpendable net position consists primarily of the University’s permanent endowment funds. While
carnings from these funds may be expended, the corpus may not be expended for any reason and must remain
intact with the University in perpetuity.

Restricted expendable net position is subject to externally imposed restrictions governing their use. The funds are
restricted primarily for debt service, capital projects, student loans, and scholarship purposes.

Unrestricted net position represents those net assets not subject to externally imposed stipulations. Even though
these funds are not legally restricted, the majority of the University’s unrestricted net position has been internally
designated for various projects, all supporting the mission of the University. Unrestricted net position includes
funds for various academic and research programs, auxiliary operations (including the bookstore, student housing
and dining services), student programs, capital projects and general operations.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Net position of the University as of September 30 is as follows:

Net Position

$500

3400

$300

Millions of Dotlars

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
September 30,

All categories of restricted net position increased by approximately 11% between September 30, 2013 and 2014,
primarily due to the addition of restricted gifts to the University. Unrestricted net position decreased from
$174,298,000 to $160,635,000 between September 30, 2013 and 2014 due primarily to changes in the fair value
of the 2004 and 2006 swaptions.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Changes in total University net position as reported in the statement of net position are based on the activity
presented in the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. The purpose of this statement is to
present the change in net position resulting from revenues earned by the University, both operating and
nonoperating, and the expenses incurred by the University, both operating and nonoperating, as well as any other
revenues, expenses, gains, and losses earned or incurred by the University.

Generally, operating revenues have the characteristics of exchange transactions and are received or accrued for
providing goods and services to the various customers and constituencies of the University. These include
hospital patient care services, tuition and fees (net of scholarship discounts and allowances), most noncapital
grants and contracts and revenues from auxiliary activities and sales and services of educational activities
(primarily athletic activities). Operating expenses are those expenses paid or incurred to acquire or produce the
goods and services provided in return for the operating revenues, and to carry out the mission of the University.

Nonoperating revenues have the characteristics of nonexchange transactions and are revenues generally earned
for which goods and services are not provided, such as investment income, capital appropriations, gifts and other
contributions. State appropriations are required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board to be
classified as nonoperating revenues. Nonoperating expenses are those expenses required in the operation and
administration of the University, but not directly incurred to acquire or produce the goods and services provided
in return for operating revenues. Such nonoperating expenses include interest on the University’s indebtedness
and losses related to the disposition of capital assets.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

The Condensed Schedules of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position for the years ended
September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012 follow (in thousands):

Condensed Schedules of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Net Position

2014 2013 2012
Operating revenues:
Tuition and fees 3 104,448 95,709 88,299
Net patient service revenue 268,449 258,207 247,802
Federal, state and private grants and contracts 76,719 77,302 76,448
Other 54,010 52,388 56,579
503,626 483,606 469,128
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 419,966 401,872 396,170
Supplies and other services 158,615 148,597 134,841
Other 55,397 51,651 51,222
633,978 602,120 582,233
Operating loss (130,352) (118,514) (113,105)
Nonoperating revenues:
State appropriations 103,695 102,585 105,639
Investment income 8,206 28,159 14,561
Other, net 14,475 11,986 12,197
Net nonoperating revenues 126,376 142,730 132,397
Income (loss) before capital
appropriations, capital
contributions and additions to
endowment (3,976) 24,216 19,292
Capital appropriations, capital contributions
and additions to endowment 10,536 15,263 19,097
Change in net position 6,560 39,479 38,389
Beginning net position, before cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle 492,990 453511 416,896
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle — — (1,774)
Beginning net position — as adjusted 492 990 453,511 415,122
Ending net position 3 499,550 492,990 453,511

In 2014, 2013, and 2012, approximately 40%, 39%, and 39%, respectively, of total revenues of the University
were net patient service revenue. Excluding net patient service revenue, net tuition and fees charged to students
represent the largest component of total university revenues, approximately 16% of total revenues in fiscal 2014.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Also in 2014, state appropriations and grants and contracts (federal, state and private) represented approximately
16% and 12% of total revenues, respectively.

A summary of University revenues for the year ended September 30, 2014 is presented below:

Total Revenues

State appropriations
16%

Other

Auxiliary enterprises
3%

Tuition & fees
16%
Grants and contracts
12%

Patient services revenues
40%

Tuition and fees have increased in each of the last ten years. These increases are due primarily to increases in
tuition and fee rates charged 1o students as well as to an increase in the number of students enrolled and credit
hours taken by those students. Additionally, net tuition and fees as a percent of total operating revenues continue
to increase, from 9.5% of operating revenues in 2002 to 20.8% in 2014. Tuition and fees, gross and net of
scholarship allowances, for the past ten fiscal years are as follows:

Tuition and Fee Revenue

» 5120

=

] s80

= W Gross
é $40 Net
=

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Capital contributions and grants decreased from $10,871,000 in 2013 to $790,000 in 2014 due to a decrease in
grant funds received for construction of Shelby Hall and the ABSL-3 Laboratory Building. The University
recognized $3,482,000 in capital appropriations in 2014, compared to $1,236,000 in 2013. The 2014 and 2013
appropriations were utilized in the renovation of the Student Center.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

University expenses are presented using their natural expense classifications. A summary of University expenses
for the year ended September 30, 2014 is presented below:

Total Expenses

Salaries & benefits
64%

Supplies & other services
24%

Interest and other non-
operating
4%

Scholarships &
fellowships

Utilities 1%
2%

While the University reports its expenses on a natural expense classification basis, functional classifications
represent expenses categorized based on the function within the University., Such University functions include
instruction, research, public service, academic support, student services, institutional support, scholarships, and
operation and maintenance of plant. Expenses related to auxiliary enterprise activities and the hospitals are
presented separately. Functional expense information is presented in note 16 to the basic financial statements.

In 2014, 2013, and 2012, approximately 66%, 67% and 68%, respectively, of the University’s total operating
expenses were salaries and benefits. After steady increases from 2005 to 2008, salaries and benefits have been

relatively constant since 2008, as follows:

Total Salaries and Benefits Expense

$500
. $400
3
< $300 1
=
5 $200
= S100
$-

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2008

For the years ended September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Umniversity reported operating losses of
approximately $130,352,000, $118,514,000, and $113,105,000, respectively. Operating losses are offset partially
by state appropriations, which are reported as nonoperating revenue. After adding state appropriations and other
nonoperating revenues and expenses, (primarily capital appropriations, capital contributions, and additions to
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(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

endowment) the total change in net position was approximately $6,560,000, $39,479,000, and $38,389,000, for
the years ended September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

The Hospitals represent a significant portion of total University revenues and expenses and have remained
relatively constant over the past four years. Operating hospital revenues and expenses for the last ten fiscal years
are presented below:

Hospital Operating Revenues and Expenses
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Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows presents information related to cash flows of the University. This statement presents
cash flows by category: operating activities, noncapital financing activities, capital and related financing
activities and investing activities. The net cash provided to, or used by, the University is presented by category.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Total capital asset additions for the University were approximately $44,237,000 in 2014. During 2014, New Hall
(residence hall) and a major renovation of the Student Center were placed into service. Significant construction
projects that remain in progress at September 30, 2014 included a new professional medical office building. The
expansion of Children’s and Women’s Hospital was substantially completed in 2014. Major projects completed
and placed into service in fiscal 2012 and 2013 included the Campus Entrance Portals, Stokes Hall and a major
renovation of the Bookstore. At September 30, 2014, the University had outstanding commitments of
approximately $3,468,000 for various capital projects.

In a prior year, the State of Alabama made allocations from state bond issues to the University in the amount of
$21,332,000. During 2014, $3,482,000 was recognized by the University and is reported as a capital
appropriation. $112,000 remains unspent at September 30, 2014,

In June 2013, the University issucd the University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds,
Series 2013-A, 2013-B and 2013-C, with a total face value of $50,000,000. The net proceeds of these bonds are
being used to fund the construction of a new professional medical office building as well as other construction
and other capital projects on the main campus of the University.

In March 2014, the University issued the University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2014-A, with a
face value of $41,245,000. The proceeds of this bond were used to refund the University’s Series 2004 bonds in
connection with the termination of the swaption, as discussed below.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

In order to realize debt service savings currently from future debt refunding, in January 2008, the University
entered into a synthetic advance refunding of the outstanding Series 2004 and 2006 bonds. This transaction was
effected through the sale of two swaptions by the University to the counterparty and resulted in an up-front
payment to the University totaling $9,328,000 in exchange for selling the counterparty the option to enter into an
interest rate swap with respect to the Series 2004 and 2006 bonds. A portion of this payment was considered a
borrowing and was included in the long-term debt of the University. The fair value component of the refunding
associated with the swaps was considered an investment derivative and, as such, the change in the fair value
component was reflected as a component of investment income in 2014, 2013 and 2012,

In December 2013, the counterparty exercised its option with respect to the 2004 swaption and forced the
University into an underlying swap. The University refunded its Series 2004 bonds, issued the 2014-A variable
rate bond and terminated the Series 2004 swaption. As a result of this termination, the borrowing arising from the
Series 2004 swaption of $1,696,000 and the investment derivative of $5,213,000 were written off and an
investment loss of $2,229,000 was recognized. A borrowing arising from the 2014 swap of $9,138,000 was
recognized and is reported in the statement of net position at September 30, 2014.

The University’s bond credit rating is Al as rated by Moody’s Investors Services and A+ as rated by Standard
and Poor’s Rating Services. Neither rate changed during 2014.

Economic Outlook

Student enrollment and tuition and fee rates have both increased over the past thirteen years. The University has
experienced an increase in enrollment between 2000 and 2014, from 11,870 in 2000 to 16,055 for the 2014 fall
semester. The enrollment trend for the University between 2000 and 2014 is as follows:

Enrollment Growth Summary
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30,2014 and 2013

In that same time period, in-state tuition per credit hour has increased by approximately 222%. The large increase
in 2010 is the result of the University’s bundling of tuition and required fees into a single per-hour charge.
Similar increases have been experienced in out-of-state tuition and College of Medicine tuition. The trend of
in-statetuition per credit hour between 2000 and 2014 is as follows:

Tuition per Credit Hour
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Cost of Tuition per Credit Hour

While enrollment and tuition have both increased in recent years, state appropriations prior to 2006 were
relatively flat. However, in the 2008, 2007 and 2006 fiscal years, the University experienced increases of 16%,
19% and 17%, respectively, or approximately $19,349,000, $19,185,000 and $14,581,000, respectively, in its
state appropriation. These increases were unusually high. For the 2009 fiscal year, the University’s original state
appropriation decreased 12.8% or approximately $17,882,000. Additionally, in December 2008 the Governor of
Alabama announced proration of 9%, or approximately $10,967,000; and in July 2009, the Governor announced
additional proration of 2%, or approximately $2,437,000. Therefore, the total decrease in the 2009 state
appropriation was approximately $31,286,000 to $108,451,000, or 22.4% lower than in 2008.

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $105,639,000 was authorized for the year ended
September 30, 2012. In February 2011, the Governor announced proration of 3%, or approximately $2,999,000,
that reduced the amount received to $96,948,000.

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $102,585,000 was authorized and received for the year
ended September 30, 2013.

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $103,695,000 was authorized and received for the year
ended September 30, 2014,

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $103,974,000 has been authorized for the year ending
September 30, 2015. This represents a $279,000 increase from the fiscal 2014 appropriation received. While no
announcement has been made, the University is aware that reductions in its 2015 appropriation are possible.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

The ten-year trend of state appropriations for the University is as follows:

State Appropriations - Ten-year Trend
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In addition to state appropriations, the University is subject to declines in general economic conditions in the
United States and, specifically, the State of Alabama. Further weakening of the economy could have a potential
further negative impact on the University’s enrollment, extramural funding, endowment performance, and health
care operations.

Other than the issues presented above, University administration is not aware of any other currently known facts,
decisions, or conditions that are expected to have a significant effect on the University’s financial position or
results of operations during fiscal year 2015 beyond those unknown variables having a global effect on virtually
all types of business operations.

Requests for Information

These basic financial statements are designed to provide a general overview of the University of South Alabama
and its component units’ financial activities and to demonstrate the University’s accountability. Questions
concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be
addressed to Mr. Stephen H. Simmons; Vice-President for Financial Affairs; University of South Alabama —
Room 170; Mobile, Alabama 36688. These basic financial statements can be obtained from our website at
http:www.southalabama.edu/financialaffairs/businessoffice/statements.html.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statemnents of Net Position
September 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)
2014 2013
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 88,317 137,610
Investments 152,776 130,694
Net patient accounts receivable, (net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $54,106 in 2014 and $51,159 in 2013) 30,344 29,053
Accounts receivable, affiliates 10,432 17,283
Accounts receivable, other 6,619 2,147
Notes receivable, net 4,229 6,545
Prepaid expenses, inventories, and other 10,555 10,496
Total current assets 303,272 333,828
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 43,692 86,135
Restricted investments 87,646 40,553
Investments 31,534 476
Accounts receivable 3,573 4,580
Notes receivable, net 4,813 8,529
Other noncurrent assets 2,453 2,414
Capital assets, net 578,303 565,830
Total noncurrent assets 752,014 708,517
Total assets 1,055,286 1,042,345
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 49,138 51,056
Unrecognized revenue 54,524 48,332
Deposits 2,781 2,608
Current portion of long-term debt 14,203 13,153
Total current liabilities 120,646 115,149
Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion 381,103 387,737
Other long-term liabilities 53,810 46,469
Total noncurrent liabilities 434,913 434,206
Total liabilities 555,559 549,355
Deferred inflows 177 —
Total liabilities and deferred inflows 555,736 549,355
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 237,851 227,464
Restricted, nonexpendable:
Scholarships 18,494 16,118
Other 21,697 20,746
Restricted, expendable:
Scholarships 14,571 13,346
Other 46,302 41,018
Unrestricted 160,635 174,298
Total net position $ 499,550 492,990

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)
Assets 2014 2013
Cash and cash equivalents $ 670 900
Investments:
Equity securities 133,236 114,193
Timber and mineral properties 156,320 154,332
Real estate 31,007 31,010
Other 6,054 6,040
Other assets 702 647
Total assets $ 327,989 307,122
Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 163 126
Note payable — University of South Alabama 3,954 7,783
Other liabilities 736 677
Total liabilities 4,853 8,586
Net assets:
Unrestricted 62,701 64,280
Temporarily restricted 90,909 64,862
Permanently restricted 169,526 169,394
Total net assets 323,136 298,536
Total liabilities and net assets $ 327,989 307,122

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
HEALTH SERVICES FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Statements of Financial Position
September 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)

Assets 2014 2013
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13 592
Patient accounts receivable (net of allowance for uncollectible
accounts of approximately $3,838 and $4,651) 10,351 12,005
Other current assets 1,242 1,263
Total current assets 11,606 13,860
Interest in assets of University of South Alabama Professional
Liability Trust Fund 15,710 14,726
Property and equipment, net 3,419 3,658
Total assets $ 30,735 32,244
Liabilities and Net Assets (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,862 1,656
Due to affiliates 10,295 17,133
Total current liabilities 12,157 18,789
Estimated professional liability costs 15,710 14,726
Total liabilities 27,867 33,515
Net assets (deficit) 2,868 (1,271)
Total liabilities and net assets (deficit) $ 30,735 32,244

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

(Discretely Presented Component Unit)
Statements of Net Position
September 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)

Assets:
Current assets:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
Rent receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Intangible assets, net
Capital assets, net

Total noncurrent assets
Deferred outflows
Total assets and deferred outflows
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Deposits, other current liabilities, and accrued expenses

Payable to University of South Alabama
Unrecognized rent revenue
Current portion of notes payable

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Notes payable, excluding current portion
Interest rate swap

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

Total net position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)
2014 2013
Operating revenues:
Tuition and fees (net of scholarship allowances of $34,641 in 2014 and $32,457 in 2013) $ 104,448 95,709
Net patient service revenue 268,449 258,207
Federal grants and contracts 19,224 18,010
State grants and contracts 7,930 7,897
Private grants and contracts 49,565 51,395
Auxiliary enterprises (net of scholarship allowances of $1,039 in 2014 and $974 in 2013) 20,016 18,354
Other operating revenues 33,994 34,034
Total operating revenues 503,626 483,606
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 419,966 401,872
Supplies and other services 158,615 148,597
Scholarships and fellowships 7,839 7,099
Utilities 15,700 14,703
Depreciation and amortization 31,858 29,849
Total operating expenses 633,978 602,120
Operating loss (130,352) (118,514)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
State appropriations 103,695 102,585
Investment income 8,206 28,159
Interest expense (12,929) (13,093)
Other nonoperating revenues 39,111 34,299
Other nonoperating expenses (11,707) (9,220)
Net nonoperating revenues 126,376 142,730
Income (loss) before capital appropriations, capital
contributions and grants, and additions to endowment (3,976) 24,216
Capital appropriations 3,482 1,236
Capital contributions and grants 790 10,871
Additions to endowment 6,264 3,156
Change in net position 6,560 39,479
Net position:
Beginning of year 492,990 453,511
End of year $ 499 550 492 990

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION

(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Consolidated Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
Year ended June 30, 2014

Revenues, gains, and other support:

Net realized and unrealized gains on
investments

Rents, royalties and timber sales

Interest and dividends

Gifts

Other income

Required match of donor contributions

Interfind interest

Net assets released from program
restrictions

Total revenues, gains, and
other support

Expenditures:
Program services:
Faculty support
Scholarships
Other

Total program service
expenditures

Management and general
Other investment expense
Depletion expense
Depreciation expense
Interest expense

Total expenditures

Increase (decrease) in net assets

Net assets — beginning of year

Net assets — end of year

(In thousands)
Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total
$ 5,620 25,356 — 30,976
3,727 193 17 3,937
194 1,879 6 2,079
— 2 55 57
9 — —_ 9
(59) — 54 —
(165) 165 — —
1,548 (1,548) — —
10,879 26,047 132 37,058
2,332 — — 2,332
1,066 — — 1,066
1,117 — — 1,117
4,515 — -— 4,515
1,771 — — 1,771
2,011 — — 2,011
3,882 — — 3,882
108 — — 108
171 — o 171
12,458 — — 12,458
(1,579) 26,047 132 24,600
64,280 64,862 169,394 298,536
$ 62,701 90,909 169,526 323,136

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Consolidated Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets

Year ended June 30, 2013
(In thousands)
Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total
Revenues, gains, and other support:
Net realized and unrealized gains on
investments $ 9,182 11,758 — 20,940
Rents, royalties and timber sales 3,501 —_ 16 3,517
Interest and dividends 485 1,474 6 1,965
Gifts — 1 15 16
Other income 70 — — 70
Required match of donor contributions (111) — 111 —
Interfund interest (118) 118 — —
Net assets released from program
restrictions 1,376 (1,376) — —
Total revenues, gains, and
other support 14,385 11,975 148 26,508
Expenditures:
Program services:
Faculty support 2,379 -— — 2,379
Scholarships 982 — — 982
Other 1,088 — — 1,088
Total program service
expenditures 4,449 — — 4,449
Management and general 1,724 — — 1,724
Other investment expense 1,796 — — 1,796
Depletion expense 3,391 — — 3,391
Depreciation expense 33 — — 83
Interest expense 290 — — 290
Total expenditures 11,733 — — 11,733
Increase in net assets 2,652 11,975 148 14,775
Net assets — beginning of year 61,628 52,887 169,246 283,761
Net assets — end of year $ 64,280 64,862 169,394 298,536

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements,
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
HEALTH SERVICES FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets (Deficit)
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

Net patient service revenue

Other revenue

Expenses:
Salaries and benefits
General and administrative

Nonoperating gains

of Medicine

Net deficit at beginning of year

(In thousands)
2014 2013
Unrestricted revenues, gains and other support:
$ 75,680 63,298
Provision for uncollectible accounts (13,871) (12,057)
Net patient service revenue less provision for

uncollectible accounts 61,809 51,241

10,563 8,701

Total unrestricted revenues, gains, and other support 72,372 59,942

43,431 48,433

16,535 5,864

Depreciation and amortization 1,602 1,465
Total expenses 61,568 55,762

Operating income 10,804 4,180

1,835 3,491

Revenues over expenses 12,639 7,671

Transfer of capital to University of South Alabama, College

(8,500) (5,100)

Change in net assets (deficit) 4,139 2,571

(1,271) (3,842)

$ 2,868 (1,271)

Net assets (deficit) at end of year

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

{(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)

Operating revenues
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Building management and operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Legal and administrative fees
Insurance

Total operating expenses
Operating income

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment income
Interest expense
Donation revenue
Other

Net nonoperating expenses
Change in net position

Net position:
Beginning of year

End of year

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)
2014 2013
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts related to tuition and fees $ 107,558 99,546
Receipts from and on behalf of patients and third-party payers 267,277 255,918
Receipts from grants and contracts 84,283 86,927
Receipts related to auxiliary enterprises 20,061 18,507
Payments to suppliers and vendors (172,409) (149,010)
Payments to employees and related benefits (420,000) (396,311)
Payments for scholarships and fellowships (7,839) (7,099)
Other operating receipts 30,172 33,007
Net cash used in operating activities (90,897) (58,515)
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
State appropriations 103,695 102,585
Endowment gifts 6,264 3,156
Agency funds received 1,424 1,040
Agency funds disbursed (1,302) (904)
Student loan program receipts 135,038 126,410
Student loan program disbursements (135,041) (126,936)
Other nonoperating revenues 36,883 34,729
Other nonoperating expenses (11,476) (9,206)
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 135,485 130,874
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Capital contributions and grants 917 13,464
Purchases of capital assets (35,090) (72,680)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 3,698 6,030
Proceeds from issuance of capital debt 41,245 50,000
Principal payments on capital debt (54,119) (10,552)
Interest payments on capital debt (15,674) (14,324)
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (59,023) (28,062)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest and dividends on investments 5,959 5,030
Purchases of investments (108,663) (90,855)
Proceeds from sales of investments 25,403 49,672
Net cash used in investing activities (77,301) (36,153)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (91,736) 8,144
Cash and cash equivalents (unrestricted and restricted):
Beginning of year 223,745 215,601
End of year $ 132,009 223,745
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Changes in assets and liabilities, net:
Student receivables
Net patient accounts receivables
Grants and contracts receivables
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses, inventories, and other
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Unrecognized revenue

Net cash used in operating activities

Noncash investing, noncapital financing, and capital and related
financing transactions:

Net increase in fair value of investments recognized
as a component of investment income

Additional maturity on capital appreciation on bonds payable and
other borrowings recorded as interest expense

Payments on behalf of the University by the Alabama Public
School and College Authority reducing purchases of capital
assets

Increase in receivables from Alabama Public School and
College Authority reducing purchases of capital assets

Gifts of capital and other assets

Pledges of operating and capital gifts

Capitalization of construction period interest

Decrease in accounts payable related to capital assefs

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(@)

Reporting Entity

The accompanying basic financial statements present the financial position and activities of the
University of South Alabama (the University), which is a component unit of the State of Alabama.
The financial statements of the University are intended to present the financial position, changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows of only that portion of the basic financial
statements and the aggregate discretely presented component units of the State of Alabama that is
attributable to the transactions of the University.

The financial reporting entity, as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, and amended by GASB Statement No. 39,
Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units, and GASB Statement No. 61,
The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, consists of the primary government and all of its
component units. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the primary
government is financially accountable. In addition, the primary government may determine, through
exercise of management’s professional judgment, that the inclusion of an organization that does not
meet the financial accountability criteria is necessary in order to prevent the reporting entity’s
financial statements from being misleading. In such instances, that organization is included as a
component unit. Accordingly, the basic financial statements include the accounts of the University,
as the primary government, and the accounts of the entities discussed below as component units.

During 2013, the University adopted GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reports Entity:
Omnibus, which amends GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 39, and provides criteria for determining
whether certain organizations should be reported as component units based on the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government. Such criteria include the appointment
of a voting majority of the board of the organization, the ability to impose the will of the primary
government on the organization and the financial benefits/burden between the primary government
and the potential component unit. The statement also clarifies reporting and disclosure requirements
for those organizations. Based on these criteria as of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University
reports the University of South Alabama Foundation (USA Foundation), the University of South
Alabama Health Services Foundation (USAHSF), and the USA Research and Technology
Corporation (the Corporation) as discretely presented component units.

The University is also affiliated with the South Alabama Medical Science Foundation (SAMSF).
This entity is not considered a component unit of the University under the provisions of
GASB Statements No. 14, 39 and 61 because the University does not consider SAMSF significant
enough to warrant inclusion in the University’s reporting entity (see note 14 for further discussion of
this entity).

GASB Statement No. 61 requires the University, as the primary government, to include in its basic
financial statements, as a blended component unit, organizations that, even though they are legally
separate entities, meet certain requirements as defined by GASB Statement No. 61. Based on these
criteria, the University reports the Professional Liability Trust Fund, the General Liability Trust Fund
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

and the USA HealthCare Management, LLC as blended component units. All significant transactions
among the University and its blended component units have been eliminated.

USA HealthCare Management, LLC

In June 2010, the University’s Board of Trustees approved the formation of the USA HealthCare
Management, LLC (the LLC). The LLC was organized for the purpose of managing and operating
on behalf of, and as agent for, substantially all of the health care clinical enterprise of the University.
The University is the sole member of the LLC. The LLC commenced operations in October 2010
and is reported as a blended component unit (see note 17 for further discussion of, and disclosure for,
this entity).

Professional Liability and General Liability Trust Funds

The medical malpractice liability of the University is maintained and managed in its separate
Professional Liability Trust Fund (the PLTF) in which the University, USAHSF, LLC and SAMSF
are the only participants. In accordance with the bylaws of the trust fund, the president of the
University is responsible for appointing members of the trust fund policy committee. Additionally,
the general liability of the University, USAHSF, LLC, SAMSF and the Corporation is maintained
and managed in its General Liability Trust Fund (the GLTF) for which the University, as defined by
GASB Statement No. 14, is responsible. The PLTF and GLTF are separate legal entities which are
governed by the University Board of Trustees through the University president. As such, PLTF and
GLTF are reported as blended component units (see note 17 for further discussion of, and disclosure
for, these entities).

University of South Alabama Foundation

The USA Foundation is a not-for-profit foundation that was organized for the purpose of promoting
education, scientific research, and charitable purposes, and to assist in developing and advancing the
University in furthering, improving, and expanding its properties, services, facilities, and activities.
Because of the significance of the relationship between the University and the USA Foundation, the
USA Foundation is considered a component unit of the University. The Board of Directors of the
USA Foundation is not appointed or controlled by the University. The University receives
distributions from the USA Foundation primarily for scholarship, faculty and other support. Total
distributions received or accrued by the University for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013
were $4,451,000 and $4,392,000, respectively, and are primarily included in other nonoperating
revenues and capital contributions and grants in the University’s statements of revenues, expenses,
and changes in net position. The USA Foundation presents its financial statements in accordance
with standards issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The USA Foundation is
reported in separate financial statements because of the difference in the financial reporting format
since the USA Foundation follows FASB rather than GASB pronouncements. The USA Foundation
has a June 30 fiscal year end which differs from the University’s September 30 fiscal year end. In
accordance with GASB Statement No. 14, this discretely presented unit has been included with the
most recent fiscal year. The accompanying consolidated statements of financial position and
statements of activities and changes in net assets for the USA Foundation as of and for the years
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 are discretely presented.
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University of South Alabama Health Services Foundation

The USAHSF is a not-for-profit corporation that exists to provide a group medical practice for
physicians who are faculty members of the University and to further medical education and research
at the University. Because of the significance of the relationship between the University and
USAHSF, USAHSEF is considered a component unit of the University. The USAHSF reimburses the
University for salaries, certain administrative expenses, dean’s clinical assessment and other support
services. Total amounts received and accrued for such expenses were approximately $42,352,000
and $44,786,000 for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and are reflected as
private grants and contracts in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in
net position of the University. During 2014, the University reallocated a portion of faculty salaries
funded by USAHSF and the University to better align funding and effort. This reallocation, a change
in accounting estimate, resulted in a reduction of the payments from USAHSF to the University
during the 2014 fiscal year. The USAHSF presents its financial statements in accordance with
standards issued by the FASB. The accompanying statements of financial position and statements of
operations and changes in net assets (deficit) for the USAHSF for the years ended September 30,
2014 and 2013 are discretely presented.

USA Research and Technology Corporation

The Corporation is a not-for-profit corporation that exists for the purpose of furthering the
educational and scientific mission of the University by developing, attracting, and retaining
technology and research industries in Alabama that will provide professional and career
opportunities to the University’s students and faculty. Because of the significance of the relationship
between the University and the Corporation, the Corporation is considered a component unit of the
University. The Corporation presents its financial statements in accordance with GASB. The
accompanying statements of net position and statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net
position for the Corporation are discretely presented.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

For financial reporting purposes, the University is considered a special purpose governmental agency
engaged only in business type activities, as defined by GASB Statement No. 34. Accordingly, the
University’s basic financial statements have been presented using the economic resources
measurcment focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, revenues are
recognized when eamned, and expenses are recorded when an obligation has been incurred.

The University prepares its basic financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, as prescribed by GASB, including all applicable effective statements of the
GASB and all statements of the FASB issued through November 30, 1989 that do not conflict with
GASB pronouncements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires that management make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts
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of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

In particular, laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are extremely
complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least a reasonable possibility that
recorded estimates related to these programs could change by a material amount in the near term,

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as petty cash, demand accounts, certificates of deposit, and
any short-term investments that take on the character of cash. These investments have maturities of
less than three months and include repurchase agreements and money market accounts.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments are recorded at fair value. The fair value of altemative investments (low-volatility
multi-strategy funds, private placement fund-of-funds, relative value arbitrage funds, and other) do
not have readily ascertainable market values and the University values these investments in
accordance with valuations provided by the general partners or fund managers of the underlying
partnerships or companies. Because these investments are not marketable, the estimated fair value is
subject to uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the fair value that would have been used had a
ready market for the investment existed. Investments received by gift are recorded at fair value at the
date of receipt. Changes in the fair value of investments are reported in investment income (loss).

Derivatives

The University has adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Derivative Instruments. GASB Statement No. 53 establishes a framework for
accounting and financial reporting related to derivative instruments, requiring the fair value of
derivatives to be recognized in the basic financial statements.

The University entered into two interest rate swaptions in January 2008, the Series 2004 swaption
and the Series 2006 swaption. As a result of entering into the swaptions, the University received
up-front payments. Swaptions are considered hybrid instruments which are required to be bifurcated
into the fair value of the derivative and a piece that reflects a borrowing for financial statement
purposes, which will accrete interest over time. As more fully described in notes 5 and 9, in
December 2013, the counterparty, Wells Fargo Bank, N. A. (Wells Fargo), exercised its option
related to the Series 2004 swaption, and as a result, the University entered into an interest rate swap.
As a result of the exercise of the option, the Series 2004 swaption was terminated. The Series 2006
swaption remains outstanding at September 30, 2014.

The University determined that as of September 30, 2014, the remaining swaption was not a hedging
derivative instrument; and that as of September 30, 2013, both then existing swaptions were not
hedging derivative instruments. As a result of that determination, the swaptions are required to be
reporied as investment derivatives with the change in fair value flowing through the statements of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position.
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The fair values of the outstanding swaptions were $(14,191,000) and $(13,333,000) at September 30,
2014 and 2013, respectively. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, the fair values of the swaptions were
included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying statements of net position. The change in
fair value for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 was $(6,071,000) and $10,276,000,
respectively, and was included in investment income in the accompanying statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013. See note 5
for further discussion. .

In March 2014, the University entered into an interest rate swap arrangement with a counterparty.
The resulting derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate swap. The University pays the
counterparty a fixed semi-annual payment based on an annual rate of 4.9753% and receives on a
monthly basis a variable payment of 68% of the one-month London Interbank Offered Rate plus
0.25%. The notional amount of the swap will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of
the Series 2014-A bond. The change in fair value of the swap ($177,000 at September 30, 2014) is
reported as a deferred inflow on the 2014 statement of net position since the interest rate swap is a
hedging derivative. See note 9 for further discussion.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable primarily result from net patient service revenue. Accounts receivable from
affiliates primarily represent amounts due from USAHSF for salaries, and certain administrative and
other support services. Accounts receivable — other includes amounts due from students, the federal
government, state and local governments, or private sources in connection with reimbursement of
allowable expenditures made pursuant to the University’s grants and contracts. Accounts receivable
are recorded net of estimated uncollectible amounts.

Inventories

The University’s inventories primarily consist of bookstore inventories and medical supplies and
pharmaceuticals. Bookstore inventories are valued at the lower of cost (moving average basis) or
market. Medical supplies and pharmaceuticals are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out
method) or market.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost, if purchased or at fair value at date of donation. Depreciation is
provided over the estimated useful life of each class of depreciable asset using the straight-line
method. Major renewals and renovations are capitalized. Costs for repairs and maintenance are
expensed when incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the gain or loss, if any, is included in
nonoperating revenues (expenses) in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position.
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All capital assets other than land are depreciated using the following asset lives:

Buildings, infrastructure and certain

building components 40 to 100 years
Fixed equipment 10 to 20 years
Land improvements 8 to 20 years
Library materials 10 years
Other equipment 4 to 15 years

Certain buildings are componentized for depreciation purposes.

Interest costs for certain assets constructed are capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring
those assets.

The University evaluates impairment in accordance with GASB Statement No. 42, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries. For the years
ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, no impairments were recorded.

Unrecognized Revenue

Student tuition, fees, and dormitory rentals are initially recorded as unrecognized revenue and then
recognized over the applicable portion of each school term.

Classification of Net Position

The University’s net position is classified as follows:

Net investment in capital assets reflects the University’s total investment in capital assets, net of
outstanding debt obligations related to those capital assets. To the extent debt has been incurred but
not yet expended for capital assets, such debt is excluded from the calculation of net investment in
capital assets.

Restricted, nonexpendable net position consists of endowment and similar type funds which donors
or other outside sources have stipulated, as a condition of the gift instrument, the principal is to be
maintained inviolate and in perpetuity, and invested for the purpose of producing present and future
income, which may either be expended or added to principal.

Restricted, expendable net position includes resources that the University is legally or contractually
obligated to spend in accordance with restrictions imposed by external parties.

Unrestricted net position represents resources derived from student tuition and fees, state
appropriations, net patient service revenue, sales and services of educational activities and auxiliary
enterprises. Auxiliary enterprises are substantially self-supporting activities that provide services for
students, faculty, and staff. While unrestricted net position may be designated for specific purposes
by action of management or the Board of Trustees, they arc available for use at the discretion of the
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governing board to meet current expenses for any purpose. Substantially all unrestricted net position
is designated for academic and research programs and initiatives, and capital programs.

When an expense is incurred that can be paid using either restricted or unrestricted resources, the
University addresses each situation on a case-by-case basis prior to determining the resources to be
used to satisfy the obligation.

Scholarship Allowances and Student Financial Aid

Student tuition and fees, and certain other revenues from students, are reported net of scholarship
discounts and allowances in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.
Scholarship discounts and allowances are the difference between the stated charge for goods and
services provided by the University and the amount that is paid by students and/or third parties
making payments on the students’ behalf. Certain governmental grants, such as Pell grants and other
federal, state, or nongovernmental programs are recorded as either operating or nonoperating
revenues in the University’s basic financial statements based on their classification as either an
exchange or nonexchange transaction. To the extent that revenues from such programs are used to
satisfy tuition and fees and certain other student charges, the University has recorded a scholarship
discount and allowance.

Donor Restricted Endowments

The University is subject to the “Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act
(UPMIFA)” of the Code of Alabama. This law allows the University, unless otherwise restricted by
the donor, to spend net appreciation, realized and unrealized, on the endowment. The law also allows
the University to appropriate for expenditure or accumulate to an endowment fund such amounts as
the University determines to be prudent for the purposes for which the endowment fund was
established. The University’s endowment spending policy provides that 5% of the three-year
invested net asset moving average value (inclusive of net realized and unrealized gains and losses),
as measured at September 30, is available annually for spending. The University’s policy is to retain
the endowment net interest and dividend income and net realized and unrealized appreciation with
the endowment after distributions allowed by the spending policy have been made. These amounts,
unless otherwise directed by the donor, are included in restricted, expendable net position.

Classification of Revenues

The University has classified its revenues as either operating or nonoperating revenues.

Operating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of exchange transactions such as
student tuition and fees, net of scholarship discounts and allowances; sales and services of auxiliary
enterprises, net of scholarship allowances; most federal, state, and local grants and contracts; and, net
patient service revenue.

Nonoperating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of nonexchange transactions,
such as gifts and contributions, and other revenue sources such as state appropriations and
investment income.
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Gifts and Pledges

Pledges of financial support from organizations and individuals representing an unconditional
promise to give are recognized in the basic financial statements once all eligibility requirements,
including time requirements, have been met. In the absence of such a promise, revenue is recognized
when the gift is received. Endowment pledges generally do not meet eligibility requirements, as
defined by GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange
Transactions, and are not recorded as assets until the related gift has been received. Unconditional
promises that are expected to be collected in future years are recorded at the present value of the
estimated future cash flows.

Grants and Contracts

The University has been awarded grants and contracts for which funds have not been received or
expenditures made for the purpose specified in the award. These awards have not been reflected in
the basic financial statements, but represent commitments of sponsors to provide funds for specific
research or training projects. For grants that have allowable cost provisions, the revenue will be
recognized as the related expenditures are made. For grants with work completion requirements, the
revenue is recognized as the work is completed. For grants without either of the above requirements,
the revenue is recognized as it is received.

Net Patient Service Revenue and Electronic Health Records Incentive Program

Net patient service revenue is reported at estimated net realizable amounts due from patients,
third-party payers and others for healthcare services rendered, including estimated retroactive
revenue adjustments due to future aundits, reviews and investigations. Retroactive adjustments are
considered in the recognition of revenue on an estimated basis in the period the related services are
rendered and such amounts are adjusted in future periods, as adjustments become known or as years
are no longer subject to such audits, reviews and investigations.

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) has implemented provisions of the
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 that provide incentive payments for the
meaningful use of certified electronic health record (EHR) technology. CMS has defined meaningful
use as meeting certain objectives and clinical quality measures based on current and updated
technology capabilities over predetermined reporting periods as established by CMS. The Medicare
EHR incentive program provides annual incentive payments to eligible professionals, and hospitals,
that are meaningful users of certified EHR technology. The Medicaid EHR incentive program
provides annual incentive payments to eligible professionals and hospitals for efforts to adopt,
implement, and meaningfully use certified EHR technology. The Hospitals utilize a grant accounting
model to recognize EHR incentive revenues. The Hospitals record EHR incentive revenue ratably
throughout the incentive reporting period when it is reasonably assured that it will meet the
meaningful use objectives for the required reporting period and that the grants will be received. The
EHR reporting period for hospitals is based on the federal fiscal year, which runs from October 1
through September 30.
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USA Medical Center and USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital did not meet any meaningful use
objectives for Medicare during 2014, and therefore have not recognized any revenue for this fiscal
year. Both Hospitals expect to meet meaningful use objectives for Medicare during the year ending
September 30, 2015. The Hospitals recognized Medicare EHR incentive revenues of $725,000 for
the year ended September 30, 2013. The Hospitals next receipt of Medicaid EHR revenues is
expected to occur during the federal fiscal year ended September 30, 2015. EHR incentive revenues
are included in other operating revenues in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In 2013, the University adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting
Entity: Omnibus. GASB Statement No. 61 amends GASB Statements No. 14 and 39 and modifies
certain requirements for inclusion of component units in the financial reporting entity.
GASB Statement No. 61 requires that for organizations that previously were included as component
units by meeting the fiscal dependency criterion, a financial benefit or burden relationship also
would need to be present between the primary government and that organization for it to be included
in the reporting entity as a component unit. Statement No. 61 also establishes criteria to require
inclusion based on other additional factors, such as organization board appointment, financial benefit
or burden and operational management of the organization. The adoption of this statement had no
financial reporting entity impact on the University’s component units; however, it did require
additional disclosures for blended component units.

In 2013, the University also adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting
of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position, and
GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities, during the year ended
September 30, 2013. Retroactive application of the standards was required for all prior periods
presented.

GASB Statement No. 63 provides financial reporting guidance for deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources. GASB Statement No. 65 establishes accounting and reporting
standards that reclassify, as deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources, certain
items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities and recognizes, as outflows of resources
or inflows of resources, certain items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities. The
University had historically deferred certain debt financing costs related to its bond issues and was
amortizing those costs over the term of the related bond issue. GASB Statement 65 requires that debt
issuance costs, except any portion related to prepaid insurance costs, be recognized as an expense in
the period incurred. The adoption of the provisions of GASB Statement No. 65 decreased beginning
net position at October 1, 2011 by $1,774,000.

Compensated Absences

The University accrues annual leave for employees as incurred at rates based upon length of service
and job classification.
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(7  Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2013 basic financial statements have been reclassified in order to conform to
2014 classification.

Income Taxes

The University is classified as both a governmental entity under the laws of the State of Alabama and as a
tax-exempt entity under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as an orgamzation described in
Section 301(¢)(3). Consistent with these designations, no provision for income taxes has been made in the
accompanying basic financial statements.

In addition, the University’s discretely presented component units are tax-exempt entities under
Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as organizations described in Section 501(c)(3). Consistent
with that designation, no provision for income taxes has been made in the accompanying discretely
presented financial statements.

Cash

Pursuant to the Security for Alabama Funds Enhancement Act, funds on deposit may be placed in an
institution designated as a qualified public depository (QPD) by the State of Alabama. QPD institutions
pledge securities to a statewide collateral pool administered by the State Treasurer’s office. Such financial
institutions contribute to this collateral pool in amounts proportionate to the total amount of public fund
deposits at their respective institutions. The securities are held at the Federal Reserve Bank and are
designated for the State of Alabama. Additional collateral was not required for University funds on deposit
with QPD institutions. At September 30, 2014, the net public deposits subject to collateral requirements for
all institutions participating in the pool totaled approximately $9,342,196,000. The University had cash and
cash equivalents totaling $132,009,000 and $223,745,000 at September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

At September 30, 2014, restricted cash and cash equivalents consist of $3,760,000 related to cash included
in the PLTF and GLTF to pay insurance liability claims, and $39,932,000 of unspent proceeds from the
issuance of University bonds for capital purchases as outlined in the bond indenture. At September 30,
2013, restricted cash and cash equivalents consist of $28,547,000 related to swaption collateral obligations,
$2,621,000 related to cash included in the PLTF and GLTF to pay insurance liability claims and
$54,967,000 of unspent proceeds from the issuance of University bonds for capital purchases as outlined in
the bond indenture.

Investments
(a)  University of South Alabama

The investments of the University are invested pursuant to the University of South Alabama
“Nonendowment Cash Pool Investment Policies,” the “Endowment Fund Investment Policy,” and
the “Derivatives Policy™ (collectively referred to as the University Investment Policies) as adopted
by the Board of Trustees. The purpose of the nonendowment cash pool investment policy is to
provide guidelines by which pooled funds not otherwise needed to meet daily operational cash flows
can be invested to earn a maximum return, yet still maintain sufficient liquidity to meet fluctuations
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in the inflows and outflows of University operational funds. Further, endowment fund investment
policies exist to provide earnings to fund specific projects of the endowment fund, while preserving
principal. The University Investment Policies require that management apply the “prudent person”
standard in the context of managing its investment portfolio.

The investments of the blended component units of the University are invested pursuant to the
separate investment policy shared by the PLTF and GLTF (the Trust Fund Investment Policy.) The
objectives of the Trust Fund Investment Policy are to provide a source of funds to pay general and
professional liability claims and to achieve long-term capital growth to help defray future funding
requirements. Additionally, investments of the University’s component umits both blended and
discretely presented are subject to UPMIFA as well as any requirements placed on them by contract
or donor agreements.

Certain investments, primarily related to the University’s endowment assets, are pooled. The
University uses this pool to manage its investments and distribute investment income to individual
endowment funds.

Investments of the University, by type, at fair value, are as follows at September 30, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands):

2014 2013
U.S. Treasury notes A 8,885 8,496
U.S. federal agency notes 101,201 19,676
Pooled equity mutual funds 82,233 71,406
Pooled debt mutual funds 36,426 30,594
Managed income alternative investments (low-volatility
multi-strategy funds, private placement fund-of-funds,
relative value arbitrage funds, and other) 29,224 27,791
State agency obligations — 394
Other 13,987 13,366
$ 271,956 171,723

At September 30, 2014 and 2013, $16,395,000 and $10,272,000, respectively, of appreciation in fair
value of investments of donor-restricted endowments was recognized and are included in restricted
expendable net position in the accompanying statements of net position.

Credit Risk and Concentration of Credit Risk

The University Investment Policies limit investment in corporate bonds to securities with a minimum
“A” rating, at the time of purchase, by both Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. Investments in
corporate paper are limited to issuers with a minimum quality rating of P-1 by Moody’s, A-1 by
Standard and Poor’s or F-1 by Fitch.
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Additionally, the University Investment Policies require that not more than 10% of the cash, cash
equivalents and investments of the University be invested in the obligations of a single private
corporation and not more than 35% of the cash, cash equivalents and investments of the University
be invested in the obligations of a single government agency.

The University’s exposure to credit risk and concentration of credit risk at September 30, 2014 is as
follows:

Credit of total

rating investments
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation AAA 7.8%
Federal Home Loan Bank Corporation AAA 13.4
Federal National Mortgage Association AAA 5.5
Common Fund Bond Fund A+ 11.5
PIMCO Pooled Bond Fund A/BA/AA 2.0
Federal Farm Credit Banks Funding Corporation AAA 9.6
Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation AAA 1.0
Common Fund Equity Fund N/A* 13.3

The University’s exposure to credit risk and concentration of credit risk at September 30, 2013 is as
follows:

Credit of total

rating investments
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Aaa 4.9%
Federal Home Loan Bank Corporation Aaa 23
Federal National Mortgage Association Aaa 1.3
Common Fund Bond Fund AA 15.2
Various State Agency Obligations Aaa/A2 0.2
PIMCO Pooled Bond Fund AA+/NR 2.7
Federal Farm Credit Banks Funding Corporation Aaa 2.9
Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation Aaa 0.1
Common Fund Equity Fund N/A* 17.4

*Credit rating in not applicable
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Interest Rate Risk

At September 30, 2014, the maturity dates of the University’s debt investments were as follows (in
thousands):

Years to maturity

Fair value Less than 1 1-5 6-10 More than 10

U.S. Treasury notes 5 8,885 70 8,815 — —
U.S. federal agency notes 101,201 8,286 92915 — —
Pooled debt mutual funds 36,426 — 32,484 3,942 —
$ 146,512 8,356 134,214 3,942 —

At September 30, 2013, the maturity dates of the University’s debt investments were as follows
(in thousands):

Years to maturity

Fair value Less than 1 1-5 6-—10 More than 10
U.S. Treasury notes 3 8,496 808 7,688 — —
U.S. federal agency notes 19,676 664 18,930 — 82
Pooled debt mutual funds 30,594 1,183 — 29,411 —
State agency obligations 394 — — — 394
3 59,160 2,655 26,618 29,411 476

Pooled debt mutual funds are classified based on the weighted average maturity of the individual
investment instruments within each fund.

The University’s Investment Policies do not specifically address the length to maturity on
investments which the University must follow; however, they do require that the maturity range of
investments be consistent with the liquidity requirements of the University.

Mortgage-Backed Securities

The University, from time to time, invests in mortgage backed securities issued by the Government
National Mortgage Association (GNMA) and the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA),
agencies of the United States government. The University invests in these securities to increase the
yield and return on its investment portfolio given the available alternative investment opportunities.

The fair value of mortgage-backed securities is generally based on the cash flows from principal and
interest receipts on the underlying mortgage pools. These securities include collateralized mortgage
obligations (CMOs). In CMOs, the cash flow from principal and interest payments from one or more
mortgage pass-through securities or a pool of mortgages may be reallocated to multiple security
classes with different priority claims and payment streams (commonly referred to as tranches). A
holder of the CMO security thus chooses the class of security that best meets its risk and return
objectives. CMOs are subject to significant market risk due to fluctvations in interest rates,
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prepayment rates and various liquidity factors related to their specific markets. There were no CMOs
in the University’s investment portfolio at September 30, 2014 or 2013.

At September 30, 2014, restricted investments consist of $45,946,000 related to investments
included in the PLTF and GLTF to pay insurance liability claims and $41,700,000 in required
collateral related to the 2006 swaption and the 2014 interest rate swap. At September 30, 2013,
restricted investments consist of $40,553,000 related to investments included in the PLTF and GLTF
to pay insurance liability claims.

University of South Alabama Foundation

Investments in securities consist primarily of equity securities totaling $133,236,000 and
$114,193,000, at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Investment income was comprised of the following for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands):

2014 2013

Unrealized gains $ 28,429 18,296
Realized gains 2,547 2,644
Timber sales 3,132 2,764
Interest and dividends 2,079 1,965
Rents 634 605
Royalties 171 148

$ 36,992 26,422

Investment related expenses in the amount of $295,000 and $259,000, respectively, are included in
the USA Foundation’s management and general expenses in the accompanying 2014 and 2013
consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets.

Real estate at June 30, 2014 and 2013 consisted of the following property held (in thousands):

2014 2013
Land and land improvements — held for investment $ 29,926 29,910
Building and building improvements -
held for investment, net of depreciation 1,081 1,100
$ 31,007 31,010

Timber and mineral properties are stated at fair value. Depletion of mineral properties is recognized
over the remaining producing lives of the properties based on total estimated production and current
period production. Depletion of timber properties is recognized on a specific identification basis as
timber rights are sold or on a unit basis for sales made on that basis. Reforestation costs consisting of
site preparation and planting of seedlings are capitalized.
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Investments at June 30, 2014 and 2013, include an equity interest in a timberland management
company. The company’s primary assets consist of timberland. The Foundation’s proportionate
share of the fair value of the company is based upon the valuation of the trustee responsible for the
management of the company and the timber valuation.

The Foundation has adopted Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, (formally FASB Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements).
ASC 820 provides a single definition of fair value and a hierarchical framework for measuring it, as
well as establishing additional disclosure requirements about the use of fair value to measure assets
and liabilities. Fair value measurements are classified as either observable or unobservable in nature.
Observable fair values are derived from quoted market prices for investments traded on an active
exchange or in dealer markets where there is sufficient activity and liquidity to allow price discovery
by substantially all market participants (Level 1). The Foundation’s observable values consist of
investments in exchange-traded equity securities with a readily determinable market price. Other
observable values are fair value measurerents derived either directly or indirectly from quoted
market prices (Level 2). Investments that are not traded on an active exchange and do not have a
quoted market price are classified as unobservable (Level 3). The Foundation’s unobservable values
consist of investments in timber and real estate with fair values based on independent third-party
appraisals performed by qualified appraisers specializing in timber and real estate investments.

The Foundation’s investment assets at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, are summarized based
on the criteria of ASC 820 as follows (in thousands):

Fair value measurements at June 30, 2014

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Equity securities $ 71,080 62,156 — 133,236
Timber and mineral properties — — 156,320 156,320
Real estate — — 31,007 31,007
Other investments — — 6,054 6,054
$ 71,080 62,156 193,381 326,617

Fair value measurements at June 30, 2013

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Equity securities $ 57,870 56,323 — 114,193
Timber and mineral propertics _— — 154,332 154,332
Real estate — — 31,010 31,010
Other investments — — 6,040 6,040
$ 57,870 56,323 191,382 305,575
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For the year ended June 30, 2014, activity in investment assets valued at fair value based on
unobservable values s as follows (in thousands):

Timber and
mineral Other
Description properties Real estate investments Total
Beginning balance $ 154,332 31,010 6,040 191,382
Total gains (losscs)

(realized/unrealized) 5,503 28 14 5,545
Acquisitions — 2 — 2
Reforestation 367 — — 367
Depreciation/depletion (3,882) (33) — (3,915)
Ending balance $ 156,320 31,007 6,054 193,381

For the year ended June 30, 2013, activity in investment assets valued at fair value based on
unobservable values is as follows (in thousands):

Timber and
mineral Other
Description properties Real estate investments Total
Beginning balance $ 153,574 31,040 5,522 190,136
Total gains (losses)

(realized/unrealized) 3,876 o 518 4,394
Acquisitions — 3 — 3
Reforestation 273 — — 273
Depreciation/depletion (3,391) (33) — (3,424)
Ending balance $ 154,332 31,010 6,040 191,382

As of June 30, 2014, the Foundation has no outstanding commitments to purchase securities or other
investments. Additionally, substantially all of the Foundation’s equity securities at June 30, 2014 and

2013 are considered readily liquid. Timber and mineral properties, real estate, and other investments
are generally considered illiquid.

Derivative Transactions — Swaption

In January 2008, the University entered into a synthetic advance refunding of the outstanding Series 2004
and 2006 bonds with a counterparty. This transaction was effected through the sale of two swaptions by the
University to the counterparty. The transactions resulted in an up-front payment to the University totaling
$9,328,000, which was rccorded as a liability, in exchange for selling the counterparty the option to enter
into an interest rate swap with respect to the Series 2004 and 2006 bonds in 2014 and 2016, respectively.
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Objective of the Derivative Transaction

The objective of this transaction was to realize debt service savings currently from future debt refunding
and create an economic benefit to the University.

Terms

A summary of the transactions is as follows;

Option Effective
Date of expiration date of Termination Payment
Issue issue date swap date amount
Series 2004 bonds 2-Jan-08 16-Dec-13 15-Mar-14 15-Mar-24 § 1,988,000
Series 2006 bonds 2-Jan-08 1-Sep-16 1-Dec-16 1-Dec-36 7,340,000

As further discussed in note 9, in December 2013, the counterparty exercised its option with respect to the
2004 swaption. The University refunded its Series 2004 bonds, issued the Series 2014-A variable rate bond
and terminated the Series 2004 swaption. As a result of this termination, the borrowing arising from the
Series 2004 swaption of $1,696,000 and the investment derivative (liability) of $5,213,000 were written off
and an investment loss of $2,229,000 was recognized and reported in the statements of revenues, expenses
and changes in net position for the year ended September 30, 2014. A borrowing arising from the 2014
swap of $9,138,000 was recognized and is reported, net of current year amortization, as long-term debt in
the statement of net position at September 30, 2014,

As outlined in the 2008 agreement, if the counterparty exercises its option in 2016 related to the 2006
swaption, the University would, at the counterparty’s option, be compelled to enter into an underlying
swap. If the option is exercised, the University would begin to make payments on the notional amount,
currently $100,000,000 for the 2006 bonds of the underlying swap contract. Simultaneously, the University
would call outstanding 2006 bonds and issue variable rate demand notes (VRDNS) in their place. Under the
swap contract, the University would pay a fixed rate of 5.0% on the 2006 bonds to the counterparty and
would receive payments based on 68% of the one-month LIBOR index plus 0.25%. Alternatively, although
it 1s not anticipated that this option would be to the University’s advantage, the University could, at its
option, cash settle the swap and retain its right to refund the 2006 bonds.

If the interest rate environment is such that the counterparty chooses to not exercise its option related to the
2006 swaption, the swaption would be canceled and the University would have no further obligation under
this agreement.

Financial Statement Presentation

A swaption is considered a hybrid instrument and as such the payment by the counterparty to the
University must be bifurcated into two components, a borrowing component and an embedded derivative
component, and each component treated scparately. The embedded derivative value of the swaption
represents the fair value resulting from the fact that the fixed rate stated in the swaption is greater than the
at-the-market rate. The initial value of the borrowing is the difference between the upfront payment and the
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fair value of the embedded derivative and represents the time value to the counterparty for holding the
option, or the probability-weighted, discounted values of a range of future possible outcomes. The values
of the derivatives and borrowings at the date of execution of this transaction were as follows:

2004 Bonds 2006 Bonds

Embedded derivatives 3 918,000 3,343,000
Borrowings 1,070,000 3,997,000
$ 1,988,000 7,340,000

The values of any remaining borrowings are included in long-term debt on the University’s 2014 and 2013
statements of net position. Interest is being accreted on, and added to, the borrowings through the
expiration date of the option. For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, $379,000 and $400,000,
respectively, was accreted and is included in interest expense in the statements of revenues, expenses, and
changes in net position.

The fair values of the embedded investment derivatives are reported as investment assets, if the swaption
derivatives are assets, or other noncurrent liabilities, depending on the fair values of the swaption
derivatives. The change in the fair market values of the swaption derivatives is reported as a component of
investment income (loss) in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. At
September 30, 2014 and 2013, the negative fair values of the swaption derivatives are approximately
$(14,191,000) and $(13,333,000) and are included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying
statements of net position. For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the changes in the fair value
of the derivatives were $(6,071,000) and $10,276,000, respectively.

Fair Value

At September 30, 2014 and 2013, the total of the embedded derivatives associated with the outstanding
swaptions had negative fair values of $(14,191,000) and $(13,333,000), respectively. The fair values of
these swaption derivatives were estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method calculates the
future net settlement payments required by the instruments, assuming that the current forward rates implied
by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are then discounted using
the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due on the date of
each future net settlement.

Risks Associated with this Transaction

Certain risks are inherent to derivative transactions.

Interest rate risk. Intcrest rate risk, as a result of rising short-term interest rates causing higher interest rate
payments, is effectively hedged by the University’s fixed rate bonds. If the counterparty exercises its
options, the underlying swaps are expected to effectively hedge the potentially higher payments on VRDNs
as well. The University is also subject to interest rate risk, as a result of changes in long-term interest rates,
which may cause the value of fixed ratc bonds or interest rate derivatives to change. If long-term interest
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rates fall subsequent to the execution of this transaction, the value of the swaption will change, with
negative consequences for the University.

Mavket access risk. This transaction assumes that VRDNs will be issued as a replacement of the 2006
bonds. If the University is unable to issue variable rate bonds after the counterparty exercises its right
under the remaining swaption, the University would still be required to begin making periodic payments on
the swap, even though there are no related bonds. Alternatively, the University could choose to liquidate
the swap, which may create a substantial cash outlay.

Basis risk. If the counterparty exercises its option, there is a risk that the floating payments received under
the swap will not fully offset the variable rate payments due on the assumed VRDNSs.

Credit risk. Although the underlying swap exposes the University to credit risk should the swap be
executed, the swaption itself does not expose the University to credit risk. If the option is exercised, the
University would begin to make payments on the appropriate notional amount of the underlying swap
contract. In that situation, if the fair value of the swap is positive, the University would be exposed to
credit risk on the swap in the amount of its fair value. As of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the swap
counterparty was rated Aa3 by Moody’s Investors Services and AA — by Standard and Poor’s Rating
Services.

Termination risk. The University may be required to terminate the swaption or swap under certain
circumstances, such as credit downgrades or other events specified in the contracts. In the event that a
position needs to be terminated, the University may owe a substantial amount of money to terminate the
contracts. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, no events of termination have occurred.

Capital Assets
(a) University of South Alabama
A summary of the University’s capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2014 follows

(in thousands):
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land and other $ 22,516 — — — 22,516
Construction-in-progress 137,678 32,167 (61,534) — 108,311
160,194 32,167 (61,534) — 130,827
Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements 30,934 4 457 — 31,395
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure 555,661 2,819 43,563 (618) 601,425
Other equipment 130,979 6,223 17,514 (4,034) 150,682
Library materials 57,608 3,024 — — 60,632
775,182 12,070 61,534 (4,652) 844,134
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Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements $ (17,216) (1,203) e — (18,419)
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure (205,155) (15,913) — 8 (221,060)
Other equipment (103,546) (7,395) — 70 (110,871)
Library materials (43,629) (2,679 — — (46,308)
(369,546) (27,190) — 78 (396,658)
Capital assets
being
depreciated,
net 405,636 (15,120) 61,534 (4,574) 447,476
Capital assets, net $ 565,830 17,047 — (4,574) 578,303

At September 30, 2014, the University had commitments of approximately $3,468,000 related to
various construction projects.

A summary of the University’s capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2013 follows
(in thousands):

Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land and other $ 25,528 445 — (3,457 22,516
Construction-in-progress 119,763 59,104 (41,189) — 137,678
145,291 59,549 (41,189) (3,457) 160,194
Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements 31,256 244 — (566) 30,934
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure 539,118 3,442 40,922 (27,821) 555,661
Other equipment 133,090 8,291 267 (10,669) 130,979
Library materials 54,656 2,952 — — 57,608
758,120 14,929 41,189 (39,056) 775,182
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Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements $ (16,588) (1,194) — 566 (17,216)
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure (208,499) (15,954) — 19,298 (205,155)
Other equipment (104,084) (10,012) — 10,550 (103,546)
Library materials (41,041) (2,588) — (43,629)
(370,212) (29,748) — 30,414 (369,546)
Capital assets
being
depreciated,
net 387,908 (14,819) 41,189 (8.642) 403,636
Capital assets, net  § 533,199 44,730 — (12,099) 565,830

At September 30, 2013, the University had commitments of approximately $13,918,000 related to

various construction projects.

(b) USA Research and Technology Corporation

Changes in capital assets for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 are as follows (in

thousands):
2014
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Land improvements $ 2,199 — — — 2,199
Buildings 27,898 19 — — 27,917
Tenant improvements 868 45 — — 913
Construction in progress — — — — —
Other equipment 256 e — o 256
31,221 64 — — 31,285
Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements (842) (%4) — — (936)
Buildings (5,146) (721) — — (5,867)
Tenant improvements (417) (130) — — (547)
Other equipment (115) (26) — — (141)
(6,520) (971) — — (7,491)
Capital assets, net $ 24,701 (907) — — 23,794
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Land improvements
Buildings

Tenant improvements
Construction in progress
Other equipment

Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements
Buildings
Tenant improvements
Other equipment

Capital assets, net

Noncurrent Liabilities
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2013
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
b3 2,201 — 2) — 2,199
27,669 235 6) - 27,898
742 164 8 (46) 868
256 — — — 256
30,868 399 — (46) 31,221
(748) 91 — e (842)
(4,261) (702) (183) — (5,146)
(528) (118) 183 46 417)
(89) (26) — — (115)
(5,626) (940) — 46 (6,520)
$ 25,242 (541) — — 24,701

A summary of the University’s noncurrent liability activity for the years ended September 30, 2014 and

2013 follows (in thousands):

2014
Less amounts
Beginning Ending due within Noncurrent
balance Additions Reductions balance one year liabilities
Long-term debt:

Bonds payable and other 3 400,890 52,044 (57,628) 395,306 14,203 381,103

Total long-term debt 400,890 52,044 (57,628) 395,306 14,203 381,103

Other long-term liabilities 59,102 42411 (35,589) 65,924 12,114 53,810
Total noncurrent

labilities 3 459,992 94,455 (93,217) 461,230 26,317 434913
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2013
Less amounts
Beginning Ending due within Noncurrent
balance Additions Reductions halance one year liabilities
Long-term debt:
Bonds payable and other g 359,699 51,981 (10,790) 400,890 13,153 387,737
Total long-term debt 359,699 51,981 (10,790) 400,890 13,153 387,737
Other long-term liabilities 80,065 32,392 (53,355) 59,102 12,633 46,469
Total noncurrent
liabilities $ 439,764 84,373 (64,145) 459,992 25,786 434,206

Other long-term liabilities primarily consist of self-insurance liabilities, liabilities related to compensated
absences, and the fair value of derivatives. Amounts due within one year are included in accounts payable,
accrued liabilities and unrecognized revenue.
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(8) Bonds Payable
Bonds payable consisted of the following at September 30, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

2014 2013

University Tuition Revenue Bonds, Series 1999

Capital Appreciation, 4.70% to 5.25%, payable

November 2011 through November 2018 p 28,312 31,530
University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital

Improvement Bonds, Series 2004, 2.00% to 5.00%,

repaid in April 2014 — 41,690
University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital

Improvement Bonds, Series 2006, 5.00%, payable

through December 2036 100,000 100,000
University Facilities Revenue and Capital Improvement

Bonds, Series 2008, 3.00% to 5.00%, payable through

August 2038 104,200 106,565
University Facilities Revenue and Capital Improvement

Bond, Series 2010, 3.81%, payable through August 2030 25,508 26,636
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2012-A, 2.92% payable through August 2032 23,075 24,050
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2012-B, 2.14% payable through August 2018 5,265 6,515
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2013-A, 2.83% payable through August 2033 30,788 32,000
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2013-B, 2.83% payable through August 2033 7,697 8,000
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2013-C, 2.78% payable through August 2025 9.454 10,000

University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2014-A,
variable rate payable at 68% of LIBOR plus .73%, payable

through March 2024 41,245 _
Borrowing arising from swaption, Series 2004 Bonds — 1,653
Borrowing arising from swaption, Series 2006 Bonds 6,240 5,904
Borrowing arising from interest rate swap 8,682 —
390,466 394,543
Plus unamortized premium 5,134 6,609
Less unaccreted discount (29) (36)
Less unamortized debt extinguishment costs (265) (226)
$ 395,306 400,890

Substantially all student tuition and fee revenues secure University bonds. Additionally, security for
Series 2008 bonds includes Children’s and Women’s Hospital revenues in an amount not exceeding
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$10,000,000. Series 1999 Current Interest Bonds began maturing November 2002, and Capital
Appreciation Bonds began maturing in November 2011. Series 1999 Bonds are not redeemable prior to
maturity. Series 2004 Bonds began maturing in March 2005 and were redeemed in April 2014. Series 2006
Bonds begin maturing in December 2024 and are redeemable beginning in December 2016. Series 2008
Bonds began maturing in August 2009 and are redeemable beginning in August 2018. The Series 2010
Bond began maturing in August 2011 and is redeemable beginning in February 2020. The 2012-A and
2012-B Bonds began maturing in August 2013, The 2012-A Bond is redeemable beginning in
August 2021. The 2012-B Bond is redeemable beginning in January 2015. The 2013-A, 2013-B and
2013-C Bonds began maturing in August 2014 and are redeemable beginning in June 2023. The
Series 2014-A bond begins maturing in March 2015 and is redeemable at any time.

In January 2008, the University entered into a synthetic advance refunding of the outstanding Series 2004
and 2006 bonds. This transaction was effected through the sale of two swaptions by the University to a
counterparty. The proceeds from cach sale, totaling $9,328,000, consist of two components, a borrowing
and an embedded derivative. The borrowing is included in long-term debt. As a result of this transaction,
the counterparty has the option to compel the University to redeem its Series 2004 (occurred in
March 2014) and 2006 bonds at their respective redemption dates. See note 5 for a complete description of
this transaction.

During the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the maturity value of the Capital Appreciation
Bonds increased $1,432,000 and $1,581,000, respectively, over the original principal amount of
$19,810,000, reflecting accretion of interest.

Approximately $1,570,000 of proceeds from the issuance of the Series 2012-A and 2012-B bonds
remained unspent at September 30, 2014 and is included in restricted cash and cash equivalents in the 2014
statement of net position. These funds are restricted for capital purposes as outlined in the indenture.

Approximately $38,362,000 of proceeds from the issuance of the Series 2013-A, 2013-B and 2013-C
Bonds remained unspent at September 30, 2014 and is included in restricted cash and cash equivalents in
the 2014 statement of net position. These funds are restricted for capital purposes as outlined in the
indenture.

The University is subject to arbitrage restrictions on its bonded indebtedness prescribed by the U. S.
Internal Revenue Service. As such, amounts are accrued as needed in the University’s basic financial
statements for any expected arbitrage liabilities. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, no amounts were due or
recorded in the financial statements.

The University is subject to restrictive covenants related to its bonds payable. At September 30, 2014,
management believes the University was in compliance with such financial covenants.
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Debt Service on Long-Term Obligations

Total debt service by fiscal year is as follows as of September 30, 2014 (in thousands):

Debt service on bonds

Additional
Principal Interest maturity Total
2015 $ 14,099 14,364 (1,627) 26,836
2016 14,643 13,825 (1,286) 27,182
2017 18,178 13,375 (782) 30,771
2018 18,525 12,959 (427) 31,057
2019 17,456 12,650 (49) 30,057
2020-2024 88,565 54,283 — 142,848
2025-2029 84,853 40,914 — 125,767
2030-2034 82,734 23,051 — 105,785
2035-2038 55,584 5,514 — 61,098
Subtotal 394,637 190,935 (4,171) 581,401
Plus (less):
Additional maturity 4,171)
Unamortized bond premium 5,134
Unaccreted bond discount (29)
Unamortized debt extinguishment
costs (265)
Total $ 395,306

The principal amount of debt service due on bonds at September 30, 2014 includes $3,629,000
representing additional maturity value on Series 1999 Capital Appreciation Bonds. These bonds mature
through 2019. Also included in the principal amount of debt service duc on bonds at September 30, 2014,
is $542,000 representing additional maturity value of the borrowing resulting from the Series 2006
swaption. As described in note 5, additional maturity will continue to accrue until the swaption option
period in 2016. Although this additional maturity is presented as principal on the debt service schedule
above, it is also recognized as interest expense on an annual basis in the University’s basic financial

statements as it accretes.
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USA Research and Technology Corporation

Notes Payable
Notes payable consisted of the following at September 30, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):
2014 2013

Wells Fargo, N.A. promissory note, one-month

LIBOR plus 0.85% (1.007% at

September 30, 2014) payable through 2028 $ 14,471 15,128
PNC Bank promissory note, 4.88%, payable

through 2021 8,814 9,159

$ 23,285 24287

The note payable to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. was incurred by the Corporation to acquire Buildings II
and III in the USA Technology & Research Park and to provide funds for renovations and tenant
finishing costs. The loan is a fully amortizing promissory note with a 20-year term. As more fully
described below, the Corporation entered into a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” type of interest rate
swap on the promissory note, which will yield a synthetic fixed interest rate of 6.1%. The promissory
note payable is secured by an interest in the ground lease with respect to the parcels of land on which
Buildings II and III stand, an interest in Buildings II and III, an interest in tenant leases for Buildings
1I and 111, and an interest in income received from rental of Buildings II and III.

The promissory note payable to PNC Bank has a 10-year term and amortization is based on a 20-year
term. PNC Bank acquired the promissory note as part of its acquisition of RBC Bank (USA) on
March 20, 2012. The Corporation agreed to not transfer or encumber the buildings or its leasehold
interest in the real estate on which the buildings stand. The promissory note payable is secured by an
interest in tenant leases for Building I and the dialysis services building, and an interest in income
received from rental of Building I and the dialysis services building.

In connection with each note, the University entered into an agreement with the lender providing that
for any year in which the Corporation’s debt service coverage ratio is less than 1 to 1, the University
will pay the Corporation rent equal to the amount necessary to bring the ratio to 1 to 1. The debt
service coverage ratio is calculated by dividing the sum of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year (reduced by current year capital assets additions) and current year change
in net position (determined without depreciation, amortization, and interest expense) by current year
debt service. For fiscal 2014 the Corporation’s debt service coverage ratio was 134 to 1.
Management believes the Corporation was in compliance with its debt covenants, including the debt
service coverage ratio covenant, at September 30, 2014, Further, management believes that, based on
existing leases and service contracts and agreements, the debt service coverage ratio for fiscal 2015
will be less than the fiscal 2014 debt service coverage ratio of 1.34 to 1, but will still exceed 1 to 1.
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Debt Service on Long-Term Obligations
At September 30, 2014, total debt service by fiscal year is as follows (in thousands):

Debt service on note and loan

Principal Interest Total

2015 $ 1,061 1,295 2,356
2016 1,118 1,238 2,356
2017 1,186 1,169 2,355
2018 1,251 1,105 2,356
2019 1,332 1,023 2,355
20202024 12,192 2,904 15,096
2025-2028 5,145 617 5,762

Total $ 23,285 9,351 32,636

Derivative Transaction

The Corporation is a party to a derivative with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A,, the counterparty (successor
to Wachovia Bank, N.A. the original counterparty). The derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed”
interest rate swap entered into in connection with the promissory note to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

Objective of the derivative transaction. The Corporation utilizes the interest rate swap to convert its
variable rate on the promissory note to a synthetic fixed rate.

The swap will terminate on May 1, 2028, when the loan matures. The notional amount of the swap
will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of the loan. Under the swap, the Corporation
pays the counterparty a fixed payment of 6.10% and receives a variable payment of the one-month
LIBOR rate plus 0.85%. Conversely, the loan bears interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus
0.85%. The Corporation paid approximately $762,000 and $789,000 under the interest rate swap
agreement for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, which is reflected as an
increase in interest expense.

Fair value. The interest rate swap had a negative fair value of approximately $(3,053,000) and
$(3,225,000) at September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The changes in fair value are reported as
deferred outflows on the accompanying statements of net position since the interest rate swap is a
hedging derivative instrument.

The fair value of the interest rate swap was estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method
calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming that the current forward
rates implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are
then discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero coupon
bonds due on the date of each future net settlement.

Interest rate risk. On the Corporation’s “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate swap, as LIBOR
decreases, the net payment on the swap increases.
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Credit risk. As of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the Corporation was not exposed to credit risk on
the interest rate swap because it had a negative fair value, However, if interest rates change and the
fair value of the derivative becomes positive, the Corporation would have a gross exposure to credit
risk in the amount of the derivative’s fair value. The counterparty was rated Aa3 by Moody’s
Investors Services and AA -by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services as of September 30, 2014 and
2013.

Termination risk. The interest rate swap contracts use the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc. Master Agreement, which includes standard default and termination events, such as
failure to make payments, breach of agreement, and bankruptcy. At September 30, 2014 and 2013,
no events of default or termination had occurred. If the interest rate swap is terminated, interest rate
risk associated with the variable rate debt would no longer be hedged. Also, if at the time of
termination the interest rate swap had a negative fair value, the Corporation would be liable to the
counterparty for a payment equal to the interest rate swap’s fair value. To allow the Corporation the
maximum flexibility to manage the utilization of Buildings II and III while at the same time
providing protection for the counterparty, the Corporation granted the counterparty a $2,000,000
mortgage secured by an interest in the ground lease with respect to the parcel of land on which
Building II stands, an interest in Building II, a security interest in Building II tenant leases, and a
security interest in income received from rental of Building II.

Derivative payments and hedged debt. As interest rates fluctuate, variable rate debt interest and net
derivative payments will fluctuate, Using interest rates as of September 30, 2014, debt service
requirements by fiscal year of the variable rate debt and net derivative payments, assuming current
interest rates remain the same in the future, are as follows (in thousands):

Variable rate loan Interest rate
Principal Interest swap, net Total

2015 s 698 144 729 1,571
2016 738 138 696 1,572
2017 787 129 655 1,571
2018 832 122 618 1,572
2019 893 112 566 1,571
2020-2024 5,378 409 2,070 7,857
20252028 5,145 102 515 5,762

Total $ 14,471 1,156 5,849 21,476

Derivative Transaction — Interest Rate Swap

The University is a party to a derivative with Wells Fargo Bank, the counterparty. As more fully described
in note 5, in December 2013, Wells Fargo exercised its option with respect to the synthetic advance
refunding of the Series 2004 bonds to enter into an interest rate swap agreement with the University with
an effective date of March 15, 2014. The resulting derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate
swap. As part of the overall plan of the synthetic refunding of the 2004 bonds, the University redeemed
those bonds in April 2014 with proceeds from the 2014-A bond.
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Objective of the transaction. As noted the interest rate swap was the result of the original January 2008
synthetic advance refunding of the Series 2004 bonds. The objective of that transaction was to realize debt
service savings currently from future debt refunding and create an economic benefit to the University.

The swap will terminate in March 2024, when the 2014-A bond matures. The notional amount of the swap
will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of the bond. Under the swap, the University pays
the counterparty a fixed semi-annual payment based on an annual rate of 4.9753% and receives on a
monthly basis a variable payment of 68% of the one-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus
0.25%. Conversely, the Series 2014-A bond bears interest on a monthly basis at 68% of the one-month
LIBOR rate plus 0.73%.

Fair value. The interest rate swap had a negative fair value of approximately $(9,138,000) at its inception.
This amount, net of any amortization, is reported as a borrowing arising from the 2014 interest rate swap as
long-term-debt in the 2014 statement of net position.

The change in fair value during the current year is reported as a deferred inflow and derivative asset on the
statement of net position since the interest rate swap is a hedging derivative instrument. At September 30,
2014, $177,000 is reported as a derivative asset and deferred inflow.

The fair value of the interest rate swap was estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method
calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming the current forward rates
implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are then
discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due
on the date of each future net settlement.

Interest rate risk. As the LIBOR rate decreases, the net payment on the swap increases. This, however, is
mitigated by the fact that a decline in the LIBOR rate will also result in a decrease of the University’s
interest payment on the Series 2014-A bond. The University’s exposure is limited to 0.48% of the notional
amount, the difference in the payment from the counterparty and the interest payment on the 2014-A bond.

Credit risk. As of September 30, 2014, the University was not exposed to credit risk on the interest rate
swap because it had a negative fair value. However, if interest rates change and the fair value of the
derivative become positive, the University would have a gross exposure to credit risk in the amount of the
derivative’s fair value. The counterparty was rated Aa3 by Moody’s Investor Services and AA — by
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services as of September 30, 2014.

Termination risk. The University may be required to terminate the swap based on certain standard default
and termination events, such as failure to make payments, breach of agreement, and bankruptcy. As of the
current date, no events of termination have occurred.
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Derivative payments and hedged debt. As interest rates fluctuate, variable rate debt interest and net
derivative payments will fluctuate. Using interest rates as of the current date and assuming those current
interest rates remain the same in the future; debt service requirements, including swap payments, by fiscal
year are as follows (in thousands):

Variable rate loan Interest rate
Principal Interest swap, net Total
2015 b 470 400 1,838 2,708
2016 490 643 1,568 2,701
2017 615 917 1,265 2,797
2018 640 1,088 1,060 2,788
2019 665 1,185 915 2,765
2020-2024 38,365 9,730 2,069 50,164
$ 41,245 13,963 8,715 63,923

Net Patient Service Revenue

The Hospitals have agreements with governmental and other third-party payers that provide for
reimbursement at amounts different from their established rates. Contractual adjustments under third-party
reimbursement programs represent the difference between the Hospitals® billings at established rates for
services and amounts reimbursed by third-party payers.

A summary of the basis of reimbursement with major-third party payers follows:

Medicare — Substantially all acute care services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid at
prospectively determined rates. These rates vary according to patient classification systems that are based
on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. Additionally, the Hospitals are reimbursed for both direct and
indirect medical education costs (as defined), principally based on per-resident prospective payment
amounts and certain adjustments to prospective rate-per-discharge operating reimbursement payments. The
Hospitals generally are reimbursed for certain retroactively settled items at tentative rates, with final
settlement determined after submission of annual cost reports by the Hospitals and audits by the Medicare
fiscal intermediary. The cost report for the USA Medical Center has been audited and settled through 2009.
The cost report for USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital has been audited and settled through 2010.
Revenue from the Medicare program accounted for approximately 15% and 14% of the Hospitals’ net
patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Blue Cross — Inpatient services rendered to Blue Cross subscribers are paid at a prospectively determined
per diem rate. Outpatient services are reimbursed under a cost reimbursement methodology. For outpatient
services, the Hospitals are reimbursed at a tentative rate with final settlement determined after submission
of annual cost reports by the Hospitals and audits thereof by Blue Cross. The Hospitals’ Blue Cross cost
reports have been audited through 2011 and settled for all fiscal years through 2010. Revenue from the
Blue Cross program accounted for approximately 21% and 20% of the Hospitals’ net patient service
revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Medicaid — Inpatient services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are reimbursed at all-inclusive
prospectively determined per diem rates. Outpatient services are reimbursed based on an established fee
schedule.

The Hospitals qualify as Medicaid essential providers and, therefore, also receive supplemental payments
based on formulas established by the Alabama Medicaid Agency. There can be no assurance that the
Hospitals will continue to qualify for future participation in this program or that the program will not
ultimately be discontinued or materially modified.

Revenue from the Medicaid program accounted for approximately 24% and 22% of the Hospitals’ net
patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Other — The Hospitals have also entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance
carriers, health maintenance organizations, and preferred provider organizations. The bases for payments to
the Hospitals under these agreements include discounts from established charges and prospectively
determined daily and case rates.

The composition of net patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 follows
(in thousands):

2014 2013
Gross patient service revenue $ 610,092 575,718
Less provision for contractual and other adjustments (271,468) (250,047)
Less provision for bad debts (70,175) (67,464)
$ 268,449 258,207

Changes in estimates related to prior cost reporting periods resulted in an increase of approximately
$802,000 and $1,279,000 in net patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Hospital Lease

In 2006, the University and Infirmary Health System, Inc. (the Infirmary) entered into a Lease Agreement
(the Leasc) in which the University agreed to lease certain land, buildings and equipment used in
connection with the operating of its USA Knollwood Hospital campus to the Infirmary. The original lease
was effective through March 2056. The lease provided for its termination, at the option of the Infirmary, in
the event that a change in any law, statue, rule, or a regulation of any governmental or other regulatory
body was deemed by the Infirmary as significant, as defined by the lease. The hospital was operated as
Mobile Infirmary West.

The total amount of the lease payments due the University was based on the fair value of the appraised
assets, $32,418,000. The allocation of the appraised fair value was $29,370,000 for land and buildings and
$3,048,000 for medical equipment, office furnishings and other equipment. In addition to an up-front
payment, the lease agreement required monthly lease payments by the Infirmary to the University. In order
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to properly report this fransaction, the University bifurcated the lease into an equipment component and a
real property component. The equipment component of the lease was considered a capital lease and as
such, a lease receivable was reported in the accompanying basic financial statements of the University. The
component of the lease attributable to land and buildings was considered an operating lease. As such, lease
revenue was recorded and is being earned over the life of the lease. Lease revenue in the amounts of
approximately $0 and $164,000 was reported as other operating revenue in the accompanying basic
financial statements for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Payments received in
excess of the amount recognized as lease revenue were unrecognized and amortized over the term of the
lease.

In October 2012, officials of the Infirmary publically announced the closing of the Mobile Infirmary West
effective October 31, 2012,

As a result of the closing of the hospital, in May 2013, the University Board of Trustees determined that it
was in the best interest of the University to sell Knollwood Hospitals, all related furniture and equipment,
adjacent medical office buildings and land. As such, the Board approved a resolution authorizing
University management to seek proposals for the sale of Knollwood Hospitals and proceed with
negotiations with potential buyers. Subsequent to a public advertisement and negotiation period, the
University and the Infirmary entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the Agreement), dated June 5,
2013. The Agreement called for the sale of all land, buildings, furniture and equipment at Knollwood
Hospitals to the Infirmary for a purchase price of $5,000,000 and effectively canceled the original 2006
lease agreement. Following a period of due diligence the transaction was closed on July 19, 2013, At
closing, the Infirmary made a payment of $2,500,000 to the University and issued a promissory note, dated
July 19, 2013, for the remaining $2,500,000 which was received by the University in July 2014,

At the time of the closing, the University wrote off capital assets with a cost of approximately $31,597,000
and accumulated depreciation of approximately $19,601,000. Unrecognized revenue related to the original
lease of approximately $5,692,000 was also written off. As of September 30, 2013, a note receivable in the
amount of $2,500,000, due July 19, 2014, was recognized and is reported as a current note receivable in the
University’s 2013 statement of net position. As a result of the transaction, the University recognized a loss
on the sale of $1,304,000 which is reported as an other nonoperating expense in the 2013 statement of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position,

Employee Benefits
(a) Retirement and Pension Plans

Employees of the University are covered by two pension plans: a cost sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan administered by the Teachers’ Retirement System of the State of
Alabama (TRS), and a defined contribution pension plan.

Permanent employees of the University participate in TRS, a public retirement system created by an
act of the State Legislature, with benefit provisions established by the Code of Alabama.
Responsibility for general administration and operation of the TRS is vested in the Board of Control
(currently 14 members). Benefits fully vest after 10 years of full time, permanent employment.
Vested employees may retire with full benefits at age 60 or after 25 years of service. Participating
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retirees may elect the maximum benefit, or may choose among four other monthly benefit options.
Under the maximum benefit, participants are allowed 2.0125% of their average final salary (average
of three highest years of annual compensation during the last ten years of service) for each year of
service. The TRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and
required supplementary information. That report may be obtained by writing to the Retirement
Systems of Alabama, P.O. Box 302150, Montgomery, Alabama 36130-2150, or by calling (334) 832
4140.

Prior to October 1, 2011, essentially all employees covered by this retirement plan were required to
contribute 5% of their eligible eamings to TRS. Effective October 1, 2011 and 2012, the required
employee contribution was increased to 7.25% and 7.5%, respectively, of their eligible earnings. An
actuary employed by the TRS Board of Control establishes the employer-matching amount annually.
During 2014, 2013 and 2012, the University made total contributions of $24,573,000, $21,879,000,
and $23,381,000 (100% of the required contributions), respectively, to TRS on behalf of participants.
For employees that were hired before January 1, 2013, the University contribution rate was 11.7%,
10.1%, and 10.0% in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, of each participant’s gross earnings. For
employees hired after January 1, 2013, the University contribution rate was 11.1% and 9.4% in 2014
and 2013, respectively, of each participant’s gross earnings. The University’s payroll for all
employees was approximately $246,896,000 and $254,249,000 in 2014 and 2013, respectively. The
LLC’s payroll for all employees was approximately $78,975,000 and $61,645,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Total payroll for University employees participating in the Teachers’ Retirement
System of Alabama was approximately $210,359,000 and $217,164,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

The defined contribution pension plan covers certain academic and administrative employees, and
participation by eligible employees is optional. Under this plan, administered by Teachers Insurance
and Annuity Association — College Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF), contributions by
eligible employees are matched equally by the University up to a maximum of 3% of current annual
pay. The University and the employees each contributed $840,000 and $928,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively, representing 344 and 436, respectively, employees participating in this Plan.

All employees of the LLC working at least half time arec eligible to participate in a defined
contribution pension plan. Under this plan, contributions by eligible employees are matched equally
by the LLC up to a maximum of 5% of current annual pay. The LLC and the employees contributed
$2,454,000 and $1,885,000, respectively, in 2014 and 2013 representing 867 and 679, employees
participating in this plan. University employees as of September 30, 2011 who later transfer to the
LLC are immediately vested in the plan. All other employees do not vest until they have held
employment with the LLC for thirty-six months; at which time they become 100% vested in the plan.

Compensated Absences

Regular University employees accumulate vacation and sick leave and hospital and clinical
employees accumulate paid time off. These are subject to maximum limitations, at varying rates
depending upon their employee classification and length of service. Upon separation of employment,
employees who were hired before January 1, 2012 are paid all unused accrued vacation at their
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regular rate of pay up to a maximum of two times their annual accumulation rate. Employees hired
after January 1, 2012 are not eligible for payment of unused accrued vacation or PTO hours upon
separation of employment. The accompanying statements of net position include accruals for
vacation pay and paid time off of approximately $15,535,000 and $15,763,000 at September 30,
2014 and 2013, respectively. The current portion of the accrual is included in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities and the noncurrent portion is included in other long term liabilities in the
accompanying basic financial statements. No accrual is recognized for sick leave benefits since no
terminal cash benefit is available to employees for accumulated sick leave.

(c}  Other Postretirement Employee Benefits

As the provider of postretirement benefits to state retirees, the state is responsible for implementing
GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions. In September 2003, the State of Alabama Legislature passed
legislation that requires all colleges and universities to fund the healthcare premiums of its
participating retirees. In prior years, such costs have been paid by the State. Beginning in
October 2003, the University was assessed a monthly premium by the Public Education Employees’
Health Insurance Plan (PEEHIP) based on the number of retirees in the system and an actuarially
determined premium. During the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University’s
expense related to PEEHIP was $7,963,000 and $7,130,000, respectively.

(13) Risk Management

The University, USAHSF, LLC and SAMSF participate in the professional liability trust fund and the
University, USAHSF, LLC, SAMSF and the Corporation participate in the general liability trust fund.
Both funds are administered by an independent trustee. These trust funds are revocable and use
contributions by the University and USAHSF, together with earnings thereon, to pay liabilities arising
from the performance of its employees, trustees and other individuals acting on behalf of the University. If
the trust funds are ever terminated, appropriate provision for payment of related claims will be made and
any remaining balance will be distributed to the participating entities in proportion to contributions made.

As discussed in note 1, the PLTF and GLTF are blended component units of the University, as defined by
GASB Statement No. 14, and as such are included in the basic financial statements of the University for
the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013. Claims and expenses are reported when it is probable that a
loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Those losses include an estimate
of claims that have been incurred but not reported and the future costs of handling claims. These liabilities
are generally based on actuarial valuations and are reported at their present value.

The University and LLC participate in a self-insured health plan, administered by an unaffiliated entity.
Administrative fees paid by the University for such services were approximately $1,770,000 and
$1,697,000 in 2014 and 2013, respectively. Contributions by the University and its employees, together
with earnings thereon, are used to pay liabilities arising from healthcare claims. It is the opinion of
University administration that plan assets are sufficient to meet future plan obligations.
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The changes in the total self insurance liabilities for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 for the
PLTF, GLTF and health plan are summarized as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013
Balance, beginning of year 3 21,297 22,747
Liabilities incurred and other additions 58,311 60,804
Claims, administrative fees paid and other reductions (49,816) (62,254)
Balance, end of year $ 29,792 21,297

Self-insurance liabilities due within one year are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The
noncurrent portion is included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying basic financial statements.

(14) Other Related Party

SAMSF is a not-for-profit corporation that exists for the purpose of promoting education and research at
the University. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, SAMSF had total assets of $12,882,000 and $12,235,000,
net assets of $9,899,000 and $9,501,000, and total revenues of $3,635,000 and $3,474,000, respectively.
SAMSEF reimburses the University for certain administrative expenses and other related support services.
Total amounts received for such expenses were approximately $707,000 and $711,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively, and are reflected as private grants and contracts in the accompanying statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position.

(15) Commitments and Contingencies

(a)

(b)

Grants and Contracts

At September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University had been awarded approximately $23,990,000 and
$24,175,000, respectively, in grants and contracts for which resources had not been received and for
which reimbursable expenditures had not been made for the purposes specified. These awards, which
represent commitments of sponsors to provide funds for research or training projects, have not been
reflected in the accompanying basic financial statements as the eligibility requirements of the award
have not been met. Advances include amounts received from grant and contract sponsors which have
not been earned under the terms of the agreements and, therefore, have not yet been included in
revenues in the accompanying basic financial statements. Federal awards are subject to audit by
Federal agencies. The University’s management believes any adjustment from such audits will not
be material.

Letter of Credit

In connection with the Hospitals’ participation in the State of Alabama Medicaid Program, the
University has established a $77,000 irrevocable standby letter of credit with Wells Fargo, N.A. The
Alabama Medicaid Agency is the beneficiary of this letter of credit. No funds were advanced under
this letter during the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013.
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Litigation
Various claims have been filed against the University alleging discriminatory employment practices
and other matters. University administration and legal counsel are of the opinion the resolution of

these matters will not have a material effect on the financial position or the statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position of the University.

Rent Supplement Agreements

The University has entered into two irrevocable rent supplement agreements with the Corporation
and a financial institution. The agreements require that, in the event the Corporation fails to maintain
a debt service coverage ratio of one to one with respect to all of its outstanding indebtedness, the
University will pay to the Corporation any and all rent amounts necessary to cause the Corporation’s
net operating income to be equal to the Corporation’s annual debt service obligations (see note 8). As
of September 30, 2014 and 2013, no amounts were payable pursuant to these agreements.

State Bond Issues

The State of Alabama has made allocations to the University from bond issues in prior years.
Pursuant to these allocations, at September 30, 2014, approximately $112,000 is unspent and remains
available to the University for certain future construction costs. The allocations have not been
reflected in the accompanying basic financial statements.

Sale of Brookley Campus

On September 29, 2010, the University and the USA Foundation executed purchase and sale
agreement calling for the University to sell approximately 327 acres on Mobile Bay, known as the
Brookley campus, to the Foundation. The terms of the agreement required the Foundation to pay the
University $20,000,000; $4,000,000 at closing and $4,000,000 annually thereafter through the 2015
fiscal year. The sale closed on November 10, 2010 and the initial payment was received by the
University at that point. The transaction is recorded as an installment sale. As such, during the years
ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University reported a gain on the sale of $2,201,000 and
$2,116,000, respectively, which is reported as other nonoperating revenues in the statements of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position. At September 30, 2014, the University is reporting a
note receivable from the Foundation in the amount of $3,846,000 (reported as a current asset in notes
receivable) and unrecognized revenue in the amount of $2,289,000 (reported as current unrecognized
revenue). At September 30, 2013, the University is reporting a note receivable from the Foundation
in the amount of $7,544,000 ($3,698,000 is reported as a current asset in notes receivable and
$3,846,000 is reported as a noncurrent asset in noncurrent notes receivable) and unrecognized
revenue in the amount of $4,489,000 (82,201,000 is reported as current unrecognized revenue and
$2,288,000 as other noncurrent liabilities). The unrecognized revenue will be amortized as an
installment gain as payments are received through 2015.

USA Research and Technology Corporations Leases

The Corporation leases space in Building I to three tenants under operating leases. One lease has a
S-year initial term expiring in October 2018 with two 5-year renewal options. Another lease has a
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10-year initial term expiring in March 2021, an option to cancel at the end of 6 years, and two 5-year
renewal options. The third lease has a 67-month initial term expiring in December 2018 with no
renewal options.

Space in Buildings II and III is leased under operating leases to the University and various other
tenants. These leases have terms varying from month-to-month to ten years.

The Corporation leases from the University the third floor of a campus building. Located on that
floor is the Coastal Innovation Hub (the Hub), a technology incubator, which currently houses three
tenants with month-to-month Ieases.

Under leases for Buildings I, II, and 1II, the Corporation must pay all operating expenses of the
buildings, including utilities, janitorial, maintenance, property taxes, and insurance. Tenants will
reimburse the Corporation for such expenses only as the total expenses for a year increase over the
total expenses for the base year of the lease (the Corporation’s fiscal year beginning after the date the
lease is signed). Under Hub leases, the Corporation must pay all operating expenses of the space,
without reimbursement from tenants.

Space under lease to the University was 46,700 and 48,900 square feet at September 30, 2014 and
2013, respectively.

The Corporation owns a building located on the premises of the USA Medical Center which is leased
to a single tenant. The Corporation paid for construction of the building shell and land improvements
while the tenant paid for the cost of finishing the building’s interior. The lease has a ten year initial
term with three five-year renewal options. Under the lease, the tenant must also pay for utilities,
taxes, insurance, and interior repairs and maintenance. The Corporation is responsible for repairs and
maintenance to the exterior and HVAC system.

The Corporation, as lessor, had three ground leases in place at September 30, 2014 and 2013. One
lease is for a 40-year initial term with 20-year, and 15-year renewal options. The second lease is for a
30-year initial term with four 5-year renewal options. The third lease has a 38.5-year initial term with
20-year and 15-year renewal options.

Minimum future rentals by fiscal year are as follows (in thousands):

2015 $ 2,454
2016 1,894
2017 1,831
2018 1,721
2019 1,116
20202046 7,623

Total $ 16,639
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(16) Functional Information

Operating expenses by functional classification for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 are listed
below (in thousands). In preparing the basic financial statements, all significant transactions and balances

among accounts have been eliminated.

2014 2013

Instruction b 128,785 118,254
Research 22,454 21,095
Public service 39,601 46,723
Academic support 16,791 15,999
Student services 31,421 28,673
Institutional support 25,903 28,528
Operation and maintenance of plant 27,978 26,459
Scholarships 7,299 6,532
Hospital 286,387 265,775
Auxiliary enterprises 15,501 14,233
Depreciation and amortization 31,858 29,849

$ 633,978 602,120
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(17) Blended Component Units

(18)

As more fully described in notes 1(b) and 1(c), the LLC, PLTF and GLTF are considered component units
pursuant to the provisions of GASB Statement No. 61. In accordance with that statement, the LLC, PLTF
and GLTF arc reported as blended component units. Required combining financial information of the
aggregate blended component units is presented below (in thousands):

2014 2013
Current assets $ 9,257 21,018
Noncurrent assets 49,706 29,755
Total assets 58,963 50,773
Current liabilities 33,460 34,187
Noncurrent liabilities 24,981 16,301
Total liabilities 58,441 50,488
Net position $ 522 285
Operating revenues $ 103,895 83,710
Operating expenses (105,665) (86,948)
Operating loss (1,770) (3,238)
Nonoperating revenues 2,006 3,325
Change in net position $ 236 87

Significant New (Future) Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2012, the GASB issued Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions.
GASB Statement No. 68 changes accounting and financial reporting for entities participating in certain
pension plans and will be effective for the year ending September 30, 2015. Statement No. 68 will require
the University to record its share, as determined by an independent actuary, of the net unfunded pension
liability, and its share of the changes in that net pension liability, for all cost-sharing defined benefit plans
in which it participates.

In January 2013, the GASB issued Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals of
Government Operations. GASB Statement No. 69 establishes accounting and financial reporting standards
related to government combinations and disposal of government operations and will be effective for the
year ending September 30, 2015. In November 2013, the GASB issued Statement No. 71, Pension
Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date. GASB Statement No. 71 was
issued as an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68 with an objective of addressing an issue regarding
application of the transition provisions of Statement No. 68 relating to amounts associated with
contributions, if any, made by a state or local government employer or nonemployer contributing entity to
a defined benefit pension plan after the measurement date of the government’s beginning net pension
liability. Statement 71 will be effective for the year ending September 30, 2015.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2014 and 2013

While the impact of the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 has not yet been determined, it is
expected that such implementation will have a material effect on the net position of the University. The
effect of the implementation of GASB Statements Nos. 69 and 71 on the University has not been
determined.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
September 30, 2014

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal grant
activity of the Umversity of South Alabama (the University) and is presented on the accrual basis of
accounting. The information in the Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of OMB
Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Therefore, some
amounts presented in the Schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the
basic financial statements.

Campus-Based Loan Programs

Outstanding campus-based federal loans made by the University are included in notes receivable in the
University’s 2014 statement of net position and consist of the following loan programs:

Outstanding
amount at Amount
September 30, advanced
CFDA # 2014 in 2014

Federal Perkins Loan Program 84.038 $ 3,491,337 276,000
Nurse Faculty Loan Program 93.264 481,481 112,069
Nurse Faculty Loan Program ARRA 93.408 39,633 —
$ 4,012,451 388,069

Contingencies

The University’s federal programs are subject to financial and compliance audits by grantor agencies
which may result in disallowed expenditures and affect the University’s continued participation in specific

programs.
Federal Direct Student Loans (CFDA #84.268)

The University’s Federal Direct Student Loan Program (Direct Loan) included in the Schedule represents
loans advanced to students of the University during fiscal year 2014, which were not made by the
University. Accordingly, Direct Loan amounts are not reflected in the University’s basic financial
statements. It is not practicable to determine the balance of loans outstanding to students and former

students of the University under these programs as of September 30, 2014.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

September 30, 2014

During fiscal year ended September 30, 2014, the University advanced to students the following amounts

of new loans under Direct Loan Programs:

Stafford loans
Unsubsidized Stafford loans
Parent Loans for Undergraduate Students

Total

Subrecipients

$

Amount
advanced

23,469,979
72,701,361
17,062,725

113,234,065

Of the federal expenditures presented in the Schedule, the University provided federal awards to

subrecipients under the following programs during the year ended September 30, 2014:

Marine Fisheries Initiative

Unallied Management Projects

Basic Scientific Research- Combating Weapons of Mass
Destruction

Geosciences

Education and Human Resources

Environmental Health

HIV Demonstration Program for Children Adolescents and
Women

Trans- NIH Research Support

National Center for Research Resources

Cancer Cause and Prevention Research

ARRA -Health Information Technology Regional Extension
Centers Program

Lung Diseases Research

Allergy Immunology and Transplantation Research

Grants for Residency Training for General Pediatrics

Center for Sponsored Coastal Ocean Research - Coastal Ocean

Mineral Management Services Environmental Studies Program

Sport Fish Restoration Program

Aerospace Education Services Program

Mathematics and Science Partnerships

Improving Teacher Quality State Grants
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Federal Amounts
CFDA # expended

11.433 $ 65,839
11.454 5,080
12.351 5,900
47.050 2,436
47.076 13,222
93.113 2,287
93.153 10,141
93.310 27,059
93.389 78,609
93.393 207,429
93.718 284,705
93.838 398,895
93.855 61,278
93.884 8,661
11.478 1,589
15.423 6,021
15.605 3,810
43.001 112,183
84.366 35,051
84.367 92,740

$ 1,422,935

(Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
September 30, 2014

(6) Matching

Under the Federal Supplemental Education Opportunity Grant Program, the University matched $133,994
in funds awarded to students for the year ended September 30, 2014 in addition to the Federal share of
expenditures included in the Schedule.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year ended September 30, 2014

I - Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements
Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified? yes X NoO
Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are
not considered to be material weaknesses? yeés  x  none reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? yes X no
Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? yes X 1no

Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are
not considered to be material weaknesses? yes X none reported

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for
major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported
in accordance with section 510(a) of Circular A-133? yes X 1o

Identification of major programs:

CFDA Numbers Name of Federal Program/Cluster

84.007, 84.033, 84.038, 84.063, 84.268, 84.379, 93.264, 93.408 Student Financial Aid Cluster

93.359 Basic Nurse Education and Practice
Grants

93.889 National Bioterrorism Hospital
Preparedness Program

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and

type B programs; $ 680,189
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? yes X no

Section II — Findings Related to Financial Statements Reported in Accordance with Goverament Auditing
Standards

There were no findings related to the financial statements reported in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards for the year ended September 30, 2014,

78



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year ended September 30, 2014

Section 111 — Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs relating to Federal Awards
There were no findings related to federal awards for the year ended September 30, 2014,
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KPM4 LLP Telephone +1 601 364 3701

Suite 1100 Fax +1 601 3564 3746
One Jackaon Place Internet  wwv..us.kpmg.com
184 East Capitol Street

Jackson, MS 38201-2127

November §, 2014

PRIVATE

University of South Alabama

Atin: Mr. Stephen H. Simmons

Vice President for Financial Affairs

307 University Bonlevard North, AD 170
Mobile, Alabama 36688-0002

Dear Mr, Simmons:

This letter (the Engagement Letter) sets forth our understanding of the terms and objectives of
our engagement and the nature and limitations of the services we will provide.

We will apply the following agreed-upon procedures related to assist The Board of Trustees and
Management of the University of South Alabama (the University) in evaluating the Statement of
Changes in Cash and Investments Held by Trustee Pursuant to the Bond Resolutions and the
Statement of Investments Held by Trustee Pursuent to the Bond Resolutions relating to the
University Tuition Revenue Bonds, Series 1999, University Tuition Revenue Refunding and
Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2004, Univemsity Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital
Improvement Bonds, Series 2006, University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds,
Series 2008, University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond, Series 2010, University
Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2012-A and 2012-B, University Facilities
Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2013-A, Series 2013-B, and Series 2013-C and
University Facilitics Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2014-A as of September 30, 2014 and for
the year then ended.

We will compare the amounts shown on the Statement of Changes in Cash and Investments Held
by Trustee Pursuant to the Bond Resolutions in Exhibit A to the annual trustee statements of
cash and investment transactions provided to us by the bond trustee and ensure that they agree.

We will compare the amounts shown on the Statement of Investments Held by Trustee Pursuant
to the Bond Resolutions in Exhibit B to the annual trustee statements of cash and investment
transactions provided to us by the bond trustee and ensure that they agree,

We will obtain a schedule of general student fees (tuition) collected during the year ended
September 30, 2014, and compare that amount to the general student fees recorded in the
University’s general ledger and ensure that they agree.

KPG LLP 12 & Deln. ‘are AmHad Babilit; partnesahlp,
the U.5. member firm of KPt @ Intarnaticn=] Coopearatt.a
“KPLIG Intemationsd®), u § vis: entity.
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M, Stephen H. Simmons
University of South Alabama
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Page 2 of 3

At the conclusion of the engagement, management agrees to supply us with a representation
letter that, among other things, will confirm management's responsibility for the sufficiency of
the agreed-upon procedures for its purposes and the fair presentstion of the specified elements,
accounts, or items of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Our engagement to apply agreed-upon procedures will be performed in accordance with
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The sufficiency
of the procadures is solely the responsibility of the specified users of the report. Consequently,
we make no representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures either for the purpose for
which our report is being prepared or for any other purpose.

Because the agreed-upon procedures refetred to above do not constitute an audit, we will not
express an opinion on any of the elements, accounts, or items of management’s Statement of
Changes in Cash and Investments Held by Trustee. Our report will include a statement to that
effect. In addition, we have no obligation to perform any procedures beyond those referred to
above.

Our report will include a list of the procedures performed (or reference thereto) and the related
findings. Our report will also contain a paragraph indicating that had we performed additional
procedures, other matters might have come to our attention that would have been reported to
you. We have no responsibility to update our report for events and circumstances occwring after
the date of such report.

Our report is intended solely for the use of University management, and is not intended for use
by those who have not agreed to the procedures and taken responsibility for the sufficiency of
the procedures for their purposes. If you request that additional specified users of the report be
added, we will require that they acknowledge, in writing, their agreement with the procedures
and their responsibility for the sufficiency of the procedures for their purposes.

During the course of our procedures, we may consider it necessary to perform additional
procedures in order to accomplish the stated purposes of the procedures described. Any such
additional procedures will be outlined in our draft report, which will be reviewed by the
University management prior to final issuance, in order to ensure that the procedure were
sufficient to accomplish the purposes of the University. If we are unable to complete the agreed-
upon procedures referred to above, we will discuss the matter with University management
during the engagement. In such circumstances, we may conclude that we will not issue a repost
as a result of this engagement.

By approving this engagement, you agree to release KPMG and its personnel from any claims,
liabilities, costs, and expenses relating to our service under this letter, except to the extent
determined to have resulted from the intentional or deliberate misconduct of KPMG personnel.
In the event KPMG is required pursuant to subpoena or other legal process to produce its



Mr. Stephen H. Simmons
University of South Alabama
November §, 2014

Page 3 of 3

documents relating to engagements for the University in judicial or administrative proceedings
to which KPMG is not a party, the University shall reimburse KPMG for its professional time
and expenss, including reasonable attorney’s fees, incurred in responding to such requests.

We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time. For your convenience in
confirming these arrangements, we enclose a copy of this letter, Please sign and return it to us.

Very truly yours,
KPMG LLP
Partner

MPP:;jm

Enclosures
ACCEPTED:
Universi

f South Alabama
%M—

Mr, $tephen H. Simmons
Vicd President for Financial Affairs
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March 25, 2614

Mr. Stephen H. Simmons

Vice President for Financial Affairs
University of South Alabama

307 University Boulevard Norih, AD 170
Mobile, Alabama 36658-0002

Dear Steve:

This letter amends our engagement letter dated January 25, 2612, confirming our understanding
to provide professiona! audit services to the University of South Alabama (the University) by
substituting the attached Appendix | for the Appendix ] originally attached to our engagcment
lalter.

The attached Appendix ! lists the services to be rendered and related fees to provide each
specified service for the identified time period. Except as specified in this letter and in the
Appendix 1 attached 1o this letter, all provisions of the aforementioned engagement letter remain
in effect until either the Universily’s management or we tesminate this agreement or mutually
agree to the modification of ils terms.

While our reports may be sent to the University electronically for your convenience, cnly the
hard copy repoits are 1o be relied upon as our work product.

'The University agrecs to provide prompt notification if the University o any of its subsidiaries
currently are or bacome subject to the laws of a foreign jurisdiction that require regulation of any
securities issued by the University or such subsidiary.

KPMG uses the services of KPMG controlled entities, KPMG miember [irms and/or third party
service providers to provide professional services and adminisirative, analytical and clerical
support. These parties may have access to certain of your information with the understanding
that the confidential information will be mainiained under information controls providing
equivalent protection as our own. You also understand and agree that KPMG agpgregates your
information with information from other sources for the purpose of improving audit quality and
service, and for use in presentations to clients and non-clients in a foim where ii is sufliciently
de-identified so as not to be aitributable to the University or where the University could be
identificd as a source ol the information.

As required by Government Auditing Stzndards, we have atieched a copy of KPMG’s most
recent peer report,
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We shall be pleased (o discuss this letter with you at any time. For your convenience in
confirming these arrangements, we enclose a copy of this letter. Please sign in the space
provided and return the copy to us,

Very truly yours,

KPMG LLP

/!4‘

oty

Miark P, Peach
Partner

MPP:bt
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Appendix !

Fees for Services

Based upon our discussions with and representations of management, our fzes for services we
will perform are estimated as follows:

Audit of financial statements of University of South

Alabama as of und for the ycar ended Seplember 30,

2014 and other reports detailed below $540,000

(includes additional $75,000 for KPMG to perform Erp e
substantially all audit procedures related to OnMB - f:.'zf"'"” f

Circular A-133 audit of two major programs)

Otlier Reports:
The reports that we will issue as part of this engagement arc as follows:

Repeort

Reporis issued in conneclion with OMB Circular A-133
Debt covenani compliance report

Debt agreed upon procedurcs repori

University of South Alabama Health Services Foundation
South Alabama Medical Science Foundation

USA Rescarch and Technology Corpoation

USA Professiunal Liability Trust Fund

USA General Liabiiity Trust Fund

NCAA agreed upon procedures report

The above estimate is based on the ievel of experience of the individuals who will perform the
services. In addition, expenses are billed for reimbursement as incurred. The fzes assume that
you will provide routine client assislance activities such as przparation of financial slatements,
certain account analyses, documen! retrieval and coniirmation preparaticn. The fees also assume
a commitmerit of approximately 400 hours of internal audit assistance related to the audit. The
fees also assume no significant changes in operations, no significant increase in the puschase of
additional alternative investments, and that we will only have to audit two major programs
associated with OMB Circular A-133. Progress billings will be sent every two weels and are due
within thirty deys upon receipt.

Where KPMG is rcimbursed for expenses, it is KPMG’s policy to bill clients the amount
incurred i the time the good or service i3 purchased. If KPMG subsequently receives a volume
rebale or other incentive payment from a vendor relating to such expenses, KPMG does not
credit such payment to the client. Instead, KPMG applies such payments to reducs its overliead
costs, which costs are taken into account in determining KPMG’s standard billing rales and
certain transaction charges which may be charged to clients.
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System Review Report

To ths Partners of KPMG LLP
and the National Peer Review Committee of the AICPA Pesr Review Board

We have reviewcd the system of quality coniiro} for the accounting and auditing practice of KPMG
LLP (the Firm), applicablc to non-SEC issuers, in effect for the yeer ended March 31, 2011. Our pesr
revicw was conducted in nccordance with the Staaderds for Performing and Reporting a Peer
Reviews established by tha Peor Review Boerd of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The Firm is responsible for designing a system of quality control and complying with it
10 provids the Firm with reasonable assurance of perfonming and reporting in conformity with
applicable professional standards in all matorlsl respects, Qur responsibility is to express an opinion
on the design of the systvm of quality contro! and the Firm's compliance therewith bascd on our
revicw. The maturs, objeciives, scope, limitations of, and the procedurcs porformed in a System
Review are described in the standards at www,nicpa, srpforsummary,

As toquircd by the standards, engagemonts selected for reviow iuchuded engagements performed
under Government Axditing Standards, audits of employce benefit plans, an audit performod under
FDICIA, znd en sudit of a carrying broker-dealer,

In our opinioa, the system of quality control for the accounting and auditing practice of KPMG LLP,
applicable to non-SEC issuers, in effect for the year ended March 31, 2011, has been suitably
designed and complied with 1o provide the Firm with reasonable nssurance of performing and
reporting in conformity with applicable professional standards in =)l material respocts. Fims can
receive. a ruting of pass, pass with deficiency(ics) or fail. KPMG LLP has recolved a peer review
mting of pass.

sastdonu s lif

December 2, 2011

L T e  IaMME T BB A An merminc vm T M T} MARRORIA] MPbq s ey e Ay e - e s

i PricacaterhoaseCoapurs LLT, o Camipus Drive, £.Q. Box 988, Florhem Fark, NJ o732
T 979 356 4000, F: (973 286 5000, werepwe.camfus
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Al C P A " Amarican institute of CPAs
Peer Review Program 220 Leigh Farm Rood

Durham, NC 27707-8110

December 8, 2011

John B. Veihnmeyer, CPA
KPM3 LLP

345 Park Ave Bsmt LB6
New York, NY 10154

Desar Mr. Veihmeyer:

it is my pleasure o nofify you that an December 8, 2011 the National Peer Review Commitice
accepied the repert on the most recent systern peer review of your firm. The due date for your
next review is Sepiember 30, 2014. This s the date by which all review documents shouid be
completed and submiited to the administering entily.

As you know, the report had a peer raviaw rating of pass. The Committee asked me to convay
its congratulations to the fim,

Sincerely,

7L ﬁ%%

James W. Brackers, Jr.
Vice President—Ethics and Quality Practice
+1.918.402.4502

Aorc@aicpa.orm
cc: Betiy Jo Cherles, CPA

Firm Number: 10054128 Review Number: 320334

Adminislered by the
National Pear Review Commillee

T:919.402.4502 | F:915.402.4876 | aicpa.org



A! C PA " American Ingtitute of CPAs
Peer Review Program 220 Leigh Farm Roed

Durham, MC 27707-8110

December 8, 2011

John B, Velthimeyer, CPA
KPRG LLP

345 Park Ave Bsmt LB
New York, NY 10154

Dear Mr. Velhmeyer:

It Is my pleasure to notify you that on December 8, 2011 the National Peer Review Commitiee
accepled the report on the most recent sysiem peer review of your firm. The dus date for your
next review is September 30, 2014, This is the date by which all review documents should be
completed and submitted to the administering entity.

As you know, the report had a paer review rating of pass. The Commitiee asked me to convey
its congraiulations to the firm.

Sincerely,

7.4 ,%’/%

James W. Brackens, Jr.
Vice President—Ethics and Quality Practica
+1.919.402.4502

nprc@aicpa.om
ce; Betty Jo Charles, CPA

Firmn Number: 10054128 Reviaw Number: 320334

Administerad by the
Nationst! Poer Review Committee

T:919.4024502 | F:919.402.4876 | alcpa.org



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
VICE PRESIDENT [& TELEPHONE: (251) 460-6132
FOR FINANCIAL AFFAIRS AD 170 « MOBILE, ALABAMA 36668-0002

November 14, 2014

KPMG LLP

One Jackson Place, Suite 1100
188 East Capitol Street
Jackson, MS 39201

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We are providing this letter in connection with your audits of the basic financial statements of
the University of South Alabama, a component unit of the State of Alabama, (the University},
and its aggrepate discretely presented component units as of and for the years ended September
30, 2014 and 2013, for the purpose of expressing opinions as to whether the basic financial
statements and its aggregate discretely presented component units present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial positions, changes in financial positions, and, where applicable,
cash flows thereof in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. We are
also providing this letter to confirm our understanding that the purpose of your testing of
transactions and records relating to the University’s federal programs (A-133 audit) was to
obtain reasonable assurance that the University had complied, in all material respects, with the
requirements of law, regulations, contracts, and grants that could have a direct and material
effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2014.

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material.
Items are considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of
accounting information that, in the light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the
judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by
the omission or misstatement.

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we
considered necessary for the purposes of appropriately informing ourselves, as of November 14,
2014, the following representations made to you during your audits:

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter
dated March 23, 2014, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

2. We have made available to you:



a.  All records, documentation, and information that is relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements.

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the
audits.

c.  Unrestricted access and the full cooperation of personnel within the entity from
whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

d. All minutes of the meetings of Board of Trustees, and other appropriate committees,
or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been
prepared.

3. Except as disclosed to you in writing, there have been no communications from regulatory
agencies, governmental representatives, employees, or others concerning investigations or
allegations of noncompliance with laws and regulations in any jurisdiction, deficiencies in
financial reporting practices, or other matters that could have a material adverse effect on
the financial statements.

4.  There are no:

a. Violations or possible violations of laws or regulations, whose effects should be
considered for disclosure in the financial statements or as a basis for recording a
loss contingency.

b. Unasserted claims or assessments that our lawyers have advised us are probable of
assertion and must be disclosed in accordance with paragraphs 96 — 113 of
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 62,
Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-
November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements.

c. Other liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or
disclosed by GASB Statement No. 62, paragraphs 96 - 113.

d. Material transactions, for example, grants and other contractual arrangements, that
have not been properly recorded in the accounting records underlying the financial
statements.

e. Events that have occurred subsequent to the date of the statement of net position
and through the date of this letter that would require adjustment to or disclosure in
the financial statements.

5. All known actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed
in accordance with GASB Statement No. 62, paragraphs 96 - 113.



10.

The effects of the uncorrected financial statement misstatements, if any, summarized in the
accompanying schedules are immaterial, both individually and in the apgregate, to the
financial statements,

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of
programs and contrals to prevent and detect fraud; for adopting sound accounting policies;
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and to provide reasonable
assurance against the possibility of misstatements that are material to the financial
statements whether due to error or fraud. We understand that the term “fraud” includes
misstatements arising from fraudulent financial reporting and misstatements arising from
misappropriation of assets.

Misstatements arising from fraudulent financial reporting are intentional misstatements, or
omissions of amounts or disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial statement
users. Misstatements arising from misappropriation of assets involve theft of an entity’s
assets where the effect of the theft causes the financial statements not to be presented in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles,

We have disclosed to you all deficiencies in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting of which we are aware, which could adversely affect the entity’s ability
to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report financial data. We have separately
disclosed to you all such deficiencies that we believe to be significant deficiencies or
material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting, as those terms are defined
in AU-C Section 265, Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an
Audit,

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving:
a. Management

b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control over financial reporting,
or

¢.  Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity’s
financial statements received in communications from employees, former employees,
analysts, regulators, or others.

We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or
classification of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of
resources.



15.

16.

We have no knowledge of any officer or trustee of the University, or any other person
acting under the direction thereof, having taken any action to fraudulently influence,
coerce, manipulate, or mislead you during your audits.

The following have been properly recorded or disclosed in the financial statements:

a. Related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware in accordance
with the requirements of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, including
sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing arrangements, guarantees, ongoing
contractual commitments, and amounts receivable from or payable 1o related
parties. The term "related party" refers to government’s related Universities, joint
ventures, and jointly governed Universities, as defined in GASB Statement No. 14,
The Financial Reporting Entity, as amended; elected and appointed officials of the
government; its management; members of the immediate families of elected or
appointed officials of the government and its management; and other parties with
which the government may deal if one party can significantly influence the
management or operating policies of the other to an extent that one of the
transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate
interests. Another party also is a related party if it can significantly influence the
management or operating policies of the transacting parties or if it has an
ownership interest in one of the transacting parties and can significantly influence
the other to an extent that one or more of the transacting parties might be prevented
from fully pursuing its own separate interests.

b. Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the University is contingently
liable.

c.  Arrangements with financial institutions invelving compensating balances or other
arrangements involving restrictions on cash balances, lines of credit or similar
arrangements.

d.  Agreements to repurchase assets previously sold, including sales with recourse.
€. Changes in accounting principle affecting consistency.

f.  The existence of and transactions with joint ventures and other related
organizations.

The University has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or
encumbrances on such assets, nor has any asset been pledged as collateral, except as
disclosed in the footnotes to the financial statements,

The University has complied with all aspects of laws, regulations, contractual agreements,
donor restrictions, and grants that may affect the financial statements, including
noncompliance.



17.

20.

21.

22.

23

24,

The University is responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, donor restrictions,
and provisions of contracts and grant agreements applicable to the University.
Management has identified and disclosed to you all laws, regulations, donor restrictions,
and provisions of contracts and grant agreements that have a direct and material effect on
the determination of financial statement amounts.

There have been no:
a. Instances of fraud that could have a material effect on the adjustments.

b.  Allegations, either written or oral, of misstatements or other misapplication of
accounting principles in the University’s adjustments that have not been disclosed
to you in writing,

¢.  Allegations, either written or oral, of deficiencies in internal control that could have
a material effect on the University’s adjustments that have not been disclosed to
you in writing.

d. False statements affecting the University's adjustments made to you, our internal
auditors, or other auditors who have audited entities under our control upon whose
work you may be relying in connection with your audits.

There are no material transactions that have not been properly recorded in the accounting
records underlying the adjustments,

The University’s reporting entity includes all entities that are component units of the
University. Such component units have been properly presented as either blended or
discrete. Investments in joint ventures in which the University holds an equity interest
have been properly recorded on the statement of net position. The basic financial
statements disclose all other joint ventures and other related organizations.

The basic financial statements properly classify all funds and activities, including
governmental funds, which are presented in accordance with the fund type definitions in
GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type
Definitions.

All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial

Governmens, for presentation as major are identified and presented as such, and all other
funds that are presented as major are considered to be particularly important to financial
statement users by management.

Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately classified
and reported.

Billings to third-party payors comply in all material respects with applicable coding
guidelines (e.g., 1ICD-9-CM and CPT-4) and laws and regulations (including those dealing
with Medicare and Medicaid antifraud and abuse) and only reflect charges for goods and
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26.

27,

28.

29.

30.

3l

services that were medically necessary, ordered in writing by a treating physician, properly
approved by regulatory bodies (for example, the Food and Drug Administration), if
required, and properly rendered.

Amounts advanced to related entities represent valid receivables and are expected to be
recovered at some future date in accordance with the terms of related agreements.

Receivables reported in the financial statements represent valid claims against debtors
arising on or before the date of the statement of net position and have been appropriately
reduced to their estimated net realizable value,

Deposits and investment securities are properly classified and reported.

The University is responsible for determining the fair value of certain investments as
required by GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain
Investments and for External Investment Pools, as amended. The amounts reported
represent the University’s best estimate of fair value of investments required to be reported
under the Statement. The University also has disclosed the methods and significant
assumptions used to estimate the fair value of its investments, and the nature of
investments reported at amortized cost.

The University has identified and properly reported all of its derivative instruments and
any related deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources related to
hedging derivative instruments in accordance with GASB Statement No. 53, Accounting
and Financial Reporting jor Derivative Instruments. The University complied with the
requirements of GASB Statement No. 53 related to the determination of hedging derivative
instruments and the application of hedge accounting. Further, the University has disclosed
all material information about its derivative and hedging arrangement in accordance with
GASB Statement No. 53.

The estimate of fair value of derivative instruments is in compliance with GASB Statement
No. 53. For derivative instruments with fair values that are based on other than quoted
market prices, the University has disclosed the methods and significant assumptions used
to estimate those fair values,

The following information about financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk and

financial instruments with concentrations of credit risk has been properly disclosed in the
financial statements:

a.  The extent, nature, and terms of financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk;

b. The amount of credit risk of financial instruments with off-balance-sheet credit risk,
and information about the collateral supporting such financial instruments; and

c.  Significant concentrations of credit risk arising from all financial instruments and
information about the collateral supporting such financial instruments.



32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

We believe that all material expenditures or expenses that have been deferred to future
periods will be recoverable.

Capital assets, including infrastructure assets, are properly capitalized, reported and, if
applicable, depreciated. There are no liens or encumbrances on such assets, nor has any
asset been pledged as collateral, except as disclosed in the footnotes to the basic financial
statements.

The University has properly applied the requirements of GASB Statement No. 51,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Intangible Assets, including those related to the

 recognition of outlays associated with the development of internally generated computer

software.
The University has no:

a. Commitments for the purchase or sale of services or assets at prices involving
material probable loss.

b. Material amounts of obsolete, damaged, or unusable items included in the
inventories at greater than salvage values.

c.  Loss to be sustained as a result of other-than-temporary declines in the fair value of
investments.

The University has complied with all tax and debt limits and with all debt related
covenants,

We have received opinions of counsel upon each issuance of tax-exempt bonds that the
interest on such bonds is exempt from federal income taxes under section 103 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. There have been no changes in the use of
property financed with the proceeds of tax-exempt bonds, or any other occurrences,
subsequent to the issuance of such opinions, that would jeopardize the tax-exempt status of
the bonds, Provision has been made, where material, for the amount of any required
arbitrage rebate.

We believe that the actuarial assumptions and methods used to measure financial statement
liabilities and costs associated with pension and other post-employment benefits and to
determine information related to the University’s funding progress related to such benefits
for financial reporting purposes are appropriate in the University’s circumstances and that
the related actuarial valuation was prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles,

The University has identified and properly accounted for and presented all deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources.

Components of net position (net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted)
and fund balance components (nonspendable; restricted; committed; assigned; and
unassigned) are properly classified and, if applicable, approved.



41.

42,

43.

44.

45.

46.

47.

Revenues are appropriately classified in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes
in net position.

The University has identified and properly accounted for all nonexchange transactions.

Expenses have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and programs in
the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, and allocations have
been made on a reasonable basis.

Special and extraordinary items are appropriately classified and reported.

The financial statements disclose all of the matters of which we are aware that are relevant

to the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, including significant conditions and
events, and our plans.

We agree with the findings of specialists in evaluating the reserves related to the
Professional Liability and General Liability Trust Funds and have adequately considered
the qualifications of the specialist in determining the amounts and disclosures used in the
financial statements and underlying accounting records. We did not give or cause any
instructions to be given to specialists with respect to the values or amounts derived in an
attempt to bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that have had an
impact on the independence or objectivity of the specialists.

Provision, when material, has been made for:

a. Losses to be sustained from inability to fulfill any sales commitments.

b. Estimated loss to be sustained as a result of retroactive adjustments by third-party
payors under reimbursement agreements that are subject to examination, including
denied claims, changes to Diagnosis-related group (DRG) assignments, or other
classification criteria affecting reimbursement.

c. Losses to be sustained as a result of adjustments resulting from review of Medicare or
other payor claim data by the Professional Review Organization (PRO) or other
payors’ reviewers with which the University has agreements.

d. Losses to be sustained as a result of purchase commitments for inventory quantities in
excess of normal requirements or at prices in excess of the prevailing market prices.

e. Losses to be sustained as a result of other-than-temporary declines in the fair value of
investments.

f. Liabilities for physician and medical services provided to members covered under
capitation arrangements. The recorded liability includes both claims received and
unpaid as well as an estimate of the clams incurred but not reported and loss to be
sustained for commitments to provide medical services to enrollees under capitation
agreements.



48. We acknowledge our responsibility for the presentation of the supplementary information
in accordance with the applicable criteria and/or prescribed guidelines and:

a. Believe the supplementary information, including its form and content, is fairly
presented in accordance with the applicable criteria and/or prescribed guidelines.

b. The methods of measurement or presentation of the supplementary information have
not changed from those used in the prior period.

c. The significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or
presentation of the supplementary information are reasonable and appropriate in the
circumstances.

49. The University has complied with all applicable laws and regulations in adopting,
approving, and amending budgets.

50. In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have identified to you all previous
audits, attestation engagements, and other studies that relate to the objectives of this audit,
including whether related recommendations have been implemented.

51.  Management is responsible for the accuracy and propriety of all cost reports filed and all
required Medicare, Medicaid, and similar cost reports have been properly filed. All costs
reflected on such reports are appropriate and allowable under applicable reimbursement
rules and regulations and are patient related and properly allocated to applicable payors.
The reimbursement methodologies and principles employed in accordance with applicable
rules and regulations. All items required to be disclosed, including disputed costs that are
being claimed to establish a basis for a subsequent appeal, have been fully disclosed in the
cost report. Recorded third party settlements include differences between filed (and to be
filed) cost reports and calculated settlements, which are necessary based on historical
experience or new or ambiguous regulations that may be subject to differing
interpretations. While management believes the entity is entitled to all amounts claimed on
the cost reports, management also believes the amounts of these differences are
appropriate.

52, For investments in alternative investments (including hedge funds, real estate ventures,
private equity funds, etc.), management has performed an evaluation 1o determine whether
the investment should be consolidated or accounted for under the equity, fair value, or cost
method. Such evaluation included the consideration of various factors, including the legal
form of the investment (limited partnership, limited liability corporation, limited liability
partnership, trust arrangements, etc.), the level of ownership in the investment, and the
frequency with which the unit value is published and purchase and sale transactions are
permitted.

Additionally, we confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the following representations
made to you during your a-133 audit:



53.

54.

55.

56.

57.

58.

59.

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance for federal programs that provides reasonable assurance that federal awards
are administered in compliance with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts or
grant apreements,

We are responsible for understanding and complying with the requirements of laws and
regulations and the provisions of contracts and grant agreements related to each of its
federal programs.

We are responsible for taking corrective action on audit findings of the compliance audit.

We are responsible for the design and implementation of programs and controls to prevent
and detect fraud in the administration of federal programs. We have no knowledge of any
fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity’s federal programs involving:

a. Management, including management involved in the administration of federal
programs.

b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control over the administration of
federal programs.

¢. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on compliance with laws and
regulations, and provisions of contract and grant agreements related to its federal
programs.

We are responsible for the presentation of the schedule of expenditures of federal awards
(SEFA) in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 and:

a. The methods of measurement or presentation of the supplementary information have
not changed from those used in the prior period.

b. The significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or
presentation of the supplementary information are reasonable and appropriate in the
circumstances.

The University is responsible for complying, and has complied, with the requirements of
OMB Circular A-133,

The University has prepared the SEFA in accordance with the requirements of OMB
Circular A-133 and :

a. Has included all expenditures made during the year ended September 30, 2014 for all
awards provided by federal agencies in the form of grants, American Recovery and
Reinvestment Act (ARRA) awards, federal cost-reimbursement contracts, loans, loan
guarantees, property (including donated surplus property), cooperative agreements,



60.

6l.

62.

63.

64.

interest subsidies, insurance, food commodities, direct appropriations, and other
assistance.

b.  Appropriately identified and separated all ARRA awards, if any, within the SEFA.

The University has complied with requirements of laws and regulations, and the
provisions of contracts and grant agreements related to each of its federal programs.

The University has disclosed to you any interpretations of any compliance requirements
that have varying interpretations.

The University established and maintained effective internal control over compliance for
federal programs that provides reasonable assurance that federal awards are administered
in compliance with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant agreements
that could have a material effect on a federal program.

We have communicated to you all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the
design or operation of internal control over compliance that we have identified, which
could adversely affect the University’s ability to administer a major federal program in
accordance with the applicable requirements of faws, regulations, and the provisions of
contracts and grant agreements. Under standards established by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when
the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the
normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct on
a timely basis, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program.
A “material weakness” is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control
over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance
with a compliance requirement will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A “significant deficiency” is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,
in internal control over compliance with a compliance requirement that is less severe than
a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance.

We are responsible for the design and implementation of programs and controls to prevent
and detect fraud in the administration of federal programs. We have no knowledge of any
fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity’s federal programs involving:

I. Management, including management involved in the administration of federal
programs

2. Employees who have significant roles in internal control over the administration of
federal programs

3. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on compliance with laws and
regulations, and provisions of contract and grant agreements related to its federal
programs.
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66.

67.

68.

69.

70,

71.

72.

73.

74.

75.

We have identified and disclosed to you the requirements of laws, regulations, and the
provisions of contracts and grant agreements that are considered to have a direct and
material effect on each major federal program.

We have made available al} contracts and grant agreements (including amendments, if
any) and any other correspondence with federal agencies or pass-through entities related to
major federal programs.

We have identified and disclosed to you all questioned costs and any known
noncompliance  with the requirements of federal awards, including the results of other
audits or program reviews.

The University is in compliance with documentation requirements contained in the
requirements promulgated by the sponsoring Federal agencies (e.g., the Department of
Health and Human Services’ 45 CFR part 74, appendix E) for all costs charged to federal
awards, including both direct costs and indirect costs charged through indirect cost
proposals. Costs charged to Federal awards, are considered allowable under these same
requirements,

Federal financial reports and claims for advances and reimbursements are supported by the
accounting records from which the financial statements have been prepared.

The copies of federal financial reports provided to you are true copies of the reports
submitted, or electronically transmitted, to the federal agency or pass-through entity, as
applicable.

We have monitored subrecipients to determine that they have expended pass-through
assistance in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and have met the
requirements of OMB Circular A-133. If applicable, we have issued management
decisions on a timely basis after receipt of subrecipient audit reports that identified non-
compliance with laws, regulations, or the provisions of contracts or grant agreements and
has ensured that subrecipients have taken appropriate and timely corrective action on such
findings.

If applicable, we have considered the results of subrecipient audits and have made any
necessary adjustments to the University accounting records.

We are responsible for, and have accurately prepared, the summary schedule of prior audit
findings to include all findings required to be included by OMB Circular A-133.

If applicable, the University has provided you with all information on the status of the
follow-up on prior audit findings by federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities,
including all management decisions.

The University has accurately completed Part | of the data collection form.
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78,
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80,

81.

82.

83.

The University has advised you of all contracts or other agreements with service
organizations,

If applicable, the University has disclosed to you all communications from its service
organizations relating to noncompliance at the service organizations.

The University has disclosed any known noncompliance occurring subsequent to the
September 30, 2014.

The University has disclosed whether any changes in internal control over compliance or
other factors that might significantly affect internal control, including any corrective
action taken by management with regard to significant deficiencies (including material
weaknesses), have occurred subsequent to September 30, 2014.

There are no material unrecorded environmental remediation liabilities that must be
recorded and/or disclosed in the University's financial statements.

We believe that the amount recorded as due from the Health Services Foundation is fully
collectible.

The allocation of expenses incurred by the University and allocated to the Health Services
Foundation are considered a reasonable estimate of these expenses.

If the USA Research and Technology Corporation debt coverage ratio is less than | to 1,
the University will pay the Corporation’s rent equal to the amount necessary to bring the
ratioto | to L.

Further, we confirm that we are responsible for the fair presentation in the financial statements
and the related notes to the financial statements, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. We are also responsible for establishing and maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting.

Very truly yours,

University of South Alabama


















Exhibit A
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statement of Changes in Cash and Investments
Held by Trustee Pursuant to the Bond Resolutions

University Tuition Revenue Bonds, Series 1999,

University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2004,
University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2006,
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2008,

University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond, Series 2010,

University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds Series 2012-A and 2012-B,
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2013-A, 2013-B, and 2013-C,
and University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bond Series 2014-A

Year ended September 30, 2014

(In thousands)
Cash and investment transactions:
Cash receipts:
Deposits from University of South Alabama for interest and retirement of bonds $ 68,838
Proceeds from sale of investments 45,397
114,235
Cash disbursements:
Principal payments 55,326
Interest payments 13,502
Administrative fees 10
Purchases of investments 45,397
114,235
Net change in cash and investments during the year —
Total cash and investments held by trustee:
Beginning of year 3
End of year $ 3

See accompanying independent accountants’ report on applying agreed-upon procedures.



Exhibit B
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statement of Cash and Investments
Held by Trustee Pursuant to the Bond Resolutions

University Tuition Revenue Bonds, Series 1999,

University Tnition Revenue Refunding and Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2004,
University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2006,
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2008,

University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond, Series 2010,

University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2012-A and 2012-B,
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2013-A, 2013-B, and 2013-C,
and University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bond Series 2014-A

September 30, 2014
(In thousands)

Cash and investments, at cost:
Total cash and investments $ 3

See accompanying independent accountants’ report on applying agreed-upon procedures.
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2014 and 2013
(Unaudited)

Introduction

The following discussion presents an overview of the financial position and financial activities of USA Research
and Technology Corporation (the Corporation) at September 30, 2014 and 2013, and for the years then ended.
This discussion was prepared by management and should be read in conjunction with the basic financial
statements and notes thereto, which follow.

Financial Highlights

The Corporation owns three buildings in the USA Technology & Research Park (the Park) on the campus of the
University of South Alabama (the University), one building located on the premises of the USA Medical Center,
and leases one floor of a University-owned on-campus building. Housing both University and third-party tenants,
the area available for lease totals almost 228,200 square feet of gross leasable space. At September 30, 2014,
total square feet under lease was approximately 208,400. The land on which each building is located is leased
from the University. The Corporation owns another building located on the University campus, which is supplied
at no cost to the University for use as a faculty club.

The acquisitions of the buildings held for rent were originally financed entirely by commercial mortgage notes
and a promissory note with banks, secured by the ground leases, the buildings, and rent income produced by the
buildings. As part of the financing arrangement for the two buildings purchased in 2007, the Corporation entered
into a derivative transaction, which yielded a synthetic fixed interest rate on the permanent financing. As a result
of refinancing transactions, the debt is currently in the form of two promissory notes.

At September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Corporation had total assets and deferred outflows of $27,954,017,
$29,648,368, and $32,234,269, respectively; total liabilities of $27,073,811, $28,305,741, and $30,728,765,
respectively; and net positions of $880,206, $1,342,627, and $1,505,504, respectively.

An overview of each financial statement is presented herein along with a financial analysis of the transactions
impacting the financial statements. Where appropriate, comparative financial information is presented to assist in
the understanding of this analysis.

1 (Continued)



USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

September 30, 2014 and 2013

(Unaudited)

Condensed Financial Information

Condensed financial information for the Corporation as of and for the years ended September 30, 2014, 2013,

and 2012 follows (in thousands):

Condensed Schedules of Net Position

2014 2013 2012
Assets and deferred outflows:
Current $ 1,030 1,624 2,012
Capital assets - noncurrent 23,794 24,701 25,242
Other noncurrent assets 77 99 92
Deferred outflows 3,053 3,225 4,889
27,954 29,649 32,235
Liabilities:
Current 1,796 1,796 1,554
Noncurrent 25,278 26,510 29,175
27,074 28,306 30,729
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 503 284 258
Unrestricted 377 1,059 1,248
$ 880 1,343 1,506

(Continued)



USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2014 and 2013
(Unaudited)

Condensed Schedules of Revenues,
Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

2014 2013 2012
Operating revenues $ 3,506 4,011 4,003
Operating expenses:
Depreciation and amortization 1,017 981 1,133
Other 1,609 1,799 1,709
Net operating expenses 2,626 2,780 2,842
Operating income 880 1,231 1,161
Nonoperating (expenses) revenues:
Interest expense (1,351) (1,409) (1,458)
Other 8 15 (144)
Net nonoperating expenses (1,343) (1,394) (1,602)
Capital grant — — 183
Change in net position (463) (163) (258)
Beginning net position, before cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle 1,343 1,506 1,821
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle — — (57)
Beginning net position, as adjusted 1,343 1,506 1,764
Ending net position $ 880 1,343 1,506

Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations
Statement of Net Position

The statement of net position presents the assets and deferred outflows, liabilitics, and net position of the
Corporation at September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012. The net position is displayed in two parts; net investment in
capital assets and unrestricted. Unrestricted net position is available for use by the Corporation to meet current
expenses for any purpose. The statement of net position, along with all of the Corporation’s basic financial
statements, are prepared under the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting,

whereby revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred, regardless of when
cash is exchanged.

Current assets consist of cash and cash equivalents, rent receivable, prepaid expenses, and other current assets at
September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012. Noncurrent assets at September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012 consist primarily
of capital assets. Cash and cash equivalents decreased from $1,447,260 at September 30, 2013 to $760,464 at
September 30, 2014. This decrease was primarily due to one tenant’s lease that was renegotiated and became

3 (Continued)



USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2014 and 2013
(Unaudited)

effective on November 1, 2013. The renegotiation resulted in vacant space of 7,458 square feet which became
common area (this space was previously leased at the rate of $19.00 per square feet), a reduction in operating
expense reimbursements of approximately $342,000, and a transfer of 24,695 square feet to a new tenant with an
unfavorable rental rate differential of approximately $34,000.

Deferred outflows and the noncurrent liability related to the interest rate swap decreased as a result of the change
in the fair value of the swap between September 30, 2014 and 2013.

Current liabilities primarily consist of unrecognized rent revenue, accrued expenses, and the current portion of
long-term debt at September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012. Noncurrent liabilities consist of notes payable and an
interest rate swap liability.

Net position represents the residual interest in the Corporation’s assets after liabilities are deducted. Net position
is classified into one of two categories as shown on page &.

Net investment in capital assets, represent the Corporation’s capital assets less accumulated depreciation and
outstanding principal balance of the debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those
assets. To the extent debt has been incurred but the proceeds have not yet been expended for capital assets, such
amounts are not included as a component of net investment in capital assets.

Unrestricted net position, represents those assets not subject to externally imposed stipulations and are available
for use at the discretion of the board of directors for any purpose.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Changes in total Corporation net position as reported in the statement of net position are based on the activity
presented in the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. The purpose of the statement is to
present the change in net position resulting from revenues earned by the Corporation and the expenses incurred
by the Corporation.

For the years ended September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Corporation reported a change in net position of
$(462,421), $(162,877), and $(258,264), respectively. Operating revenues decreased $504,954 between fiscal
2013 and 2014 for the reasons previously stated in the Statement of Net Position discussion above. Occupancy
levels also decreased by approximately 2.2% between fiscal 2013 and 2014.

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows presents information related to cash flows of the Corporation. The statement
presents cash flows by category: operating activities, noncapital financing activities, capital and related financing
activities, and investing activities.

4 {Continued)



USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2014 and 2013
(Unaudited)

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Total capital asset additions during the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 were approximately $64,100
and $399,500, respectively. Financing was primarily provided for additions during fiscal years 2014 and 2013
through use of the Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents. See notes 3 and 6 to the basic financial statements
for further information related to capital assets and debt.

Economic Outlook

Based on leases in effect at September 30, 2014, it is expected that fiscal year 2015 results will approximate
fiscal year 2014 results. Corporation management has discussed this issue in some detail and has identified areas
of potential savings in expenses, some of which will likely occur in fiscal year 2015 and will likely favorably
impact fiscal year 2015 results. Such discussions will continue in fiscal year 2015 to further revise the plan in
response to this situation. Corporation management is not aware of any other currently known facts, decisions, or
conditions that are expected to have a significant effect on the Corporation’s financial position or results of
operations during fiscal year 2015 beyond those unknown variables having a global effect on virtually all types
of business operations.

Requests for Information

These basic financial statements are designed to provide a general overview of the Corporation and to
demonstrate the Corporation’s accountability. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this
report or requests for additional information should be addressed to Mr. Stephen H. Simmons; Vice-President for
Financial Affairs; University of South Alabama — Room 170; Mobile, Alabama 36688.









USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Statements of Net Position
September 30, 2014 and 2013

2014 2013
Assets:
Current assets;
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents $ 760,464 1,447,260
Rent receivable 263,276 167,154
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,063 9,294
Total current assets 1,029,803 1,623,708
Noncurrent assets:
Intangible assets, net 77,010 98,918
Capital assets, net 23,793,928 24,701,116
Total noncurrent assets 23,870,938 24,800,034
Deferred outflows 3,053,276 3,224,626
Total assets and deferred outflows 27,954,017 29,648,368
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Deposits, other current liabilities, and accrued expenses 197,123 356,429
Payable to University of South Alabama 44,379 7,030
Unrecognized rent revenue 494,073 430,953
Current portion of notes payable 1,060,388 1,001,743
Total current liabilities 1,795,963 1,796,155
Noncurrent liabilities:
Notes payable, excluding current portion 22,224,572 23,284,960
Interest rate swap 3,053,276 3,224,626
Total noncurrent liabilities 25,277,848 26,509,586
Total liabilities 27,073,811 28,305,741
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 503,100 283,511
Unrestricted 377,106 1,059,116
Total net position $ 880,206 1,342,627

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.



USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

2014 2013
Operating revenues $ 3,506,072 4,011,026
Total operating revenues 3,506,072 4,011,026
Operating expenses:
Building management and operating expenses 1,239,589 1,427,297
Depreciation and amortization 1,017,172 981,001
Legal and administrative fees 231,190 221,710
Insurance 137,074 149,866
Total operating expenses 2,625,025 2,779,874
Operating income 881,047 1,231,152
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment income 4,406 8,030
Interest expense (1,351,453) (1,409,274)
Donations revenue — 2,000
Other 3,579 5,215
Net nonoperating expenses (1,343,468) (1,394,029)
Change in net position (462,421) (162,877)
Net position:
Beginning of year 1,342,627 1,505,504
End of year $ 880,206 1,342,627

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.



USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Collections from lessees for rent and operating expense reimbursement 3
Payments for expenses of leasing activity
Payments to service providers and vendors for general corporate operating expenses
Security deposits refunded

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Donations received
Other

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Interest paid on notes payable
Principal repaid on notes payable
Purchases of capital assets

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Payment of leasing commissions
Investment income

Net cash used in investing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of year

End of year $

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income $
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Increase (decrease) in payable to the University of South Alabama
(Increase) decrease in rent receivables and prepaid expenses
Increase in unrecognized rent revenue
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities, except current liabilities for itcms that
are not components of operating income

Net cash provided by operating activities $

Noncash investing and capital and related financing transactions:
Increase (decrease) in capital assets due from the change in accounts payable related to
building renovations $
Increase (decrease) in interest receivable recognized as a component of
investment income
Decrease in fair value of interest rate swap liability

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

2014 2013

3,473,070 4,150,199
(1,402,078) (1,537,617)
(193,842) (233,710)
(4,554) (6,625)
1,872,596 2,372,247
— 2,000

3,579 5215
3,579 7,215
(1,353,660) (1,408,965)
(1,001,743) (946,438)
(189,084) (271,774)
(2,544,487) (2,627,177)
(24,026) (48,062)
5,542 3,065
(18,484) (44,997)
(686,796) (292,712)
1,447,260 1,739,972
760,464 1,447,260
881,047 1,231,152
1,017,172 981,001
37,349 (4,970)
(94,027) 100,717
63,120 31,013
(32,065) 33,334
1,872,596 2,372,247
(125,034) 127,714
(1,136) 4,965
(171,350) (1,663,986)
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2014 and 2013

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a)

()

Reporting Entity

The accompanying basic financial statements present the financial position and activities of the USA
Research and Technology Corporation (the Corporation), which is a component unit of the
University of South Alabama (the University), and NovALtech, LLC (NovALtech), an Alabama
single-member limited liability company whose single member is the Corporation.

NovALtech was organized in September 2010 with the purpose of providing a vehicle for the
commercialization of intellectual property owned by the University but deemed too speculative for
the University to provide funds for further development. NovALtech licenses from the University the
patent rights to such property and secks to sublicense the rights to third parties who will then fund
development with the goal of reaching commercial potential.

The financial reporting entity, as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, and amended by GASB Statement No. 39,
Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units, and GASB Statement No. 61,
The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus:, consists of the primary government and all of its
component units. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the primary
government is financially accountable and other organizations for which the nature and significance
of their relationship with the primary government arc such that exclusion would cause the financial
statements to be misleading or incomplete. Accordingly, the basic financial statements include the
accounts of the Corporation, as the primary government, and the accounts of NovALtech as a
component unit.

The Corporation has adopted GASB Statements No. 39 and No. 61, which provide criteria for
determining whether certain organizations should be reported as component units based on the nature
and significance of their relationship with the primary government, The statement also clarifies
reporting requirements for those organizations. As of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the Corporation
reports NovALtech as a blended component unit. All significant transactions among the Corporation
and its blended component unit have been eliminated.

The basic financial statements include the statements of net position, the statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position, and the statements of cash flows.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

For financial reporting purposes, and by virtue of its affiliation with the University, the Corporation
is considered a special-purpose governmental agency engaged only in business-type activities, as
defined by GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements — and Management’s Discussion
and Analysis — for State and Local Governments. Accordingly, the Corporation’s basic financial
statements have been presented using the cconomic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, revenues are recognized when eamed, and expenses are
recorded when an obligation has been incurred.
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

The Corporation prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, as prescribed by GASB, as well as all applicable pronouncements of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued through November 30, 1989 that do not
conflict with GASB pronouncements.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as demand accounts and any short-term investments that take
on the character of cash, such as a money market account, with original maturities of 90 days or less.

Capital Assets

All capital expenditures of $1,000 or more and having a useful life of two or more years are
capitalized at cost at the date of acquisition. Depreciation is recorded using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, 40 years for buildings and infrastructure, 20 years for
land improvements, 10 years for furniture and fixtures, and 5 years for other equipment. Tenant
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the asset’s useful life or the term of the related lease.
Routine repairs and maintenance are charged to operating expense in the year in which the expense
was incurred.

Intangible Assets

Leasing commissions are capitalized and amortized over the term of the related lease. Amortization
for these assets is calculated using the straight-line method.

Derivatives

The Corporation has adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 53 (GASB 33), Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments. GASB 53 establishes a framework for accounting
and financial reporting related to derivative instruments, requiring the fair value of derivatives to be
recognized in the financial statements.

The Corporation’s only derivative instrument is an interest rate swap entered into to hedge the
interest payments on its variable rate Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. note payable. The Corporation
determined the hedging relationship between the note payable and the interest rate swap to be
effective at September 30, 2014 and 2013.

12 (Continued)
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2014 and 2013

(h) Classification of Net Position

®

W

The Corporation’s net position is classified as follows:

Net investment in capital assets, reflects the Corporation’s total investment in capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation and outstanding debt obligations and accrued construction costs related to
those capital assets. To the extent debt has been incurred but the proceeds have not yet been
expended for capital assets, such amounts are not included as a component of net investment in
capital assets.

Unrestricted net position, represents resources derived from building lease activity, intellectual
property licensing activity, and investments. Neither management nor the board of directors has
designated any part of unrestricted net position for specific purposes.

Classification of Revenues

The Corporation has classified its rental and license revenues as operating revenues, as those
activities have the characteristics of exchange transactions. Rental revenues are recognized in
accordance with GASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Operating Leases with Scheduled Rent
Increases. Since license revenues are derived from exclusive licenses granting rights for the useful
life of the property, revenue is recognized at the date of the sale of the underlying intellectual

property.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In fiscal 2014, the Corporation adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 66, Technical
Corrections — 2012. GASB Statement No. 66 resolves conflicting guidance that resulted from the
issuance of GASB Statements No. 54 and 62. The adoption of this statement had no impact on the
Corporation.

Income Taxes

The Corporation is classified as a tax-exempt entity under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as
an organization described in Section 501(c)(3). NovALtech, from the date beginning with its organization
through June 30, 2011, was treated as a disregarded entity for income tax purposes and its net income was
treated as net income of the Corporation. Beginning July 1, 2011, NovALtech clected to be treated as an
association taxable as a corporation. NovALtech had no net income for the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2014 and 2013. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been made in the
accompanying basic financial statements.
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Capital Assets

Changes in capital assets for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Land improvements $
Buildings

Tenant improvements

Other equipment

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements
Buildings
Tenant improvements
Other equipment

Capital assets, net §

Land improvements ]
Buildings

Tenant improvements

Other equipment

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements
Buildings
Tenant improvements
Other equipment

Capital assets, net §

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2014 and 2013

October 1, September 30,
2013 Additions Transfers Reductions 2014
2,199,402 — —_ o 2,199,402
27,897,506 18,595 — — 27,916,101
868,332 45,455 — — 913,787
256,509 — — — 256,509
31,221,749 64,050 — — 31,285,799
(841,536) (94,014) — — (935,550)
(5,146,035) (720,790) — — (5,866,825)
(417,466) (130,477) — — (547,943)
(115,596) (25,957) — — (141,553)
(6,520,633) (971,238) — — (7,491,871)
24,701,116 (907,188) — — 23,793,928
October 1, September 30,
2012 Additions Transfers Reductions 2013
2,200,802 —— (1,400) — 2,199,402
27,668,474 235,413 (6,381) — 27,897,506
742,030 164,075 7,781 (45,554) 868,332
256,509 — — — 256,509
30,867,815 399,488 — (45,554) 31,221,749
(747,523) (94,013) — — (841,536)
(4,261,180) (701,928) (182,927) — (5,146,035)
(527,901) (118,046) 182,927 45,554 (417,466)
(89,639) (25,957) — — (115,596)
(5,626,243) (939,944) — 45,554 (6,520,633)
25,241,572 (540,456) — — 24,701,116

Property Taxes

The Corporation has received notice from the Mobile County Revenue Commissioner that the property of
the Corporation is exempt from property taxes. Accordingly, property taxes have not been recorded in the
accompanying basic financial statements.

14

(Continued)



&)

(6)

USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Noncurrent Liabilities
Changes in noncurrent liabilities for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Less amounts

October 1, September 30, due within Noncurrent

2013 Additions Reductions 2014 one year liabilities
Notes payable $ 24,286,703 — (1,001,743) 23,284,960 1,060,388 22,224,572
Interest rate swap 3,224,626 e (171,350) 3,053,276 — 3,053,276
Total $ 27,511,329 — (1,173,093) 26,338,236 1,060,388 25,277,848

Less amounts

October 1, September 30, due within Noncurrent

2012 Additions Reductions 2013 one year liabilities
Notes payable $§ 25,233,141 — (946,438) 24,286,703 1,001,743 23,284,960
Interest rate swap 4,888,612 — (1,663,986) 3,224,626 — 3,224,626
Total $ 30,121,753 — (2,610,424) 27,511,329 1,001,743 26,509,586

Notes Payable
(a) Notes Payable
Notes payable consisted of the following at September 30, 2014 and 2013:

2014 2013
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. promissory note, one-month
LIBOR plus 0.85% (1.007% at September 30,
2014) payable through 2028 $ 14,470,878 15,127,914
PNC Bank promissory note, 4.88%, payable through
2021 8,814,082 9,158,789
§ 23,284,960 24,286,703

The note payable to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. was incurred by the Corporation to acquire Buildings IT
and III in the USA Technology & Research Park and to provide funds for renovations and tenant
finishing costs. The loan is a fully amortizing promissory note with a 20-year term. As more fully
described in note 6(c), the Corporation entered into a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” type of interest
rate swap on the promissory note, which will yield a synthetic fixed interest rate of 6.1%. The
promissory note payable is secured by an interest in the ground lease with respect to the parcels of
land on which Buildings IT and III stand, an interest in Buildings II and III, an interest in tenant
leases for Buildings II and III, and an interest in income received from rental of Buildings 1I and III.

The promissory note payable to PNC Bank has a 10-year term and amortization is based on a 20-year
term. PNC Bank acquired the promissory note as part of its acquisition of RBC Bank (USA) on
March 20, 2012, The Corporation agreed to not transfer or encumber the buildings or its leasehold
interest in the real estate on which the buildings stand. The promissory note payable is secured by an
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

interest in tenant leases for Building I and the dialysis services building, and an interest in income
received from rental of Building I and the dialysis services building.

In connection with each note, the University entered into an agreement with the lender providing that
for any year in which the Corporation’s debt service coverage ratio is less than 1 to 1, the University
will pay the Corporation rent equal to the amount necessary to bring the ratio to 1 to 1. The debt
service coverage ratio is calculated by dividing the sum of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year (reduced by current year capital assets additions) and current year change
in net position (determined without depreciation, amortization, and interest expenses) by current year
debt service. For fiscal 2014, the Corporation’s debt service coverage ratio was 1.34 to 1.
Management believes the Corporation was in compliance with its debt covenants, including the debt
service coverage ratio covenant, at September 30, 2014. Further, management believes that, based on
existing leases and service contracts and agreements, the debt service coverage ratio for fiscal 2015
will be less than the fiscal 2014 debt service coverage ratio of 1.34 to 1, but will still exceed 1 to 1.

Debt Service on Long-Term Obligations

At September 30, 2014, total debt service by fiscal year is as follows:

Debt service on note and loan

Principal Interest Total

2015 $ 1,060,388 1,295,015 2,355,403
2016 1,117,989 1,237,414 2,355,403
2017 1,186,201 1,169,202 2,355,403
2018 1,250,455 1,104,948 2,355,403
2019 1,332,639 1,022,764 2,355,403
2020 —2024 12,192,374 2,903,937 15,096,311
2025 -2028 5,144,914 616,847 5,761,761

Total $ 23,284,960 9,350,127 32,635,087

Derivative Transaction

The Corporation is a party to a derivative with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., the counterparty (successor
to Wachovia Bank, N.A. the original counterparty). The derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed”
interest rate swap entered into in connection with the promissory note to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,

Objective of the derivative transaction. The Corporation utilizes the interest rate swap to convert its
variable rate on the promissory note to a synthetic fixed rate.

The swap will terminate on May 1, 2028, when the loan matures. The notional amount of the swap
will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of the loan. Under the swap, the Corporation
pays the counterparty a fixed payment of 6.10% and receives a variable payment of the one-month
LIBOR rate plus 0.85%. Conversely, the loan bears interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus
0.85%. The Corporation paid §762,395 and $788,738 under the interest rate swap agreement for the
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, which is reflected as an increase in interest
expense.

Fair value. The interest rate swap had a negative fair value of $(3,053,276) and $(3,224,626) at
September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The changes in fair value are reported as a deferred
outflows on the statements of net position since the interest rate swap is a hedging derivative
instrument.

The fair value of the interest rate swap was estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method
calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming that the current forward
rates implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are
then discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-coupon
bonds due on the date of each future net settlement.

Interest rate risk. On the Corporation’s “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate swap, as LIBOR
decreases, the net payment on the swap increases,

Credit risk. As of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the Corporation was not exposed to credit risk on
the interest rate swap because it had a negative fair value. However, if interest rates change and the
fair value of the derivative becomes positive, the Corporation would have a gross exposure to credit
risk in the amount of the derivative’s fair value. The counterparty was rated Aa3 and Aa3 by
Moody’s Investors Services and AA — and AA — by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services as of
September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Termination risk. The interest rate swap contracts use the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc. Master Agreement, which includes standard default and termination events, such as
failure to make payments, breach of agreement, and bankruptcy. At September 30, 2014 and 2013,
no events of default or termination had occurred. If the interest rate swap is terminated, interest rate
risk associated with the variable rate debt would no longer be hedged. Also, if at the time of
termination the interest rate swap had a negative fair value, the Corporation would be liable to the
counterparty for a payment equal to the interest rate swap’s fair value. To allow the Corporation the
maximum flexibility to manage the utilization of Buildings II and III while at the same time
providing protection for the counterparty, the Corporation granted the counterparty a $2,000,000
mortgage secured by an interest in the ground lease with respect to the parcel of land on which
Building Il stands, an interest in Building 11, a security interest in Building II tenant leases, and a
security interest in income received from rental of Building II.
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2014 and 2013

Derivative payments and hedged debt. As interest rates fluctuate, variable rate debt interest and net
derivative payments will fluctuate. Using interest rates as of September 30, 2014, debt service
requirements by fiscal year of the variable rate debt and net derivative payments, assuming current
interest rates remain the same in the future, are as follows:

Variable rate loan Interest rate
Principal Interest swap, net Total

2015 $ 698,478 144,102 728,809 1,571,389
2016 738,017 137,575 695,797 1,571,389
2017 787,266 129,444 654,679 1,571,389
2018 831,611 122,124 617,654 1,571,389
2019 892,892 112,008 566,489 1,571,389
2020 - 2024 5,377,700 409,278 2,069,964 7,856,942
2025 -2028 5,144,914 101,830 515,017 5,761,761

Total $ 14,470,878 1,156,361 5,848,409 21,475,648

Leases

The Corporation leases space in Building I to three tenants under operating leases. One lease has a 5-year
initial term expiring in October 2018 with two 5-year renewal options. Another lease has a 10-year initial
term expiring in May 2021, an option to cancel at the end of 6 years, and two 5-year renewal options. The
third lease has a 67-month initial term expiring in December 2018 with no renewal options.

Space in Buildings II and III is leased under operating leases to the University and various other tenants.
The leases have terms varying from month-to-month to ten years.

The Corporation leases from the University the third floor of a campus building. Located on that floor is
the Coastal Innovation Hub (the “Hub”), a technology incubator, which currently houses three tenants with
month-to-month leases.

Under leases for Buildings I, II, and II, the Corporation must pay all operating expenses of the buildings,
including utilities, janitorial, maintenance, property taxes, and insurance. Tenants will reimburse the
Corporation for such expenses only as the total expenses for a year increase over the total expenses for the
base year of the lease (the Corporation’s fiscal year beginning after the date the lease is signed). Under
Hub leases, the Corporation must pay all operating expenses of the space, without reimbursement from
tenants.

Space under lease to the University was 46,700 and 48,900 square feet at September 30, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

The Corporation owns a building located on the premises of the USA Medical Center, which is leased to a
single tenant. The Corporation paid for construction of the building shell and land improvements while the
tenant paid for the cost of finishing the building’s interior. The lease has a 10-year initial term expiring in
March 2020 with three 5-year renewal options. Under the lease, the tenant must also pay for utilities, taxes,
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2014 and 2013

insurance, and interior repairs and maintenance. The Corporation is responsible for repairs and
maintenance to the exterior and HVAC system.

The Corporation, as lessor, had three ground leases in place at September 30, 2014 and 2013. One lease is
for a 40-year initial term expiring in October 2046 with 20-year, and 15-year renewal options. The second
lease is for a 30-year initial term expiring in October 2046 with four 5-year renewal options. The third
lease has a 38.5-year initial term expiring in September 2036 with 20-year and 15-year renewal options.

Minimum future rentals by fiscal years are as follows:

2015 h) 2,453,924
2016 1,893,712
2017 1,831,629
2018 1,720,640
2019 1,116,013
2020 - 2046 7,623,246

Total $ 16,639,164

Related Parties
University of South Alabama

The Corporation was formed exclusively for the purpose of supporting the educational and scientific
research missions of the University. To ensure this relationship continues, the Corporation’s bylaws
provide its directors will be either University trustees or employees, or approved by the University Board
of Trustees.

During fiscals 2014 and 2013, the Corporation engaged in several transactions with the University, The
University was charged $731,429 and $760,726 during the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013,
respectively, for rental space as described in note 7. The University provides certain administrative and
other support services to the Corporation, for which the University charged $163,282 and $155,282 for
such services during fiscal years 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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September 30, 2014 and 2013

The Corporation is a party to one license agreement and NovALtech is a party to three license agreements
with the University for the licensing of patent rights pertaining to certain intellectual property and
technology owned by the University which had been developed by faculty of the University. The license
granted by each agreement is exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable, and royalty-bearing. Each agreement
provides for payment to the University of royalties on product sales and a percentage of net income from
sublicensing (such net income excluding fees, milestone payments and incurred patenting costs). In
addition, one of the agreements provides for payment to the University of milestone payments. No
conditions occurred during fiscal year 2014 causing either the Corporation or NovALtech to either make
payments to or incur a liability to the University under the agreements. Also, the Corporation and
NovALtech sublicensed certain patent rights obtained under two of the licenses to third parties under
exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable, royalty-bearing license agreements. Under those agreements, the third
parties agreed to pay the Corporation and NovALtech a $1,000 payment due at execution, milestone
payments in the case of one license, royalties on product sales, annual maintenance payments in the case of
one license, and a percentage of sublicensing revenues (excluding royalties). During fiscal 2014, no
conditions occurred causing the third party to either pay to or incur a liability to the Corporation or
NovALtech under the agreements.

The Corporation entered into ground leases with the University for approximately 39 acres of land for
$1.00 per year in connection with the acquisition or construction of buildings held for lease.
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Board Members and Officials
October 1, 2012 through September 30, 2013

Board Members Term Expires
Hon. Robert Bentley, President,

Governor Ex-Officio
Hon. Tommy R. Bice, Ed.D., Member,

State Superintendent of Education Ex-Officio
Hon. Steven P. Furr, M.D. Chair Pro Tempore 2017
Hon. Kenneth O. Simon Vice-Chair 2013
Hon. James H. Shumock Secretary 2021
Hon. J. Cecil Gardner Member 2013
Hon. Samuel L. Jones Member 2013
Hon. Christie D. Miree Member 2013
Hon. Bryant Mixon Member 2013
Hon. Bettye R. Maye Member 2017
Hon. John M. Peek Member 2017
Hon. Steven H. Stokes, M.D. Member 2017
Hon. James A. Yance Member 2021
Hon. Scott A. Charlton, M.D. Member 2021
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Board Members Term Expires
Hon. E. Thomas Corcoran Member 2021
Hon. Arlene Mitchell Member 2021
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Mr. Stephen H. Simmons Vice-President for

Financial Affairs

Mr. William Bush Assistant Vice-President
for Hospital Financial Affairs
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

September 11, 2014
2:36 p.m.

A meeting of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees Budget and Finance Committee
was duly convened by Mr. Tom Corcoran, Chair, on Thursday, September 11, 2014, at 2:36 p.m.
in the Board Room of the Frederick P. Whiddon Administration Building.

Members Present:  Tom Corcoran, Arlene Mitchell, Jimmy Shumock, Sandy Stimpson,
Steve Stokes and Jim Yance.

Other Trustees: Chandra Brown Stewart, Steve Furr, Ron Jenkins, Bettye Maye,
John Peek, Ken Simon and Mike Windom.

Administration Joe Busta, Lynne Chronister, Joel Erdmann, Julie Estis (Faculty Senate),
and Others: Ron Franks, Happy Fulford, Stan Hammack, David Johnson,
Doug Marshall (Faculty Senate), Steve Simmons, John Smith,
Tony Waldrop, Jean Tucker, Danielle Watson (SGA), Kevin West
(Faculty Senate) and Kelly Woodford (Faculty Senate).

Press: Sally Ericson (Press-Register/al.com).

The meeting came to order and the attendance roll was called. Mr. Corcoran, Committee Chair,
called for consideration of the revised agenda. On motion by Mr. Yance, seconded by
Mr. Shumock, the revised agenda was approved unanimously.

Mr. Corcoran called upon Ms. Chronister for presentation of ITEM 12.A, a resolution to elect
Mr. Danny K. Patterson and Ms. Cheryl Coleman Williams as directors of the USA Research and
Technology Corporation (RTC) for four-year terms effective September 2014 (for copies of
resolutions, policies and other authorized documents, refer to the minutes of the September 12
Board of Trustees meeting). Ms. Chronister shared biographical details, noting that these
individuals currently fill seats on the RTC Board. On motion by Mr. Corcoran, seconded by Mr.
Shumock, the Committee voted unanimously to recommend approval by the Board of Trustees.

Mr. Corcoran called upon Mr. Simmons for presentation of ITEM 13, a resolution to adopt the
University Total Budget for 2014-2015, which includes the University General Budget and the
USA Health System Budget. Further stipulated is that the 2014-2015 budget would serve as a
continuation budget for 2015-2016 to comply with bond trust indenture requirements should the
budget process not be completed prior to the 2015-2016 fiscal year. Mr. Simmons enumerated
budget highlights as shown in the printed materials. He advised that the methods for budget
development would be updated beginning with fiscal year 2015-2016. He said the five percent
enrollment increase generated additional revenue of $3.5 million, and he stated additional faculty
had been added to USA’s workforce. He discussed a modest increase in the monthly premiums
employees pay for health insurance to be effective in January 2015 -- $3 for single coverage and
$10 for family coverage. He emphasized the strength of the USA Health Plan. He reminded
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the Committee of enhancements to USA’s scholarship program, and noted the budget proposal
contains a recommended two-percent, across-the-board raise for eligible employees, which
includes the USA Health System. He said the University general budget has a $2 million
contingency for President Waldrop to institute new programs, and the hospital budget includes a
contingency for Medicaid uncertainties. He noted that the budget recommendation is sound and
balanced. On motion by Mr. Corcoran, seconded by Dr. Stokes, the Committee voted
unanimously to recommend approval by the Board of Trustees.

Mr. Simmons addressed ITEM 14, a resolution to approve a two-percent increase for eligible
current salaried or hourly regular administrators and faculty employed prior to August 15, 2014,
and eligible current salaried or hourly regular staff employed on or before the effective date of
January 1, 2015. He pointed out that other small groups not cligible for this raise, such as
medical residents, are paid using a different compensation model. On motion by Mr. Corcoran,
seconded by Ms. Mitchell, the Committee voted unanimously to recommend approval by the
Board of Trustees.

Mr. Simmons presented ITEM 12, the quarterly financial statements for the nine months ended
June 2014. He described the University’s financial position as positive, noting assets in excess
of $1 billion. He remarked on losses reported by Children’s & Women’s Hospital due to
Medicaid methodologies. He added that work continues in Montgomery on Medicaid
restructuring.

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 2:48 p.m.

Respectfully submitted:

E. Thomas Corcoran, Chair
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Introduction

The following discussion presents an overview of the financial position and financial activities of the University
of South Alabama (the University), including the University of South Alabama Hospitals (the Hospitals), a
division of the University, at September 30, 2014 and 2013 and for the years then ended. This discussion was
prepared by University management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes
thereto, which follow.

The basic financial statements of the University consist of the University and its component units. The financial
position and results of operations of the component units are either blended with the University’s financial
position and results of operations or are discretely presented. The treatment of each component unit is governed
by pronouncements issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. As more fully described in note 1
to the basic financial statements, the University of South Alabama Professional Liability Trust Fund, University
of South Alabama General Liability Trust Fund and USA HealthCare Management, LLC are reported as blended
component units. The University of South Alabama Foundation, the University of South Alabama Health
Services Foundation, and the USA Research and Technology Corporation are discretely presented.

Financial Highlights

At September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the University had total assets of $1,055,286,000, $1,042,345,000, and
$983,800,000, respectively; total liabilities and deferred inflows of $555,736,000, $549,355,000, and
$530,289,000, respectively; and net position of $499,550,000, $492,990,000, and $453,511,000, respectively.
University net position increased by $6,560,000 during the year ended September 30, 2014 compared to an
increase of $39,479,000 for the year ended September 30, 2013 and an increase of $38,389,000 for the year
ended September 30, 2012,

An overview of each statement is presented herein along with a financial analysis of the transactions impacting
each statement. Where appropriate, comparative financial information is presented to assist in the understanding
of this analysis.

Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations
Statement of Net Position

The statement of net position presents the assets, liabilities, deferred inflows and net position of the University at
September 30, 2014 and 2013. Net position is displayed in three parts: net investment in capital assets, restricted
and unrestricted. Restricted net position may either be expendable or nonexpendable and is that net position that
is restricted by law or external donor. Unrestricted net position is generally designated for specific purposes, and
1s available for use by the University to meet current expenses for any purpose. The statement of net position,
along with all of the University’s basic financial statements, is prepared under the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, whereby revenues are recognized when eamed and
expenses are recognized when incurred by the University, regardless of when cash is exchanged.

Assets included in the statement of net position are classified as current or noncurrent. Current assets consist
primarily of cash and cash equivalents, investments, and net patient accounts receivable. Of these amounts, cash
and cash equivalents, investments, and patient accounts receivable comprise approximately 29%, 50%, and 10%,

1 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

respectively, of current assets at September 30, 2014. Noncurrent assets at September 30, 2014 consist primarily

of capital assets, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and restricted investments.

The Condensed Schedules of Net Position at September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012 follow (in thousands):

Condensed Schedules of Net Position

Assets;
Current
Capital assets
Other noncurrent

Total assets
Liabilities:
Current
Noncurrent
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows
Total liabilities and deferred inflows

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted, nonexpendable
Restricted, expendable
Unrestricted

Total net position

$

2014 2013 2012
303,272 333,828 292,041
578,303 565,830 533,199
173,711 142,687 158,560

1,055,286 1,042,345 983,800
120,646 115,149 115,088
434,913 434,206 415,201
555,559 549,355 530,289

177 — —
555,736 549,355 530,289
237,851 227,464 227,029
40,191 36,864 33,825
60,873 54,364 48,201
160,635 174,298 144,456
499,550 492,990 453,511

University cash, cash equivalents, and investments (current and noncurrent) increased between September 30,
2013 and 2014 by $8,497,000 to $403,965,000. This increase is consistent with the results of operations for the
year. This follows an increase of $47,820,000 in cash, cash equivalents, and investments between 2012 and 2013,
which was due primarily to the issuance of the 2013-A, 2013-B and 2013-C bonds, net of utilization of cash from

prior bond issues for various construction projects.

(Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Total assets of the University as of September 30 are as follows:

Total University Assets

£ $1,500
S

S

g $1,000

2

£ $500

S

$- v

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
September 30,

Net position represents the residual interest in the University’s assets after liabilities are deducted. Net position is
classified into one of four categories:

Net investment in capital assets represents the University’s capital assets less accumulated depreciation and
outstanding principal balances of the debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those
assets.

Restricted nonexpendable net position consists primarily of the University’s permanent endowment funds. While
earnings from these funds may be expended, the corpus may not be expended for any reason and must remain
intact with the University in perpetuity.

Restricted expendable net position is subject to externally imposed restrictions governing their use. The funds are
restricted primarily for debt service, capital projects, student loans, and scholarship purposes.

Unrestricted net position represents those net assets not subject to externally imposed stipulations. Even though
these funds are not legally restricted, the majority of the University’s unrestricted net position has been internally
designated for various projects, all supporting the mission of the University. Unrestricted net position includes
funds for various academic and research programs, auxiliary operations (including the bookstore, student housing
and dining services), student programs, capital projects and general operations.

3 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Net position of the University as of September 30 is as follows:

Net Position

$500

$400

3300

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Millions of Dollers

September 30,

All categories of restricted net position increased by approximately 11% between September 30, 2013 and 2014,
primarily due to the addition of restricted gifts to the University. Unrestricted net position decreased from
$174,298,000 to $160,635,000 between September 30, 2013 and 2014 due primarily to changes in the fair value
of the 2004 and 2006 swaptions.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Changes in total University net position as reported in the statement of net position are based on the activity
presented in the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. The purpose of this statement is to
present the change in net position resulting from revenues earned by the University, both operating and
nonoperating, and the expenses incurred by the University, both operating and nonoperating, as well as any other
revenues, expenses, gains, and losses eamed or incurred by the University.

Generally, operating revenues have the characteristics of exchange transactions and are received or accrued for
providing goods and services to the various customers and constituencies of the University. These include
hospital patient care services, tuition and fees (net of scholarship discounts and allowances), most noncapital
grants and contracts and revenues from auxiliary activities and sales and services of educational activities
(primarily athletic activities). Operating expenses are those expenses paid or incurred to acquire or produce the
goods and services provided in return for the operating revenues, and to carry out the mission of the University.

Nonoperating revenues have the characteristics of nonexchange transactions and are revenues generally eamed
for which goods and services are not provided, such as investment income, capital appropriations, gifts and other
contributions. State appropriations are required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board to be
classified as nonoperating revenues. Nonoperating expenses are those expenses required in the operation and
administration of the University, but not directly incurred to acquire or produce the goods and services provided
in return for operating revenues. Such nonoperating expenses include interest on the University’s indebtedness

and losses related to the disposition of capital assets.

4 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

The Condensed Schedules of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position for the years ended

September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012 follow (in thousands):

Condensed Schedules of Revenues, Expenses,

and Changes in Net Position

2014 2013 2012
Operating revenues:
Tuition and fees 3 104,448 95,709 88,299
Net patient service revenue 268,449 258,207 247,802
Federal, state and private grants and contracts 76,719 77,302 76,448
Other 54,010 52,388 56,579
503,626 483,606 469,128
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 419,966 401,872 396,170
Supplies and other services 158,615 148,597 134,841
Other 55,397 51,651 51,222
633,978 602,120 582,233
Operating loss (130,352) (118,514) (113,105)
Nonoperating revenues:
State appropriations 103,695 102,585 105,639
Investment income 8,206 28,159 14,561
Other, net 14,475 11,986 12,197
Net nonoperating revenues 126,376 142,730 132,397
Income (loss) before capital
appropriations, capital
contributions and additions to
endowment (3,976) 24216 19,292
Capital appropriations, capital contributions
and additions to endowment 10,536 15,263 19,097
Change in net position 6,560 39,479 38,389
Beginning net position, before cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle 492,990 453,511 416,896
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle — — (1,774
Beginning net position — as adjusted 492,990 453,511 415,122
Ending net position $ 499,550 492,990 453,511

In 2014, 2013, and 2012, approximately 40%, 39%, and 39%, respectively, of total revenues of the University
were net patient service revenue. Excluding net patient service revenue, net tuition and fees charged to students
represent the largest component of total university revenues, approximately 16% of total revenues in fiscal 2014.

5
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Also in 2014, state appropriations and grants and contracts (federal, state and private) represented approximately
16% and 12% of total revenues, respectively.

A summary of University revenues for the year ended September 30, 2014 is presented below:

Total Revenues

State appropriations
16%

Auxiliary enterprises
3%

Tuition & fees
16%
Grants and contracts
12%

Patient services revenues
40%

Tuition and fees have increased in each of the last ten years. These increases are due primarily to increases in
tuition and fee rates charged to students as well as to an increase in the number of students enrolled and credit
hours taken by those students. Additionally, net tuition and fees as a percent of total operating revenues continue
to increase, from 9.5% of operating revenues in 2002 to 20.8% in 2014. Tuition and fees, gross and net of
scholarship allowances, for the past ten fiscal years are as follows:

Tuition and Fee Revenue

. $120

=

z

A $80 B Gross
Q

£ s40 - Net
=

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Capital contributions and grants decreased from $10,871,000 in 2013 to $790,000 in 2014 due to a decrease in
grant funds received for construction of Shelby Hall and the ABSL-3 Laboratory Building. The University
recognized $3,482,000 in capital appropriations in 2014, compared to $1,236,000 in 2013. The 2014 and 2013
appropriations were utilized in the renovation of the Student Center.

6 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

University expenses are presented using their natural expense classifications. A summary of University expenses
for the year ended September 30, 2014 is presented below:

Total Expenses

Salaries & benefits
64%

Supplies & other services
24%

Interest and other non-
operating
4%

Scholarships &
fellowships
Utilities 1%

Depreciation 2%

5%

While the University reports its expenses on a natural expense classification basis, functional classifications
represent cxpenses categorized based on the function within the University. Such University functions include
instruction, research, public service, academic support, student services, institutional support, scholarships, and
operation and maintenance of plant. Expenses related to auxiliary enterprise activities and the hospitals are
presented separately. Functional expense information is presented in note 16 to the basic financial statements.

In 2014, 2013, and 2012, approximately 66%, 67% and 68%, respectively, of the University’s total operating
expenses were salaries and benefits. After steady increases from 2005 to 2008, salaries and benefits have been

relatively constant since 2008, as follows:

Total Salaries and Benefits Expense

$500 -
: $400 |
3
£ 300
I s
g $200
= $100

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2008 2008 2007 2006 2005

For the years ended September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the University reported operating losses of
approximately $130,352,000, $118,514,000, and $113,105,000, respectively. Operating losses are offset partially
by state appropriations, which are reported as nonoperating revenue. After adding state appropriations and other
nonoperating revenues and expenses, (primarily capital appropriations, capital contributions, and additions to

7 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

endowment) the total change in net position was approximately $6,560,000, $39,479,000, and $38,389,000, for
the years ended September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

The Hospitals represent a significant portion of total University revenues and expenses and have remained
relatively constant over the past four years. Operating hospital revenues and expenses for the last ten fiscal years
are presented below:

Hospital Operating Revenues and Expenses

$300

$250 g
- - B Revenues
Expenses
$150

$100
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Millions of Dollars

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows presents information related to cash flows of the University. This statement presents
cash flows by category: operating activities, noncapital financing activities, capital and related financing
activities and investing activities. The net cash provided to, or used by, the University is presented by category.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Total capital asset additions for the University were approximately $44,237,000 in 2014. During 2014, New Hall
(residence hall) and a major renovation of the Student Center were placed into service. Significant construction
projects that remain in progress at September 30, 2014 included a new professional medical office building. The
expansion of Children’s and Women’s Hospital was substantially completed in 2014. Major projects completed
and placed into service in fiscal 2012 and 2013 included the Campus Entrance Portals, Stokes Hall and a major
renovation of the Bookstore. At September 30, 2014, the University had outstanding commitments of
approximately $3,468,000 for various capital projects.

In a prior year, the State of Alabama made allocations from state bond issues to the University in the amount of
$21,332,000. During 2014, $3,482,000 was recognized by the University and is reported as a capital
appropriation. $112,000 remains unspent at September 30, 2014.

In June 2013, the University issued the University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds,
Series 2013-A, 2013-B and 2013-C, with a total face value of $50,000,000. The net proceeds of these bonds are
being used to fund the construction of a new professional medical office building as well as other construction
and other capital projects on the main campus of the University.

In March 2014, the University issued the University Facilitics Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2014-A, with a
face value of $41,245,000. The proceeds of this bond were used to refund the University’s Series 2004 bonds in
connection with the termination of the swaption, as discussed below.

8 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabarna)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
Septernber 30, 2014 and 2013

In order to realize debt service savings currently from future debt refunding, in January 2008, the University
entered into a synthetic advance refunding of the outstanding Series 2004 and 2006 bonds. This transaction was
effected through the sale of two swaptions by the University to the counterparty and resulted in an up-front
payment to the University totaling $9,328,000 in exchange for selling the counterparty the option to enter into an
interest rate swap with respect to the Series 2004 and 2006 bonds. A portion of this payment was considered a
borrowing and was included in the long-term debt of the University. The fair value component of the refunding
associated with the swaps was considered an investment derivative and, as such, the change in the fair value
component was reflected as a component of investment income in 2014, 2013 and 2012.

In December 2013, the counterparty exercised its option with respect to the 2004 swaption and forced the
University into an underlying swap. The University refunded its Series 2004 bonds, issued the 2014-A variable
rate bond and terminated the Series 2004 swaption. As a result of this termination, the borrowing arising from the
Series 2004 swaption of $1,696,000 and the investment derivative of $5,213,000 were written off and an
investment loss of $2,229,000 was recognized. A borrowing arising from the 2014 swap of $9,138,000 was
recognized and is reported in the statement of net position at September 30, 2014,

The University’s bond credit rating is Al as rated by Moody’s Investors Services and A+ as rated by Standard
and Poor’s Rating Services. Neither rate changed during 2014.

Economic Outlook

Student enrollment and tuition and fee rates have both increased over the past thirteen years. The University has
experienced an increase in enrollment between 2000 and 2014, from 11,870 in 2000 to 16,055 for the 2014 fall
semester. The enrollment trend for the University between 2000 and 2014 is as follows:

Enrollment Growth Summary
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

In that same time period, in-state tuition per credit hour has increased by approximately 222%. The large increase
in 2010 is the result of the University’s bundling of tuition and required fees into a single per-hour charge.
Similar increases have been experienced in out-of-state tuition and College of Medicine tuition. The trend of
in-statetuition per credit hour between 2000 and 2014 is as follows:

Tuition per Credit Hour
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While enrollment and tuition have both increased in recent years, state appropriations prior to 2006 were
relatively flat. However, in the 2008, 2007 and 2006 fiscal years, the University experienced increases of 16%,
19% and 17%, respectively, or approximately $19,349,000, $19,185,000 and $14,581,000, respectively, in its
state appropriation. These increases were unusually high. For the 2009 fiscal year, the University’s original state
appropriation decreased 12.8% or approximately $17,882,000. Additionally, in December 2008 the Governor of
Alabama announced proration of 9%, or approximately $10,967,000; and in July 2009, the Governor announced
additional proration of 2%, or approximately $2,437,000. Therefore, the total decrease in the 2009 state
appropriation was approximately $31,286,000 to $108,451,000, or 22.4% lower than in 2008.

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $105,639,000 was authorized for the year ended
September 30, 2012. In February 2011, the Governor announced proration of 3%, or approximately $2,999,000,
that reduced the amount received to $96,948,000.

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $102,585,000 was authorized and received for the year
ended September 30, 2013.

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $103,695,000 was authorized and received for the year
ended September 30, 2014,

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $103,974,000 has been authorized for the year ending
September 30, 2015. This represents a $279,000 increase from the fiscal 2014 appropriation received. While no
announcement has been made, the University is aware that reductions in its 2015 appropriation are possible.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2014 and 2013

The ten-year trend of state appropriations for the University is as follows:

State Appropriations - Ten-year Trend
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In addition to state appropriations, the University is subject to declines in general economic conditions in the
United States and, specifically, the State of Alabama. Further weakening of the economy could have a potential
further negative impact on the University’s enrollment, extramural funding, endowment performance, and health
care operations.

Other than the issues presented above, University administration is not aware of any other currently known facts,
decisions, or conditions that are expected to have a significant effect on the University’s financial position or
results of operations during fiscal year 2015 beyond those unknown variables having a global effect on virtually
all types of business operations.

Requests for Information

These basic financial statements are designed to provide a general overview of the University of South Alabama
and its component units’ financial activities and to demonstrate the University’s accountability. Questions
concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be
addressed to Mr. Stephen H. Simmons; Vice-President for Financial Affairs; University of South Alabama —
Room 170; Mobile, Alabama 36688. These basic financial statements can be obtained from our website at
http:www.southalabama.edu/financialaffairs/businessoffice/statements.htm].
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Net Position
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Total net position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

(In thousands)
2014 2013
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents § 88,317 137,610
Investments 152,776 130,694
Net patient accounts receivable, (net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $54,106 in 2014 and $51,159 in 2013) 30,344 29,053
Accounts receivable, affiliates 10,432 17,283
Accounts receivable, other 6,619 2,147
Notes receivable, net 4,229 6,545
Prepaid expenses, inventories, and other 10,555 10,496
Total current assets 303,272 333,828
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 43,692 86,135
Restricted investments 87,646 40,553
Investments 31,534 476
Accounts receivable 3,573 4,580
Notes receivable, net 4,813 8,529
Other noncurrent assets 2,453 2,414
Capital assets, net 578,303 565,830
Total noncurrent assets 752,014 708,517
Total assets 1,055,286 1,042,345
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 49,138 51,056
Unrecognized revenue 54,524 48,332
Deposits 2,781 2,608
Curmrent portion of long-term debt 14,203 13,153
Total current liabilities 120,646 115,149
Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion 381,103 387,737
Other long-term liabilities 53,810 46,469
Total noncurrent liabilities 434913 434,206
Total liabilities 555,559 549,355
Deferred inflows 177 —
Total liabilities and deferred inflows 555,736 549,355
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 237,851 227,464
Restricted, nonexpendable:
Scholarships 18,494 16,118
Other 21,697 20,746
Restricted, expendable:
Scholarships 14,571 13,346
Other 46,302 41,018
Unrestricted 160,635 174,298
$ 499,550 492 990
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)
Assets 2014 2013
Cash and cash equivalents $ 670 900
Investments:
Equity securities 133,236 114,193
Timber and mineral properties 156,320 154,332
Real estate 31,007 31,010
Other 6,054 6,040
Other assets 702 647
Total assets $ 327,989 307,122
Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities:
Accounts payable b 163 126
Note payable — University of South Alabama 3,954 7,783
Other liabilities 736 677
Total liabilities 4,853 8,586
Net assets:
Unrestricted 62,701 64,280
Temporarily restricted 90,909 64,862
Permanently restricted 169,526 169,394
Total net assets 323,136 298,536
Total liabilities and net assets $ 327,989 307,122

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
HEALTH SERVICES FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Statements of Financial Position
September 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)

Assets 2014 2013
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13 592
Patient accounts receivable (net of allowance for uncollectible
accounts of approximately $3,838 and $4,651) 10,351 12,005
Other current assets 1,242 1,263
Total current assets 11,606 13,860
Interest in assets of University of South Alabama Professional
Liability Trust Fund 15,710 14,726
Property and equipment, net 3,419 3,658
Total assets $ 30,735 32,244
Liabilities and Net Assets (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,862 1,656
Due to affiliates 10,295 17,133
Total current liabilities 12,157 18,789
Estimated professional liability costs 15,710 14,726
Total liabilities 27,867 33,515
Net assets (deficit) 2,868 (1,271)
Total liabilities and net assets (deficit) $ 30,735 32,244

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

(Discretely Presented Component Unit)
Statements of Net Position
September 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)

Assets:
Current assets:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
Rent receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Intangible assets, net
Capital assets, net

Total noncurrent assets
Deferred outflows
Total assets and deferred outflows

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Deposits, other current liabilities, and accrued expenses

Payable to University of South Alabama
Unrecognized rent revenue
Current portion of notes payable

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Notes payable, excluding current portion
Interest rate swap

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

Total net position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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2014 2013
761 1,447
263 167

6 10
1,030 1,624
77 99
23,794 24,701
23,871 24,800
3,053 3,225
27,954 29,649
197 356
44 7
494 431
1,061 1,002
1,796 1,796
22,225 23,285
3,053 3,225
25,278 26,510
27,074 28,306
503 284
377 1,059
880 1,343




UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)
2014 2013
Operating revenues:
Tuition and fees (net of scholarship allowances of $34,641 in 2014 and $32,457in2013)  § 104,448 95,709
Net patient service revenue 268,449 258,207
Federal grants and contracts 19,224 18,010
State grants and contracts 7,930 7,897
Private grants and contracts 49,565 51,395
Auxiliary enterprises (net of scholarship allowances of $1,039 in 2014 and $974 in 2013) 20,016 18,354
Other operating revenues 33,994 34,034
Total operating revenues 503,626 483,606
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 419,966 401,872
Supplies and other services 158,615 148,597
Scholarships and fellowships 7,839 7,099
Utilities 15,700 14,703
Depreciation and amortization 31,858 29,849
Total operating expenses 633,978 602,120
Operating loss (130,352) (118,514)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
State appropriations 103,695 102,585
Investment income 8,206 28,159
Interest expense (12,929) (13,093)
Other nonoperating revenues 39,111 34,299
Other nonoperating expenses (11,707) (9,220)
Net nonoperating revenues 126,376 142,730
Income (loss) before capital appropriations, capital
contributions and grants, and additions to endowment : (3,976) 24216
Capital appropriations 3,482 1,236
Capital contributions and grants 790 10,871
Additions to endowment 6,264 3,156
Change in net position 6,560 39,479
Net position:
Beginning of year 492,990 453,511
End of year $ 499,550 492,990

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Consolidated Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
Year ended June 30, 2014

(In thousands)
Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total
Revenues, gains, and other support:
Net realized and unrealized gains on
investments $ 5,620 25,356 — 30,976
Rents, royalties and timber sales 3,727 193 17 3,937
Interest and dividends 194 1,879 6 2,079
Gifts — 2 55 57
Other income 9 — — 9
Required match of donor contributions 54 — 54 —
Interfund interest (165) 165 — —
Net assets released from program
restrictions 1,548 (1,548) — —
Total revenues, gains, and
other support 10,879 26,047 132 37,058
Expenditures:
Program services:
Faculty support 2,332 — — 2,332
Scholarships 1,066 — — 1,066
Other 1,117 — — 1,117
Total program service
expenditures 4515 — — 4,515
Management and general 1,771 — — 1,771
Other investment expense 2,011 — — 2,011
Depletion expense 3,882 — — 3,882
Depreciation expense 108 — — 108
Interest expense 171 — — 171
Total expenditures 12,458 — — 12,458
Increase (decrease) in net assets (1,579) 26,047 132 24,600
Net assets — beginning of year 64,280 64,862 169,394 298,536
Net assets — end of year $ 62,701 90,909 169,526 323,136

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Consolidated Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
Year ended June 30, 2013

(In thousands)
Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total
Revenues, gains, and other support:
Net realized and unrealized gains on
investments 5 9,182 11,758 — 20,940
Rents, royalties and timber sales 3,501 — 16 3,517
Interest and dividends 485 1,474 6 1,965
Gifts — 1 15 16
Other income 70 — — 70
Required match of donor contributions (111) — 111 —
Interfund interest (118) 118 — —
Net assets released from program
restrictions 1,376 (1,376) — —
Total revenues, gains, and
other support 14,385 11,975 148 26,508
Expenditures:
Program services:
Faculty support 2,379 — — 2,379
Scholarships 982 — — 982
Other 1,088 — — 1,088
Total program service
expenditures 4,449 — — 4,449
Management and general 1,724 - — 1,724
Other investment expense 1,796 — — 1,796
Depletion expense 3,391 — — 3,391
Depreciation expense 83 — — 83
Interest expense 290 — — 290
Total expenditures 11,733 e — 11,733
Increase in net assets 2,652 11,975 148 14,775
Net assets — beginning of year 61,628 52,887 169,246 283,761
Net assets — end of year $ 64,280 64,862 169,394 298,536

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
HEALTH SERVICES FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets (Deficit)
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

Net patient service revenue

Other revenue

Expenses:
Salaries and benefits
General and administrative

Nonoperating gains

of Medicine

Net deficit at beginning of year
Net assets (deficit) at end of year

(In thousands)
2014 2013
Unrestricted revenues, gains and other support:
$ 75,680 63,298
Provision for uncollectible accounts (13,871) (12,057)
Net patient service revenue less provision for

uncollectible accounts 61,809 51,241

10,563 8,701

Total unrestricted revenues, gains, and other support 72,372 59,942

43,431 48,433

16,535 5,864

Depreciation and amortization 1,602 1,465
Total expenses 61,568 55,762

Operating income 10,804 4,180

1,835 3,491

Revenues over expenses 12,639 7,671

Transfer of capital to University of South Alabama, College

(8,500) (5,100)

Change in net assets (deficit) 4,139 2,571

(1,271) (3,842)

b 2,868 (1,271)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)
2014 2013
Operating revenues 3,506 4,011
Total operating revenues 3,506 4,011
Operating expenses:
Building management and operating expenses 1,240 1,427
Depreciation and amortization 1,017 981
Legal and administrative fees 231 222
Insurance 137 150
Total operating expenses 2,625 2,780
Operating income 881 1,231
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment income 4 8
Interest expense (1,351) (1,409)
Donation revenue — 2
Other 3 5
Net nonoperating expenses (1,344) (1,394)
Change in net position (463) (163)
Net position:
Beginning of year 1,343 1,506
End of year 880 1,343

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)
2014 2013
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts related to tuition and fees $ 107,558 99,546
Receipts from and on behalf of patients and third-party payers 267,277 255,918
Receipts from grants and contracts 84,283 86,927
Receipts related to auxiliary enterprises 20,061 18,507
Payments to suppliers and vendors (172,409) (149,010)
Payments to employees and related benefits (420,000) (396,311)
Payments for scholarships and fellowships (7,839) (7,099)
Other operating receipts 30,172 33,007
Net cash used in operating activities (90,897) (58,515)
Cash flows from noncépital financing activities:
State appropriations 103,695 102,585
Endowment gifts 6,264 3,156
Agency funds received 1,424 1,040
Agency funds disbursed (1,302) (904)
Student loan program receipts 135,038 126,410
Student loan program disbursements (135,041) (126,936)
Other nonoperating revenues 36,883 34,729
Other nonoperating expenses (11,476) (9,206)
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 135,485 130,874
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Capital contributions and grants 917 13,464
Purchases of capital assets (35,090) (72,680)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 3,698 6,030
Proceeds from issuance of capital debt 41,245 50,000
Principal payments on capital debt (54,119) (10,552)
Interest payments on capital debt (15,674) (14,324)
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (59,023) (28,062)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest and dividends on investments 5,959 5,030
Purchases of investments (108,663) (90,855)
Proceeds from sales of investments 25,403 49,672
Net cash used in investing activities (77,301) (36,153)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (91,736) 8,144
Cash and cash equivalents (unrestricted and restricted):
Beginning of year 223,745 215,601
End of year p 132,009 223,745
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)

2014 2013

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Operating loss 5 (130,352) (118,514)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 31,858 29,849
Changes in assets and liabilities, net:
Student receivables (854) 1,350
Net patient accounts receivables (1,291) (2,215)
Grants and contracts receivables 6,703 7,706
Other receivables (2,914) 9,513
Prepaid expenses, inventories, and other 1,936 5,302
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,087) 9,630
Unrecognized revenue 6,104 (1,136)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (90,897) (58,515)

Noncash investing, noncapital financing, and capital and related
financing transactions:
Net increase in fair value of investments recognized

as a component of investment income $ 10,180 24,692
Additional maturity on capital appreciation on bonds payable and
other borrowings recorded as interest expense 1,854 1,981

Payments on behalf of the University by the Alabama Public
School and College Authority reducing purchases of capital

assets 2,489 124
Increase in receivables from Alabama Public School and

College Authority reducing purchases of capital assets 993 —
Gifts of capital and other assets 231 42
Pledges of operating and capital gifts 88 1,961
Capitalization of construction period interest 3,825 2,934
Decrease in accounts payable related to capital assets (43) (3,856)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a)

Reporting Entity

The accompanying basic financial statements present the financial position and activities of the
University of South Alabama (the University), which is a component unit of the State of Alabama.
The financial statements of the University are intended to present the financial position, changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows of only that portion of the basic financial
statements and the aggregate discretely presented component units of the State of Alabama that is
atiributable to the transactions of the University.

The financial reporting entity, as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, and amended by GASB Statement No. 39,
Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units, and GASB Statement No. 61,
The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, consists of the primary government and all of its
component units. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the primary
government is financially accountable. In addition, the primary government may determine, through
exercise of management’s professional judgment, that the inclusion of an organization that does not
meet the financial accountability criteria is necessary in order to prevent the reporting entity’s
financial statements from being misleading. In such instances, that organization is included as a
component unit. Accordingly, the basic financial statements include the accounts of the University,
as the primary government, and the accounts of the entities discussed below as component units.

During 2013, the University adopted GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reports Entity:
Omnibus, which amends GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 39, and provides criteria for determining
whether certain organizations should be reported as component units based on the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government. Such criteria include the appointment
of a voting majority of the board of the organization, the ability to impose the will of the primary
government on the organization and the financial benefits/burden between the primary government
and the potential component unit. The statement also clarifies reporting and disclosure requirements
for those organizations. Based on these criteria as of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University
reports the University of South Alabama Foundation (USA Foundation), the University of South
Alabama Health Services Foundation (USAHSF), and the USA Research and Technology
Corporation (the Corporation) as discretely presented component units,

The University is also affiliated with the South Alabama Medical Science Foundation (SAMSF).
This entity is not considered a component unit of the University under the provisions of
GASB Statements No. 14, 39 and 61 because the University does not consider SAMSF significant
enough to warrant inclusion in the University’s reporting entity (see note 14 for further discussion of
this entity).

GASB Statement No. 61 requires the University, as the primary government, to include in its basic
financial statements, as a blended component unit, organizations that, even though they are legally
separate entitics, meet certain requirements as defined by GASB Statement No. 61. Based on these
criteria, the University reports the Professional Liability Trust Fund, the General Liability Trust Fund
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

and the USA HealthCare Management, LLC as blended component units. All significant transactions
among the University and its blended component units have been eliminated.

USA HealthCare Management, LLC

In June 2010, the University’s Board of Trustees approved the formation of the USA HealthCare
Management, LL.C (the LLC). The LLC was organized for the purpose of managing and operating
on behalf of, and as agent for, substantially all of the health care clinical enterprise of the University.
The University is the sole member of the LLC. The LLC commenced operations in October 2010
and is reported as a blended component unit (see note 17 for further discussion of, and disclosure for,
this entity).

Professional Liability and General Liability Trust Funds

The medical malpractice liability of the University is maintained and managed in its separate
Professional Liability Trust Fund (the PLTF) in which the University, USAHSF, LLC and SAMSF
are the only participants. In accordance with the bylaws of the trust fund, the president of the
University is responsible for appointing members of the trust fund policy committee. Additionally,
the general liability of the University, USAHSF, LLC, SAMSF and the Corporation is maintained
and managed in its General Liability Trust Fund (the GLTF) for which the University, as defined by
GASB Statement No. 14, is responsible. The PLTF and GLTF are separate legal entities which are
governed by the University Board of Trustees through the University president. As such, PLTF and
GLTF are reported as blended component units (see note 17 for further discussion of, and disclosure
for, these entities).

University of South Alabama Foundation

The USA Foundation is a not-for-profit foundation that was organized for the purpose of promoting
education, scientific research, and charitable purposes, and to assist in developing and advancing the
University in furthering, improving, and expanding its properties, services, facilities, and activities.
Because of the significance of the relationship between the University and the USA Foundation, the
USA Foundation is considered a component unit of the University. The Board of Directors of the
USA Foundation is not appointed or controlled by the University. The University receives
distributions from the USA Foundation primarily for scholarship, faculty and other support. Total
distributions received or accrued by the University for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013
were $4,451,000 and $4,392,000, respectively, and are primarily included in other nonoperating
revenues and capital contributions and grants in the University’s statements of revenues, expenses,
and changes in net position. The USA Foundation presents its financial statements in accordance
with standards issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The USA Foundation is
reported in separate financial statements because of the difference in the financial reporting format
since the USA Foundation follows FASB rather than GASB pronouncements. The USA Foundation
has a June 30 fiscal year end which differs from the University’s September 30 fiscal year end. In
accordance with GASB Statement No. 14, this discretely presented unit has been included with the
most recent fiscal year. The accompanying consolidated statements of financial position and
statements of activities and changes in net assets for the USA Foundation as of and for the years
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 are discretely presented.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

University of South Alabama Health Services Foundation

The USAHSF is a not-for-profit corporation that exists to provide a group medical practice for
physicians who are faculty members of the University and to further medical education and research
at the University. Because of the significance of the relationship between the University and
USAHSF, USAHSF is considered a component unit of the University. The USAHSF reimburses the
University for salaries, certain administrative expenses, dean’s clinical assessment and other support
services. Total amounts received and accrued for such expenses were approximately $42,352,000
and $44,786,000 for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and are reflected as
private grants and contracts in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in
net position of the University. During 2014, the University reallocated a portion of faculty salaries
funded by USAHSF and the University to better align funding and effort. This reallocation, a change
in accounting estimate, resulted in a reduction of the payments from USAHSF to the University
during the 2014 fiscal year. The USAHSF presents its financial statements in accordance with
standards issued by the FASB. The accompanying statements of financial position and statements of
operations and changes in net assets (deficit) for the USAHSF for the years ended September 30,
2014 and 2013 are discretely presented.

USA Research and Technology Corporation

The Corporation is a not-for-profit corporation that exists for the purpose of furthering the
educational and scientific mission of the University by developing, attracting, and retaining
technology and research industries in Alabama that will provide professional and career
opportunities to the University’s students and faculty. Because of the significance of the relationship
between the University and the Corporation, the Corporation is considered a component unit of the
University. The Corporation presents its financial statements in accordance with GASB. The
accompanying statements of net position and statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net
position for the Corporation are discretely presented.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

For financial reporting purposes, the University is considered a special purpose governmental agency
engaged only in business type activities, as defined by GASB Statement No. 34. Accordingly, the
University’s basic financial statements have been presented using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, revenues are
recognized when earned, and expenses are recorded when an obligation has been incurred.

The University prepares its basic financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, as prescribed by GASB, including all applicable effective statements of the
GASB and all statements of the FASB issued through November 30, 1989 that do not conflict with
GASB pronouncements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires that management make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

In particular, laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are extremely
complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least a reasonable possibility that
recorded estimates related to these programs could change by a material amount in the near term.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as petty cash, demand accounts, certificates of deposit, and
any short-term investments that take on the character of cash. These investments have maturities of
less than three months and include repurchase agreements and money market accounts.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments are recorded at fair value. The fair value of alternative investments (low-volatility
multi-strategy funds, private placement fund-of-funds, relative value arbitrage funds, and other) do
not have readily ascertainable market values and the University values these invesiments in
accordance with valuations provided by the general partners or fund managers of the underlying
partnerships or companies. Because these investments are not marketable, the estimated fair value is
subject to uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the fair value that would have been used had a
ready market for the investment existed. Investments received by gift are recorded at fair value at the
date of receipt. Changes in the fair value of investments are reported in investment income (loss).

Derivatives

The University has adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Derivative Instruments. GASB Statement No. 53 establishes a framework for
accounting and financial reporting related to derivative instruments, requiring the fair value of
derivatives to be recognized in the basic financial statements.

The University entered into two interest rate swaptions in January 2008, the Series 2004 swaption
and the Series 2006 swaption. As a result of entering into the swaptions, the University received
up-front payments. Swaptions are considered hybrid instruments which are required to be bifurcated
into the fair value of the derivative and a piece that reflects a borrowing for financial statement
purposes, which will accrete interest over time. As more fully described in notes 5 and 9, in
December 2013, the counterparty, Wells Fargo Bank, N. A. (Wells Fargo), exercised its option
related to the Series 2004 swaption, and as a result, the University entered into an interest rate swap.
As a result of the exercise of the option, the Series 2004 swaption was terminated. The Series 2006
swaption remains outstanding at September 30, 2014.

The University determined that as of September 30, 2014, the remaining swaption was not a hedging
derivative instrument; and that as of September 30, 2013, both then existing swaptions were not
hedging derivative instruments. As a result of that determination, the swaptions are required to be
reported as investment derivatives with the change in fair value flowing through the statements of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

The fair values of the outstanding swaptions were $(14,191,000) and $(13,333,000) at September 30,
2014 and 2013, respectively. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, the fair values of the swaptions were
included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying statements of net position. The change in
fair value for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 was $(6,071,000) and $10,276,000,
respectively, and was included in investment income in the accompanying statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013. See note 5
for further discussion.

In March 2014, the University entered into an interest rate swap arrangement with a counterparty.
The resulting derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate swap. The University pays the
counterparty a fixed semi-annual payment based on an annual rate of 4.9753% and receives on a
monthly basis a variable payment of 68% of the one-month London Interbank Offered Rate plus
0.25%. The notional amount of the swap will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of
the Series 2014-A bond. The change in fair value of the swap ($177,000 at September 30, 2014) is
reported as a deferred inflow on the 2014 statement of net position since the interest rate swap is a
hedging derivative. See note 9 for further discussion.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable primarily result from net patient service revenue. Accounts receivable from
affiliates primarily represent amounts due from USAHSF for salaries, and certain administrative and
other support services. Accounts receivable — other includes amounts due from students, the federal
government, state and local governments, or private sources in connection with reimbursement of
allowable expenditures made pursuant to the University’s grants and contracts. Accounts receivable
are recorded net of estimated uncollectible amounts.

Inventories

The University’s inventories primarily consist of bookstore inventories and medical supplies and
pharmaceuticals. Bookstore inventories are valued at the lower of cost (moving average basis) or
market. Medical supplies and pharmaceuticals are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out
method) or market.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost, if purchased or at fair value at date of donation. Depreciation is
provided over the estimated useful life of each class of depreciable asset using the straight-line
method. Major renewals and renovations are capitalized. Costs for repairs and maintenance are
expensed when incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the gain or loss, if any, is included in
nonoperating revenues (expenses) in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position.
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(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

All capital assets other than land are depreciated using the following asset lives:

Buildings, infrastructure and certain

building components 40 to 100 years
Fixed equipment 10 to 20 years
Land improvements 8 to 20 years
Library materials 10 years
Other equipment 4 to 15 years

Certain buildings are componentized for depreciation purposes.

Interest costs for certain assets constructed are capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring
those assets.

The University evaluates impairment in accordance with GASB Statement No. 42, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries. For the years
ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, no impairments were recorded.

Unrecognized Revenue

Student tuition, fees, and dormitory rentals are initially recorded as unrecognized revenue and then
recognized over the applicable portion of each school term.

Classification of Net Position

The University’s net position is ¢lassified as follows:

Net investment in capital assets reflects the University’s total investment in capital assets, net of
outstanding debt obligations related to those capital assets. To the extent debt has been incurred but
not yet expended for capital assets, such debt is excluded from the calculation of net investment in
capital assets.

Restricted, nonexpendable net position consists of endowment and similar type funds which donors
or other outside sources have stipulated, as a condition of the gift instrument, the principal is to be
maintained inviolate and in perpetuity, and invested for the purpose of producing present and future
income, which may either be expended or added to principal.

Restricted, expendable net position includes resources that the University is legally or contractually
obligated to spend in accordance with restrictions imposed by external parties.

Unrestricted net position represents resources derived from student tuition and fees, state
appropriations, net patient service revenue, sales and services of educational activities and auxiliary
enterprises. Auxiliary enterprises are substantially self-supporting activities that provide services for
students, faculty, and staff. While unrestricted net position may be designated for specific purposes
by action of management or the Board of Trustees, they are available for use at the discretion of the
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2014 and 2013

governing board to meet current expenses for any purpose. Substantially all unrestricted net position
is designated for academic and research programs and initiatives, and capital programs.

When an expense is incurred that can be paid using either restricted or unrestricted resources, the
University addresses each situation on a case-by-case basis prior to determining the resources to be
used to satisfy the obligation.

Scholarship Allowances and Student Financial Aid

Student tuition and fees, and certain other revenues from students, are reported net of scholarship
discounts and allowances in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.
Scholarship discounts and allowances are the difference between the stated charge for goods and
services provided by the University and the amount that is paid by students and/or third parties
making payments on the students’ behalf. Certain governmental grants, such as Pell grants and other
federal, state, or nongovernmental programs are recorded as either operating or nonoperating
revenues in the University’s basic financial statements based on their classification as either an
exchange or nonexchange transaction. To the extent that revenues from such programs are used to
satisfy tuition and fees and certain other student charges, the University has recorded a scholarship
discount and allowance.

Donor Restricted Endowments

The University is subject to the “Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act
(UPMIFA)” of the Code of Alabama. This law allows the University, unless otherwise restricted by
the donor, to spend net appreciation, realized and unrealized, on the endowment. The law also allows
the University to appropriate for expenditure or accumulate to an endowment fund such amounts as
the University determines to be prudent for the purposes for which the endowment fund was
established. The University’s endowment spending policy provides that 5% of the three-year
invested net asset moving average value (inclusive of net realized and unrealized gains and losses),
as measured at September 30, is available annually for spending. The University’s policy is to retain
the endowment net interest and dividend income and net realized and unrealized appreciation with
the endowment after distributions allowed by the spending policy have been made. These amounts,
unless otherwise directed by the donor, are included in restricted, expendable net position.

Classification of Revenues

The University has classified its revenues as either operating or nonoperating revenues.

Operating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of exchange transactions such as
student tuition and fees, net of scholarship discounts and allowances; sales and services of auxiliary
enterprises, net of scholarship allowances; most federal, state, and local grants and contracts; and, net
patient service revenue.

Nonoperating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of nonexchange transactions,
such as gifts and contributions, and other revenue sources such as state appropriations and
investment income.
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Gifts and Pledges

Pledges of financial support from organizations and individuals representing an unconditional
promise to give are recognized in the basic financial statements once all eligibility requirements,
including time requirements, have been met. In the absence of such a promise, revenue is recognized
when the gift is received. Endowment pledges generally do not meet eligibility requirements, as
defined by GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange
Transactions, and are not recorded as assets until the related gift has been received. Unconditional
promises that are expected to be collected in future years are recorded at the present value of the
estimated future cash flows.

Grants and Contracits

The University has been awarded grants and contracts for which funds have not been received or
expenditures made for the purpose specified in the award. These awards have not been reflected in
the basic financial statements, but represent commitments of sponsors to provide funds for specific
research or training projects. For grants that have allowable cost provisions, the revenue will be
recognized as the related expenditures are made. For grants with work completion requirements, the
revenue is recognized as the work is completed. For grants without either of the above requirements,
the revenue is recognized as it is received.

Net Patient Service Revenue and Electronic Health Records Incentive Program

Net patient service revenue is reported at estimated net realizable amounts due from patients,
third-party payers and others for healthcare services rendered, including estimated retroactive
revenue adjustments due to future audits, reviews and investigations. Retroactive adjustments are
considered in the recognition of revenue on an estimated basis in the period the related services are
rendered and such amounts are adjusted in future periods, as adjustments become known or as years
are no longer subject to such audits, reviews and investigations,

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) has implemented provisions of the
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 that provide incentive payments for the
meaningful use of certified electronic health record (EHR) technology. CMS has defined meaningful
use as meeting certain objectives and clinical quality measures based on current and updated
technology capabilities over predetermined reporting periods as established by CMS. The Medicare
EHR incentive program provides annual incentive payments to eligible professionals, and hospitals,
that are meaningful users of certified EHR technology. The Medicaid EHR incentive program
provides annual incentive payments to eligible professionals and hospitals for efforts to adopt,
implement, and meaningfully use certified EHR technology. The Hospitals utilize a grant accounting
model to recognize EHR incentive revenues. The Hospitals record EHR incentive revenue ratably
throughout the incentive reporting period when it is reasonably assured that it will meet the
meaningful use objectives for the required reporting period and that the grants will be received. The
EHR reporting period for hospitals is based on the federal fiscal year, which runs from October |
through September 30.
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USA Medical Center and USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital did not meet any meaningful use
objectives for Medicare during 2014, and therefore have not recognized any revenue for this fiscal
year. Both Hospitals expect to meet meaningful use objectives for Medicare during the year ending
September 30, 2015. The Hospitals recognized Medicare EHR incentive revenues of $725,000 for
the year ended September 30, 2013. The Hospitals next receipt of Medicaid EHR revenues is
expected to occur during the federal fiscal year ended September 30, 2015. EHR incentive revenues
are included in other operating revenues in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In 2013, the University adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting
Entity: Omnibus. GASB Statement No. 61 amends GASB Statements No. 14 and 39 and modifies
certain requirements for inclusion of component units in the financial reporting entity.
GASB Statement No. 61 requires that for organizations that previously were included as component
units by meeting the fiscal dependency criterion, a financial benefit or burden relationship also
would need to be present between the primary government and that organization for it to be included
in the reporting entity as a component unit. Statement No. 61 also establishes criteria to require
inclusion based on other additional factors, such as organization board appointment, financial benefit
or burden and operational management of the organization. The adoption of this statement had no
financial reporting entity impact on the University’s component units; however, it did require
additional disclosures for blended component units,

In 2013, the University also adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting
of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position, and
GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities, during the year ended
September 30, 2013. Retroactive application of the standards was required for all prior periods
presented.

GASB Statement No. 63 provides financial reporting guidance for deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources. GASB Statement No. 65 establishes accounting and reporting
standards that reclassify, as deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources, certain
items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities and recognizes, as outflows of resources
or inflows of resources, certain items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities. The
University had historically deferred certain debt financing costs related to its bond issues and was
amortizing those costs over the term of the related bond issue. GASB Statement 65 requires that debt
issuance costs, except any portion related to prepaid insurance costs, be recognized as an expense in
the period incurred. The adoption of the provisions of GASB Statement No. 65 decreased beginning
net position at October 1, 2011 by $1,774,000.

Compensated Absences

The University accrues annual leave for employees as incurred at rates based upon length of service
and job classification.
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() Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2013 basic financial statements have been reclassified in order to conform to
2014 classification,

Income Taxes

The University is classified as both a governmental entity under the laws of the State of Alabama and as a
tax-exempt entity under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as an organization described in
Section 501(c)(3). Consistent with these designations, no provision for income taxes has been made in the
accompanying basic financial statements.

In addition, the University’s discretely presented component units are tax-exempt entities under
Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as organizations described in Section 501(c)(3). Consistent
with that designation, no provision for income taxes has been made in the accompanying discretely
presented financial statements.

Cash

Pursuant to the Security for Alabama Funds Enhancement Act, funds on deposit may be placed in an
institution designated as a qualified public depository (QPD) by the State of Alabama. QPD institutions
pledge securities to a statewide collateral pool administered by the State Treasurer’s office. Such financial
institutions contribute to this collateral pool in amounts proportionate to the total amount of public fund
deposits at their respective institutions. The securities are held at the Federal Reserve Bank and are
designated for the State of Alabama. Additional collateral was not required for University funds on deposit
with QPD institutions. At September 30, 2014, the net public deposits subject to collateral requirements for
all institutions participating in the pool totaled approximately $9,342,196,000. The University had cash and
cash equivalents totaling $132,009,000 and $223,745,000 at September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

At September 30, 2014, restricted cash and cash equivalents consist of $3,760,000 related to cash included
in the PLTF and GLTF to pay insurance liability claims, and $39,932,000 of unspent proceeds from the
issuance of University bonds for capital purchases as outlined in the bond indenture. At September 30,
2013, restricted cash and cash equivalents consist of $28,547,000 related to swaption collateral obligations,
$2,621,000 related to cash included in the PLTF and GLTF to pay insurance liability claims and
$54,967,000 of unspent proceeds from the issuance of University bonds for capital purchases as outlined in
the bond indenture.

Investments
(a) University of South Alabama

The investments of the University are invested pursuant to the University of South Alabama
“Nonendowment Cash Pool Investment Policies,” the “Endowment Fund Investment Policy,” and
the “Derivatives Policy” (collectively referred to as the University Investment Policies) as adopted
by the Board of Trustees. The purpose of the nonendowment cash pool investment policy is to
provide guidelines by which pooled funds not otherwise needed to meet daily operational cash flows
can be invested to earn a maximum return, yet still maintain sufficient liquidity to meet fluctuations
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in the inflows and outflows of University operational funds. Further, endowment fund investment
policies exist to provide earnings to fund specific projects of the endowment fund, while preserving
principal. The University Investment Policies require that management apply the “prudent person”
standard in the context of managing its investment portfolio.

The investments of the blended component units of the University are invested pursuant to the
separate investment policy shared by the PLTF and GLTF (the Trust Fund Investment Policy.) The
objectives of the Trust Fund Investment Policy are to provide a source of funds to pay general and
professional liability claims and to achieve long-term capital growth to help defray future funding
requirements. Additionally, investments of the University’s component units both blended and
discretely presented are subject to UPMIFA as well as any requirements placed on them by contract
or donor agreements.

Certain investments, primarily related to the University’s endowment assets, are pooled. The
University uses this pool to manage its investments and distribute investment income to individual
endowment funds.

Investments of the University, by type, at fair value, are as follows at September 30, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands):

2014 2013
U.S. Treasury notes $ 8,885 8,496
U.S. federal agency notes 101,201 19,676
Pooled equity mutual funds 82,233 71,406
Pooled debt mutual funds 36,426 30,594
Managed income alternative investments (low-volatility
multi-strategy funds, private placement fund-of-funds,
relative value arbitrage funds, and other) 20,224 27,791
State agency obligations — 394
Other 13,987 13,366
$ 271,956 171,723

At September 30, 2014 and 2013, $16,395,000 and $10,272,000, respectively, of appreciation in fair
value of investments of donor-restricted endowments was recognized and are included in restricted
expendable net position in the accompanying statements of net position.

Credit Risk and Concentration of Credit Risk

The University Investment Policies limit investment in corporate bonds to securities with a minimum
“A” rating, at the time of purchase, by both Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. Investments in
corporate paper are limited to issuers with a minimum quality rating of P-1 by Moody’s, A-1 by
Standard and Poor’s or F-1 by Fitch.
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Additionally, the University Investment Policies require that not more than 10% of the cash, cash
equivalents and investments of the University be invested in the obligations of a single private
corporation and not more than 35% of the cash, cash equivalents and investments of the University

be invested in the obligations of a single government agency.

The University’s exposure to credit risk and concentration of credit risk at September 30, 2014 is as

follows:

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
Federal Home Loan Bank Corporation

Federal National Mortgage Association
Common Fund Bond Fund

PIMCO Pooled Bond Fund

Federal Farm Credit Banks Funding Corporation
Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation
Common Fund Equity Fund

Credit of total
rating investments
AAA 7.8%
AAA 13.4
AAA 5.5
A+ 11.5
A/BA/AA 2.0
AAA 9.6
AAA 1.0
N/A* 13.3

The University’s exposure to credit risk and concentration of credit risk at September 30, 2013 is as

follows:

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
Federal Home Loan Bank Corporation

Federal National Mortgage Association
Common Fund Bond Fund

Various State Agency Obligations

PIMCO Pooled Bond Fund

Federal Farm Credit Banks Funding Corporation
Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation
Common Fund Equity Fund

*Credit rating in not applicable
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Credit of total
rating investments
Aaa 4.9%
Aaa 2.3
Aaa 1.3
AA 15.2
Aaa/A2 0.2
AA+/NR 2.7
Aaa 2.9
Aaa 0.1
N/A* 17.4
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Interest Rate Risk

At September 30, 2014, the maturity dates of the University’s debt investments were as follows (in
thousands):

Years to maturity

Fair value Less than 1 1-5 610 More than 10
U.S. Treasury notes $ 8,885 70 8,815 — —
U.S. federal agency notes 101,201 8,286 92,915 — —
Pooled debt mutual funds 36,426 — 32,484 3,942 —_—
$ 146,512 8,356 134,214 3,942 —

At September 30, 2013, the maturity dates of the University’s debt investments were as follows
(in thousands):

Years to maturity

Fair value Less than 1 1-5 6-—10 More than 10
U.S. Treasury notes b3 8,496 808 7,688 — -
U.S. federal agency notes 19,676 664 18,930 — 82
Pooled debt mutual funds 30,594 1,183 — 29411 —
State agency obligations 394 — — — 394
$ 59,160 2,655 26,618 29411 476

Pooled debt mutual funds are classified based on the weighted average maturity of the individual
investment instruments within each fund.

The University’s Investment Policies do not specifically address the length to maturity on
investments which the University must follow; however, they do require that the maturity range of
investments be consistent with the liquidity requirements of the University.

Mortgage-Backed Securities

The University, from time to time, invests in mortgage backed securities issued by the Government
National Mortgage Association (GNMA) and the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA),
agencies of the United States government. The University invests in these securities to increase the
yield and return on its investment portfolio given the available alternative investment opportunities.

The fair value of mortgage-backed securities is generally based on the cash flows from principal and
interest receipts on the underlying mortgage pools. These securities include collateralized mortgage
obligations (CMOs). In CMOs, the cash flow from principal and interest payments from one or more
mortgage pass-through securities or a pool of mortgages may be reallocated to multiple security
classes with different priority claims and payment strcams (commonly referred to as tranches). A
holder of the CMO security thus chooses the class of security that best meets its risk and return
objectives. CMOs are subject to significant market risk due to fluctuations in interest rates,
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prepayment rates and various liquidity factors related to their specific markets. There were no CMOs
in the University’s investment portfolio at September 30, 2014 or 2013,

At September 30, 2014, restricted investments consist of $45,946,000 related to investments
included in the PLTF and GLTF to pay insurance liability claims and $41,700,000 in required
collateral related to the 2006 swaption and the 2014 interest rate swap. At September 30, 2013,
restricted investments consist of $40,553,000 related to investments included in the PLTF and GLTF
to pay insurance liability claims.

University of South Alabama Foundation

Investments in securities consist primarily of equity securities totaling $133,236,000 and
$114,193,000, at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Investment income was comprised of the following for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands):

2014 2013

Unrealized gains $ 28,429 18,296
Realized gains 2,547 2,644
Timber sales 3,132 2,764
Interest and dividends 2,079 1,965
Rents 634 605
Royalties 171 148

$ 36,992 26,422

Investment related expenses in the amount of $295,000 and $259,000, respectively, are included in
the USA Foundation’s management and general expenses in the accompanying 2014 and 2013
consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets.

Real estate at June 30, 2014 and 2013 consisted of the following property held (in thousands):

2014 2013
Land and land improvements — held for investment $ 29,926 29,910
Building and building improvements —
held for investment, net of depreciation 1,081 1,100
$ 31,007 31,010

Timber and mineral properties are stated at fair value, Depletion of mineral properties is recognized
over the remaining producing lives of the properties based on total estimated production and current
period production. Depletion of timber properties is recognized on a specific identification basis as
timber rights are sold or on a unit basis for sales made on that basis. Reforestation costs consisting of
site preparation and planting of seedlings are capitalized.
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Investments at June 30, 2014 and 2013, include an equity interest in a timberland management
company. The company’s primary assets consist of timberland. The Foundation’s proportionate
share of the fair value of the company is based upon the valuation of the trustee responsible for the
management of the company and the timber valuation.

The Foundation has adopted Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, (formally FASB Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements).
ASC 820 provides a single definition of fair value and a hierarchical framework for measuring it, as
well as establishing additional disclosure requirements about the use of fair value to measure assets
and liabilities. Fair value measurements are classified as either observable or unobservable in nature.
Observable fair values are derived from quoted market prices for investments traded on an active
exchange or in dealer markets where there is sufficient activity and liquidity to allow price discovery
by substantially all market participants (Level 1). The Foundation’s observable values consist of
investments in exchange-traded equity securities with a readily determinable market price. Other
observable values are fair value measurements derived either directly or indirectly from quoted
market prices (Level 2). Investments that are not traded on an active exchange and do not have a
quoted market price are classified as unobservable (Level 3). The Foundation’s unobservable values
consist of investments in timber and real estate with fair values based on independent third-party
appraisals performed by qualified appraisers specializing in timber and real estate investments.

The Foundation’s investment assets at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, are summarized based
on the criteria of ASC 8§20 as follows (in thousands):

Fair value measurements at June 30, 2014

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Equity securities $ 71,080 62,156 — 133,236
Timber and mineral properties — — 156,320 156,320
Real estate — — 31,007 31,007
Other investments — —_ 6,054 6,054
$ 71,080 62,156 193,381 326,617

Fair value measurements at June 30, 2013

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Equity securities $ 57,870 56,323 — 114,193
Timber and mineral properties — — 154,332 154,332
Real estate — — 31,010 31,010
Other investments — —_ 6,040 6,040
57,870 56,323 191,382 305,575
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For the year ended June 30, 2014, activity in investment assets valued at fair value based on
unobservable values is as follows (in thousands):

Timber and
mineral Other
Description properties Real estate investments Total
Beginning balance 3 154,332 31,010 6,040 191,382
Total gains (losses)

(realized/unrealized) 5,503 28 14 5,545
Acquisitions — 2 2
Reforestation 367 — — 367
Depreciation/depletion (3,882) (33) — (3,915)
Ending balance 3 156,320 31,007 6,054 193,381

For the year ended June 30, 2013, activity in investment assets valued at fair value based on
unobservable values is as follows (in thousands):

Timber and
mineral Other
Description properties Real estate investments Total
Beginning balance 3 153,574 31,040 5,522 190,136
Total gains (losses)

(realized/unrealized) 3,876 — 518 4,394
Acquisitions — 3 — 3
Reforestation 273 — — 273
Depreciation/depletion (3,391) (33) — (3,424)
Ending balance $ 154,332 31,010 6,040 191,382

As of June 30, 2014, the Foundation has no outstanding commitments to purchase securities or other
investments. Additionally, substantially all of the Foundation’s equity securities at June 30, 2014 and

2013 are considered readily liquid. Timber and mineral properties, real estate, and other investments
are generally considered illiquid.

Derivative Transactions — Swaption

In January 2008, the University entered into a synthetic advance refunding of the outstanding Series 2004
and 2006 bonds with a counterparty. This transaction was effected through the sale of two swaptions by the
University to the counterparty. The transactions resulted in an up-front payment to the University totaling
$9,328,000, which was recorded as a liability, in exchange for selling the counterparty the option to enter
into an interest rate swap with respect to the Series 2004 and 2006 bonds in 2014 and 2016, respectively.
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Objective of the Derivative Transaction

The objective of this transaction was to realize debt service savings cutrently from future debt refunding
and create an economic benefit to the University.

Terms

A summary of the transactions is as follows:

Option Effective
Date of expiration date of Termination Payment
Issue issue date swap date amount
Series 2004 bonds 2-Jan-08 16-Dec-13 15-Mar-14 15-Mar-24 § 1,988,000
Series 2006 bonds 2-Jan-08 1-Sep-16 1-Dec-16 1-Dec-36 7,340,000

As further discussed in note 9, in December 2013, the counterparty exercised its option with respect to the
2004 swaption. The University refunded its Series 2004 bonds, issued the Series 2014-A variable rate bond
and terminated the Series 2004 swaption. As a result of this termination, the borrowing arising from the
Series 2004 swaption of $1,696,000 and the investment derivative (liability) of $5,213,000 were written off
and an investment loss of $2,229,000 was recognized and reported in the statements of revenues, expenses
and changes in net position for the year ended September 30, 2014. A borrowing arising from the 2014
swap of $9,138,000 was recognized and is reported, net of current year amortization, as long-term debt in
the statement of net position at September 30, 2014,

As outlined in the 2008 agreement, if the counterparty exercises its option in 2016 related to the 2006
swaption, the University would, at the counterparty’s option, be compelled to enter into an underlying
swap. If the option is exercised, the University would begin to make payments on the notional amount,
currently $100,000,000 for the 2006 bonds of the underlying swap contract. Simultaneously, the University
would call outstanding 2006 bonds and issue variable rate demand notes (VRDNS) in their place. Under the
swap contract, the University would pay a fixed rate of 5.0% on the 2006 bonds to the counterparty and
would receive payments based on 68% of the one-month LLIBOR index plus 0.25%. Alternatively, although
it is not anticipated that this option would be to the University’s advantage, the University could, at its
option, cash settle the swap and retain its right to refund the 2006 bonds.

If the interest rate environment is such that the counterparty chooses to not exercise its option related to the
2006 swaption, the swaption would be canceled and the University would have no further obligation under
this agreement.

Financial Statement Presentation

A swaption is considered a hybrid instrument and as such the payment by the counterparty to the
University must be bifurcated into two components, a borrowing component and an embedded derivative
component, and each component treated separately. The embedded derivative value of the swaption
represents the fair value resulting from the fact that the fixed rate stated in the swaption is greater than the
at-the-market rate. The initial value of the borrowing is the difference between the upfront payment and the
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fair value of the embedded derivative and represents the time value to the counterparty for holding the
option, or the probability-weighted, discounted values of a range of future possible outcomes. The values
of the derivatives and borrowings at the date of execution of this transaction were as follows:

2004 Bonds 2006 Bonds

Embedded derivatives $ 918,000 3,343,000
Borrowings 1,070,000 3,997,000
h) 1,988,000 7,340,000

The values of any remaining borrowings are included in long-term debt on the University’s 2014 and 2013
statements of net position. Interest is being accreted on, and added to, the borrowings through the
expiration date of the option. For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, $379,000 and $400,000,
respectively, was accreted and is included in interest expense in the statements of revenues, expenses, and
changes in net position.

The fair values of the embedded investment derivatives are reported as investment assets, if the swaption
derivatives are assets, or other noncurrent liabilities, depending on the fair values of the swaption
derivatives. The change in the fair market values of the swaption derivatives is reported as a component of
investment income (loss) in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. At
September 30, 2014 and 2013, the negative fair values of the swaption derivatives are approximately
$(14,191,000) and $(13,333,000) and are included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying
statements of net position. For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the changes in the fair value
of the derivatives were $(6,071,000) and $10,276,000, respectively.

Fair Value

At September 30, 2014 and 2013, the total of the embedded derivatives associated with the outstanding
swaptions had negative fair values of $(14,191,000) and $(13,333,000), respectively. The fair values of
these swaption derivatives were estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method calculates the
future net settlement payments required by the instruments, assuming that the current forward rates implied
by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are then discounted using
the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due on the date of
each future net settlement.

Risks Associated with this Transaction

Certain risks are inherent to derivative transactions.

Interest rate risk. Interest rate risk, as a result of rising short-term interest rates causing higher interest rate
payments, is effectively hedged by the University’s fixed rate bonds. If the counterparty exercises its
options, the underlying swaps are expected to effectively hedge the potentially higher payments on VRDNs
as well. The University is also subject to interest rate risk, as a result of changes in long-term interest rates,
which may cause the value of fixed rate bonds or interest rate derivatives to change. If long-term interest
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rates fall subsequent to the execution of this transaction, the value of the swaption will change, with
negative consequences for the University,

Market access risk. This transaction assumes that VRDNs will be issued as a replacement of the 2006
bonds. If the University is unable to issue variable rate bonds after the counterparty exercises its right
under the remaining swaption, the University would still be required to begin making periodic payments on
the swap, even though there are no related bonds. Alternatively, the University could choose to liquidate
the swap, which may create a substantial cash outlay.

Basis risk. If the counterparty exercises its option, there is a risk that the floating payments received under
the swap will not fully offset the variable rate payments due on the assumed VRDNs.

Credit risk. Although the underlying swap exposes the University to credit risk should the swap be
executed, the swaption itself does not expose the University to credit risk. If the option is exercised, the
University would begin to make payments on the appropriate notional amount of the underlying swap
contract. In that situation, if the fair value of the swap is positive, the University would be exposed to
credit risk on the swap in the amount of its fair value. As of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the swap
counterparty was rated Aa3 by Moody’s Investors Services and AA — by Standard and Poor’s Rating
Services.

Termination risk. The University may be required to terminate the swaption or swap under certain
circumstances, such as credit downgrades or other events specified in the contracts. In the event that a
position needs to be terminated, the University may owe a substantial amount of money to terminate the
confracts. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, no events of termination have occurred.

Capital Assets
(a)  University of South Alabama
A summary of the University’s capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2014 follows

(in thousands):
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land and other $ 22,516 — — — 22,516
Construction-in-progress 137,678 32,167 (61,534) — 108,311
160,194 32,167 (61,534) — 130,827
Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements 30,934 4 457 — 31,395
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure 555,661 2,819 43,563 (618) 601,425
Other equipment 130,979 6,223 17,514 (4,034) 150,682
Library materials 57,608 3,024 — _— 60,632
775,182 12,070 61,534 (4,652) 844,134
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Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure
Other equipment
Library materials

Capital assets
being
depreciated,
net

$

Capital assets, net §

Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
(17,216) (1,203) — — (18,419)
(205,155) (15,913) — 8 (221,060)
(103,546) (7,395) - 70 (110,871)
(43,629) (2,679) — — (46,308)
(369,546) (27,190) - 78 (396,658)
405,636 (15,120) 61,534 (4,574) 447,476
565,830 17,047 — (4,574) 578,303

At September 30, 2014, the University had commitments of approximately $3,468,000 related to
various construction projects.

A summary of the University’s capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2013 follows

(in thousands):

Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land and other
Construction-in-progress

Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements
Buildings, fixed equipment,

and infrastructure
Other equipment
Library matetials

8

Beginning Ending

balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
25,528 445 — (3,457 22,516
119,763 59,104 (41,189) —_ 137,678
145,291 59,549 (41,189) (3,457) 160,194
31,256 244 — (566) 30,934
539,118 3,442 40,922 (27.821) 555,661
133,090 8,291 267 (10,669) 130,979
54,656 2,952 — — 57,608
758,120 14,929 41,189 (39,056) 775,182
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Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements $ (16,588) (1,194) — 566 (17,216)
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure (208,499) (15,954) — 19,298 (205,155)
Other equipment (104,084) (10,012) — 10,550 (103,546)
Library materials (41,041) (2,588) — (43,629)
(370,212) (29,748) e 30,414 (369,546)
Capital assets
being
depreciated,
net 387,908 (14,819) 41,189 (8,642) 405,636
Capital assets, net $ 533,199 44,730 — (12,099) 565,830

At September 30, 2013, the University had commitments of approximately $13,918,000 related to

various construction projects.

() USA Research and Technology Corporation

Changes in capital assets for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 are as follows (in

thousands):
2014
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Land improvements $ 2,199 — — — 2,199
Buildings 27,898 19 — — 27,917
Tenant improvements 868 45 — — 913
Construction in progress — — — — —
Other equipment 256 — — — 256
31,221 64 — — 31,285
Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements (842) (94) — — (936)
Buildings (5,146) (721) — — (5,867)
Tenant improvements @17 (130) — — (547)
Other equipment (115) (26) — — (141)
(6,520) (971) — — (7,491)
Capital assets, net $ 24,701 (907) — — 23,794
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2013
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Land improvements $ 2,201 — 2) — 2,199
Buildings 27,669 235 (6) — 27,898
Tenant improvements 742 164 8 (46) 868
Construction in progress — — — — —
Other equipment 256 — — — 256
30,868 399 — (46) 31,221
Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements (748) (94) — — (842)
Buildings 4,261) (702) (183) — (5,146)
Tenant improvements (528) (118) 183 46 (417)
Other equipment (89) (26) — — (115)
(5,626) (940) — 46 (6,520)
Capital assets, net  § 25,242 (541) — — 24,701

Noncurrent Liabilities

A summary of the University’s noncurrent liability activity for the years ended September 30, 2014 and
2013 follows (in thousands):

2014
Less amounts
Beginning Ending due within Noncurrent
balance Additions Reductions balance ope year liabilities
Long-term debt:

Bonds payable and other 3 400,890 52,044 (57,628) 395,306 14,203 381,103

Total long-term debt 400,890 52,044 (57,628) 395,306 14,203 381,103

Other long-term liabilities 59,102 42,411 (35,589) 65,924 12,114 53,810
Total noncurrent

liabilities $ 459,992 94,455 (93,217) 461,230 26,317 434913
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2013
Less amounts
Beginning Ending due within Noncurrent
balance Additions Reductions balance one year liabilities
Long-term debt:
Bonds payable and other ¥ 359,699 51,981 (10,790) 400,890 13,153 387,737
Total long-term debt 359,699 51,981 (10,790) 400,890 13,153 387,737
Other long-term liabilities 80,065 32,392 (53,355) 59,102 12,633 46,469
Total noncurrent
liabilities $ 439,764 84,373 (64,145) 459,992 25,786 434,206

Other long-term liabilities primarily consist of self-insurance liabilities, liabilities related to compensated
absences, and the fair value of derivatives. Amounts due within one year are included in accounts payable,
accrued liabilities and unrecognized revenue.
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(8) Bonds Payable
Bonds payable consisted of the following at September 30, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

2014 2013

University Tuition Revenue Bonds, Series 1999

Capital Appreciation, 4.70% to 5.25%, payable

November 2011 through November 2018 $ 28,312 31,530
University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital

Improvement Bonds, Series 2004, 2.00% to 5.00%,

repaid in April 2014 — 41,690
University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital

Improvement Bonds, Series 2006, 5.00%, payable

through December 2036 100,000 100,000
University Facilities Revenue and Capital Improvement

Bonds, Series 2008, 3.00% to 5.00%, payable through

August 2038 104,200 106,565
University Facilities Revenue and Capital Improvement

Bond, Series 2010, 3.81%, payable through August 2030 25,508 26,636
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2012-A, 2.92% payable through August 2032 23,075 24,050
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2012-B, 2.14% payable through August 2018 5,265 6,515
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2013-A, 2.83% payable through August 2033 30,788 32,000
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2013-B, 2.83% payable through August 2033 7,697 8,000
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2013-C, 2.78% payable through August 2025 9,454 10,000

University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2014-A,
variable rate payable at 68% of LIBOR plus .73%, payable

through March 2024 41,245 —
Borrowing arising from swaption, Series 2004 Bonds — 1,653
Borrowing arising from swaption, Series 2006 Bonds 6,240 5,904

Borrowing arising from interest rate swap 8,682 —
390,466 394,543

Plus unamortized premium 5,134 6,609
Less unaccreted discount (29) (36)
Less unamortized debt extinguishment costs (265) (226)
$ 395,306 400,890

Substantially all student tuition and fee revenues secure University bonds. Additionally, security for
Series 2008 bonds includes Children’s and Women’s Hospital revenues in an amount not exceeding
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$10,000,000. Series 1999 Current Interest Bonds began maturing November 2002, and Capital
Appreciation Bonds began maturing in November 2011. Series 1999 Bonds are not redeemable prior to
maturity. Series 2004 Bonds began maturing in March 2005 and were redeemed in April 2014. Series 2006
Bonds begin maturing in December 2024 and are redeemable beginning in December 2016. Series 2008
Bonds began maturing in August 2009 and are redeemable beginning in August 2018. The Series 2010
Bond began maturing in August 2011 and is redeemable beginning in February 2020. The 2012-A and
2012-B Bonds began maturing in August 2013. The 2012-A Bond is redeemable beginning in
August 2021. The 2012-B Bond is redeemable beginning in January 2015. The 2013-A, 2013-B and
2013-C Bonds began maturing in August 2014 and are redeemable beginning in June 2023. The
Series 2014-A bond begins maturing in March 2015 and is redeemable at any time.

In January 2008, the University entered into a synthetic advance refunding of the outstanding Series 2004
and 2006 bonds. This transaction was effected through the sale of two swaptions by the University to a
counterparty. The proceeds from each sale, totaling $9,328,000, consist of two components, a borrowing
and an embedded derivative. The borrowing is included in long-term debt. As a result of this transaction,
the counterparty has the option to compel the University to redeem its Series 2004 (occurred in
March 2014) and 2006 bonds at their respective redemption dates. See note 5 for a complete description of
this transaction.

During the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the maturity value of the Capital Appreciation
Bonds increased $1,432,000 and $1,581,000, respectively, over the original principal amount of
$19,810,000, reflecting accretion of interest.

Approximately $1,570,000 of proceeds from the issuance of the Series 2012-A and 2012-B bonds
remained unspent at September 30, 2014 and is included in restricted cash and cash equivalents in the 2014
statement of net position. These funds are restricted for capital purposes as outlined in the indenture.

Approximately $38,362,000 of proceeds from the issuance of the Series 2013-A, 2013-B and 2013-C
Bonds remained unspent at September 30, 2014 and is included in restricted cash and cash equivalents in
the 2014 statement of net position. These funds are restricted for capital purposes as outlined in the
indenture.

The University is subject to arbitrage restrictions on its bonded indebtedness prescribed by the U. S.
Internal Revenue Service. As such, amounts are accrued as needed in the University’s basic financial
statements for any expected arbitrage liabilities. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, no amounts were due or
recorded in the financial statements.

The University is subject to restrictive covenants related to its bonds payable. At September 30, 2014,
management believes the University was in compliance with such financial covenants.
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Debt Service on Long-Term Obligations

Total debt service by fiscal year is as follows as of September 30, 2014 (in thousands):

Debt service on bonds

Additional
Principal Interest maturity Total
2015 b 14,099 14,364 (1,627) 26,836
2016 14,643 13,825 (1,286) 27,182
2017 18,178 13,375 (782) 30,771
2018 18,525 12,959 (427) 31,057
2019 17,456 12,650 (49) 30,057
2020-2024 88,565 54,283 — 142,848
2025-2029 84,853 40,914 — 125,767
20302034 82,734 23,051 — 105,785
20352038 55,584 5,514 — 61,098
394,637 190,935 (4,171) 581,401
Plus (less);
Additional maturity (4,171)
Unamortized bond premium 5,134
Unaccreted bond discount (29)
Unamortized debt extinguishment
costs (265)
$ 395,306

The principal amount of debt service due on bonds at September 30, 2014 includes $3,629,000
representing additional maturity value on Series 1999 Capital Appreciation Bonds. These bonds mature
through 2019. Also included in the principal amount of debt service due on bonds at September 30, 2014,
is $542,000 representing additional maturity value of the borrowing resulting from the Series 2006
swaption. As described in note 5, additional maturity will continue to accrue until the swaption option
period in 2016. Although this additional maturity is presented as principal on the debt service schedule
above, it is also recognized as interest expense on an annual basis in the University’s basic financial

statements as it accretes.
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USA Research and Technology Corporation

Notes Payable
Notes payable consisted of the following at September 30, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):
2014 2013

Wells Fargo, N.A. promissory note, one-month

LIBOR plus 0.85% (1.007% at

September 30, 2014) payable through 2028 $ 14,471 15,128
PNC Bank promissory note, 4.88%, payable

through 2021 8,814 9,159

$ 23,285 24,287

The note payable to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. was incurred by the Corporation to acquire Buildings II
and III in the USA Technology & Research Park and to provide funds for renovations and tenant
finishing costs. The loan is a fully amortizing promissory note with a 20-year term. As more fully
described below, the Corporation entered into a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” type of interest rate
swap on the promissory note, which will yield a synthetic fixed interest rate of 6.1%. The promissory
note payable is secured by an interest in the ground lease with respect to the parcels of land on which
Buildings II and III stand, an interest in Buildings IT and III, an interest in tenant leases for Buildings
II and III, and an interest in income received from rental of Buildings II and III.

The promissory note payable to PNC Bank has a 10-year term and amortization is based on a 20-year
term. PNC Bank acquired the promissory note as part of its acquisition of RBC Bank (USA) on
March 20, 2012. The Corporation agreed to not transfer or encumber the buildings or its leasehold
interest in the real estate on which the buildings stand. The promissory note payable is secured by an
interest in tenant leases for Building I and the dialysis services building, and an interest in income
received from rental of Building I and the dialysis services building.

In connection with each note, the University entered into an agreement with the lender providing that
for any year in which the Corporation’s debt service coverage ratio is less than 1 to 1, the University
will pay the Corporation rent equal to the amount necessary to bring the ratio to 1 to 1. The debt
service coverage ratio is calculated by dividing the sum of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year (reduced by current year capital assets additions) and current year change
in net position (determined without depreciation, amortization, and interest expense) by current year
debt service. For fiscal 2014 the Corporation’s debt service coverage ratio was 1.34 to 1.
Management believes the Corporation was in compliance with its debt covenants, including the debt
service coverage ratio covenant, at September 30, 2014. Further, management believes that, based on
existing leases and service contracts and agreements, the debt service coverage ratio for fiscal 2015
will be less than the fiscal 2014 debt service coverage ratio of 1.34 to 1, but will still exceed 1 to 1.
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Debt Service on Long-Term Obligations
At September 30, 2014, total debt service by fiscal year is as follows (in thousands):

Debt service on note and loan

Principal Interest Total

2015 $ 1,061 1,295 2,356
2016 1,118 1,238 2,356
2017 1,186 1,169 2,355
2018 1,251 1,105 2,356
2019 1,332 1,023 2,355
2020-2024 12,192 2,904 15,096
2025-2028 5,145 617 5,762

Total $ 23,285 9,351 32,636

Derivative Transaction

The Corporation is a party to a derivative with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., the counterparty (successor
to Wachovia Bank, N.A. the original counterparty). The derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed”
interest rate swap entered into in connection with the promissory note to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

Objective of the derivative transaction. The Corporation utilizes the interest rate swap to convert its
variable rate on the promissory note to a synthetic fixed rate.

The swap will terminate on May 1, 2028, when the loan matures. The notional amount of the swap
will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of the loan. Under the swap, the Corporation
pays the counterparty a fixed payment of 6.10% and receives a variable payment of the one-month
LIBOR rate plus 0.85%. Conversely, the loan bears interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus
0.85%. The Corporation paid approximately $762,000 and $789,000 under the interest rate swap
agreement for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, which is reflected as an
increase in interest expense.

Fair value. The interest rate swap had a negative fair value of approximately $(3,053,000) and
$(3,225,000) at September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The changes in fair value are reported as
deferred outflows on the accompanying statements of net position since the interest rate swap is a
hedging derivative instrument.

The fair value of the interest rate swap was estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method
calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming that the current forward
rates implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are
then discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero coupon
bonds due on the date of each future net settlement.

Interest rate risk. On the Corporation’s “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate swap, as LIBOR
decreases, the net payment on the swap increases.
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Credit risk. As of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the Corporation was not exposed to credit risk on
the interest rate swap because it had a negative fair value. However, if interest rates change and the
fair value of the derivative becomes positive, the Corporation would have a gross exposure to credit
risk in the amount of the derivative’s fair value. The counterparty was rated Aa3 by Moody’s
Investors Services and AA —by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services as of September 30, 2014 and
2013.

Termination risk. The interest rate swap contracts use the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc. Master Agreement, which includes standard default and termination events, such as
failure to make payments, breach of agreement, and bankruptcy. At September 30, 2014 and 2013,
no events of default or termination had occurred. If the interest rate swap is terminated, interest rate
risk associated with the variable rate debt would no longer be hedged. Also, if at the time of
termination the interest rate swap had a negative fair value, the Corporation would be liable to the
counterparty for a payment equal to the interest rate swap’s fair value. To allow the Corporation the
maximum flexibility to manage the utilization of Buildings II and IIT while at the same time
providing protection for the counterparty, the Corporation granted the counterparty a $2,000,000
mortgage secured by an interest in the ground lease with respect to the parcel of land on which
Building II stands, an interest in Building II, a security interest in Building II tenant leases, and a
security interest in income received from rental of Building IL

Derivative payments and hedged debt. As interest rates fluctuate, variable rate debt interest and net
derivative payments will fluctuate. Using interest rates as of September 30, 2014, debt service
requirements by fiscal year of the variable rate debt and net derivative payments, assuming current
interest rates remain the same in the future, are as follows (in thousands):

Variable rate loan Interest rate
Principal Interest swap, net Total

2015 $ 698 144 729 1,571
2016 738 138 696 1,572
2017 787 129 655 1,571
2018 832 122 618 1,572
2019 893 112 566 1,571
2020--2024 5,378 409 2,070 7,857
2025-2028 5,145 102 515 5,762

Total $ 14,471 1,156 5,849 21,476

Derivative Transaction — Interest Rate Swap

The University is a party to a derivative with Wells Fargo Bank, the counterparty. As more fully described
in note 5, in December 2013, Wells Fargo exercised its option with respect to the synthetic advance
refunding of the Series 2004 bonds to enter into an interest rate swap agreement with the University with
an effective date of March 15, 2014. The resulting derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate
swap. As part of the overall plan of the synthetic refunding of the 2004 bonds, the University redecmed
those bonds in April 2014 with proceeds from the 2014-A bond.
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Objective of the transaction. As noted the interest rate swap was the result of the original January 2008
synthetic advance refunding of the Series 2004 bonds. The objective of that transaction was to realize debt
service savings currently from future debt refunding and create an economic benefit to the University.

The swap will terminate in March 2024, when the 2014-A bond matures. The notional amount of the swap
will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of the bond. Under the swap, the University pays
the counterparty a fixed semi-annual payment based on an annual rate of 4.9753% and receives on a
monthly basis a variable payment of 68% of the one-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus
0.25%. Conversely, the Series 2014-A bond bears interest on a monthly basis at 68% of the one-month
LIBOR rate plus 0.73%.

Fair value. The interest rate swap had a negative fair value of approximately $(9,138,000) at its inception.
This amount, net of any amortization, is reported as a borrowing arising from the 2014 interest rate swap as
long-term-debt in the 2014 statement of net position.

The change in fair value during the current year is reported as a deferred inflow and derivative asset on the
statement of net position since the interest rate swap is a hedging derivative instrument. At September 30,
2014, $177,000 is reported as a derivative asset and deferred inflow.

The fair value of the interest rate swap was estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method
calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming the current forward rates
implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are then
discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due
on the date of each future net settlement.

Interest rate risk. As the LIBOR rate decreases, the net payment on the swap increases. This, however, is
mitigated by the fact that a decline in the LIBOR rate will also result in a decrease of the University’s
interest payment on the Series 2014-A bond. The University’s exposure is limited to 0.48% of the notional
amount, the difference in the payment from the counterparty and the interest payment on the 2014-A bond.

Credit risk. As of September 30, 2014, the University was not exposed to credit risk on the interest rate
swap because it had a negative fair value. However, if interest rates change and the fair value of the
derivative become positive, the University would have a gross exposure to credit risk in the amount of the
derivative’s fair value. The counterparty was rated Aa3 by Moody’s Investor Services and AA — by
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services as of September 30, 2014.

Termination risk. The University may be required to terminate the swap based on certain standard default
and termination events, such as failure to make payments, breach of agreement, and bankruptcy. As of the
current date, no events of termination have occurred.
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Derivative payments and hedged debt. As interest rates fluctuate, variable rate debt interest and net
derivative payments will fluctuate. Using interest rates as of the current date and assuming those current
interest rates remain the same in the future; debt service requirements, including swap payments, by fiscal
year are as follows (in thousands):

Variable rate loan Interest rate
Principal Interest swap, net Total
2015 $ 470 400 1,838 2,708
2016 490 643 1,568 2,701
2017 615 917 1,265 2,797
2018 640 1,088 1,060 2,788
2019 665 1,185 915 2,765
2020-2024 38,365 9,730 2,069 50,164
$ 41,245 13,963 8,715 63,923

Net Patient Service Revenue

The Hospitals have agreements with governmental and other third-party payers that provide for
reimbursement at amounts different from their established rates. Contractual adjustments under third-party
reimbursement programs represent the difference between the Hospitals® billings at established rates for
services and amounts reimbursed by third-party payers.

A summary of the basis of reimbursement with major-third party payers follows:

Medicare — Substantially all acute care services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid at
prospectively determined rates. These rates vary according to patient classification systems that are based
on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. Additionally, the Hospitals are reimbursed for both direct and
indirect medical education costs (as defined), principally based on per-resident prospective payment
amounts and certain adjustments to prospective rate-per-discharge operating reimbursement payments. The
Hospitals generally are reimbursed for certain retroactively settled items at tentative rates, with final
settlement determined after submission of annual cost reports by the Hospitals and audits by the Medicare
fiscal intermediary. The cost report for the USA Medical Center has been audited and settled through 2009.
The cost report for USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital has been audited and settled through 2010,
Revenue from the Medicare program accounted for approximately 15% and 14% of the Hospitals’ net
patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Blue Cross — Inpatient services rendered to Blue Cross subscribers are paid at a prospectively determined
per diem rate. Outpatient services are reimbursed under a cost reimbursement methodology. For outpatient
services, the Hospitals are reimbursed at a tentative rate with final settlement determined after submission
of annual cost reports by the Hospitals and audits thereof by Blue Cross. The Hospitals’ Blue Cross cost
reports have been audited through 2011 and settled for all fiscal years through 2010. Revenue from the
Blue Cross program accounted for approximately 21% and 20% of the Hospitals’ net patient service
revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Medicaid — Inpatient services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are reimbursed at all-inclusive
prospectively determined per diem rates. Outpatient services are reimbursed based on an established fee
schedule.

The Hospitals qualify as Medicaid essential providers and, therefore, also receive supplemental payments
based on formulas established by the Alabama Medicaid Agency. There can be no assurance that the
Hospitals will continue to qualify for future participation in this program or that the program will not
ultimately be discontinued or materially modified.

Revenue from the Medicaid program accounted for approximately 24% and 22% of the Hospitals’ net
patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Other — The Hospitals have also entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance
carriers, health maintenance organizations, and preferred provider organizations. The bases for payments to
the Hospitals under these agreements include discounts from established charges and prospectively
determined daily and case rates.

The composition of net patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 follows
(in thousands):

2014 2013
Gross patient service revenue $ 610,092 575,718
Less provision for contractual and other adjustments (271,468) (250,047)
Less provision for bad debts (70,175) (67,464)
$ 268,449 258,207

Changes in estimates related to prior cost reporting periods resulted in an increase of approximately
$802,000 and $1,279,000 in net patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Hospital Lease

In 2006, the University and Infirmary Health System, Inc. (the Infirmary) entered into a Lease Agreement
(the Lease) in which the University agreed to leasc certain land, buildings and equipment used in
connection with the operating of its USA Knollwood Hospital campus to the Infirmary. The original lease
was effective through March 2056. The lease provided for its termination, at the option of the Infirmary, in
the event that a change in any law, statue, rule, or a regulation of any governmental or other regulatory
body was deemed by the Infirmary as significant, as defined by the lease. The hospital was operated as
Mobile Infirmary West.

The total amount of the lease payments due the University was based on the fair value of the appraised
assets, $32,418,000. The allocation of the appraised fair value was $29,370,000 for land and buildings and
$3,048,000 for medical equipment, office furnishings and other equipment. In addition to an up-front
payment, the lease agreement required monthly lease payments by the Infirmary to the University. In order
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to properly report this transaction, the University bifurcated the lease into an equipment component and a
real property component. The equipment component of the lease was considered a capital lease and as
such, a lease receivable was reported in the accompanying basic financial statements of the University. The
component of the lease attributable to land and buildings was considered an operating lease. As such, lease
revenue was recorded and is being earned over the life of the lease. Lease revenue in the amounts of
approximately $0 and $164,000 was reported as other operating revenue in the accompanying basic
financial statements for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Payments received in
excess of the amount recognized as lease revenue were unrecognized and amortized over the term of the
lease.

In October 2012, officials of the Infirmary publically announced the closing of the Mobile Infirmary West
effective October 31, 2012.

As a result of the closing of the hospital, in May 2013, the University Board of Trustees determined that it
was in the best interest of the University to sell Knollwood Hospitals, all related furniture and equipment,
adjacent medical office buildings and land. As such, the Board approved a resolution authorizing
University management to seek proposals for the sale of Knollwood Hospitals and proceed with
negotiations with potential buyers. Subsequent to a public advertisement and negotiation period, the
University and the Infirmary entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the Agreement), dated June 5,
2013. The Agreement called for the sale of all land, buildings, furniture and equipment at Knollwood
Hospitals to the Infirmary for a purchase price of $5,000,000 and effectively canceled the original 2006
lease agreement. Following a period of due diligence the transaction was closed on July 19, 2013. At
closing, the Infirmary made a payment of $2,500,000 to the University and issued a promissory note, dated
July 19, 2013, for the remaining $2,500,000 which was received by the University in July 2014.

At the time of the closing, the University wrote off capital assets with a cost of approximately $31,597,000
and accumulated depreciation of approximately $19,601,000. Unrecognized revenue related to the original
lease of approximately $5,692,000 was also written off. As of September 30, 2013, a note receivable in the
amount of $2,500,000, due July 19, 2014, was recognized and is reported as a current note receivable in the
University’s 2013 statement of net position. As a result of the transaction, the University recognized a loss
on the sale of $1,304,000 which is reported as an other nonoperating expense in the 2013 statement of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position,

Employee Benefits
(a) Retirement and Pension Plans

Employees of the University are covered by two pension plans: a cost sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan administered by the Teachers’ Retirement System of the State of
Alabama (TRS), and a defined contribution pension plan.

Permanent employees of the University participate in TRS, a public retirement system created by an
act of the State Legislature, with benefit provisions established by the Code of Alabama.
Responsibility for general administration and operation of the TRS is vested in the Board of Control
(currently 14 members). Benefits fully vest after 10 years of full time, permanent employment.
Vested employees may retire with full benefits at age 60 or after 25 years of service. Participating
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retirees may elect the maximum benefit, or may choose among four other monthly benefit options.
Under the maximum benefit, participants are allowed 2.0125% of their average final salary (average
of three highest years of annual compensation during the last ten years of service) for each year of
service. The TRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and
required supplementary information. That report may be obtained by writing to the Retirement
Systems of Alabama, P.O. Box 302150, Montgomery, Alabama 36130-2150, or by calling (334) 832
4140.

Prior to October 1, 2011, essentially all employees covered by this retirement plan were required to
contribute 5% of their eligible camings to TRS. Effective October 1, 2011 and 2012, the required
employee contribution was increased to 7.25% and 7.5%, respectively, of their eligible earnings. An
actuary employed by the TRS Board of Control establishes the employer-matching amount annually.
During 2014, 2013 and 2012, the University made total contributions of $24,573,000, $21,879,000,
and $23,381,000 (100% of the required contributions), respectively, to TRS on behalf of participants.
For employees that were hired before January 1, 2013, the University contribution rate was 11.7%,
10.1%, and 10.0% in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, of each participant’s gross earnings. For
employees hired after January 1, 2013, the University contribution rate was 11.1% and 9.4% in 2014
and 2013, respectively, of each participant’s gross earmnings. The University’s payroll for all
employees was approximately $246,896,000 and $254,249,000 in 2014 and 2013, respectively. The
LLC’s payroll for all employees was approximately $78,975,000 and $61,645,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Total payroll for University employees participating in the Teachers’ Retirement
System of Alabama was approximately $210,359,000 and $217,164,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

The defined contribution pension plan covers certain academic and administrative employees, and
participation by eligible employees is optional. Under this plan, administered by Teachers Insurance
and Annuity Association — College Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF), contributions by
eligible employees are matched equally by the University up to a maximum of 3% of current annual
pay. The University and the employees each contributed $840,000 and $928,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively, representing 344 and 436, respectively, employees participating in this Plan.

All employees of the LLC working at least half time are eligible to participate in a defined
contribution pension plan. Under this plan, contributions by eligible employees are matched equally
by the LLC up to a maximum of 5% of current annual pay. The LLC and the employees contributed
$2,454,000 and $1,885,000, respectively, in 2014 and 2013 representing 867 and 679, employees
participating in this plan. University employees as of September 30, 2011 who later transfer to the
LLC are immediately vested in the plan. All other employees do not vest until they have held
employment with the LLC for thirty-six months; at which time they become 100% vested in the plan.

Compensated Absences

Regular University employees accumulate vacation and sick leave and hospital and clinical
employees accumulate paid time off. These are subject to maximum limitations, at varying rates
depending upon their employee classification and length of service. Upon separation of employment,
employces who were hired before January 1, 2012 are paid all unused accrued vacation at their
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regular rate of pay up to a maximum of two times their annual accumulation rate. Employees hired
after January 1, 2012 are not eligible for payment of unused accrued vacation or PTO hours upon
separation of employment. The accompanying statements of net position include accruals for
vacation pay and paid time off of approximately $15,535,000 and $15,763,000 at September 30,
2014 and 2013, respectively. The current portion of the accrual is included in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities and the noncwrent portion is included in other long term liabilities in the
accompanying basic financial statements. No accrual is recognized for sick leave benefits since no
terminal cash benefit is available to employees for accumulated sick leave.

(c)  Other Postretirement Employee Benefits

As the provider of postretirement benefits to state retirees, the state is responsible for implementing
GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions. In September 2003, the State of Alabama Legislature passed
legislation that requires all colleges and universities to fund the healthcare premiums of its
participating retirees. In prior years, such costs have been paid by the State. Beginning in
October 2003, the University was assessed a monthly premium by the Public Education Employees’
Health Insurance Plan (PEEHIP) based on the number of retirees in the system and an actuarially
determined premium. During the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University’s
expense related to PEEHIP was $7,963,000 and $7,130,000, respectively.

(13) Risk Management

The University, USAHSF, LLC and SAMSF participate in the professional liability trust fund and the
University, USAHSF, LLC, SAMSF and the Corporation participate in the general liability trust fund.
Both funds are administered by an independent trustee. These trust funds are revocable and use
contributions by the University and USAHSF, together with earnings thereon, to pay liabilities arising
from the performance of its employees, trustees and other individuals acting on behalf of the University. If
the trust funds are ever terminated, appropriate provision for payment of related claims will be made and
any remaining balance will be distributed to the participating entities in proportion to contributions made.

As discussed in note 1, the PLTF and GLTF are blended component units of the University, as defined by
GASB Statement No. 14, and as such are included in the basic financial statements of the University for
the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013. Claims and expenses are reported when it is probable that a
loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Those losses include an estimate
of claims that have been incurred but not reported and the future costs of handling claims. These liabilities
are generally based on actuarial valuations and are reported at their present value.

The University and LLC participate in a self-insured health plan, administered by an unaffiliated entity.
Administrative fees paid by the University for such services were approximately $1,770,000 and
$1,697,000 in 2014 and 2013, respectively. Contributions by the University and its employees, together
with earnings thereon, are used to pay liabilities arising from healthcare claims. It is the opinion of
University administration that plan assets are sufficient to meet future plan obligations.
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The changes in the total self insurance liabilities for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 for the
PLTF, GLTF and health plan are summarized as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013
Balance, beginning of year $ 21,297 22,747
Liabilities incurred and other additions 58,311 60,804
Claims, administrative fees paid and other reductions (49,816) (62,254)
Balance, end of year $ 29,792 21,297

Self-insurance liabilities due within one year are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The
noncurrent portion is included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying basic financial statements.

(14) Other Related Party

SAMSEF is a not-for-profit corporation that exists for the purpose of promoting education and research at
the University. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, SAMSF had total assets of $12,882,000 and $12,235,000,
net assets of $9,899,000 and $9,501,000, and total revenues of $3,635,000 and $3,474,000, respectively.
SAMSF reimburses the University for certain administrative expenses and other related support services.
Total amounts received for such expenses were approximately $707,000 and $711,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively, and are reflected as private grants and contracts in the accompanying statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position.

(15) Commitments and Contingencies

(a)

()

Grants and Contracts

At September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University had been awarded approximately $23,990,000 and
$24,175,000, respectively, in grants and contracts for which resources had not been received and for
which reimbursable expenditures had not been made for the purposes specified. These awards, which
represent commitments of sponsors to provide funds for research or training projects, have not been
reflected in the accompanying basic financial statements as the eligibility requirements of the award
have not been met. Advances include amounts received from grant and contract sponsors which have
not been earned under the terms of the agreements and, therefore, have not yet been included in
revenues in the accompanying basic financial statements. Federal awards are subject to audit by
Federal agencies. The University’s management believes any adjustment from such audits will not

be material.

Letter of Credit

In connection with the Hospitals® participation in the State of Alabama Medicaid Program, the
University has established a $77,000 irrevocable standby letter of credit with Wells Fargo, N.A. The
Alabama Medicaid Agency is the beneficiary of this letter of credit. No funds were advanced under
this letter during the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013.
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Litigation
Various claims have been filed against the University alleging discriminatory employment practices
and other matters. University administration and legal counsel are of the opinion the resolution of

these matters will not have a material effect on the financial position or the statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position of the University.

Rent Supplement Agreements

The University has entered into two irrevocable rent supplement agreements with the Corporation
and a financial institution. The agreements require that, in the event the Corporation fails to maintain
a debt service coverage ratio of one to one with respect to all of its outstanding indebtedness, the
University will pay to the Corporation any and all rent amounts necessary to cause the Corporation’s
net operating income to be equal to the Corporation’s annual debt service obligations (see note 8). As
of September 30, 2014 and 2013, no amounts were payable pursuant to these agreements.

State Bond Issues

The State of Alabama has made allocations to the University from bond issues in prior years.
Pursuant to these allocations, at September 30, 2014, approximately $112,000 is unspent and remains
available to the University for certain future construction costs. The allocations have not been
reflected in the accompanying basic financial statements.

Sale of Brookley Campus

On September 29, 2010, the University and the USA Foundation executed purchase and sale
agreement calling for the University to sell approximately 327 acres on Mobile Bay, known as the
Brookley campus, to the Foundation. The terms of the agreement required the Foundation to pay the
University $20,000,000; $4,000,000 at closing and $4,000,000 annually thereafter through the 2015
fiscal year. The sale closed on November 10, 2010 and the initial payment was received by the
University at that point. The transaction is recorded as an installment sale. As such, during the years
ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University reported a gain on the sale of $2,201,000 and
$2,116,000, respectively, which is reported as other nonoperating revenues in the statements of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position. At September 30, 2014, the University is reporting a
note receivable from the Foundation in the amount of $3,846,000 (reported as a current asset in notes
receivable) and unrecognized revenue in the amount of $2,289,000 (reported as current unrecognized
revenue). At September 30, 2013, the University is reporting a note receivable from the Foundation
in the amount of $7,544,000 ($3,698,000 is reported as a current asset in notes receivable and
$3,846,000 is reported as a noncwrrent asset in noncurrent notes reccivable) and unrecognized
revenue in the amount of $4,489,000 ($2,201,000 is reported as current unrecognized revenue and
$2,288,000 as other noncurrent liabilities). The unrecognized revenue will be amortized as an
installment gain as payments are received through 2015.

USA Research and Technology Corporations Leases

The Corporation leases space in Building I to three tenants under operating leases. One lease has a
5-year initial term expiring in October 2018 with two 5-year renewal options. Another lease has a
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10-year initial term expiring in March 2021, an option to cancel at the end of 6 years, and two 5-year
rencwal options. The third lease has a 67-month initial term expiring in December 2018 with no
renewal options.

Space in Buildings II and III is leased under operating leases to the University and various other
tenants. These leases have terms varying from month-to-month to ten years.

The Corporation leases from the University the third floor of a campus building. Located on that
floor is the Coastal Innovation Hub (the Hub), a technology incubator, which currently houses three
tenants with month-to-month leases.

Under leases for Buildings I, II, and III, the Corporation must pay all operating expenses of the
buildings, including utilities, janitorial, maintenance, property taxes, and insurance. Tenants will
reimburse the Corporation for such expenses only as the total expenses for a year increase over the
total expenses for the base year of the lease (the Corporation’s fiscal year beginning after the date the
lease is signed). Under Hub leases, the Corporation must pay all operating expenses of the space,
without reimbursement from tenants.

Space under lease to the University was 46,700 and 48,900 square feet at September 30, 2014 and
2013, respectively.

The Corporation owns a building located on the premises of the USA Medical Center which is leased
to a single tenant. The Corporation paid for construction of the building shell and land improvements
while the tenant paid for the cost of finishing the building’s interior. The lease has a ten year initial
term with three five-year renewal options. Under the lease, the tenant must also pay for utilities,
taxes, insurance, and interior repairs and maintenance. The Corporation is responsible for repairs and
maintenance to the exterior and HVAC system.

The Corporation, as lessor, had three ground leases in place at September 30, 2014 and 2013. One
lease is for a 40-year initial term with 20-year, and 15-year renewal options. The second lease is for a
30-year initial term with four 5-year renewal options. The third lease has a 38.5-year initial term with
20-year and 15-year renewal options.

Minimum future rentals by fiscal year are as follows (in thousands):

2015 $ 2,454
2016 1,894
2017 1,831
2018 1,721
2019 1.116
2020-2046 7,623

Total $ 16,639
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(16) Functional Information

Operating expenses by functional classification for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 are listed
below (in thousands). In preparing the basic financial statements, all significant transactions and balances

among accounts have been eliminated.

Instruction

Research

Public service

Academic support

Student services

Institutional support
Operation and maintenance of plant
Scholarships

Hospital

Auxiliary enterprises
Depreciation and amortization
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2014 2013
128,785 118,254
22,454 21,095
39,601 46,723
16,791 15,999
31,421 28,673
25,903 28,528
27,978 26,459
7,299 6,532
286,387 265,775
15,501 14,233
31,858 29,849
633,978 602,120
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Blended Component Units

As more fully described in notes 1(b) and 1(c), the LLC, PLTF and GLTF are considered component units
pursuant to the provisions of GASB Statement No. 61. In accordance with that statement, the LLC, PLTF
and GLTF are reported as blended component units. Required combining financial information of the
aggregate blended component units is presented below (in thousands):

2014 2013
Current assets $ 9,257 21,018
Noncurrent assets 49,706 29,755
Total assets 58,963 50,773
Current liabilities 33,460 34,187
Noncurrent liabilities 24,981 16,301
Total liabilities 58,441 50,488
Net position $ 522 285
Operating revenues $ 103,895 83,710
Operating expenses (105,665) (86,948)
Operating loss (1,770) (3,238)
Nonoperating revenues 2,006 3,325
Change in net position ) 236 87

Significant New (Future) Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2012, the GASB issued Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions.
GASB Statement No. 68 changes accounting and financial reporting for entities participating in certain
pension plans and will be effective for the year ending September 30, 2015. Statement No. 68 will require
the University to record its share, as determined by an independent actuary, of the net unfunded pension
liability, and its share of the changes in that net pension liability, for all cost-sharing defined benefit plans
in which it participates.

In January 2013, the GASB issued Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals of
Government Operations. GASB Statement No. 69 establishes accounting and financial reporting standards
related to government combinations and disposal of government operations and will be effective for the
year ending September 30, 2015. Tn November 2013, the GASB issued Statement No. 71, Pension
Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date. GASB Statement No. 71 was
issued as an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68 with an objective of addressing an issue regarding
application of the fransition provisions of Statement No. 68 relating to amounts associated with
contributions, if any, made by a state or local government employer or nonemployer contributing entity to
a defined benefit pension plan after the measurement date of the government’s beginning net pension
liability. Statement 71 will be effective for the year ending September 30, 2015.
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While the impact of the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 has not yet been determined, it is
expected that such implementation will have a material effect on the net position of the University. The
effect of the implementation of GASB Statements Nos. 69 and 71 on the University has not been
determined.
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University of South Alabama Children’s & Women’s Hospital doubled its size in 2014 with the completion of a nearly
200,000-square-foot expansion. The hospital is among a handful of freestanding hospitals in the United States dedicated specifically
to the health care needs of children and women.
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Introduction

The following discussion presents an overview of the financial position and financial activities of the University
of South Alabama (the University), including the University of South Alabama Hospitals (the Hospitals), a
division of the University, at September 30, 2014 and 2013 and for the years then ended. This discussion was
prepared by University management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes
thereto, which follow.

The basic financial statements of the University consist of the University and its component units. The financial
position and results of operations of the component units are either blended with the University’s financial
position and results of operations or are discretely presented. The treatment of each component unit is governed
by pronouncements issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. As more fully described in note 1
to the basic financial statements, the University of South Alabama Professional Liability Trust Fund, University
of South Alabama General Liability Trust Fund and USA HealthCare Management, LLC are reported as blended
component units. The University of South Alabama Foundation, the University of South Alabama Health
Services Foundation, and the USA Research and Technology Corporation are discretely presented.

Financial Highlights

At September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the University had total assets of $1,055,286,000, $1,042,345,000, and
$983,800,000, respectively; total liabilities and deferred inflows of $555,736,000, $549.355,000, and
$530,289,000, respectively; and net position of $499,550,000, $492,990,000, and $453,511,000, respectively.
University net position increased by $6,560,000 during the year ended September 30, 2014 compared to an
increase of $39,479,000 for the year ended September 30, 2013 and an increase of $38,389,000 for the year
ended September 30, 2012.

An overview of each statement is presented herein along with a financial analysis of the transactions impacting
each statement. Where appropriate, comparative financial information is presented to assist in the understanding
of this analysis.

Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations
Statement of Net Position

The statement of net position presents the assets, liabilities, deferred inflows and net position of the University at
September 30, 2014 and 2013. Net position is displayed in three parts: net investment in capital assets, restricted
and unrestricted. Restricted net position may either be expendable or nonexpendable and is that net position that
is restricted by law or external donor. Unrestricted net position is generally designated for specific purposes, and
is available for use by the University to meet current expenses for any purpose. The statement of net position,
along with all of the University’s basic financial statements, is prepared under the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, whereby revenues are recognized when earned and
expenses are recognized when incurred by the University, regardless of when cash is exchanged.

Assets included in the statement of net position are classified as current or noncurrent. Current assets consist
primarily of cash and cash equivalents, investments, and net patient accounts receivable. Of these amounts, cash
and cash equivalents, investments, and patient accounts receivable comprise approximately 29%, 50%, and 10%,
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respectively, of current assets at September 30, 2014. Noncurrent assets at September 30, 2014 consist primarily

of capital assets, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and restricted investments.

The Condensed Schedules of Net Position at September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012 follow (in thousands):

Condensed Schedules of Net Position

Assets:
Current
Capital assets
Other noncurrent

Total assets
Liabilities:
Current
Noncurrent
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows

Total liabilities and deferred inflows

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted, nonexpendable
Restricted, expendable
Unrestricted

Total net position

$

$

2014 2013 2012
303,272 333,828 292,041
578,303 565,830 533,199
173,711 142,687 158,560

1,055,286 1,042,345 983,800
120,646 115,149 115,088
434,913 434,206 415,201
555,559 549,355 530,289

177 — —
555,736 549,355 530,289
237,851 227,464 227,029
40,191 36,864 33,825
60,873 54,364 48,201
160,635 174,298 144,456
499,550 492,990 453,511

University cash, cash equivalents, and investments (current and noncurrent) increased between September 30,
2013 and 2014 by $8,497,000 to $403,965,000. This increase is consistent with the results of operations for the
year. This follows an increase of $47,820,000 in cash, cash equivalents, and investments between 2012 and 2013,
which was due primarily to the issuance of the 2013-A, 2013-B and 2013-C bonds, net of utilization of cash from

prior bond issues for various construction projects.
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The Condensed Schedules of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position for the years ended
September 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012 follow (in thousands):

Condensed Schedules of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Net Position

2014 2013 2012
Operating revenues:
Tuition and fees $ 104,448 95,709 88,299
Net patient service revenue 268,449 258,207 247,802
Federal, state and private grants and contracts 76,719 77,302 76,448
Other 54,010 52,388 56,579
503,626 483,606 469,128
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 419,966 401,872 396,170
Supplies and other services 158,615 148,597 134,841
Other 55,397 51,651 51,222
633,978 602,120 582,233
Operating loss (130,352) (118,514) (113,105)
Nonoperating revenues:
State appropriations 103,695 102,585 105,639
Investment income 8,206 28,159 14,561
Other, net 14,475 11,986 12,197
Net nonoperating revenues 126,376 142,730 132,397
Income (loss) before capital
appropriations, capital
contributions and additions to
endowment (3,976) 24,216 19,292
Capital appropriations, capital contributions
and additions to endowment 10,536 15,263 19,097
Change in net position 6,560 39,479 38,389
Beginning net position, before cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle 492,990 453,511 416,896
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle — — (1,774)
Beginning net position — as adjusted 492,990 453,511 415,122
Ending net position $ 499,550 492,990 453,511

In 2014, 2013, and 2012, approximately 40%, 39%, and 39%, respectively, of total revenues of the University
were net patient service revenue. Excluding net patient service revenue, net tuition and fees charged to students
represent the largest component of total university revenues, approximately 16% of total revenues in fiscal 2014.
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In order to realize debt service savings currently from future debt refunding, in January 2008, the University
entered into a synthetic advance refunding of the outstanding Series 2004 and 2006 bonds. This transaction was
effected through the sale of two swaptions by the University to the counterparty and resulted in an up-front
payment to the University totaling $9,328,000 in exchange for selling the counterparty the option to enter into an
interest rate swap with respect to the Series 2004 and 2006 bonds. A portion of this payment was considered a
borrowing and was included in the long-term debt of the University. The fair value component of the refunding
associated with the swaps was considered an investment derivative and, as such, the change in the fair value
component was reflected as a component of investment income in 2014, 2013 and 2012.

In December 2013, the counterparty exercised its option with respect to the 2004 swaption and forced the
University into an underlying swap. The University refunded its Series 2004 bonds, issued the 2014-A variable
rate bond and terminated the Series 2004 swaption. As a result of this termination, the borrowing arising from the
Series 2004 swaption of $1,696,000 and the investment derivative of $5,213,000 were written off and an
investment loss of $2,229,000 was recognized. A borrowing arising from the 2014 swap of $9,138,000 was
recognized and is reported in the statement of net position at September 30, 2014.

The University’s bond credit rating is Al as rated by Moody’s Investors Services and A+ as rated by Standard
and Poor’s Rating Services. Neither rate changed during 2014.

Economic Outlook

Student enrollment and tuition and fee rates have both increased over the past thirteen years. The University has
experienced an increase in enrollment between 2000 and 2014, from 11,870 in 2000 to 16,055 for the 2014 fall
semester. The enrollment trend for the University between 2000 and 2014 is as follows:

Enrollment Growth Summary
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In that same time period, in-state tuition per credit hour has increased by approximately 222%. The large increase
in 2010 is the result of the University’s bundling of tuition and required fees into a single per-hour charge.
Similar increases have been experienced in out-of-state tuition and College of Medicine tuition. The trend of
in-statetuition per credit hour between 2000 and 2014 is as follows:

Tuition per Credit Hour
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While enrollment and tuition have both increased in recent years, state appropriations prior to 2006 were
relatively flat. However, in the 2008, 2007 and 2006 fiscal years, the University experienced increases of 16%,
19% and 17%, respectively, or approximately $19,349,000, $19,185,000 and $14,581,000, respectively, in its
state appropriation. These increases were unusually high. For the 2009 fiscal year, the University’s original state
appropriation decreased 12.8% or approximately $17,882,000. Additionally, in December 2008 the Governor of
Alabama announced proration of 9%, or approximately $10,967,000; and in July 2009, the Governor announced
additional proration of 2%, or approximately $2,437,000. Therefore, the total decrease in the 2009 state
appropriation was approximately $31,286,000 to $108,451,000, or 22.4% lower than in 2008.

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $105,639,000 was authorized for the year ended
September 30, 2012. In February 2011, the Governor announced proration of 3%, or approximately $2,999,000,
that reduced the amount received to $96,948,000.

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $102,585,000 was authorized and received for the year
ended September 30, 2013,

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $103,695,000 was authorized and received for the year
ended September 30, 2014.

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $103,974,000 has been authorized for the year ending
September 30, 2015. This represents a $279,000 increase from the fiscal 2014 appropriation received. While no
announcement has been made, the University is aware that reductions in its 2015 appropriation are possible.
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The ten-year trend of state appropriations for the University is as follows:

State Appropriations - Ten-year Trend
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In addition to state appropriations, the University is subject to declines in general economic conditions in the
United States and, specifically, the State of Alabama. Further weakening of the economy could have a potential
further negative impact on the University’s enrollment, extramural funding, endowment performance, and health
care operations.

Other than the issues presented above, University administration is not aware of any other currently known facts,
decisions, or conditions that are expected to have a significant effect on the University’s financial position or
results of operations during fiscal year 2015 beyond those unknown variables having a global effect on virtually
all types of business operations.

Requests for Infermation

These basic financial statements are designed to provide a general overview of the University of South Alabama
and its component units’ financial activities and to demonstrate the University’s accountability. Questions
concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be
addressed to Mr. Stephen H. Simmons; Vice-President for Financial Affairs; University of South Alabama -
Room 170; Mobile, Alabama 36688. These basic financial statements can be obtained from our website at
http:www.southalabama.edu/financialaffairs/businessoffice/statements.html.
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KPMG LLP

Suite 1100

One Jackson Place

188 East Capitol Street
Jackson, MS 39201-2127

Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Trustees
University of South Alabama:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the University of South Alabama, a component
unit of the State of Alabama, (the University) and its aggregate discretely presented component units, as of
and for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the University’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not
audit the 2014 and 2013 consolidated financial statements of the University of South Alabama Foundation,
which represents 85%, 99%, and 32%, respectively, of the 2014 assets, net assets, and revenues, gains and
other support of the aggregate discretely presented component units and 83%, 100%, and 26%,
respectively, of the 2013 assets, net assets, and revenues, gains and other support of the aggregate
discretely presented component units. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has
been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the University of
South Alabama Foundation, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audits in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. The
financial statements of the University of South Alabama Foundation, the University of South Alabama
Health Services Foundation, the USA Research and Technology Corporation, and the Professional and
General Liability Trust Funds were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures sclected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
KPMG LLP is a Delaware krdied fiability partnership,

the U.S. member firm of KPMG International Cooperative
{"KPMG International’), a Swiss entity.



We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the University and of its
aggregate discretely presented component units as of September 30, 2014 and 2013, and the respective
changes in financial position, and where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Other Matters

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the management’s discussion and analysis on
pages 1-11 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part
of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries,
the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 14,
2014, on our consideration of the University’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the University’s internal control over
financial reporting and compliance.

KPme P

Jackson, Mississippi
November 14, 2014
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Net Position
September 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)
2014 2013
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 88,317 137,610
Investments 152,776 130,694
Net patient accounts receivable, (net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $54,106 in 2014 and $51,159 in 2013) 30,344 29,053
Accounts receivable, affiliates 10,432 17,283
Accounts receivable, other 6,619 2,147
Notes receivable, net 4,229 6,545
Prepaid expenses, inventories, and other 10,555 10,496
Total current assets 303,272 333,828
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 43,692 86,135
Restricted investments 87,646 40,553
Investments 31,534 476
Accounts receivable 3,573 4,580
Notes receivable, net 4,813 8,529
Other noncurrent assets 2,453 2,414
Capital assets, net 578,303 565,830
Total noncurrent assets 752,014 708,517
Total assets 1,055,286 1,042,345
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 49,138 51,056
Unrecognized revenue 54,524 48,332
Deposits 2,781 2,608
Current portion of long-term debt 14,203 13,153
Total current liabilities 120,646 115,149
Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion 381,103 387,737
Other long-term liabilities 53,810 46,469
Total noncurrent liabilities 434 913 434,206
Total liabilities 555,559 549,355
Deferred inflows 177 —
Total liabilities and deferred inflows 555,736 549,355
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 237,851 227,464
Restricted, nonexpendable:
Scholarships 18,494 16,118
Other 21,697 20,746
Restricted, expendable:
Scholarships 14,571 13,346
Other 46,302 41,018
Unrestricted 160,635 174,298
Total net position $ 499,550 492,990

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)
Assets 2014 2013
Cash and cash equivalents $ 670 900
Investments:
Equity securities 133,236 114,193
Timber and mineral properties 156,320 154,332
Real estate 31,007 31,010
Other 6,054 6,040
Other assets 702 647
Total assets $ 327,989 307,122
Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities:
Accounts payable b 163 126
Note payable — University of South Alabama 3,954 7,783
Other liabilities 736 677
Total liabilities 4,853 8,586
Net assets:
Unrestricted 62,701 64,280
Temporarily restricted 90,909 64,862
Permanently restricted 169,526 169,394
Total net assets 323,136 298,536
Total liabilities and net assets $ 327,989 307,122

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
HEALTH SERVICES FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Statements of Financial Position
September 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)

Assets 2014 2013
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13 592
Patient accounts receivable (net of allowance for uncollectible
accounts of approximately $3,838 and $4,651) 10,351 12,005
Other current assets 1,242 1,263
Total current assets 11,606 13,860
Interest in assets of University of South Alabama Professional
Liability Trust Fund 15,710 14,726
Property and equipment, net 3,419 3,658
Total assets $ 30,735 32,244
Liabilities and Net Assets (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,862 1,656
Due to affiliates 10,295 17,133
Total current liabilities 12,157 18,789
Estimated professional liability costs 15,710 14,726
Total liabilities 27,867 33,515
Net assets (deficit) 2,868 (1,271)
Total liabilities and net assets (deficit) $ 30,735 32,244

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

(Discretely Presented Component Unit)
Statements of Net Position
September 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)

Assets:
Current assets:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
Rent receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Intangible assets, net
Capital assets, net

Total noncurrent assets
Deferred outflows
Total assets and deferred outflows

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Deposits, other current liabilities, and accrued expenses

Payable to University of South Alabama
Unrecognized rent revenue
Current portion of notes payable

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Notes payable, excluding current portion
Interest rate swap

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

Total net position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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761 1,447
263 167

6 10
1,030 1,624
77 99
23,794 24,701
23,871 24,800
3,053 3,225
27,954 29,649
197 356

44 7
494 431
1,061 1,002
1,796 1,796
22,225 23,285
3,053 3,225
25,278 26,510
27,074 28,306
503 284
377 1,059
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)

Operating revenues:
Tuition and fees (net of scholarship allowances of $34,641 in 2014 and $32,457in 2013)  §
Net patient service revenue
Federal grants and contracts
State grants and contracts
Private grants and contracts
Augxiliary enterprises (net of scholarship allowances of $1,039 in 2014 and $974 in 2013)
Other operating revenues

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Supplies and other services
Scholarships and fellowships
Utilities
Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
State appropriations
Investment income
Interest expense
Other nonoperating revenues
Other nonoperating expenses

Net nonoperating revenues

Income (loss) before capital appropriations, capital
contributions and grants, and additions to endowment

Capital appropriations
Capital contributions and grants
Additions to endowment

Change in net position

Net position:
Beginning of year

End of year $

2014 2013
104,448 95,709
268,449 258,207

19,224 18,010
7,930 7,897
49,565 51,395
20,016 18,354
33,994 34,034
503,626 483,606
419,966 401,872
158,615 148,597
7,839 7,099
15,700 14,703
31,858 29,849
633,978 602,120

(130,352) (118,514)

103,695 102,585

8,206 28,159
(12,929) (13,093)
39,111 34,299
(11,707) (9,220)
126,376 142,730
(3,976) 24,216
3,482 1,236
790 10,871
6,264 3,156
6,560 39,479

492,990 453,511
499,550 492,990

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Consolidated Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets

Year ended June 30, 2014
(In thousands)
Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total
Revenues, gains, and other support:
Net realized and unrealized gains on
investments $ 5,620 25,356 e 30,976
Rents, royalties and timber sales 3,727 193 17 3,937
Interest and dividends 194 1,879 6 2,079
Gifts - 2 55 57
Other income 9 — e 9
Required match of donor contributions 54) — 54 -
Interfund interest (165) 165 w— e
Net assets released from program
restrictions 1,548 (1,548) — —
Total revenues, gains, and
other support 10,879 26,047 132 37,058
Expenditures:
Program services:
Faculty support 2,332 — - 2,332
Scholarships 1,066 — — 1,066
Other 1,117 — — 1,117
Total program service
expenditures 4,515 — — 4,515
Management and general 1,771 — — 1,771
Other investment expense 2,011 — — 2,011
Depletion expense 3,882 — — 3,882
Depreciation expense 108 — — 108
Interest expense 171 — — 171
Total expenditures 12,458 — — 12,458
Increase (decrease) in net assets (1,579) 26,047 132 24,600
Net assets — beginning of year 64,280 64,862 169,394 298,536
Net assets — end of year $ 62,701 90,909 169,526 323,136

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Consolidated Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets

Year ended June 30, 2013
(In thousands)
Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total
Revenues, gains, and other support:
Net realized and unrealized gains on
investments $ 9,182 11,758 — 20,940
Rents, royalties and timber sales 3,501 — 16 3,517
Interest and dividends 485 1,474 6 1,965
Gifts e 1 15 16
Other income 70 — — 70
Required match of donor contributions (111) — 111 —
Interfund interest (118) 118 — —
Net assets released from program
restrictions 1,376 (1,376) e —
Total revenues, gains, and
other support 14,385 11,975 148 26,508
Expenditures:
Program services:
Faculty support 2,379 — — 2,379
Scholarships 982 — e 982
Other 1,088 — — 1,088
Total program service
expenditures 4,449 — — 4,449
Management and general 1,724 e e 1,724
Other investment expense 1,796 — — 1,796
Depletion expense 3,391 -— — 3,391
Depreciation expense 33 — — 83
Interest expense 290 o — 290
Total expenditures 11,733 — e 11,733
Increase in net assets 2,652 11,975 148 14,775
Net assets — beginning of year 61,628 52,887 169,246 283,761
Net assets — end of year $ 64,280 64,862 169,394 298,536

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
HEALTH SERVICES FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets (Deficit)
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

Net patient service revenue

Other revenue

Expenses:
Salaries and benefits
General and administrative

Nonoperating gains

of Medicine

Net deficit at beginning of year
Net assets (deficit) at end of year

(In thousands)
‘ 2014 2013
Unrestricted revenues, gains and other support:
$ 75,680 63,298
Provision for uncollectible accounts (13,871) (12,057)
Net patient service revenue less provision for

uncollectible accounts 61,809 51,241

10,563 8,701

Total unrestricted revenues, gains, and other support 72,372 59,942

43,431 48,433

16,535 5,864

Depreciation and amortization 1,602 1,465
Total expenses 61,568 55,762

Operating income 10,804 4,180

1,835 3,491

Revenues over expenses 12,639 7,671

Transfer of capital to University of South Alabama, College

(8,500) (5,100)

Change in net assets (deficit) 4,139 2,571

(1,271) (3,842)

$ 2,868 (1,271)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

(Discretely Presented Component Unit)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)

Operating revenues
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Building management and operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Legal and administrative fees
Insurance

Total operating expenses
Operating income

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment income
Interest expense
Donation revenue
Other

Net nonoperating expenses
Change in net position

Net position:
Beginning of year

End of year

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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3,506 4,011
3,506 4,011
1,240 1,427
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(In thousands)
2014 2013
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts related to tuition and fees $ 107,558 99,546
Receipts from and on behalf of patients and third-party payers 267,277 255,918
Receipts from grants and contracts 34,283 86,927
Receipts related to auxiliary enterprises 20,061 18,507
Payments to suppliers and vendors (172,409) (149,010)
Payments to employees and related benefits (420,000) (396,311)
Payments for scholarships and fellowships (7,839) (7,099)
Other operating receipts 30,172 33,007
Net cash used in operating activities (90,897) (58,515)
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
State appropriations 103,695 102,585
Endowment gifts 6,264 3,156
Agency funds received 1,424 1,040
Agency funds disbursed (1,302) (904)
Student loan program receipts 135,038 126,410
Student loan program disbursements (135,041) (126,936)
Other nonoperating revenues 36,883 34,729
Other nonoperating expenses (11,476) (9,206)
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 135,485 130,874
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Capital contributions and grants 917 13,464
Purchases of capital assets (35,090) (72,680)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 3,698 6,030
Proceeds from issuance of capital debt 41,245 50,000
Principal payments on capital debt (54,119) (10,552)
Interest payments on capital debt (15,674) (14,324)
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (59,023) (28,062)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest and dividends on investments 5,959 5,030
Purchases of investments (108,663) (90,855)
Proceeds from sales of investments 25,403 49,672
Net cash used in investing activities (77,301) (36,153)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (91,736) 8,144
Cash and cash equivalents (unrestricted and restricted):
Beginning of year 223,745 215,601
End of year $ 132,009 223,745
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)

2014 2013
Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Operating loss $ (130,352) (118,514)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense 31,858 29,849
Changes in assets and liabilities, net:
Student receivables (854) 1,350
Net patient accounts receivables (1,291) (2,215)
Grants and contracts receivables 6,703 7,706
Other receivables (2,914) 9,513
Prepaid expenses, inventories, and other 1,936 5,302
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,087) 9,630
Unrecognized revenue 6,104 (1,136)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (90,897) (58,515)
Noncash investing, noncapital financing, and capital and related
financing transactions:
Net increase in fair value of investments recognized
as a component of investment income $ 10,180 24,692
Additional maturity on capital appreciation on bonds payable and
other borrowings recorded as interest expense 1,854 1,981
Payments on behalf of the University by the Alabama Public
School and College Authority reducing purchases of capital
assets 2,489 124
Increase in receivables from Alabama Public School and
College Authority reducing purchases of capital assets 993 —
Gifts of capital and other assets 231 42
Pledges of operating and capital gifts 88 1,961
Capitalization of construction period interest 3,825 2,934
Decrease in accounts payable related to capital assets (43) (3,856)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2014 and 2013

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(@)

Reporting Entity

The accompanying basic financial statements present the financial position and activities of the
University of South Alabama (the University), which is a component unit of the State of Alabama.
The financial statements of the University are intended to present the financial position, changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows of only that portion of the basic financial
statements and the aggregate discretely presented component units of the State of Alabama that is
attributable to the transactions of the University.

The financial reporting entity, as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, and amended by GASB Statement No. 39,
Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units, and GASB Statement No. 61,
The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, consists of the primary government and all of its
component units. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the primary
government is financially accountable. In addition, the primary government may determine, through
exercise of management’s professional judgment, that the inclusion of an organization that does not
meet the financial accountability criteria is necessary in order to prevent the reporting entity’s
financial statements from being misleading. In such instances, that organization is included as a
component unit. Accordingly, the basic financial statements include the accounts of the University,
as the primary government, and the accounts of the entities discussed below as component units.

During 2013, the University adopted GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reports Entity:
Omnibus, which amends GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 39, and provides criteria for determining
whether certain organizations should be reported as component units based on the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government. Such criteria include the appointment
of a voting majority of the board of the organization, the ability to impose the will of the primary
government on the organization and the financial benefits/burden between the primary government
and the potential component unit. The statement also clarifies reporting and disclosure requirements
for those organizations. Based on these criteria as of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University
reports the University of South Alabama Foundation (USA Foundation), the University of South
Alabama Health Services Foundation (USAHSF), and the USA Research and Technology
Corporation (the Corporation) as discretely presented component units.

The University is also affiliated with the South Alabama Medical Science Foundation (SAMSF).
This entity is not considered a component unit of the University under the provisions of
GASB Statements No. 14, 39 and 61 because the University does not consider SAMSF significant
enough to warrant inclusion in the University’s reporting entity (see note 14 for further discussion of
this entity).

GASB Statement No. 61 requires the University, as the primary government, to include in its basic
financial statements, as a blended component unit, organizations that, even though they are legally
separate entities, meet certain requirements as defined by GASB Statement No. 61. Based on these
criteria, the University reports the Professional Liability Trust Fund, the General Liability Trust Fund
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2014 and 2013

and the USA HealthCare Management, LLC as blended component units. All significant transactions
among the University and its blended component units have been eliminated.

USA HealthCare Management, LLC

In June 2010, the University’s Board of Trustees approved the formation of the USA HealthCare
Management, LLC (the LLC). The LLC was organized for the purpose of managing and operating
on behalf of, and as agent for, substantially all of the health care clinical enterprise of the University.
The University is the sole member of the LLC. The LLC commenced operations in October 2010
and is reported as a blended component unit (see note 17 for further discussion of, and disclosure for,
this entity).

Professional Liability and General Liability Trust Funds

The medical malpractice liability of the University is maintained and managed in its separate
Professional Liability Trust Fund (the PLTF) in which the University, USAHSF, LLC and SAMSF
are the only participants. In accordance with the bylaws of the trust fund, the president of the
University is responsible for appointing members of the trust fund policy committee. Additionally,
the general liability of the University, USAHSF, LLC, SAMSF and the Corporation is maintained
and managed in its General Liability Trust Fund (the GLTF) for which the University, as defined by
GASB Statement No. 14, is responsible. The PLTF and GLTF are separate legal entities which are
governed by the University Board of Trustees through the University president. As such, PLTF and
GLTF are reported as blended component units (see note 17 for further discussion of, and disclosure
for, these entities).

University of South Alabama Foundation

The USA Foundation is a not-for-profit foundation that was organized for the purpose of promoting
education, scientific research, and charitable purposes, and to assist in developing and advancing the
University in furthering, improving, and expanding its properties, services, facilities, and activities.
Because of the significance of the relationship between the University and the USA Foundation, the
USA Foundation is considered a component unit of the University. The Board of Directors of the
USA TFoundation is not appointed or controlled by the University. The University receives
distributions from the USA Foundation primarily for scholarship, faculty and other support. Total
distributions received or accrued by the University for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013
were $4,451,000 and $4,392,000, respectively, and are primarily included in other nonoperating
revenues and capital contributions and grants in the University’s statements of revenues, expenses,
and changes in net position. The USA Foundation presents its financial statements in accordance
with standards issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The USA Foundation is
reported in separate financial statements because of the difference in the financial reporting format
since the USA Foundation follows FASB rather than GASB pronouncements. The USA Foundation
has a June 30 fiscal year end which differs from the University’s September 30 fiscal year end. In
accordance with GASB Statement No. 14, this discretely presented unit has been included with the
most recent fiscal year. The accompanying consolidated statements of financial position and
statements of activities and changes in net assets for the USA Foundation as of and for the years
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 are discretely presented.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2014 and 2013

University of South Alabama Health Services Foundation

The USAHSF is a not-for-profit corporation that exists to provide a group medical practice for
physicians who are faculty members of the University and to further medical education and research
at the University. Because of the significance of the relationship between the University and
USAHSF, USAHSEF is considered a component unit of the University. The USAHSF reimburses the
University for salaries, certain administrative expenses, dean’s clinical assessment and other support
services. Total amounts received and accrued for such expenses were approximately $42,352,000
and $44,786,000 for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and are reflected as
private grants and contracts in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in
net position of the University. During 2014, the University reallocated a portion of faculty salaries
funded by USAHSF and the University to better align funding and effort. This reallocation, a change
in accounting estimate, resulted in a reduction of the payments from USAHSF to the University
during the 2014 fiscal year. The USAHSF presents its financial statements in accordance with
standards issued by the FASB. The accompanying statements of financial position and statements of
operations and changes in net assets (deficit) for the USAHSF for the years ended September 30,
2014 and 2013 are discretely presented.

USA Research and Technology Corporation

The Corporation is a not-for-profit corporation that exists for the purpose of furthering the
educational and scientific mission of the University by developing, attracting, and retaining
technology and research industries in Alabama that will provide professional and career
opportunities to the University’s students and faculty. Because of the significance of the relationship
between the University and the Corporation, the Corporation is considered a component unit of the
University. The Corporation presents its financial statements in accordance with GASB. The
accompanying statements of net position and statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net
position for the Corporation are discretely presented.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

For financial reporting purposes, the University is considered a special purpose governmental agency
engaged only in business type activities, as defined by GASB Statement No. 34. Accordingly, the
University’s basic financial statements have been presented using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, revenues are
recognized when earned, and expenses are recorded when an obligation has been incuired.

The University prepares its basic financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, as prescribed by GASB, including all applicable effective statements of the
GASB and all statements of the FASB issued through November 30, 1989 that do not conflict with
GASB pronouncements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires that management make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts
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of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

In particular, laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are extremely
complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least a reasonable possibility that
recorded estimates related to these programs could change by a material amount in the near term.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as petty cash, demand accounts, certificates of deposit, and
any short-term investments that take on the character of cash. These investments have maturities of
less than three months and include repurchase agreements and money market accounts.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments are recorded at fair value. The fair value of alternative investments (low-volatility
multi-strategy funds, private placement fund-of-funds, relative value arbitrage funds, and other) do
not have readily ascertainable market values and the University values these investments in
accordance with valuations provided by the general partners or fund managers of the underlying
partnerships or companies. Because these investments are not marketable, the estimated fair value is
subject to uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the fair value that would have been used had a
ready market for the investment existed. Investments received by gift are recorded at fair value at the
date of receipt. Changes in the fair value of investments are reported in investment income (loss).

Derivatives

The University has adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Derivative Instruments. GASB Statement No. 53 establishes a framework for
accounting and financial reporting related to derivative instruments, requiring the fair value of
derivatives to be recognized in the basic financial statements.

The University entered into two interest rate swaptions in January 2008, the Series 2004 swaption
and the Series 2006 swaption. As a result of entering into the swaptions, the University received
up-front payments. Swaptions are considered hybrid instruments which are required to be bifurcated
into the fair value of the derivative and a piece that reflects a borrowing for financial statement
purposes, which will accrete interest over time. As more fully described in notes 5 and 9, in
December 2013, the counterparty, Wells Fargo Bank, N. A. (Wells Fargo), exercised its option
related to the Series 2004 swaption, and as a result, the University entered into an interest rate swap.
As a result of the exercise of the option, the Series 2004 swaption was terminated. The Series 2006
swaption remains outstanding at September 30, 2014.

The University determined that as of September 30, 2014, the remaining swaption was not a hedging
derivative instrument; and that as of September 30, 2013, both then existing swaptions were not
hedging derivative instruments. As a result of that determination, the swaptions are required to be
reported as investment derivatives with the change in fair value flowing through the statements of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position.
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The fair values of the outstanding swaptions were $(14,191,000) and $(13,333,000) at September 30,
2014 and 2013, respectively. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, the fair values of the swaptions were
included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying statements of net position. The change in
fair value for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 was $(6,071,000) and $10,276,000,
respectively, and was included in investment income in the accompanying statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013. See note 5
for further discussion.

In March 2014, the University entered into an interest rate swap arrangement with a counterparty.
The resulting derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate swap. The University pays the
counterparty a fixed semi-annual payment based on an annual rate of 4.9753% and receives on a
monthly basis a variable payment of 68% of the one-month London Interbank Offered Rate plus
0.25%. The notional amount of the swap will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of
the Series 2014-A bond. The change in fair value of the swap ($177,000 at September 30, 2014) is
reported as a deferred inflow on the 2014 statement of net position since the interest rate swap is a
hedging derivative. See note 9 for further discussion.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable primarily result from net patient service revenue. Accounts receivable from
affiliates primarily represent amounts due from USAHSF for salaries, and certain administrative and
other support services. Accounts receivable — other includes amounts due from students, the federal
government, state and local governments, or private sources in connection with reimbursement of
allowable expenditures made pursuant to the University’s grants and contracts. Accounts receivable
are recorded net of estimated uncollectible amounts.

Inventories

The University’s inventories primarily consist of bookstore inventories and medical supplies and
pharmaceuticals. Bookstore inventories are valued at the lower of cost (moving average basis) or
market. Medical supplies and pharmaceuticals are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out
method) or market.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost, if purchased or at fair value at date of donation. Depreciation is
provided over the estimated useful life of each class of depreciable asset using the straight-line
method. Major renewals and renovations are capitalized. Costs for repairs and maintenance are
expensed when incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the gain or loss, if any, is included in
nonoperating revenues (expenses) in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position.
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All capital assets other than land are depreciated using the following asset lives:

Buildings, infrastructure and certain

building components 40 to 100 years
Fixed equipment 10 to 20 years
Land improvements 8 to 20 years
Library materials 10 years
Other equipment 4 to 15 years

Certain buildings are componentized for depreciation purposes.

Interest costs for certain assets constructed are capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring
those assets.

The University evaluates impairment in accordance with GASB Statement No. 42, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries. For the years
ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, no impairments were recorded.

Unrecognized Revenue

Student tuition, fees, and dormitory rentals are initially recorded as unrecognized revenue and then
recognized over the applicable portion of each school term.

Classification of Net Position

The University’s net position is classified as follows:

Net investment in capital assets reflects the University’s total investment in capital assets, net of
outstanding debt obligations related to those capital assets. To the extent debt has been incurred but
not yet expended for capital assets, such debt is excluded from the calculation of net investment in
capital assets.

Restricted, nonexpendable net position consists of endowment and similar type funds which donors
or other outside sources have stipulated, as a condition of the gift instrament, the principal is to be
maintained inviolate and in perpetuity, and invested for the purpose of producing present and future
income, which may either be expended or added to principal.

Restricted, expendable net position includes resources that the University is legally or contractually
obligated to spend in accordance with restrictions imposed by external parties.

Unrestricted net position represents resources derived from student tuition and fees, state
appropriations, net patient service revenue, sales and services of educational activities and auxiliary
enterprises. Auxiliary enterprises arc substantially self-supporting activities that provide services for
students, faculty, and staff. While unrestricted net position may be designated for specific purposes
by action of management or the Board of Trustees, they are available for use at the discretion of the
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governing board to meet current expenses for any purpose. Substantially all unrestricted net position
is designated for academic and research programs and initiatives, and capital programs.

When an expense is incurred that can be paid using either restricted or unrestricted resources, the
University addresses each situation on a case-by-case basis prior to determining the resources to be
used to satisfy the obligation.

Scholarship Allowances and Student Financial Aid

Student tuition and fees, and certain other revenues from students, are reported net of scholarship
discounts and allowances in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.
Scholarship discounts and allowances are the difference between the stated charge for goods and
services provided by the University and the amount that is paid by students and/or third parties
making payments on the students’ behalf. Certain governmental grants, such as Pell grants and other
federal, state, or nongovernmental programs are recorded as either operating or nonoperating
revenues in the University’s basic financial statements based on their classification as either an
exchange or nonexchange transaction. To the extent that revenues from such programs are used to
satisfy tuition and fees and certain other student charges, the University has recorded a scholarship
discount and allowance.

Donor Restricted Endowments

The University is subject to the “Uniform Prudent Management of Imstitutional Funds Act
(UPMIFA)” of the Code of Alabama. This law allows the University, unless otherwise restricted by
the donor, to spend net appreciation, realized and unrealized, on the endowment. The law also allows
the University to appropriate for expenditure or accumulate to an endowment fund such amounts as
the University determines to be prudent for the purposes for which the endowment fund was
established. The University’s endowment spending policy provides that 5% of the three-year
invested net asset moving average value (inclusive of net realized and unrealized gains and losses),
as measured at September 30, is available annually for spending. The University’s policy is to retain
the endowment net interest and dividend income and net realized and unrealized appreciation with
the endowment after distributions allowed by the spending policy have been made. These amounts,
unless otherwise directed by the donor, are included in restricted, expendable net position.

Classification of Revenues

The University has classified its revenues as either operating or nonoperating revenues.

Operating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of exchange transactions such as
student tuition and fees, net of scholarship discounts and allowances; sales and services of auxiliary
enterprises, net of scholarship allowances; most federal, state, and local grants and contracts; and, net
patient service revenue.

Nonoperating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of nonexchange transactions,
such as gifts and contributions, and other revenue sources such as state appropriations and
investment income.
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Gifts and Pledges

Pledges of financial support from organizations and individuals representing an unconditional
promise to give are recognized in the basic financial statements once all eligibility requirements,
including time requirements, have been met. In the absence of such a promise, revenue is recognized
when the gift is received. Endowment pledges generally do not meet eligibility requirements, as
defined by GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange
Transactions, and are not recorded as assets until the related gift has been received. Unconditional
promises that are expected to be collected in future years are recorded at the present value of the
estimated future cash flows.

Grants and Contracts

The University has been awarded grants and contracts for which funds have not been received or
expenditures made for the purpose specified in the award. These awards have not been reflected in
the basic financial statements, but represent commitments of sponsors to provide funds for specific
research or training projects. For grants that have allowable cost provisions, the revenue will be
recognized as the related expenditures are made. For grants with work completion requirements, the
revenue is recognized as the work is completed. For grants without either of the above requirements,
the revenue is recognized as it is received.

Net Patient Service Revenue and Electronic Health Records Incentive Program

Net patient service revenue is reported at estimated net realizable amounts due from patients,
third-party payers and others for healthcare services rendered, including estimated retroactive
revenue adjustments due to future audits, reviews and investigations. Retroactive adjustments are
considered in the recognition of revenue on an estimated basis in the period the related services are
rendered and such amounts are adjusted in future periods, as adjustments become known or as years
are no longer subject to such audits, reviews and investigations.

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) has implemented provisions of the
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 that provide incentive payments for the
meaningful use of certified electronic health record (EHR) technology. CMS has defined meaningful
use as meeting certain objectives and clinical quality measures based on current and updated
technology capabilities over predetermined reporting periods as established by CMS. The Medicare
EHR incentive program provides annual incentive payments to eligible professionals, and hospitals,
that are meaningful users of certified EHR technology. The Medicaid EHR incentive program
provides annual incentive payments to eligible professionals and hospitals for efforts to adopt,
implement, and meaningfully use certified EHR technology. The Hospitals utilize a grant accounting
model to recognize EHR incentive revenues. The Hospitals record EHR incentive revenue ratably
throughout the incentive reporting period when it is reasonably assured that it will meet the
meaningful use objectives for the required reporting period and that the grants will be received. The
EHR reporting period for hospitals is based on the federal fiscal year, which runs from October 1
through September 30.
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USA Medical Center and USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital did not meet any meaningful use
objectives for Medicare during 2014, and therefore have not recognized any revenue for this fiscal
year. Both Hospitals expect to meet meaningful use objectives for Medicare during the year ending
September 30, 2015. The Hospitals recognized Medicare EHR incentive revenues of $725,000 for
the year ended September 30, 2013. The Hospitals next receipt of Medicaid EHR revenues is
expected to occur during the federal fiscal year ended September 30, 2015. EHR incentive revenues
are included in other operating revenues in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In 2013, the University adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting
Entity: Omnibus. GASB Statement No. 61 amends GASB Statements No. 14 and 39 and modifies
certain requirements for inclusion of component units in the financial reporting entity.
GASB Statement No. 61 requires that for organizations that previously were included as component
units by meeting the fiscal dependency criterion, a financial benefit or burden relationship also
would need to be present between the primary government and that organization for it to be included
in the reporting entity as a component unit. Statement No. 61 also establishes criteria to require
inclusion based on other additional factors, such as organization board appointment, financial benefit
or burden and operational management of the organization. The adoption of this statement had no
financial reporting entity impact on the University’s component units; however, it did require
additional disclosures for blended component units.

In 2013, the University also adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting
of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position, and
GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities, during the year ended
September 30, 2013. Retroactive application of the standards was required for all prior periods
presented.

GASB Statement No. 63 provides financial reporting guidance for deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources. GASB Statement No. 65 establishes accounting and reporting
standards that reclassify, as deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources, certain
iterns that were previously reported as assets and liabilities and recognizes, as outflows of resources
or inflows of resources, certain items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities. The
University had historically deferred certain debt financing costs related to its bond issues and was
amortizing those costs over the term of the related bond issue. GASB Statement 65 requires that debt
issuance costs, except any portion related to prepaid insurance costs, be recognized as an expense in
the period incurred. The adoption of the provisions of GASB Statement No. 65 decreased beginning
net position at October 1, 2011 by $1,774,000.

Compensated Absences

The University accrues annual leave for employees as incurred at rates based upon length of service
and job classification.
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(y)  Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2013 basic financial statements have been reclassified in order to conform to
2014 classification.

Income Taxes

The University is classified as both a governmental entity under the laws of the State of Alabama and as a
tax-exempt entity under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as an organization described in
Section 501(c)(3). Consistent with these designations, no provision for income taxes has been made in the
accompanying basic financial statements.

In addition, the University’s discretely presented component units are tax-exempt entities under
Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as organizations described in Section 501(c)(3). Consistent
with that designation, no provision for income taxes has been made in the accompanying discretely
presented financial statements.

Cash

Pursuant to the Security for Alabama Funds Enhancement Act, funds on deposit may be placed in an
institution designated as a qualified public depository (QPD) by the State of Alabama. QPD institutions
pledge securities to a statewide collateral pool administered by the State Treasurer’s office. Such financial
institutions contribute to this collateral pool in amounts proportionate to the total amount of public fund
deposits at their respective institutions. The securities are held at the Federal Reserve Bank and are
designated for the State of Alabama. Additional collateral was not required for University funds on deposit
with QPD institutions. At September 30, 2014, the net public deposits subject to collateral requirements for
all institutions participating in the pool totaled approximately $9,342,196,000. The University had cash and
cash equivalents totaling $132,009,000 and $223,745,000 at September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

At September 30, 2014, restricted cash and cash equivalents consist of $3,760,000 related to cash included
in the PLTF and GLTF to pay insurance liability claims, and $39,932,000 of unspent proceeds from the
issuance of University bonds for capital purchases as outlined in the bond indenture. At September 30,
2013, restricted cash and cash equivalents consist of $28,547,000 related to swaption collateral obligations,
$2,621,000 related to cash included in the PLTF and GLTF to pay insurance liability claims and
$54,967,000 of unspent proceeds from the issuance of University bonds for capital purchases as outlined in
the bond indenture.

Investments
(a) University of South Alabama

The investments of the University are invested pursuant to the University of South Alabama
“Nonendowment Cash Pool Investment Policies,” the “Endowment Fund Investment Policy,” and
the “Derivatives Policy” (collectively referred to as the University Investment Policies) as adopted
by the Board of Trustees. The purpose of the nonendowment cash pool investment policy is to
provide guidelines by which pooled funds not otherwise needed to meet daily operational cash flows
can be invested to earn a maximum return, yet still maintain sufficient liquidity to meet fluctuations
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in the inflows and outflows of University operational funds. Further, endowment fund investment
policies exist to provide earnings to fund specific projects of the endowment fund, while preserving
principal. The University Investment Policies require that management apply the “prudent person”
standard in the context of managing its investment portfolio.

The investments of the blended component units of the University are invested pursuant to the
separate investment policy shared by the PLTF and GLTF (the Trust Fund Investment Policy.) The
objectives of the Trust Fund Investment Policy are to provide a source of funds to pay general and
professional liability claims and to achieve long-term capital growth to help defray future funding
requirements. Additionally, investments of the University’s component units both blended and
discretely presented are subject to UPMIFA as well as any requirements placed on them by contract
or donor agreements.

Certain investments, primarily related to the University’s endowment assets, are pooled. The
University uses this pool to manage its investments and distribute investment income to individual
endowment funds.

Investments of the University, by type, at fair value, are as follows at September 30, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands):

2014 2013
U.S. Treasury notes $ 8,885 8,496
U.S. federal agency notes 101,201 19,676
Pooled equity mutual funds 82,233 71,406
Pooled debt mutual funds 36,426 30,594
Managed income alternative investments (low-volatility
multi-strategy funds, private placement fund-of-funds,
relative value arbitrage funds, and other) 29,224 27,791
State agency obligations — 394
Other 13,987 13,366
$ 271,956 171,723

At September 30, 2014 and 2013, $16,395,000 and $10,272,000, respectively, of appreciation in fair
value of investments of donor-restricted endowments was recognized and are included in restricted
expendable net position in the accompanying statements of net position.

Credit Risk and Concentration of Credit Risk

The University Investment Policies limit investment in corporate bonds to securities with a minimum
“A” rating, at the time of purchase, by both Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. Investments in
corporate paper are limited to issuers with a minimum quality rating of P-1 by Moody’s, A-1 by
Standard and Poor’s or F-1 by Fitch.
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Additionally, the University Investment Policies require that not more than 10% of the cash, cash
equivalents and investments of the University be invested in the obligations of a single private
corporation and not more than 35% of the cash, cash equivalents and investments of the University
be invested in the obligations of a single government agency.

The University’s exposure to credit risk and concentration of credit risk at September 30, 2014 is as
follows:

Credit of total
rating investments
Federal Home L.oan Mortgage Corporation AAA 7.8%
Federal Home Loan Bank Corporation AAA 13.4
Federal National Mortgage Association AAA 5.5
Common Fund Bond Fund A+ 11.5
PIMCO Pooled Bond Fund A/BA/AA 2.0
Federal Farm Credit Banks Funding Corporation AAA 9.6
Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation AAA 1.0
Common Fund Equity Fund N/A* 13.3

The University’s exposure to credit risk and concentration of credit risk at September 30, 2013 is as
follows:

Credit of total
rating investments
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Aaa 4.9%
Federal Home L.oan Bank Corporation Aaa 2.3
Federal National Mortgage Association Aaa 13
Common Fund Bond Fund AA 15.2
Various State Agency Obligations Aaa/A2 0.2
PIMCO Pooled Bond Fund AA+/NR 2.7
Federal Farm Credit Banks Funding Corporation Aaa 2.9
Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation Aaa 0.1
Common Fund Equity Fund N/A* 17.4

*Credit rating in not applicable

36 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2014 and 2013

Interest Rate Risk

At September 30, 2014, the maturity dates of the University’s debt investments were as follows (in
thousands):

Years to maturity

Fair value Less than 1 1-5 6-10 More than 10
U.S. Treasury notes $ 8,885 70 8,815 — —
U.S. federal agency notes 101,201 8,286 92,915 —— —
Pooled debt mutual funds 36,426 — 32,484 3,942 —
$ 146,512 8,356 134,214 3,942 e

At September 30, 2013, the maturity dates of the University’s debt investments were as follows
(in thousands):

Years to maturity

Fair value Less than 1 1-5 6—10 More than 10
U.S. Treasury notes $ 8,496 808 7,688 — e
U.S. federal agency notes 19,676 664 18,930 — 82
Pooled debt mutual funds 30,594 1,183 — 29,411 —
State agency obligations 394 — o — 394
$ 59,160 2,655 26,618 29,411 476

Pooled debt mutual funds are classified based on the weighted average maturity of the individual
investment instruments within each fund.

The University’s Investment Policies do not specifically address the length to maturity on
investments which the University must follow; however, they do require that the maturity range of
investments be consistent with the liquidity requirements of the University.

Moertgage-Backed Securities

The University, from time to time, invests in mortgage backed securities issued by the Government
National Mortgage Association (GNMA) and the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA),
agencies of the United States government. The University invests in these securities to increase the
yield and return on its investment portfolio given the available alternative investment opportunities.

The fair value of mortgage-backed securities is generally based on the cash flows from principal and
interest receipts on the underlying mortgage pools. These securities include collateralized mortgage
obligations (CMOs). In CMOs, the cash flow from principal and interest payments from one or more
mortgage pass-through securities or a pool of mortgages may be reallocated to multiple security
classes with different priority claims and payment streams (commonly referred to as tranches). A
holder of the CMO security thus chooses the class of security that best meets its risk and return
objectives. CMOs are subject to significant market risk due to fluctuations in interest rates,
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prepayment rates and various liquidity factors related to their specific markets. There were no CMOs
in the University’s investment portfolio at September 30, 2014 or 2013.

At September 30, 2014, restricted investments consist of $45,946,000 related to investments
included in the PLTF and GLTF to pay insurance liability claims and $41,700,000 in required
collateral related to the 2006 swaption and the 2014 interest rate swap. At September 30, 2013,
restricted investments consist of $40,553,000 related to investments included in the PLTF and GLTF
to pay insurance liability claims.

University of South Alabama Foundation

Investments in securities consist primarily of equity securities totaling $133,236,000 and
$114,193,000, at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Investment income was comprised of the following for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands):

2014 2013

Unrealized gains $ 28,429 18,296
Realized gains 2,547 2,644
Timber sales 3,132 2,764
Interest and dividends 2,079 1,965
Rents 634 605
Royalties 171 148

h) 36,992 26,422

Investment related expenses in the amount of $295,000 and $259,000, respectively, are included in
the USA Foundation’s management and general expenses in the accompanying 2014 and 2013
consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets.

Real estate at June 30, 2014 and 2013 consisted of the following property held (in thousands):

2014 2013
Land and land improvements — held for investment S 29,926 29.910
Building and building improvements —
held for investment, net of depreciation 1,081 1,100
$ 31,007 31,010

Timber and mineral properties are stated at fair value. Depletion of mineral properties is recognized
over the remaining producing lives of the properties based on total estimated production and current
period production. Depletion of timber properties is recognized on a specific identification basis as
timber rights are sold or on a unit basis for sales made on that basis. Reforestation costs consisting of
site preparation and planting of seedlings are capitalized.
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Investments at June 30, 2014 and 2013, include an equity interest in a timberland management
company. The company’s primary assets consist of timberland. The Foundation’s proportionate
share of the fair value of the company is based upon the valuation of the trustee responsible for the
management of the company and the timber valuation.

The Foundation has adopted Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, (formally FASB Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements).
ASC 820 provides a single definition of fair value and a hierarchical framework for measuring it, as
well as establishing additional disclosure requirements about the use of fair value to measure assets
and liabilities. Fair value measurements are classified as either observable or unobservable in nature,
Observable fair values are derived from quoted market prices for investments traded on an active
exchange or in dealer markets where there is sufficient activity and liquidity to allow price discovery
by substantially all market participants (Level 1). The Foundation’s observable values consist of
investments in exchange-traded equity securitics with a readily determinable market price. Other
observable values are fair value measurements derived either directly or indirectly from quoted
market prices (Level 2). Investments that are not traded on an active exchange and do not have a
quoted market price are classified as unobservable (Level 3). The Foundation’s unobservable values
consist of investments in timber and real estate with fair values based on independent third-party
appraisals performed by qualified appraisers specializing in timber and real estate investments.

The Foundation’s investment assets at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, are summarized based
on the criteria of ASC 820 as follows (in thousands):

Fair value measurements at June 30, 2014

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Equity securities $ 71,080 62,156 — 133,236
Timber and mineral properties —_ — 156,320 156,320
Real estate — — 31,007 31,007
Other investments — e 6,054 6,054
$ 71,080 62,156 193,381 326,617

Fair value measurements at June 30, 2013

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Equity securities $ 57,870 56,323 — 114,193
Timber and mineral properties — — 154,332 154,332
Real estate — — 31,010 31,010
Other investments — —_— 6,040 6,040
$ 57,870 56,323 191,382 305,575
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For the year ended June 30, 2014, activity in investment assets valued at fair value based on
unobservable values is as follows (in thousands):

Timber and
mineral Other
Description properties Real estate investments Total
Beginning balance $ 154,332 31,010 6,040 191,382
Total gains (losses)

(realized/unrealized) 5,503 28 14 5,545
Acquisitions — 2 — 2
Reforestation 367 — s 367
Depreciation/depletion (3,832) (33) e (3.915)
Ending balance $ 156,320 31,007 6,054 193,381

For the year ended June 30, 2013, activity in investment assets valued at fair value based on
unobservable values is as follows (in thousands):

Timber and
mineral Other
Description properties Real estate investments Total
Beginning balance 3 153,574 31,040 5,522 190,136
Total gains (losses)

(realized/unrealized) 3,876 — 518 4,394
Acquisitions — 3 — 3
Reforestation 273 — — 273
Depreciation/depletion (3,391) (33) — (3,424)
Ending balance $ 154,332 31,010 6,040 191,382

As of June 30, 2014, the Foundation has no outstanding commitments to purchase securities or other
investments. Additionally, substantially all of the Foundation’s equity securities at June 30, 2014 and

2013 are considered readily liquid. Timber and mineral properties, real estate, and other investments
are generally considered illiquid.

Derivative Transactions — Swaption

In January 2008, the University entered into a synthetic advance refunding of the outstanding Series 2004
and 2006 bonds with a counterparty. This transaction was effected through the sale of two swaptions by the
University to the counterparty. The transactions resulted in an up-front payment to the University totaling
$9,328,000, which was recorded as a liability, in exchange for selling the counterparty the option to enter
into an interest rate swap with respect to the Series 2004 and 2006 bonds in 2014 and 2016, respectively.
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Objective of the Derivative Transaction

The objective of this transaction was to realize debt service savings currently from future debt refunding
and create an economic benefit to the University.

Terms

A summary of the transactions is as follows:

Option Effective
Date of expiration date of Termination Payment
Issue issue date swap date amount
Series 2004 bonds 2-Jan-08 16-Dec-13 15-Mar-14 15-Mar-24  §$ 1,988,000
Series 2006 bonds 2-Jan-08 1-Sep-16 1-Dec-16 1-Dec-36 7,340,000

As further discussed in note 9, in December 2013, the counterparty exercised its option with respect to the
2004 swaption. The University refunded its Series 2004 bonds, issued the Series 2014-A variable rate bond
and terminated the Series 2004 swaption. As a result of this termination, the borrowing arising from the
Series 2004 swaption of $1,696,000 and the investment derivative (liability) of $5,213,000 were written off
and an investment loss of $2,229,000 was recognized and reported in the statements of revenues, expenses
and changes in net position for the year ended September 30, 2014. A borrowing arising from the 2014
swap of $9,138,000 was recognized and is reported, net of current year amortization, as long-term debt in
the statement of net position at September 30, 2014.

As outlined in the 2008 agreement, if the counterparty exercises its option in 2016 related to the 2006
swaption, the University would, at the counterparty’s option, be compelled to enter into an underlying
swap. If the option is exercised, the University would begin to make payments on the notional amount,
currently $100,000,000 for the 2006 bonds of the underlying swap contract. Simultaneously, the University
would call outstanding 2006 bonds and issue variable rate demand notes (VRDNSs) in their place. Under the
swap contract, the University would pay a fixed rate of 5.0% on the 2006 bonds to the counterparty and
would receive payments based on 68% of the one-month LIBOR index plus 0.25%. Alternatively, although
it is not anticipated that this option would be to the University’s advantage, the University could, at its
option, cash settle the swap and retain its right to refund the 2006 bonds.

If the interest rate environment is such that the counterparty chooses to not exercise its option related to the
2006 swaption, the swaption would be canceled and the University would have no further obligation under
this agreement.

Financial Statement Presentation

A swaption is considered a hybrid instrument and as such the payment by the counterparty to the
University must be bifurcated into two components, a borrowing component and an embedded derivative
component, and each component treated separately. The embedded derivative value of the swaption
represents the fair value resulting from the fact that the fixed rate stated in the swaption is greater than the
at-the-market rate. The initial value of the borrowing is the difference between the upfront payment and the
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fair value of the embedded derivative and represents the time value to the counterparty for holding the
option, or the probability-weighted, discounted values of a range of future possible outcomes. The values
of the derivatives and borrowings at the date of execution of this transaction were as follows:

2004 Bonds 2006 Bonds

Embedded derivatives $ 918,000 3,343,000
Borrowings 1,070,000 3,997,000
$ 1,988,000 7,340,000

The values of any remaining borrowings are included in long-term debt on the University’s 2014 and 2013
statements of net position. Interest is being accreted on, and added to, the borrowings through the
expiration date of the option. For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, $379,000 and $400,000,
respectively, was accreted and is included in interest expense in the statements of revenues, expenses, and
changes in net position.

The fair values of the embedded investment derivatives are reported as investment assets, if the swaption
derivatives are assets, or other noncurrent liabilities, depending on the fair values of the swaption
derivatives. The change in the fair market values of the swaption derivatives is reported as a component of
investment income (loss) in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. At
September 30, 2014 and 2013, the negative fair values of the swaption derivatives are approximately
$(14,191,000) and $(13,333,000) and are included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying
statements of net position. For the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the changes in the fair value
of the derivatives were $(6,071,000) and $10,276,000, respectively.

Fair Value

At September 30, 2014 and 2013, the total of the embedded derivatives associated with the outstanding
swaptions had negative fair values of $(14,191,000) and $(13,333,000), respectively. The fair values of
these swaption derivatives were estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method calculates the
future net settlement payments required by the instruments, assuming that the current forward rates implied
by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are then discounted using
the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due on the date of
each future net settlement.

Risks Associated with this Transaction

Certain risks are inherent to derivative transactions.

Interest rate risk. Interest rate risk, as a result of rising short-term interest rates causing higher interest rate
payments, is effectively hedged by the University’s fixed rate bonds. If the counterparty exercises its
options, the underlying swaps are expected to effectively hedge the potentially higher payments on VRIDNs
as well. The University is also subject to interest rate risk, as a result of changes in long-term interest rates,
which may cause the value of fixed rate bonds or interest rate derivatives to change. If long-term interest
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rates fall subsequent to the execution of this transaction, the value of the swaption will change, with
negative consequences for the University.

Market access risk. This transaction assumes that VRDNs will be issued as a replacement of the 2006
bonds. If the University is unable to issue variable rate bonds after the counterparty exercises its right
under the remaining swaption, the University would still be required to begin making periodic payments on
the swap, even though there are no related bonds. Alternatively, the University could choose to liquidate
the swap, which may create a substantial cash outlay.

Basis risk. If the counterparty exercises its option, there is a risk that the floating payments received under
the swap will not fully offset the variable rate payments due on the assumed VRDNS.

Credit risk. Although the underlying swap exposes the University to credit risk should the swap be
executed, the swaption itself does not expose the University to credit risk. If the option is exercised, the
University would begin to make payments on the appropriate notional amount of the underlying swap
contract. In that situation, if the fair value of the swap is positive, the University would be exposed to
credit risk on the swap in the amount of its fair value. As of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the swap
counterparty was rated Aa3 by Moody’s Investors Services and AA — by Standard and Poor’s Rating
Services.

Termination risk. The University may be required to terminate the swaption or swap under certain
circumstances, such as credit downgrades or other events specified in the contracts. In the event that a
position needs to be terminated, the University may owe a substantial amount of money to terminate the
contracts. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, no events of termination have occurred.

Capital Assets
(o)  University of South Alabama
A summary of the University’s capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2014 follows

(in thousands):
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land and other $ 22,516 —_ — — 22,516
Construction-in-progress 137,678 32,167 (61,534) e 108,311
160,194 32,167 (61,534) e 130,827
Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements 30,934 4 457 — 31,395
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure 555,661 2,819 43,563 (618) 601,425
Other equipment 130,979 6,223 17,514 (4,034) 150,682
Library materials 57,608 3,024 e — 60,632
775,182 12,070 61,534 (4,652) 844,134
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Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements 3 (17,216) (1,203) — — (18,419)
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure (205,155) (15,913) e 8 (221,060)
Other equipment (103,546) (7,395) — 70 (110,871)
Library materials (43,629) (2,679) — — (46,308)
(369,546) (27,190) — 78 (396,658)
Capital assets
being
depreciated,
net 405,636 (15,120) 61,534 (4,574) 447,476
Capital assets, net $ 565,830 17,047 — (4,574) 578,303

At September 30, 2014, the University had commitments of approximately $3,468,000 related to
various construction projects.

A summary of the University’s capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2013 follows
(in thousands):

Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land and other $ 25,528 445 s (3,457) 22,516
Construction-in-progress 119,763 59,104 (41,189) — 137,678
145,291 59,549 (41,189) (3,457 160,194
Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements 31,256 244 — (566) 30,934
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure 539,118 3,442 40,922 (27,821) 555,661
Other equipment 133,090 8,291 267 (10,669) 130,979
Library materials 54,656 2,952 — — 57,608
758,120 14,929 41,189 (39,056) 775,182
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Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements $ (16,588) (1,194) — 566 (17,216)
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure (208,499) (15,954) — 19,298 (205,155)
Other equipment (104,084) (10,012) —_ 10,550 (103,546)
Library materials (41,041) (2,588) — (43,629)
(370,212) (29,748) e 30,414 {369,546)
Capital assets
being
depreciated,
net 387,908 (14,819) 41,189 (8,642) 405,636
Capital assets, net  $ 533,199 44,730 — (12,099) 565,830

At September 30, 2013, the University had commitments of approximately $13,918,000 related to
various construction projects.

(b)) USA Research and Technology Corporation
Changes in capital assets for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 are as follows (in

thousands):
2014
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Land improvements $ 2,199 e o e 2,199
Buildings 27,898 19 — — © 27917
Tenant improvements 868 45 — — 913
Construction in progress — e — — —
Other equipment 256 — — — 256
31,221 64 o — 31,285
Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements (842) 94 P — (936)
Buildings (5,146) (721) — S (5.867)
Tenant improvements 417) (130) —_ — (547)
Other equipment (115) (26) e - (141)
(6,520) (971) — — (7,491)
Capital assets, net $ 24,701 (907) — — 23,794
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Less accumulated depreciation

for:
Land improvements
Buildings
Tenant improvements
Other equipment

Capital assets, net

Noncurrent Liabilities

2013 _
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
$ 2,201 — 2) — 2,199
27,669 235 6) — 27,898
742 164 8 (46) 868
256 e — e 256
30,868 399 — (46) 31,221
(748) 94) — e (842)
(4,261) (702) (183) — (5,146)
(528) (118) 183 46 417)
(89) (26) — — (115)
(5,626) (940) — 46 (6,520)
$ 25,242 (541) — — 24,701

A summary of the University’s noncurrent liability activity for the years ended September 30, 2014 and

2013 follows (in thousands):

2014
Less amounts
Beginning Ending due within Noncurrent
balance Additions Reductions balance one year liabilities
Long-term debt:

Bonds payable and other 3 400,890 52,044 (57,628) 395,306 14,203 381,103

Total long-term debt 400,890 52,044 (57,628) 395,306 14,203 381,103

Other long-term liabilities 59,102 42,411 (35,589) 65,924 12,114 53,810
Total noncurrent

liabilities $ 459,992 94,455 (93,217) 461,230 26,317 434,913
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2013
Less amounts
Beginning Ending due within Noncurrent
balance Additions Reductions balance one year liabilities
Long-term debt:
Bonds payable and other $ 359,699 51,981 (10,790) 400,890 13,153 387,737
Total long-term debt 359,699 51,981 (10,790) 400,890 13,153 387,737
Other long-term liabilities 80,065 32,392 (53,355) 59,102 12,633 46,469
Total noncurrent
liabilities $ 439,764 84,373 (64,145) 459,992 25,786 434,206

Other long-term liabilities primarily consist of self-insurance liabilities, liabilities related to compensated
absences, and the fair value of derivatives. Amounts due within one year are included in accounts payable,
accrued liabilities and unrecognized revenue.
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(8) Bonds Payable
Bonds payable consisted of the following at September 30, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

2014 2013

University Tuition Revenue Bonds, Series 1999

Capital Appreciation, 4.70% to 5.25%, payable

November 2011 through November 2018 $ 28,312 31,530
University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital

Improvement Bonds, Series 2004, 2.00% to 5.00%,

repaid in April 2014 — 41,690
University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital

Improvement Bonds, Series 2006, 5.00%, payable

through December 2036 100,000 100,000
University Facilities Revenue and Capital Improvement

Bonds, Series 2008, 3.00% to 5.00%, payable through

August 2038 104,200 106,565
University Facilities Revenue and Capital Improvement

Bond, Series 2010, 3.81%, payable through August 2030 25,508 26,636
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2012-A, 2.92% payable through August 2032 23,075 24,050
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2012-B, 2.14% payable through August 2018 5,265 6,515
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2013-A, 2.83% payable through August 2033 30,788 32,000
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2013-B, 2.83% payable through August 2033 7,697 8,000
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond,

Series 2013-C, 2.78% payable through August 2025 9,454 10,000

University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bond, Series 2014-A,
variable rate payable at 68% of LIBOR plus .73%, payable

through March 2024 41,245 _
Borrowing arising from swaption, Series 2004 Bonds — 1,653
Borrowing arising from swaption, Series 2006 Bonds 6,240 5,904
Borrowing arising from interest rate swap 8,682 —
390,466 394,543

Plus unamortized premium 5,134 6,609
Less unaccreted discount 29 (36)
Less unamortized debt extinguishment costs {265) (226)
$ 395,306 400,890

Substantially all student tuition and fee revenues secure University bonds. Additionally, security for
Series 2008 bonds includes Children’s and Women’s Hospital revenues in an amount not exceeding
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$10,000,000. Series 1999 Current Interest Bonds began maturing November 2002, and Capital
Appreciation Bonds began maturing in November 2011. Series 1999 Bonds are not redeemable prior to
maturity. Series 2004 Bonds began maturing in March 2005 and were redeemed in April 2014. Series 2006
Bonds begin maturing in December 2024 and are redeemable beginning in December 2016. Series 2008
Bonds began maturing in August 2009 and are redeemable beginning in August 2018. The Series 2010
Bond began maturing in August 2011 and is redeemable beginning in February 2020. The 2012-A and
2012-B Bonds began maturing in August 2013. The 2012-A Bond is redeemable beginning in
August 2021. The 2012-B Bond is redeemable beginning in January 2015. The 2013-A, 2013-B and
2013-C Bonds began maturing in August 2014 and are redeemable beginning in June 2023. The
Series 2014-A bond begins maturing in March 2015 and is redeemable at any time.

In January 2008, the University entered into a synthetic advance refunding of the outstanding Series 2004
and 2006 bonds. This transaction was effected through the sale of two swaptions by the University to a
counterparty. The proceeds from each sale, totaling $9,328,000, consist of two components, a borrowing
and an embedded derivative. The borrowing is included in long-term debt. As a result of this transaction,
the counterparty has the option to compel the University to redeem its Series 2004 (occurred in
March 2014) and 2006 bonds at their respective redemption dates. See note 5 for a complete description of
this transaction.

During the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the maturity value of the Capital Appreciation
Bonds increased $1,432,000 and $1,581,000, respectively, over the original principal amount of
$19,810,000, reflecting accretion of interest.

Approximately $1,570,000 of proceeds from the issuance of the Series 2012-A and 2012-B bonds
remained unspent at September 30, 2014 and is included in restricted cash and cash equivalents in the 2014
statement of net position. These funds are restricted for capital purposes as outlined in the indenture.

Approximately $38,362,000 of proceeds from the issuance of the Series 2013-A, 2013-B and 2013-C
Bonds remained unspent at September 30, 2014 and is included in restricted cash and cash equivalents in
the 2014 statement of net position. These funds are restricted for capital purposes as outlined in the
indenture.

The University is subject to arbitrage restrictions on its bonded indebtedness prescribed by the U. S.
Internal Revenue Service. As such, amounts are accrued as needed in the University’s basic financial
statements for any expected arbitrage liabilities. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, no amounts were due or
recorded in the financial statements.

The University is subject to restrictive covenants related to its bonds payable. At September 30, 2014,
management believes the University was in compliance with such financial covenants.
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Debt Service on Long-Term Obligations

Total debt service by fiscal year is as follows as of September 30, 2014 (in thousands):

Debt service on bonds

Additional
Principal Interest maturity Total
2015 $ 14,099 14,364 (1,627) 26,836
2016 14,643 13,825 (1,286) 27,182
2017 18,178 13,375 (782) 30,771
2018 18,525 12,959 427) 31,057
2019 17,456 12,650 49) 30,057
2020-2024 88,565 54,283 — 142,848
2025-2029 84,853 40,914 — 125,767
2030-2034 82,734 23,051 — 105,785
2035-2038 55,584 5,514 e 61,098
Subtotal 394,637 190,935 4,171) 581,401
Plus (less):
Additional maturity 4,171
Unamortized bond premium 5,134
Unaccreted bond discount 29
Unamortized debt extinguishment
costs 265
Total $ 395,306

The principal amount of debt service due on bonds at September 30, 2014 includes $3,629,000
representing additional maturity value on Series 1999 Capital Appreciation Bonds. These bonds mature
through 2019. Also included in the principal amount of debt service due on bonds at September 30, 2014,
is $542,000 representing additional maturity value of the borrowing resulting from the Series 2006
swaption. As described in note 5, additional maturity will continue to accrue until the swaption option
period in 2016. Although this additional maturity is presented as principal on the debt service schedule
above, it is also recognized as interest expense on an annual basis in the University’s basic financial

statements as it accretes.
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(a) USA Research and Technology Corporation
Notes Payable
Notes payable consisted of the following at September 30, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

2014 2013
Wells Fargo, N.A. promissory note, one-month
LIBOR plus 0.85% (1.007% at
September 30, 2014) payable through 2028 $ 14,471 15,128
PNC Bank promissory note, 4.88%, payable
through 2021 8,814 9,159
$ 23,285 24,287

The note payable to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. was incurred by the Corporation to acquire Buildings IT
and III in the USA Technology & Research Park and to provide funds for renovations and tenant
finishing costs. The loan is a fully amortizing promissory note with a 20-year term. As more fully
described below, the Corporation entered into a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” type of interest rate
swap on the promissory note, which will yield a synthetic fixed interest rate of 6.1%. The promissory
note payable is secured by an interest in the ground lease with respect to the parcels of land on which
Buildings II and III stand, an interest in Buildings IT and III, an interest in tenant leases for Buildings
II'and III, and an interest in income received from rental of Buildings II and III.

The promissory note payable to PNC Bank has a 10-year term and amortization is based on a 20-year
term. PNC Bank acquired the promissory note as part of its acquisition of RBC Bank (USA) on
March 20, 2012. The Corporation agreed to not transfer or encumber the buildings or its leasehold
interest in the real estate on which the buildings stand. The promissory note payable is secured by an
interest in tenant leases for Building I and the dialysis services building, and an interest in income
received from rental of Building T and the dialysis services building.

In connection with each note, the University entered into an agreement with the lender providing that
for any year in which the Corporation’s debt service coverage ratio is less than 1 to 1, the University
will pay the Corporation rent equal to the amount necessary to bring the ratio to 1 to 1. The debt
service coverage ratio is calculated by dividing the sum of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year (reduced by current year capital assets additions) and current year change
in net position (determined without depreciation, amortization, and interest expense) by current year
debt service. For fiscal 2014 the Corporation’s debt service coverage ratio was 1.34 to 1.
Management believes the Corporation was in compliance with its debt covenants, including the debt
service coverage ratio covenant, at September 30, 2014. Further, management believes that, based on
existing leases and service contracts and agreements, the debt service coverage ratio for fiscal 2015
will be less than the fiscal 2014 debt service coverage ratio of 1.34 to 1, but will still exceed 1 to 1.
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Debt Service on Long-Term Obligations
At September 30, 2014, total debt service by fiscal year is as follows (in thousands):

Debt service on note and loan

Principal Interest Total

2015 $ 1,061 1,295 2,356
2016 1,118 1,238 2,356
2017 1,186 1,169 2,355
2018 1,251 1,105 2,356
2019 1,332 1,023 2,355
20202024 12,192 2,904 15,096
20252028 5,145 617 5,762

Total $ 23,285 9,351 32,636

Derivative Transaction

The Corporation is a party to a derivative with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., the counterparty (successor
to Wachovia Bank, N.A. the original counterparty). The derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed”
interest rate swap entered into in connection with the promissory note to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,

Objective of the derivative transaction. The Corporation utilizes the interest rate swap to convert its
variable rate on the promissory note to a synthetic fixed rate.

The swap will terminate on May 1, 2028, when the loan matures. The notional amount of the swap
will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of the loan. Under the swap, the Corporation
pays the counterparty a fixed payment of 6.10% and receives a variable payment of the one-month
LIBOR rate plus 0.85%. Conversely, the loan bears interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus
0.85%. The Corporation paid approximately $762,000 and $789,000 under the interest rate swap
agreement for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, which is reflected as an
increase in interest expense.

Fair value. The interest rate swap had a negative fair value of approximately $(3,053,000) and
$(3,225,000) at September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The changes in fair value are reported as
deferred outflows on the accompanying statements of net position since the interest rate swap is a
hedging derivative instrument.

The fair value of the interest rate swap was estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method
calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming that the current forward
rates implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are
then discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero coupon
bonds due on the date of each future net settlement.

Interest rate risk. On the Corporation’s “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate swap, as LIBOR
decreases, the net payment on the swap increases.
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Credit risk. As of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the Corporation was not exposed to credit risk on
the interest rate swap because it had a negative fair value. However, if interest rates change and the
fair value of the derivative becomes positive, the Corporation would have a gross exposure to credit
risk in the amount of the derivative’s fair value. The counterparty was rated Aa3 by Moody’s
Investors Services and AA —by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services as of September 30, 2014 and
2013.

Termination risk. The interest rate swap contracts use the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc, Master Agreement, which includes standard default and termination events, such as
failure to make payments, breach of agreement, and bankruptcy. At September 30, 2014 and 2013,
no events of default or termination had occurred. If the interest rate swap is terminated, interest rate
risk associated with the variable rate debt would no longer be hedged. Also, if at the time of
termination the interest rate swap had a negative fair value, the Corporation would be liable to the
counterparty for a payment equal to the interest rate swap’s fair value. To allow the Corporation the
maximum flexibility to manage the utilization of Buildings II and III while at the same time
providing protection for the counterparty, the Corporation granted the counterparty a $2,000,000
mortgage secured by an interest in the ground lease with respect to the parcel of land on which
Building II stands, an interest in Building II, a security interest in Building II tenant leases, and a
security interest in income received from rental of Building .

Derivative payments and hedged debt. As interest rates fluctuate, variable rate debt interest and net
derivative payments will fluctuate. Using interest rates as of September 30, 2014, debt service
requirements by fiscal year of the variable rate debt and net derivative payments, assuming current
interest rates remain the same in the future, are as follows (in thousands):

Variable rate loan Interest rate
Principal Interest swap, net Total

2015 $ 698 144 729 1,571
2016 738 138 696 1,572
2017 787 129 655 1,571
2018 832 122 618 1,572
2019 803 112 566 1,571
2020-2024 5,378 409 2,070 7,857
20252028 5,145 102 515 5,762

Total $ 14,471 1,156 5,849 21,476

Derivative Transaction — Interest Rate Swap

The University is a party to a derivative with Wells Fargo Bank, the counterparty. As more fully described
in note 5, in December 2013, Wells Fargo exercised its option with respect to the synthetic advance
refunding of the Series 2004 bonds to enter into an interest rate swap agreement with the University with
an effective date of March 15, 2014. The resulting derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate
swap. As part of the overall plan of the synthetic refunding of the 2004 bonds, the University redeemed
those bonds in April 2014 with proceeds from the 2014-A bond.
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Objective of the transaction. As noted the interest rate swap was the result of the original January 2008
synthetic advance refunding of the Series 2004 bonds. The objective of that transaction was to realize debt
service savings currently from future debt refunding and create an economic benefit to the University.

The swap will terminate in March 2024, when the 2014-A bond matures. The notional amount of the swap
will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of the bond. Under the swap, the University pays
the counterparty a fixed semi-annual payment based on an annual rate of 4.9753% and receives on a
monthly basis a variable payment of 68% of the one-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus
0.25%. Conversely, the Series 2014-A bond bears interest on a monthly basis at 68% of the one-month
LIBOR rate plus 0.73%.

Fair value. The interest rate swap had a negative fair value of approximately $(9,138,000) at its inception.
This amount, net of any amortization, is reported as a borrowing arising from the 2014 interest rate swap as
long-term-debt in the 2014 statement of net position.

The change in fair value during the current year is reported as a deferred inflow and derivative asset on the
statement of net position since the interest rate swap is a hedging derivative instrument. At September 30,
2014, $177,000 is reported as a derivative asset and deferred inflow.

The fair value of the interest rate swap was estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method
calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming the current forward rates
implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are then
discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due
on the date of each future net settlement.

Interest rate risk. As the LIBOR rate decreases, the net payment on the swap increases. This, however, is
mitigated by the fact that a decline in the LIBOR rate will also result in a decrease of the University’s
interest payment on the Series 2014-A bond. The University’s exposure is limited to 0.48% of the notional
amount, the difference in the payment from the counterparty and the interest payment on the 2014-A bond.

Credit risk. As of September 30, 2014, the University was not exposed to credit risk on the interest rate
swap because it had a negative fair value. However, if interest rates change and the fair value of the
derivative become positive, the University would have a gross exposure to credit risk in the amount of the
derivative’s fair value. The counterparty was rated Aa3 by Moody’s Investor Services and AA — by
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services as of September 30, 2014.

Termination risk. The University may be required to terminate the swap based on certain standard default
and termination events, such as failure to make payments, breach of agreement, and bankruptcy. As of the
current date, no events of termination have occurred.
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Derivative payments and hedged debt. As interest rates fluctuate, variable rate debt interest and net
derivative payments will fluctuate. Using interest rates as of the current date and assuming those current
interest rates remain the same in the future; debt service requirements, including swap payments, by fiscal
year are as follows (in thousands):

Variable rate loan Interest rate
Principal Interest swap, net Total
2015 $ 470 400 1,838 2,708
2016 490 643 1,568 2,701
2017 615 917 1,265 2,797
2018 640 1,088 1,060 2,788
2019 665 1,185 915 2,765
2020-2024 38,365 9,730 2,069 50,164
$ 41,245 13,963 8,715 63,923

Net Patient Service Revenue

The Hospitals have agreements with governmental and other third-party payers that provide for
reimbursement at amounts different from their established rates. Contractual adjustments under third-party
reimbursement programs represent the difference between the Hospitals’ billings at established rates for
services and amounts reimbursed by third-party payers.

A summary of the basis of reimbursement with major-third party payers follows:

Medicare — Substantially all acute care services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid at
prospectively determined rates. These rates vary according to patient classification systems that are based
on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. Additionally, the Hospitals are reimbursed for both direct and
indirect medical education costs (as defined), principally based on per-resident prospective payment
amounts and certain adjustments to prospective rate-per-discharge operating reimbursement payments. The
Hospitals generally are reimbursed for certain retroactively settled items at tentative rates, with final
settlement determined after submission of annual cost reports by the Hospitals and audits by the Medicare
fiscal intermediary. The cost report for the USA Medical Center has been audited and settled through 2009.
The cost report for USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital has been audited and settled through 2010.
Revenue from the Medicare program accounted for approximately 15% and 14% of the Hospitals’ net
patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Blue Cross — Inpatient services rendered to Blue Cross subscribers are paid at a prospectively determined
per diem rate. Outpatient services are reimbursed under a cost reimbursement methodology. For outpatient
services, the Hospitals are reimbursed at a tentative rate with final settlement determined after submission
of annual cost reports by the Hospitals and audits thereof by Blue Cross. The Hospitals’ Blue Cross cost
reports have been audited through 2011 and settled for all fiscal years through 2010. Revenue from the
Blue Cross program accounted for approximately 21% and 20% of the Hospitals’ net patient service
revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

55 (Continued)



(1D

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2014 and 2013

Medicaid — Inpatient services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are reimbursed at all-inclusive
prospectively determined per diem rates. Outpatient services are reimbursed based on an established fee
schedule.

The Hospitals qualify as Medicaid essential providers and, therefore, also receive supplemental payments
based on formulas established by the Alabama Medicaid Agency. There can be no assurance that the
Hospitals will continue to qualify for future participation in this program or that the program will not
ultimately be discontinued or materially modified.

Revenue from the Medicaid program accounted for approximately 24% and 22% of the Hospitals’ net
patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Other — The Hospitals have also entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance
carriers, health maintenance organizations, and preferred provider organizations. The bases for payments to
the Hospitals under these agreements include discounts from established charges and prospectively
determined daily and case rates.

The composition of net patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 follows
(in thousands):

2014 2013
Gross patient service revenue $ 610,092 575,718
Less provision for contractual and other adjustments (271,468) (250,047)
Less provision for bad debts (70,175) (67,464)
$ 268,449 258,207

Changes in estimates related to prior cost reporting periods resulted in an increase of approximately
$802,000 and $1,279,000 in net patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Hospital Lease

In 2006, the University and Infirmary Health System, Inc. (the Infirmary) entered into a Lease Agreement
(the Lease) in which the University agreed to lease certain land, buildings and equipment used in
connection with the operating of its USA Knollwood Hospital campus to the Infirmary. The original lease
was effective through March 2056. The lease provided for its termination, at the option of the Infirmary, in
the event that a change in any law, statue, rule, or a regulation of any governmental or other regulatory
body was deemed by the Infirmary as significant, as defined by the lease. The hospital was operated as
Mobile Infirmary West.

The total amount of the lease payments due the University was based on the fair value of the appraised
assets, $32,418,000. The allocation of the appraised fair value was $29,370,000 for land and buildings and
$3,048,000 for medical equipment, office furnishings and other equipment. In addition to an up-front
payment, the lease agreement required monthly lease payments by the Infirmary to the University. In order
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to properly report this transaction, the University bifurcated the lease into an equipment component and a
real property component. The equipment component of the lease was considered a capital lease and as
such, a lease receivable was reported in the accompanying basic financial statements of the University. The
component of the lease attributable to land and buildings was considered an operating lease. As such, lease
revenue was recorded and is being earned over the life of the lease. Lease revenue in the amounts of
approximately $0 and $164,000 was reported as other operating revenue in the accompanying basic
financial statements for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Payments received in
excess of the amount recognized as lease revenue were unrecognized and amortized over the term of the
lease.

In October 2012, officials of the Infirmary publically announced the closing of the Mobile Infirmary West
effective October 31, 2012.

As a result of the closing of the hospital, in May 2013, the University Board of Trustees determined that it
was in the best interest of the University to sell Knollwood Hospitals, all related furniture and equipment,
adjacent medical office buildings and land. As such, the Board approved a resolution authorizing
University management to seek proposals for the sale of Knollwood Hospitals and proceed with
negotiations with potential buyers. Subsequent to a public advertisement and negotiation period, the
University and the Infirmary entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the Agreement), dated June 5,
2013. The Agreement called for the sale of all land, buildings, furniture and equipment at Knollwood
Hospitals to the Infirmary for a purchase price of $5,000,000 and effectively canceled the original 2006
lease agreement. Following a period of due diligence the transaction was closed on July 19, 2013. At
closing, the Infirmary made a payment of $2,500,000 to the University and issued a promissory note, dated
July 19, 2013, for the remaining $2,500,000 which was received by the University in July 2014,

At the time of the closing, the University wrote off capital assets with a cost of approximately $31,597,000
and accumulated depreciation of approximately $19,601,000. Unrecognized revenue related to the original
lease of approximately $5,692,000 was also written off. As of September 30, 2013, a note receivable in the
amount of $2,500,000, due July 19, 2014, was recognized and is reported as a current note receivable in the
University’s 2013 statement of net position. As a result of the transaction, the University recognized a loss
on the sale of $1,304,000 which is reported as an other nonoperating expense in the 2013 statement of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

Employee Benefits
(a) Retirement and Pension Plans

Employees of the University are covered by two pension plans: a cost sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan administered by the Teachers’ Retirement System of the State of
Alabama (TRS), and a defined contribution pension plan.

Permanent employees of the University participate in TRS, a public retirement system created by an
act of the State Legislature, with benefit provisions established by the Code of Alabama.
Responsibility for general administration and operation of the TRS is vested in the Board of Control
(currently 14 members). Benefits fully vest after 10 years of full time, permanent employment.
Vested employees may retire with full benefits at age 60 or after 25 years of service. Participating
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retirees may elect the maximum benefit, or may choose among four other monthly benefit options.
Under the maximum benefit, participants are allowed 2.0125% of their average final salary (average
of three highest years of annual compensation during the last ten years of service) for each year of
service. The TRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and
required supplementary information. That report may be obtained by writing to the Retirement
Systems of Alabama, P.OC. Box 302150, Montgomery, Alabama 36130-2150, or by calling (334) 832
4140.

Prior to October 1, 2011, essentially all employees covered by this retirement plan were required to
contribute 5% of their eligible earnings to TRS. Effective October 1, 2011 and 2012, the required
employee contribution was increased to 7.25% and 7.5%, respectively, of their eligible earnings. An
actuary employed by the TRS Board of Control establishes the employer-matching amount annually.
During 2014, 2013 and 2012, the University made total contributions of $24,573,000, $21,879,000,
and $23,381,000 (100% of the required contributions), respectively, to TRS on behalf of participants.
For employees that were hired before January 1, 2013, the University contribution rate was 11.7%,
10.1%, and 10.0% in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, of each participant’s gross earnings. For
employees hired after January 1, 2013, the University contribution rate was 11.1% and 9.4% in 2014
and 2013, respectively, of each participant’s gross earnings. The University’s payroll for all
employees was approximately $246,896,000 and $254,249,000 in 2014 and 2013, respectively. The
LLC’s payroll for all employees was approximately $78,975,000 and $61,645,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Total payroll for University employees participating in the Teachers’ Retirement
System of Alabama was approximately $210,359,000 and $217,164,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

The defined contribution pension plan covers certain academic and administrative employees, and
participation by eligible employees is optional. Under this plan, administered by Teachers Insurance
and Annuity Association — College Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF), contributions by
eligible employees are matched equally by the University up to a maximum of 3% of current annual
pay. The University and the employees each contributed $840,000 and $928,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively, representing 344 and 436, respectively, employees participating in this Plan.

All employees of the LLC working at least half time are eligible to participate in a defined
contribution pension plan. Under this plan, contributions by eligible employees are matched equally
by the LLC up to a maximum of 5% of current annual pay. The LL.C and the employees contributed
$2,454,000 and $1,885,000, respectively, in 2014 and 2013 representing 867 and 679, employees
participating in this plan. University employees as of September 30, 2011 who later transfer to the
LLC are immediately vested in the plan. All other employees do not vest until they have held
employment with the LLC for thirty-six months; at which time they become 100% vested in the plan.

Compensated Absences

Regular University employees accumulate vacation and sick leave and hospital and clinical
employees accumulate paid time off. These are subject to maximum limitations, at varying rates
depending upon their employee classification and length of service. Upon separation of employment,
employees who were hired before January 1, 2012 are paid all unused accrued vacation at their
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regular rate of pay up to a maximum of two times their annual accumulation rate. Employees hired
after January 1, 2012 are not eligible for payment of unused accrued vacation or PTO hours upon
separation of employment. The accompanying statements of net position include accruals for
vacation pay and paid time off of approximately $15,535,000 and $15,763,000 at September 30,
2014 and 2013, respectively. The current portion of the accrual is included in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities and the noncurrent portion is included in other long term liabilities in the
accompanying basic financial statements. No accrual is recognized for sick leave benefits since no
terminal cash benefit is available to employees for accumulated sick leave.

(c)  Other Postretirement Employee Benefits

As the provider of postretirement benefits to state retirecs, the state is responsible for implementing
GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions. In September 2003, the State of Alabama Legislature passed
legislation that requires all colleges and universities to fund the healthcare premiums of its
participating retirees. In prior years, such costs have been paid by the State. Beginning in
October 2003, the University was assessed a monthly premium by the Public Education Employees’
Health Insurance Plan (PEEHIP) based on the number of retirees in the system and an actuarially
determined premium. During the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University’s
expense related to PEEHIP was $7,963,000 and $7,130,000, respectively.

(13) Risk Management

The University, USAHSF, LLC and SAMSF participate in the professional liability trust fund and the
University, USAHSF, LLC, SAMSF and the Corporation participate in the general liability trust fund.
Both funds are administered by an independent trustece. These trust funds are revocable and use
contributions by the University and USAHSEF, together with earnings thereon, to pay liabilities arising
from the performance of its employees, trustees and other individuals acting on behalf of the University. If
the trust funds are ever terminated, appropriate provision for payment of related claims will be made and
any remaining balance will be distributed to the participating entities in proportion to contributions made.

As discussed in note 1, the PLTF and GLTF are blended component units of the University, as defined by
GASB Statement No. 14, and as such are included in the basic financial statements of the University for
the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013. Claims and expenses are reported when it is probable that a
loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Those losses include an estimate
of claims that have been incurred but not reported and the future costs of handling claims. These liabilities
are generally based on actuarial valuations and are reported at their present value.

The University and LLC participate in a self-insured health plan, administered by an unaffiliated entity.
Administrative fees paid by the University for such services were approximately $1,770,000 and
$1,697,000 in 2014 and 2013, respectively. Contributions by the University and its employees, together
with earnings thereon, are used to pay liabilities arising from healthcare claims. It is the opinion of
University administration that plan assets are sufficient to meet future plan obligations.
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The changes in the total self insurance liabilities for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 for the
PLTF, GLTF and health plan are summarized as follows {in thousands):

2014 2013
Balance, beginning of year $ 21,297 22,747
Liabilities incurred and other additions 58,311 60,804
Claims, administrative fees paid and other reductions (49,816) (62,254)
Balance, end of year $ 29,792 21,297

Self-insurance liabilities due within one year are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The
noncurrent portion is included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying basic financial statements.

(14) Other Related Party

SAMSEF is a not-for-profit corporation that exists for the purpose of promoting education and research at
the University. At September 30, 2014 and 2013, SAMSF had total assets of $12,882,000 and $12,235,000,
net assets of $9,899,000 and $9,501,000, and total revenues of $3,635,000 and $3,474,000, respectively.
SAMSF reimburses the University for certain administrative expenses and other related support services.
Total amounts received for such expenses were approximately $707,000 and $711,000 in 2014 and 2013,
respectively, and are reflected as private grants and contracts in the accompanying statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position.

(15) Commitments and Contingencies

(@)

(b)

Grants and Contracts

At September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University had been awarded approximately $23,990,000 and
$24,175,000, respectively, in grants and contracts for which resources had not been received and for
which reimbursable expenditures had not been made for the purposes specified. These awards, which
represent commitments of sponsors to provide funds for research or training projects, have not been
reflected in the accompanying basic financial statements as the eligibility requirements of the award
have not been met. Advances include amounts received from grant and contract sponsors which have
not been earned under the terms of the agreements and, therefore, have not yet been included in
revenues in the accompanying basic financial statements. Federal awards are subject to audit by
Federal agencies. The University’s management believes any adjustment from such audits will not
be material.

Letter of Credit

In connection with the Hospitals’ participation in the State of Alabama Medicaid Program, the
University has established a $77,000 irrevocable standby letter of credit with Wells Fargo, N.A. The
Alabama Medicaid Agency is the beneficiary of this letter of credit. No funds were advanced under
this letter during the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013.
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Litigation
Various claims have been filed against the University alleging discriminatory employment practices
and other matters. University administration and legal counsel are of the opinion the resolution of

these matters will not have a material effect on the financial position or the statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position of the University.

Rent Supplement Agreements

The University has entered into two irrevocable rent supplement agreements with the Corporation
and a financial institution. The agreements require that, in the event the Corporation fails to maintain
a debt service coverage ratio of one to one with respect to all of its outstanding indebtedness, the
University will pay to the Corporation any and all rent amounts necessary to cause the Corporation’s
net operating income to be equal to the Corporation’s annual debt service obligations (see note 8). As
of September 30, 2014 and 2013, no amounts were payable pursuant to these agreements.

State Bond Issues

The State of Alabama has made allocations to the University from bond issues in prior years.
Pursuant to these allocations, at September 30, 2014, approximately $112,000 is unspent and remains
available to the University for certain future construction costs. The allocations have not been
reflected in the accompanying basic financial statements.

Sale of Brookley Campus

On September 29, 2010, the University and the USA Foundation executed purchase and sale
agreement calling for the University to sell approximately 327 acres on Mobile Bay, known as the
Brookley campus, to the Foundation. The terms of the agreement required the Foundation to pay the
University $20,000,000; $4,000,000 at closing and $4,000,000 annually thereafter through the 2015
fiscal year. The sale closed on November 10, 2010 and the initial payment was received by the
University at that point. The transaction is recorded as an installment sale. As such, during the years
ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the University reported a gain on the sale of $2,201,000 and
$2,116,000, respectively, which is reported as other nonoperating revenues in the statements of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position. At September 30, 2014, the University is reporting a
note receivable from the Foundation in the amount of $3,846,000 (reported as a current asset in notes
receivable) and unrecognized revenue in the amount of $2,289,000 (reported as current unrecognized
revenue). At September 30, 2013, the University is reporting a note receivable from the Foundation
in the amount of $7,544,000 ($3,698,000 is reported as a current asset in notes receivable and
$3,846,000 is reported as a noncurrent asset in noncurrent notes receivable) and unrecognized
revenue in the amount of $4,489,000 ($2,201,000 is reported as current unrecognized revenue and
$2,288,000 as other noncurrent labilities). The unrecognized revenue will be amortized as an
installment gain as payments are received through 2015.

USA Research and Technology Corporations Leases

The Corporation leases space in Building I to three tenants under operating leases. One lease has a
S-year initial term expiring in October 2018 with two 5-year renewal options. Another lease has a
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10-year initial term expiring in March 2021, an option to cancel at the end of 6 years, and two 5-year
renewal options. The third lease has a 67-month initial term expiring in December 2018 with no
renewal options.

Space in Buildings 11 and Il is leased under operating leases to the University and various other
tenants. These leases have terms varying from month-to-month to ten years.

The Corporation leases from the University the third floor of a campus building. Located on that
floor is the Coastal Innovation Hub (the Hub), a technology incubator, which currently houses three
tenants with month-to-month leases.

Under leases for Buildings I, 11, and III, the Corporation must pay all operating expenses of the
buildings, including utilities, janitorial, maintenance, property taxes, and insurance. Tenants will
reimburse the Corporation for such expenses only as the total expenses for a year increase over the
total expenses for the base year of the lease (the Corporation’s fiscal year beginning after the date the
lease is signed). Under Hub leases, the Corporation must pay all operating expenses of the space,
without reimbursement from tenants.

Space under lease to the University was 46,700 and 48,900 square feet at September 30, 2014 and
2013, respectively.

The Corporation owns a building located on the premises of the USA Medical Center which is leased
to a single tenant. The Corporation paid for construction of the building shell and land improvements
while the tenant paid for the cost of finishing the building’s interior. The lease has a ten year initial
term with three five-year renewal options. Under the lease, the tenant must also pay for utilities,
taxes, insurance, and interior repairs and maintenance. The Corporation is responsible for repairs and
maintenance to the exterior and HVAC system.

The Corporation, as lessor, had three ground leases in place at September 30, 2014 and 2013. One
lease is for a 40-year initial term with 20-year, and 15-year renewal options. The second lease is for a
30-year initial term with four 5-year renewal options. The third lease has a 38.5-year initial term with
20-year and 15-year renewal options.

Minimum future rentals by fiscal year are as follows (in thousands):

2015 $ 2,454
2016 1,894
2017 1,831
2018 1,721
2019 1,116
2020-2046 7,623

Total $ 16,639
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(16) Functional Infermation

Operating expenses by functional classification for the years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 are listed
below (in thousands). In preparing the basic financial statements, all significant transactions and balances

among accounts have been eliminated.

Instruction

Research

Public service

Academic support

Student services

Institutional support
Operation and maintenance of plant
Scholarships

Hospital

Auxiliary enterprises
Depreciation and amortization
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2014 2013
128,785 118,254
22,454 21,095
39,601 46,723
16,791 15,999
31,421 28,673
25,903 28,528
27,978 26,459
7,299 6,532
286,387 265,775
15,501 14,233
31,858 29,849
633,978 602,120
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Blended Component Units

As more fully described in notes 1(b) and 1(c), the LLC, PLTF and GLTF are considered component units
pursuant to the provisions of GASB Statement No. 61. In accordance with that statement, the LLC, PLTF
and GLTF are reported as blended component units. Required combining financial information of the
aggregate blended component units is presented below (in thousands):

2014 2013
Current assets $ 9,257 21,018
Noncurrent assets 49,706 29,755
Total assets 58,963 50,773
Current liabilities 33,460 34,187
Noncurrent liabilities 24,981 16,301
Total liabilities 58,441 50,488
Net position $ 522 285
Operating revenues $ 103,895 83,710
Operating expenses (105,665) (86,948)
Operating loss (1,770) (3,238)
Nonoperating revenues 2,006 3,325
Change in net position $ 236 87

Significant New (Future) Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2012, the GASB issued Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions.
GASB Statement No. 68 changes accounting and financial reporting for entities participating in certain
pension plans and will be effective for the year ending September 30, 2015. Statement No. 68 will require
the University to record its share, as determined by an independent actuary, of the net unfunded pension
liability, and its share of the changes in that net pension liability, for all cost-sharing defined benefit plans
in which it participates.

In January 2013, the GASB issued Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals of
Government Operations. GASB Statement No. 69 establishes accounting and financial reporting standards
related to government combinations and disposal of government operations and will be effective for the
year ending September 30, 2015. In November 2013, the GASB issued Statement No. 71, Pension
Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date. GASB Statement No. 71 was
issued as an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68 with an objective of addressing an issue regarding
application of the transition provisions of Statement No. 68 relating to amounts associated with
contributions, if any, made by a state or local government employer or nonemployer contributing entity to
a defined benefit pension plan after the measurement date of the government’s beginning net pension
liability. Statement 71 will be effective for the year ending September 30, 2015.
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While the impact of the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 has not yet been determined, it is
expected that such implementation will have a material effect on the net position of the University. The
effect of the implementation of GASB Statements Nos. 69 and 71 on the University has not been
determined.
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ITEM 9.A
December 5, 2014

RESOLUTION

DESIGNATION OF SIGNATURE AUTHORITY

WHEREAS, since the inception of the University of South Alabama, the President of the
University has been authorized to sign general contractual agreements and other legally-binding

documents for and on behalf of the Board of Trustees, and

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama receives extramurally-sponsored funds to

support sponsored research, instruction and public service, and

WHEREAS, sponsored funds are generally accompanied by contract and grant agreement

terms requiring certified invoices and financial reporting, and

WHEREAS, it is believed by the Board of Trustees that such authority should be attached

to position and not individual,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees
reaffirms the authority of the President of the University of South Alabama to legally bind the
University of South Alabama by certifying expenditures reported on sponsored contract and grant
invoices and financial reports for and on behalf of the University of South Alabama and its Board
of Trustees, as well as, delegate signature authority to other University officials as he/she sees fit
for the limited purpose of submitting official invoices, draws and other financial information to
sponsoring agencies, but only to the extent such authority is required by the regulations of the

federal Office of Management and Budget or sponsor-specific terms, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees
also authorizes and approves the position of Vice President for Financial Affairs, with all
necessary power, responsibilities, and obligations, to assume the authority to bind the University
of South Alabama for the limited purpose of submitting official invoices, draws and other financial
information to sponsoring agencies, but only to the extent such authority is required by the
regulations of the federal Office of Management and Budget or sponsor-specific terms, and to
designate in writing appropriate positions on the staff of the Division of Financial Affairs who are
authorized to bind the University for the limited purpose of submitting official invoices, draws and
other financial information to sponsoring agencies, but only to the extent such authority is required

by the regulations of the federal Office of Management and Budget or sponsor-specific terms.



ITEM 9B
December 5, 2014

RESOLUTION

CONSENT TO AMENDMENT OF USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
LOAN DOCUMENTS

WHEREAS, the USA Research and Technology Corporation (“Corporation™), a
not-for-profit, supporting organization of the University of South Alabama (“University”), was
incorporated to further the educational and scientific mission of the University, to promote the
University and its schools and departments, to promote the development of and to facilitate
funding for infrastructure and services in Mobile, Alabama, to attract high technology and
scientific enterprises, and to create, operate and finance one or more research and technology parks
which further scientific research activities of the University and contribute to the development of
high-technology businesses in the State of Alabama, and

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the University (“Board”) has heretofore approved
Ground Lease Agreements ("Ground Leases") between the University and the Corporation
pursuant to which the University leases certain real property to the Corporation to enable the
Corporation to develop and construct facilities useful in connection with the mission of the
Corporation as also heretofore approved by the University, and

WHEREAS, the Corporation previously purchased Building I in the Technology &
Research Park from the University and constructed a building on the campus of USA Medical
Center to be used in the provision of dialysis services, both of which are used in furtherance of the
Corporation’s mission, and

WHEREAS, in January 2011 the Corporation secured a $10,000,000 loan ("Loan") with
RBC Bank (USA), which became PNC Bank in 2012, which was used to re-finance existing loans
with Whitney Bank and Hancock Bank and to provide construction/tenant finish funds, and which
carries a 4.88% interest rate and a 10-year term, and

WHEREAS, in order to protect the integrity of the Loan, the proceeds of which refinanced
certain properties located on real property of the University subject to the Ground Leases, in the
Rent Supplement Agreement the University shall (1) have the right to receive notice from RBC
Bank (USA) of any payment or other default by the Corporation under the Loan, and (2) have
thirty (30) days to cure any such default prior to the exercise by RBC Bank (USA) of any remedies
it may have under the Loan, and requires consent by the University prior to any such amendment,
and

WHEREAS, the Corporation is amending the loan documents related to the
aforementioned note with PNC Bank thereby reducing the interest rate from 4.88 percent to
4.50 percent and extending the end of the amortization period from January 14, 2031 to January
14, 2036, which allows the Corporation to reduce annual debt service while avoiding a prepayment
penalty, and

WHEREAS, all other terms and conditions of the current note will remain unchanged and
the interest rate reduction and extended amortization period will result in a reduction of annual
debt service on the note of approximately $142,548,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South
Alabama hereby consents to the amendment of the loan documents related to the aforementioned
note.



CAMPUS MEMORANDUM
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

Date: December 3, 2014

To: President Tony G. Waldrop

From: Stephen H. Simmonsj% #Lnnu-u_ j i

Subject: Refinancing of USA Research and Technology Corporation Promissory
Note

Attached is a resolution with attachments for consideration by the Budget and Finance
Committee concerning the University's consent to the RTC's refinancing of a promissory note
with PNC Bank. The note financed the acquisitions of Building [ in the Technology & Research
Park and the dialysis building on the USA Medical Center campus. The note currently has an
outstanding principal balance of $8,754,981.31. The Rent Supplement Agreement signed by the
University with respect to the note requires the University to consent to any refinancing. PNC
Bank has offered to refinance the note by reducing the interest rate from 4.88% to 4.50% and
extending the end of the amortization period from January 14, 2031 to January 14, 2036. By
agreeing to refinance on these terms, PNC Bank allowed the RTC to reduce annual debt service
while avoiding a prepayment penalty. All other terms and conditions of the current note will
remain unchanged. The interest rate reduction and extended amortization period will result in a
reduction of annual debt service on the note of $142,548.

With your approval, this item will be presented to the Board of Trustees at its meeting on
December 5, 2014, Further, I recommend the adoption of the resolution by the Board of
Trustees.

Attachment









UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

HEALTH AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

September 11, 2014
2:15 p.m.

A meeting of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees Health Affairs Committee was
duly convened by Dr. Steve Stokes, Chair, on Thursday, September 11, 2014, at 2:16 p.m. in the
Board Room of the Frederick P. Whiddon Administration Building.

Members Present: Chandra Brown Stewart, Bettye Maye, Arlene Mitchell, Ken Simon and
Steve Stokes.

Member Absent: Scott Charlton.

Other Trustees: Tom Corcoran, Steve Furr, Ron Jenkins, John Peek, Jimmy Shumock,
Sandy Stimpson, Mike Windom and Jim Yance.

Administration Beth Anderson, Joe Busta, Lynne Chronister, Joel Erdmann,
and Others: Julie Estis (Faculty Senate), Happy Fulford, Stan Hammack,
David Johnson, Doug Marshall (Faculty Senate), Steve Simmons,
John Smith, Jean Tucker, Tony Waldrop, Danielle Watson (SGA),
Kevin West (Faculty Senate) and Kelly Woodford (Faculty Senate).

Press: Sally Ericson (Press-Register/al.com).

The meeting came to order and the attendance roll was called. Dr. Stokes, Committee Chair,
asked Ms. Anderson to address ITEM 4, a resolution authorizing the USA Hospitals medical staff
appointments and reappointments for May, June and July 2014 (for copies of resolutions, policies
and other authorized documents, refer to the minutes of the Board of Trustees meeting held
September 12, 2014). Ms. Beth Anderson, Hospital Administrator at the USA Medical Center,
stated that the credentials pass through a rigorous review process to assure accuracy. On motion
by Ms. Maye, seconded by Ms. Mitchell, the Committee voted unanimously to recommend
approval by the Board of Trustees.

Dr. Stokes called upon Dr. Franks to report on the activities of the USA Health System and the
Division of Health Sciences, ITEM 5, and of the Mitchell Cancer Institute (MCI), ITEM 6.
Dr. Franks said the MCI Director search is proceeding and more details would be shared at a
future meeting. He announced the appointment of a senior scientist who will join the MCI in
October to administer a new program. He gave biographical information on the individual,
whose work includes a research interest in DNA repair research and development of a molecule
that blocks cancer cell replication, which resulted in the formation of two private companies that
will also be brought to USA, in addition to seven other researchers. Dr. Franks reported that
preparations for a lab are in progress, and he said the success of the program will cover much of
the operating costs.



Health Affairs Committee
September 11, 2014
Page 2

Dr. Franks discussed MCD’s research collaborations with consortium partner the University of
Alabama at Birmingham (UAB) Comprehensive Cancer Center (CCC), led by Dr. Ed Partridge,
Director. He advised of 14 grant proposals submitted to the National Institutes of Health (NIH)
by scientists of both institutions, of which seven were top-rated by UAB, and two of these were
tendered by MCI scientists. In support of the projects, UAB will invest $25,000 and USA will
contribute $75,000. Dr. Franks advised that Dr. Michael Finan, Chief of Gynecologic Oncology
and Professor of Interdisciplinary Clinical Oncology at the MCI, recently named Associate
Director for MCI Clinical Affairs, would be recognized at the September 12 Board meeting as
one of four USA physicians U.S. News & World Report listed in its annual “Top Doc” ranking.
Brief comments were made on the future direction of Medicaid reform in the state.

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 2:24 p.m.

Respectfully submitted:

Steven H. Stokes, M.D., Chair



ITEM 10
December 5, 2014

RESOLUTION

USA HOSPITALS MEDICAL STAFF APPOINTMENTS AND REAPPOINTMENTS
FOR AUGUST, SEPTEMBER AND OCTOBER 2014

WHEREAS, the medical staft appointments and reappointments for August, September
and October 2014 for the University of South Alabama Hospitals are recommended for Board
approval by the Medical Executive Committees and the Executive Committee of the University of

South Alabama Hospitals,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Trustees of the University of South

Alabama approves the appointments and reappointments as submitted.
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ITEM 11
December 5, 2014

RESOLUTION
USA HOSPITALS
MEDICAL STAFF BYLAWS AND RULES AND REGULATIONS
REVISIONS OF NOVEMBER 4, 2014

WHEREAS, revisions to USA Hospitals Medical Staff Bylaws and Rules and
Regulations, approved at the November 4, 2014, medical staff meeting and attached hereto, are
recommended for approval by the Medical Staffs and the Executive Committee of the University
of South Alabama Hospitals,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Trustees of the University of South

Alabama approves the revisions as submitted.



Proposed Changes to USA Hospitals Medical Staff Bylaws
Revisions approved at the USA Hospitals General Medical Staff Meeting on November 4, 2014

Revision/Additions Descriptions

1)

2)

3)

4)

ARTICLE Ml — CATEGORIES OF MEMBERSHIP

Section 3.01 The Active Staff

Added practitioner to remain on FPPE status for low volume practitioners
Deleted requirement to automatically be placed in Refer and Follow category
Section 3.02 The Courtesy Staff

Added remaining on FPPE status for low volume practitioners

Deleted requirement to automatically be placed in Refer and Follow category
Section 3.02 The Consulting Physician Staff

Added remaining on FPPE status for low volume practitioners

Deleted requirement to automatically be placed in Refer and Follow category

ARTICLE IV — THE ALLIED STAFF
Added to state low volume practitioners will remain on FPPE review until activity
obtained.

ARTICLE XIl — APPOINTMENTS
Section 12.03 Conditions of Appointment
Added requirement for immunizations

ARTICLE XV — CORRECTIVE ACTION

Section 15.02 Summary Suspension {Care of Suspended Individual’s Patients)
Added process for the patient to be referred to an alternative practitioner
Section 15.03 Automatic Suspension or Limitation

Added the process for removal of a practitioner from the medical staff membership

due to a conviction or a plea of guilty or no contest to any felony or specific type of
misdemeanor and steps for failure to notify.

Section 15.05 Reporting

Added reporting of adverse action requirements

Location

{p. 1)

(p.1-2)

(p. 2)

(p. 3)

(p.3)

(p.7)

(p. 8)

(p. 10)
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Underlines are additions - Strikethroughs are deletions
ARTICLE Ill - CATEGORIES OF MEMBERSHIP

Section 3.01 The Active Staff

The Active Staff consists of those physicians and oral maxillofacial surgeons who are regularly engaged
in admitting and treating patients at the USA hospitals. The Active Staff shall be responsible to the
Medical Executive Committee for making recommendations concerning the organization and
management of the Medical Staff, and the review and evaluation of the quality and appropriateness of
care being rendered in the USA hospitals.

The Active Staff shall consist of those members of the Medical Staff who are involved in the care and
treatment of at least 15 (fifteen) patients per appointment period at either hospital as measured by patient
contacts, which are defined as admissions, consultations, procedures (inpatient/outpatient), and/or
evaluations and services performed in the Emergency Department/Evaluation Center.

All members of the Active Staff shall be notified of these activity requirements and the member's own
specific requirements for Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE) monitoring and subsequent

requwements for the Ongomg Professmnal Practlce Evaluatlon (OPPE) lf—any—staﬁ—member—faﬂs—te#reet

approval-of-the-—Gredentials—Gommittee: _If any staff member _has a low volume of FPPE activity

during his/her provisional first year period on Active Staff, the pr: practitioner will remain on FPPE
review until FPPE activity can be obtained. When this practitioner is due to apply for

reappointment, the Combined Credentials Committee will determine whether the practitioner

should be given the privilege requested due to continued pendency of the FPPE or should remain
in FPPE monitoring status due to the contractual arrangements or medical staff coverage needs.

The Combined Credentials committee will make its recommendation to the MEC accordingly.

Section 3.02 The Courtesy Staff

The Courtesy Staff shall consist of those members of the Medical Staff who occasionally treat patients at
USA hospitals. Members of the Courtesy Staff shall be members of the active staff of at least one other
hospital and at reappointment time, provide evidence of clinical performance from their primary hospital in
a format acceptable to or as specified by the Credentials Committee.

The Courtesy Staff shall consist of those members of the Medical Staff who are involved in the care and
treatment of at least 5 (five) patients per appointment period at either USA hospital as measured by
patient contacts, which are defined as admissions, consultations, procedures (inpatient/outpatient), and/or
evaluations and services performed in the Emergency Department/Evaluation Center.

All members of the Courtesy Staff shall be notified of these activity requirements and the member's own
specific requirements for Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE) monitoring and subsequent

reqmrements for the Ongomg Profe55|ona| Practlce Evaluatlon (OPPE)—H—any—staﬁ—member—fa«tls—te—meet

approval-of the Credentials- Commitiee— lf any staff member has a low volume of FPPE activity

during his/her provisional first year period on Courtesy Staff, the pr: practitioner will remain on FPPE
review until FPPE activity can be obtained. When this practitioner is due to apply for
reappointment, the Combined Credentials Committee will determine whether the practitioner
should be given the privilege requested due to continued pendency of the FPPE or should remain

1
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in FPPE monitoring status due to the contractual arrangements or medical staff coverage needs.

The Combined Credentials committee will make its recommendation to the MEC accordingly.

Section 3.03 The Consulting Physician Staff

The Consulting Staff shall consist of recognized Specialists who do not wish to admit patients to USA
Hospitals but are available to provide consultations to other members of the Medical Staff. This category
shall not be construed to preclude other members of the Medical Staff from providing consultations to the
extent to which they are qualified.

The Consulting Staff shall consist of those members of the Medical Staff who are involved in the care and
treatment of at least 1 (one) patient per appointment period at each USA hospital as measured by patient
contacts, which are defined as consultations, procedures (inpatient/outpatient), and/or evaluations and
services performed in the Emergency Department/Evaluation Center.

All members of the Consulting Staff shall be notified of the member's own specific requirements for
Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE) monitoring and subsequent requirements for the

Ongomg Professnonal Practlce Evaluatlon (OPPE)—W—aHy—Staﬁ—member—faHWneet—me—EPRéaetm;y

2 ied. If any
staff member has a Iow volume of FPPE actlwtv durmq their provisional first year period on
Consulting Staff, the practitioner will remain in FPPE review until FPPE activity can be obtained.
When this practitioner is due to apply for reappointment, the Combined Credentials Committee
will determine whether the practitioner should be given the privilege requested due to continued
pendency of the FPPE or should remain in FPPE monitoring status due to the contractual
arrangements or medical staff coverage needs. The Combined Credentials committee will make

its recommendation to the MEC accordingly.

ARTICLE IV

THE ALLIED STAFF
The Allied Staff shall consist of those individuals who provide independent clinical services and who are
not Physicians or members of the Medical Staff. The Allied Staff shall include but is not limited to,
dentists, podiatrists, optometrists, chiropractors, clinical psychologists, physician's assistants, certified
registered nurse anesthetists, certified nurse practitioners, certified nurse midwives, and sexual assault
nurse examiners (SANE nurses) and non-licensed healthcare providers such as Optometry Technicians,
etc.

Allied Staff may exercise judgment within their licensure, certification, and/or area of competence; where
required by scope of practice. Certified nurse midwifes may write admission orders for inpatients and
subsequent orders as long as they maintain an agreement with a collaborating physician. Otherwise,
Allied Staif participate directly in the management of patients under the supervision or direction of a
physician or employer; record reports and progress notes in patients’ records; and write orders to the
extent established by the appropriate Department Chair and in accordance with applicable law. Allied
Staff shall be appointed by the BOT in accordance with the procedures herein.

Allied Staff shall be subject to Focused Professional Practice Evaluatlon (FPPE) per specialty and be
subject to Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation (OPPE).
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period- If any LIP allied health staff member has a low volume of FPPE activity during their

provisional first year period on allied health staff the practitioner will remain on FPPE review until
FPPE activity can be obtained. When this individual is due to apply for reappointment, the
Combined Credentials Committee will determine whether the practitioner should be given the
privilege requested due to continued pendency of FPPE or should remain in the FPPE monitoring
status due to contractual arrangements or medical staff coverage needs. The Combined
Credentials committee will make its recommendation to the MEC accordingly.

Section 12.03 Conditions of Appointment

A. Any person accepting appointment to the Medical Staff of the Hospital agrees to immediate
testing of blood and/or urine for controlled substances and/or alcohol upon appropriate request.
An appropriate request is based upon suspicion of impairment from alcohol and/or drug abuse
and may be made by the Chair of MEC, Department Chair, or Hospital Administrator. Medical
Staff members who suspect another member of having impairment have a responsibility to
immediately notify the Chair of MEC, Department Chair, or Hospital Administrator of their
concerns.

Any person who refuses such testing will be treated administratively as though they tested
positive for alcohol and/or controlled substances. Administrative procedures to be followed in
such instances will be those defined for the involuntary detection of the impaired Physician.
Mandatory periodic drug and/or alcohol testing shall be required of any Medical Staff member
identified as impaired from drug and/or alcohol abuse disorders as part of ongoing treatment and
monitoring of the impaired individual.

B. Any person applying for appointment to the Medical Staff of the Hospital, as a condition of
maintaining such appointment, agrees that, at the request for cause of the Chair of MEC,
Department Chair, Hospital Administrator, or a Fair Hearing or Corrective Action Committee of
the MEC, as determined by the requesting body, they will undergo a complete physical and/or
mental health evaluation concerning their ability to care for patients and/or ability to work
cooperatively with colleagues, support staff, and other members of the USA Hospitals
community. This evaluation shall be performed by a Physician and/or other appropriate health
care professional who is mutually acceptable to the staff member or applicant and the party
reguesting the evaluation. The staff member or applicant shall agree to allow the report of the
evaluation to be made available to the party requesting the evaluation.

C. It shall be the responsibility of the Medical Staff member to report immediately to his Department
Chair any investigation or actions taken against him with regard to any hospital appointment or
privileges, licensure, certification, health care affiliation, or criminal charges.

D. Each Medical Staff member must comply with hospital requirements for immunizations
as set forth in the hospital policy.

ARTICLE XV
CORRECTIVE ACTION

Section 15.01 Corrective Action
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Initiation of a Concern

A. Members/appointees of the Medical Staff, Contract Physician or Temporary appointees, and
Allied Staff have the responsibility to report any Medical Staff, Contract Physician or Temporary
appointees, and Allied Staff appointee whose activities or professional conduct are, or are
reasonably likely to be, detrimental to patient safety or to the delivery of quality patient care,
disruptive to Hospital operations, contrary to the Bylaws, or below applicable professional
standards. A statement of such concern may be initiated in writing by any Medical Staff Member,
describing the specific activities or conduct which gave rise to the concern. Concerns are
automatically triggered by any action against a Medical Staff Member/appointee's license, DEA
(Drug Enforcement Agency) or ACSC (Alabama Controlled Substances Certificate) registration,
or OIG (Office of Inspector General) exclusion.

Additionally, statements submitted in compliance with the Hospital's Code of Conduct Palicy, are
considered an initiation of a concern.

B. Concerns may be reported to one of the following:

1) the Chair of the MEC;
2) the Department Chair and/or CW Service Line Chair or
3) the Hospital Administrator or designee.

C. The recipient of the statement of concern as defined abaove shall immediately forward a copy of
the written statement of concern to the remaining members defined above.

D. The named Staff Member/appointee may be interviewed by the Chair of MEC, Department Chair,
and/or CW Service Line Chair or Hospital Administrator or designee following receipt of the
written statement of cancern.

1) This interview is discretionary and shall not be considered a procedural right, shall not
constitute a hearing as defined in the Fair Hearing and Appellate Review section, shall be
preliminary in nature and none of the procedural rules provided in Article XVII shall apply.

2) At such interview, the named Staff Member/appointee shall be informed of the general
nature of the concern and shall be invited to discuss, explain or refute such concern.

A written record of such interview shall be made and maintained.

E. Potential Actions of the Chair of the MEC, Department Chair, and/or CW Service Line Chair and
Hospital Administrator:

1) If the Chair of MEC, Department Chair, and/or CW Service Line Chair, and Hospital
Administrator agrees that no further action is warranted, the investigation is terminated.

2) If the Chair of the MEC, Department Chair and/or CW Service Line Chair and Hospital
Administrator conclude that further action is warranted, the Chair of MEC shall convene
an ad hoc Corrective Action Committee of the MEC (CAC) as pravided herein and shall
present the written statement of concern to the CAC. If the decision is to proceed with a
CAC, the Chair of the MEC shall promptly notify the Vice President for Health Systems
of the concern that has been received and shall continue to keep the Vice President
for Health Systems fully informed of all decisions and actions taken.

F. The Chair of MEC shall promptly write to the named Staff Member/appointee regarding the
reported concern and notify them whether the investigation is terminated or whether a CAC has
been formed. If a CAC is formed, the notification to the named Staff Member/appointee shall be
sent by certified mail and shall include a copy of Articles XV and XVI of these Bylaws.

Convening the CAC
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A

If the decision to convene a CAC is made, it shall be convened to begin the investigation within
fifteen (15) business days of that decision.

The membership shall be appointed by the Chair of MEC and shall consist of;

) the Chair of MEC

) Chair-elect of MEC

) Two (2) medical staff members

) Additional members as deemed necessary by the Chari of the MEC

The Chair of MEC shall appoint the Chair of the CAC. There must be at least three (3) members
of the CAC present at any meeting at which action will be taken or at which substantive
investigation will be conducted. The membership shall not include the following: the Department
Chair and/or CW Service Line Chair in which the named Staff Member/appointee has an
appointment and/or delineated clinical privileges, anyone who has reported the concern for
investigation, anyone involved in the situation to be investigated, or any other person who has a
conflict of interest as determined by the Chair of MEC.

Investigation

A

The investigation by the CAC shall include an interview with the named Staff Member/appointee
and may include interviews with any other individuals who may have relevant information and
appropriate consultants or persons with special relevant knowledge. Only those individuals with
direct involvement with the interview shall be present. The interviews shall not constitute Fair
Hearings as defined in Article XVIl herein, shall be preliminary in nature, and none of the
procedural rules provided in Article XVII shall apply. A record of all CAC meetings shall be
maintained.

A CAC may request that the named Staff Member/appointee undergo a complete physical or
mental health examination as outlined in Section 12.03, Conditions for Appointment. Failure to
comply with such a request shall result in automatic termination of membership/appointment.

The CAC shall prepare a written report of the investigation as expeditiously as possible, but no
later than forty-five (45) business days after initial convening of the CAC. The report shall include
a determination of whether the concern is founded or unfounded, and if deemed founded, shall
recommend corrective action including but not limited to:

1) issuance of a warning or formal letter of reprimand;

2) imposition of mandatory education, counseling, or other action as deemed appropriate;
3) imposition of a probationary period with requirements of consultation or supervision;

4) reduction or suspension of delineated clinical privileges;

5) revocation of Staff appointment/membership.

At any time during the course of an investigation the named Staff Member/appointee may resign,
however the investigation will continue. The Hospital shall report acceptance of the named Staff
Member/appointee’s resignation while under investigation as well as results of the investigation
and actions taken, to the appropriate regulatory agencies as required by law. The MEC and
Executive Committee shall be notified of such action.

Upon request by the CAC, the Chair of MEC may extend any deadline for taking action under this
Section 15.01 for a reasonable period of time.

Action of the MEC

A
B.

The MEC shall review the CAC's report and recommendations.

The MEC shall vote to uphold, modify or reject the CAC’s recommendations. None of the
following shall participate in the voting: the Department Chair and/or CW Service Line Chair in
which the Staff Member/appointee has an appointment and/or delineated clinical privileges,

5
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members of the CAC, anyone who has reported the concern for investigation, anyone involved in
the situation to be investigated, or any other person who has a conflict of interest as determined
by the Chair of MEC. If the decision is that the concern is unfounded, the Chair of MEC will notify
the named Staff Member/appointee and the corrective action process is terminated.

C. If the concern is determined to be founded by the MEC the recommended corrective action may
be approved or modified.

D. The Chair of MEC shall send notice of the recommended corrective action to the Department
Chair and/or CW Service Line Chair in which the named Staff Member/appointee has an
appointment and/or exercises delineated clinical privileges, Executive Committee, and Hospital
Administrator. The MEC shall provide notice of the action and attendant procedural rights
required by Article XVI herein to the named Staff Member.

Section 15.02 Summary Suspension

Criteria for Imposition
Whenever the conduct of a Medical, Contracted Physician, Temporary appointee or Allied Staff
Member/appointee requires that immediate action be taken to protect the life of any patient or to
reduce the substantial likelihood of imminent injury or damage to the health or safety of any patient,
employee, or other person present in the Hospital, Summary Suspension of the Staff
Member/appointee's appointment or any or all of the delineated clinical privileges may be imposed.

Imposition
A. Summary suspension may be imposed by:

1) Chair of MEG;

2) Department Chair and/or CW Service Line Chair or CW Peer & Quality Review Chair in
which the named Staff Member/appointee has an appointment and/or exercises
delineated clinical privileges;

3) Hospital Administrator or designee.

B. The Staff Member/appointee must be notified verbally or in writing of the suspension and may be
asked to leave the premises immediately and instructed not to return to the Hospital until further
notification. Notification and method of notification must be documented.

C. A summary suspension of a Staff Member/appointee’s appointment or of all or any portion of the
Staff Member/appointee's delineated clinical privileges shall become effective immediately upon
imposition. When a Medical Staff Member/appointee is summarily suspended, immediate
notification shall be made to the Chair of MEC, Department Chair and/or CW Service Line Chair
in which the named Staff Member/appointee has an appointment and/or exercises delineated
clinical priviteges, and Hospital Administrator or designee by the person who summarily
suspended the Staff Member/appointee.

D. The Chair of MEC shall convene an ad hoc committee consisting of the Chair of MEC, Chair-
Elect/Secretary of MEC, Hospital Administrator and two (2) additional members of the MEC within
three (3) business days of the suspension. None of the members shall be in the same
department as the Staff Member/appointee under suspension. The Staff Member/appointee
under suspension shall be afforded an opportunity to appear at this special meeting of the ad hoc
committee and present oral argument in opposition to continuation of the summary suspension.
However, the Staff Member/appointee under suspension has no right to be present during the ad
hoc committee’s deliberations.

E. The ad hoc committee of the MEC may modify, continue, or lift the summary suspension. If the
ad hoc committee modifies clinical privileges or continues the summary suspension, then a Staff
Member under suspension is entitled to the procedural rights outlined in Article XVI herein. If the
ad hoc committee lifts the summary suspension, the concern is forwarded to the full MEC for
consideration of a CAC under Section 15.01.
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F. If the Chair of MEC or Hospital Administrator believes that continuation of suspension is
necessary to protect patient safety, and the ad hoc committee recommends lifting the
suspension, then a special meeting of the MEC shall be convened within three (3) business days,
during which time the suspension continues. The decision of the MEC is final. The Hospital shall
report the summary suspension to the appropriate regulatory agencies as required.

Notice
A. When the ad hoc committee or MEC recommends an action which triggers procedural rights, the
Staff Member under suspension shall be sent the notice required by Section 16.02 within five (5)
business days of the recommendation of an action.

B. All summary suspensions and actions or recommendations of the ad hoc committee shall be
reported by the Chair of MEC to the MEC at its next scheduled meeting.

Care of Suspended Individual’s Patients.

Immediately upon the imposition of a summary suspension, the appropriate Department Chair or
designee and/or CW Service Line Chair shall assign to another member of the Staff with appropriate
clinical privileges responsibility for care of the suspended Staff Member/appointee’s patients still in
the Hospital at the time of such suspension until such time as the patients are discharged. The
patient will be asked to whom he/she wishes to be referred as an alternative Practitioner. When the
individual being suspended or restricted is an Advanced Practice Professional, then the collaborative
physician shall be responsible for arranging alternative coverage for the care normally provided by
the individual.

Section 15.03 Automatic Suspension or Limitation

Events Resulting in Automatic Suspension or Limitation
A. A Staff Member/appointee's appointment and delineated clinical privileges shall be automatically
suspended, limited, or terminated as described in items 1 through 5 below, without a hearing or
further review,

1) Licensure
If the license to practice medicine or other health occupation is:

a. expired, then the Staff Member/appointee’s appointment and clinical privileges at the
Hospital shall be suspended until the Alabama license is renewed. After the conclusion of
the applicable Alabama licensure grace period, if the license has not been renewed, the
Staff Member/appointee’s appointment and clinical privileges will be terminated,;

b. revoked, then the Staff Member/appointee’s appointment and clinical privileges at the
Hospital shall be revoked;

c. restricted, then the Staff Member/appointee’s appointment and clinical privileges at the
Hospital shall be similarly limited or restricted;

d. suspended, then the Staff Member/appointee’s appointment and clinical privileges at the
Hospital shall be suspended; or

e. subject to conditions of probation, formal or informal reprimand, or limitation, regardiess
of whether such actions have been stayed, then the Staff Member/appointee's voting and
office holding prerogatives at the Hospital will be suspended.

2) Controlled Substances
Whenever a Staff Member/appointee’s DEA or ACSC certificate, or prescribing authority is:

a. expired, then the Staff Member/appointee’s right to prescribe covered medications at the
Hospital shall be suspended until the certification is renewed:;
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b.

revoked, then the Staff Member/appointee’s right to prescribe covered medications at the
Haospital shall be revoked as of the date such action becomes effective and throughout its
term;

restricted, then the Staff Member/appointee’s right to prescribe covered medications at
the Hospital similarly shall be limited or restricted as of the date such action becomes
effective and throughout its term; or

suspended, then the Staff Member/appointee’s right to prescribe covered medications at
the Hospital shall be suspended as of the date such action becomes effective and
throughout its term.

3) Professional Liability Coverage

a.

The staff appointment and clinical privileges of any Staff Member/appointee whose
professional liability insurance is lapsed for any reason, or whose coverage is not
maintained in the minimum amount required under these Bylaws, shall be suspended
until evidence of coverage is provided. If evidence of coverage is not provided after thirty
(30) days, the staff appointment will be terminated. These actions are not reported to
state or federal authorities and do not invoke any rights to procedural due process under
Article XVII.

Reinstatement of privileges due to lapsed professional liability may be attained by
following the procedure in Section 15.03, Reinstatement of Appointment and/or Privileges
after Non-Renewal.

4) Medical Records

a.

If, after a warning of delinquency from the Medical Records Department, a Staff
Member/appointee has failed to complete medical records in a timely fashion, an
automatic suspension may be imposed as provided in the Medical Staff Rules and
Regulations.

Such suspension shall continue until all the delinquent records of the individual's patients
have been completed. Failure to complete the medical records after 80 days from the
date of automatic suspension shall constitute an automatic revocation of clinical
privileges. This revocation is reportable to state and federal authorities. If the Staff
Member/appointee wishes to have an appointment and privileges, the Staff
Member/appointee must reapply as an initial applicant.

5) OIG or Governmental Payor Exclusion
If the Staff Member/appointee is excluded by the OIG from participating as a pravider in any
federal healthcare program (e.g., Medicare, Medicaid, Champus, Tricare, etc.), or otherwise
debarred by any governmental payor, his staff appointment shall be suspended.

6) Criminal Activities

No individual shall be eligible to continue to hold medical staff membership or clinical

privileges when the individual has a conviction or a plea of gulilty or no contest pertaining to

any felony. or to any misdemeanor involving (i) Medicare, Medicaid or insurance or health

care fraud or abuse; (ii) violence against another, or (ii) related to the practice of a

healthcare profession and/or the safety of patients and staff, even if not yet excluded,

debarred, or otherwise declared ineligible by the federal or state government or payer.

The practitioner is to notify the USA Medical Staff Office within 5 business days of any

of the above-listed legal activities as well as any potential inclusion on any sex offender

registry or governmental exclusion/debarment_list, including but not limited to governmental

payors. during the appointment/reappointment period. The practitioner’s privileges may be

suspended during investigation of an offense that might result in such inclusion on the

sex offender registry or a governmental exclusion list. The practitioner's privileges will

automatically be terminated upon notification of a felony conviction or plea agreement or

listing on any sex offender registry or payor exclusion list.
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7. _Failure to Provide Information
Failure of a Medical Staff member to notify the Medical Staff Office within 5 business days of
any significant changes of status as outlined on the credentials application/reapplication shall
be grounds for suspension.

Care of Suspended Individual's Patients.

Immediately upon the imposition of an automatic suspension, the appropriate Department Chair or
designee and/or CW Service Line Chair shall assign to another member of the Staff with appropriate
clinical privileges responsibility for care of the suspended Staff Member/appointee's patients still in
the Hospital at the time of such suspension until such time as the patients are discharged. The
patient will be asked to whom he/she wishes to be referred as an alternative Practitioner. When the

individual being suspended or restricted is an Advanced Practice Professional, then the collaborative

physician shall be responsible for arranging alternative coverage for the care normally provided by

the individual.

Reinstatement of Appointment and/or Privileges after Non-Renewal Suspension

A

When the licensure, DEA or ACSC certification, or professional liability insurance of a Staff
Member has been reinstated within 30 days of suspension of privileges for non-renewal of the
forgoing, the Staff Member/appointee shall notify MSO of the reinstatement and provide a copy of
the documentation which demonstrates reinstatement.

MSO, upon receiving the appropriate documentation, will automatically reinstate the Medical Staff
Member/appointee’s appointment and clinical privileges without further review by the Combined
Credentials Committee, MEC, Executive Committee, or approval by the BOT.

Reinstatement of Appointment and/or Privileges after Revocation or Suspension other than Non-
Renewal Suspension

A

When the licensure or DEA or ASCS certification of a Staff Member/appointee has been revoked
or suspended for reasons other than described above, the Staff Member/appointee shall notify
the MSO, in writing, that the terms of the licensing or certifying agency have been met and that
the reinstatement of Hospital appointment and clinical privileges is requested.

The MSO will forward the information to the Department Chair who shall review the request and
submit a recommendation to MSO regarding the request for reinstatement.

The MSO will transmit the Department Chair's recommendation to the Combined Credentials
Committee for consideration at the next scheduled meeting. The provisions of Section 13.04
regarding the processing of applications shall apply to the Medical Staff Member's request for
reinstatement of privileges.

The Combined Credentials Committee shall, after considering the Department Chair's request for
reinstatement and the facts under which the suspension or revocation was invoked and the terms
under which reinstatement was granted, forward its recommendation regarding the request to
reinstate Hospital appointment and clinical privileges to the MEC.

The MEC shall, after considering all information gathered regarding the suspension or revocation
and the terms of reinstatement make a recommendation to the Executive Committee regarding
the request to reinstate Hospital appointment and clinical privileges.

The Executive Committee may either accept the recommendation of the MEC or make its own
recommendation to the BOT on the reinstatement of Hospital appointment and clinical privileges,
after consideration of all available information. A determination of the BOT to deny reinstatement



Proposed Changes to USA Hospitals Medical Staff Bylaws
Revisions approved at the USA Hospitals General Medical Staff Meeting on November 4, 2014

of Hospital appointment and/or privileges under this Section will invoke procedural due process
rights under Article XVI.

It shall be the responsibility of each Medical Staff Member/appointee to report immediately to the Chair of
MEC, Department Chair, and Hospital Administrator any proceeding, investigation, complaint, or charge
that might result in any of the actions described above.

Section 15.04 Extension of Time

The Chair of MEC may grant a reasonable request for an extension of any time limit within which action
must be taken under this Article. Any such extension shall be disclosed to the MEC at the next meeting.

Section 15.05 Reporting

All adverse actions will be reported to the appropriate regulatory agencies, pursuant to the
reporting requirements of the agencies that have jurisdiction over physician/practitioner practice

including but not limited to the National Practitioner Data Bank, the Board of Medical Examiners
and governmental entities.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA HOSPITALS
MEDICAL STAFF MEETING MINUTES
November 4, 2014

The quarterly meeting of the Medical Staff of the University of South Alabama Hospitals was held at the
Faculty Clubhouse on Tuesday, November 4, 2014. Mr. Owen Bailey, USA Children’s and Women’s
Hospital Administrator, called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. A roster of attendees is available in the
Medical Staff Credentials Office.

Mr. Bailey introduced William O. Richards, M.D., Chair of the Medical Executive Committee for USA
Medical Center. Dr. Richards presented the Medical Staff Bylaws revisions for discussion. (Revisions
were made to Bylaws Articles III, IV, XII, and XV.) With no discussion, a motion was made, carried,
and approved as presented with the effective date after approval at the December Board of Trustee
Meeting.

Mr. Bailey introduced Ms. Lisa Mestas, Assistant Hospital Administrator of USA Medical Center. Ms.
Mestas gave the USA Medical Center update regarding the following activities: consistent in high census
and a decrease in diversion hours, Emergency Department wait time and patients leaving without being
seen still on the rise, and the UHC Quality scorecard showing USA Medical Center near the third tier
ranking. Latest accomplishments shared were the American Heart Association Stroke Gold Plus Target
Award, ALAHA recognition for 100% participation in the Hospital Engagement Network, and the AACN
Award for excellence in academic and practice partnership. She also reported two system-wide teams had
been formed on Smoke-Free Campus and Ebola preparedness.

Ms. Mestas introduced Dr. Kevin Green who reported on the system-wide Ebola Committee efforts to
standardize training, screening, supplies, and treatment protocols. He mentioned that an email had been
sent out to 20,000 USA employees and students with a link to the screening criteria.

Mr. Bailey reported on USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital recent activities. The Joint Commission
is due to arrive any day. The new Labor and Delivery Unit was named after Dr. Mendenhall. Phase II of
construction was completed. He shared the vision for the Women’s Tower to include remodeling of
patient rooms, a Women’s ICU, and renovation of the Evaluation Center. Mr. Bailey shared information
pertaining to the acquisition of properties surrounding the hospital. Additionally, he reported on the Zero
Campaign quality initiative.

Mr. Bailey introduced Dr. Ronald Franks, Vice President for Health Sciences. Dr. Franks asked Ms.
Becky Tate, Chief Executive Officer for USA Health Services Foundation, to report on the Physician
Office Building. She stated sealed bids were received from five contractors with the lowest bidder being
under budget. Plans are being finalized for the project to begin soon. Dr. Franks recognized Lisa Mestas,
Dr. Kevin Green, and Dr. Bert Eichold for their efforts in Ebola preparedness. He reported the search for
the new Emergency Department Chair will be decided shortly. Additionally, he announced the MCI
Interim Director is Dr. Michael Finan. Dr. Franks concluded with describing the impact of healthcare
reform on the USA educational programs.

With no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:40 p.m. by Mr. Owen Bailey.
Respectfully submitted,

o Aol

liana Kuck
Medical Credentialing Coordinator






UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

ACADEMIC AND STUDENT AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

September 11, 2014
2:24 p.m.

A meeting of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees Academic and Student Affairs
Committee was duly convened by Ms. Betty Maye, Chair, on Thursday, September 11, 2014, at
2:24 p.m. in the Board Room of the Frederick P. Whiddon Administration Building.

Members Present: Chandra Brown Stewart, Ron Jenkins, Bettye Maye and Mike Windom.
Members Absent: Scott Charlton and Bryant Mixon.

Other Trustees: Tom Corcoran, Steve Furr, Arlene Mitchell, John Peek, Jimmy Shumock,
Ken Simon, Sandy Stimpson, Steve Stokes and Jim Yance.

Administration Joe Busta, Lynne Chronister, Joel Erdmann, Julie Estis (Faculty Senate),
and Others: Ron Franks, Happy Fulford, Stan Hammack, David Johnson,
Doug Marshall (Faculty Senate), Steve Simmons, John Smith,
Jean Tucker, Danielle Watson (SGA), Kevin West (Faculty Senate), and
Kelly Woodford (Faculty Senate).

Press: Sally Ericson (Press-Register/al.com).

The meeting came to order and the attendance roll was called. Ms. Maye, Committee Chair,
moved approval of the revised agenda. Mr. Windom seconded and the revised agenda was
unanimously approved.

Ms. Maye called upon Dr. Johnson to address items pertinent to the Division of Academic
Affairs. Dr. Johnson said ITEM 7, an activities report, would be delivered at the September 12
Board meeting. He presented ITEM 8, a resolution to appoint retired faculty to the emeritus
ranks specified, and conveying the Board’s gratitude for the service of these individuals (for
copies of resolutions, policies and other authorized documents, refer to the minutes of the
September 12 Board of Trustees meeting). On motion by Mr. Windom, seconded by
Capt. Jenkins, the Committee voted unanimously to recommend approval by the Board of
Trustees.

Dr. Johnson presented ITEM 9, a resolution expressing best wishes and appreciation to
Dr. Carl Moore, retired Dean of the Mitchell College of Business, for his many contributions to
the University. On motion by Mr. Windom, seconded by Ms. Brown Stewart, the Committee
voted unanimously to recommend approval by the Board of Trustees.

Dr. Johnson presented ITEM 10, a resolution to approve and adopt the amended Resident and
Non-Resident Tuition Policy as set forth. He explained that the amendments are consistent with
state law, which allows students who qualify for Alabama’s G.I. Dependents’ Scholarship
Program to be eligible for in-state tuition. On motion by Capt. Jenkins, seconded by



Academic and Student Affairs Committee
September 11, 2014
Page 2

Mr. Windom, the Committee voted unanimously to recommend approval by the Board of
Trustees.

Ms. Maye called upon Dr. Smith for presentation of ITEM 11, a report on the activities of the
Division of Student Affairs. Dr. Smith advised that a record number of students registered to
live on campus this fall, citing a 99 percent occupancy rate. He added that all students on the
residence hall wait list had been accommodated as well. He said the Administration is
considering whether construction of a new residence hall is needed to prepare for housing growth
into the future. He stated Dr. Chris Vinet, Director of Housing, is analyzing possible
construction sites and architect firms. Ms. Maye inquired about the wait list process. Dr. Smith
said wait list students were placed temporarily at The Grove, the privatized apartment community
on campus, until availability in the dorms could be confirmed. He noted that students are not
required to live on campus, but many choose to do so. Mr. Peek asked how competing
apartment complexes adjacent to campus impact USA’s occupancy. Dr. Smith stated those
occupancy figures are not available, but acknowledged the impact the opening of the The Edge
community made last year, which the University has made up for this year. He specified that
only USA students can reside at The Grove.

Dr. Smith addressed Item 11.A, a resolution authorizing the President to negotiate and sign a
contract extension with Aramark, Inc., for food services as applicable under state law and
guaranteeing that meal plan rates for the current academic year would not be increased as part of
an extension. Dr. Smith noted that, with the University’s steady growth, food outlets have been
added to meet demand. He said talks with Aramark on increasing its investment at USA are
taking place. He addressed the provisions of the resolution and said a restructuring of the
contract still guarantees the University a 90-day notice of contract cancelation with just cause.
He called the restructuring of the contract a good deal for the Institution going forward. He
reiterated that rates would not be raised this year. On motion by Capt. Jenkins, seconded by
Ms. Brown Stewart, the Committee agreed unanimously to recommend approval by the Board of
Trustees.

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 2:35 p.m.

Respectfully submitted:

Bettye R. Maye, Chair



RESOLUTION

SABBATICAL AWARDS

ITEM 15
December 5, 2014

WHEREAS, in accordance with University policy, proposals for sabbatical awards have

been reviewed and recommended by the respective faculty committees, Departmental Chairs,

College Deans, and by the Senior Vice President for Academic Affairs and President,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the University of South Alabama Board of

Trustees approves said sabbatical awards on this date, December 5, 2014, for the 2015-2016

academic year.

Dr

Dr. Patrick Cesarini

Dr
Dr

Dr. R. Burke Johnson

Dr
Dr
Dr
Dr
Dr

NAME
. David Benko

. Christine Eaton

. Richard Hillyer

. Kelly Major
. Mihaela Marin
. Dan Rogers
. Michele Strong
. Peter Wood

DISCIPLINE
Mathematics
English
Foreign Languages & Literatures
English
Professional Studies
Biology
Foreign Languages & Literatures
History
History

Music

TIME PERIOD
Academic Year 2015-16
Fall 2015
Spring 2016

Spring 2016
Fall 2015
Spring 2016
Spring 2016
Spring 2016
Fall 2015
Fall 2015
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